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ABOUT THE PUBLISHER

INTRODUCTION

In late 2003, at the Sustainable Earth Summit conference in Johannesburg, the Pacific idand nation of
Vanutu announced that it was preparing alawsuit against the Environmenta Protection Agency of the
United States over globa warming. Vanutu stood only afew feet above sealeve, and theidand' seight
thousand inhabitants were in danger of having to evacuate their country because of rising sealevels
caused by globa warming. The United States, the largest economy in the world, was dso the largest
emitter of carbon dioxide and therefore the largest contributor to global warming.

The National Environmental Resource Fund, an American activist group, announced that it would join

forceswith Vanutu in the lawsuit, which was expected to befiled in the summer of 2004. It was rumored
that wedthy philanthropist George Morton, who frequently backed environmentd causes, would
persondly finance the suit, expected to cost more than $8 million. Since the suit would ultimately be
heard by the sympathetic Ninth Circuit in San Francisco, the litigation was awaited with some
anticipation.

But the lawsuit was never filed.

No officid explanation for thefailureto file has ever been given ether by Vanutu or NERF. Even after
the sudden disappearance of George Morton, an inexplicable lack of interest by the media has|eft the
circumstances surrounding this lawsuit unexamined. Not until the end of 2004 did severd former NERF
board members begin to speak publicly about what had happened within that organization. Further

revelations by Morton’s staff, aswell as by former members of the Los Angdles law firm of Hasde and
Black, have added further detail to the story.

Thusit isnow clear what happened to the progress of the VVanutu litigation between May and October
of 2004, and why so many people died in remote parts of the world as aresult.

MC

Los Angeles, 2004

From the Interna Report to the Nationa Security Council (NSC) from the AASBC (Classified).
Redacted portions from AASBC. Obtained FOIA 03/04/04.

In retrospect the _ conspiracy was extremely well-planned. Preparations were under for
more than ayear before the events themsalves took place. Therewere preliminary Il asearly as
March mmm 2003, and reportsto the British [ I EEEEN ond the German IR
R

Thefirst incident took placein Paris, in May of 2004. 1tis [ IR TR TN



that the authorities _ But there now can be no doubt that what happened in
Paris IR -0 the s=rious consequences that followed.

AKAMAI

PARIS NORD
SUNDAY, MAY 2, 2004
12:00 P.M.

In the darkness, he touched her arm and said, “ Stay here.” She did not move, just waited. The smell of
sat water was strong. She heard the faint gurgle of water.

Then the lights came on, reflecting off the surface of alarge open tank, perhapsfifty meterslong and
twenty meterswide. It might have been an indoor swimming pool, except for dl the eectronic equipment
that surrounded it.

And the very strange device at the far end of the poal.

Jonathan Marshall came back to her, grinning like anidiot.” Qu’ estce que tu penses?’ he said, though he
knew his pronunciation wasterrible. “What do you think?’

“Itismagnificent,” the girl said. When she spoke English, her accent sounded exatic. In fact, everything
about her was exotic, Jonathan thought. With her dark skin, high cheekbones, and black hair, she might
have been amode. And she strutted like amodel in her short skirt and spike hedl's. She was hdf
Vietnamese, and her namewas Marisa. “But no one dseishere?’ she said, looking around.

“No, no,” hesaid. “It's Sunday. No oneis coming.”

Jonathan Marshall was twenty-four, agraduate student in physics from London, working for the summer
at the ultraamodern L aboratoire Ondul atoire—the wave mechanics | aboratory—of the French Marine
Indtitutein Vissy, just north of Paris. But the suburb was mostly the residence of young families, and it
had been alondy summer for Marshall. Which waswhy he could not believe his good fortune at meeting
thisgirl. Thisextraordinarily beautiful and sexy girl.

“Show me what it does, thismachine,” Marisasaid. Her eyes were shining. “ Show mewhat it isyou
do.”

“My pleasure,” Marshdl said. He moved to the large control panel and began to switch on the pumps
and sensors. The thirty panels of the wave machine at the far end of the tank clicked, one after another.



He glanced back at her, and she smiled a him. “It is so complicated,” she said. She came and stood
beside him at the control pandl. “Y our research is recorded on cameras?’

“Y es, we have camerasin the celling, and on the sdes of the tank. They make avisua record of the
waves that are generated. We also have pressure sensorsin the tanks that record pressure parameters of

the passing wave.”
“These cameras are on now?’
“No, no,” hesaid. “We don’t need them; we' re not doing an experiment.”

“Perhgpswe are,” she said, resting her hand on his shoulder. Her fingers were long and delicate. She
hed beautiful fingers.

Shewatched for aminute, then said, “ Thisroom, everything is so expensive. Y ou must have grest
Security, no?’

“Not redly,” hesaid. “ Just cardsto get in. And only one security camera.” He gestured over his
shoulder. “That one back in the corner.”

Sheturned to look. “And that isturned on?” she said.

“Ohyes” hesad. “That'sawayson.”

She did her hand to caress his neck lightly. “ So is someone watching us now?’
“Afrad 0.

“Then we should behave.”

“Probably. Anyway, what about your boyfriend?’

“Him.” She gave aderisve snort. “I have had enough of him.”

Earlier that day, Marshal had gone from his small apartment to the café on rue Montaigne, the café he
went to every morning, taking ajournd article with him to read asusua. Then thisgirl had sat down a
the next table, with her boyfriend. The couple had promptly fallen into an argument.

In truth, Marshall felt that Marisa and the boyfriend didn’t seem to belong together. He was American, a
beefy, red-faced fellow built like afootballer, with longish hair and wire-frame glasses that did not suit his
thick features. He looked like apig trying to appear scholarly.

His namewas Jm, and he was angry with Marisa, apparently because she had spent the previous night
away from him. “1 don’t know why you won't tell me where you were,” he kept repeating.

“It isnone of your business, that’ swhy.”

“But | thought we were going to have dinner together.”



“Jmmy, | told you we were not.”

“No, you told me you were. And | waswaiting at the hotel for you. All night.”
“So0?No one made you. Y ou could go out. Enjoy yoursdlf.”

“But | waswaiting for you.”

“Jmmy, you do not own me.” She was exasperated by him, sighing, throwing up her hands, or dapping
her bare knees. Her legs were crossed, and the short skirt rode up high. “I do as| please.”

“That’sclear.”

“Yes” shesad, and at that moment she turned to Marshall and said, “What isthat you are reading? It
looks very complicated.”

At first Marshal was darmed. Shewas clearly taking to him to taunt the boyfriend. He did not want to
be drawn into the coupl€ s dispute.

“It'sphysics” hesaid briefly, and turned dightly away. He tried to ignore her beauty.
“What kind of physics?’ she perssted.

“Wave mechanics. Ocean waves.”

“S0, you are a student?’

“Graduate student.”

“Ah. And clearly intelligent. Y ou are English? Why are you in France?’

And before he knew it, he was talking to her, and she introduced the boyfriend, who gave Marshdl a
smirk and alimp handshake. It was till very uncomfortable, but the girl behaved asif it were not.

“So you work around here? What sort of work? A tank with amachine? Redlly, | can’t imagine what
you say. Will you show me?’

And now they were here, in the wave mechanics laboratory. And Jmmy, the boyfriend, was sulking in
the parking lot outside, smoking a cigarette.

“Whet shal we do about Jmmy?’ she said, standing beside Marshal while he worked &t the control
pand.

“Hecan't amokein here”

“I will seethat he doesnot. But | don’t want to make him more angry. Can | let himin, do you think?’



Marshall felt disgppointment flood through him. “Sure. | guess.”

Then she squeezed his shoulder. “Don’'t worry, heisbusy later with other business of his.”

She went and opened the door at the back of the lab, and Jmmy camein. Marshd | glanced back and
saw him hanging back, handsin his pockets. Marisa came up to stand beside Marshal again, at the
control pandl.

“He' sdl right,” shesad. “Now show me.”

The dectric motors at the far end of the tank whirred, and the wave paddles generated the first wave. It
wasasmall wave, and it rippled smoothly down the length of the tank, to splash on adanted pand at the
near end.

“So, thisisatidal wave?’ shesaid.

“Itisasmulation of atsunami, yes” Marshall said, hisfingerstapping the keyboard. On the control
pand, displays showed temperature and pressure, generated fal se-color images of the wave.

“A amulaion,” shesad. “Meaning what?’

“We can make waves up to one meter highin thistank,” Marshal said. “But the red tsunamisarefour,
eight, ten meters high. Occasondly even more.”

“A wave in the ocean that isten meters?’ Her eyeswidened. “ Redly?’ She was looking toward the
caling, trying toimagineit.

Marshal nodded. That would be over thirty feet high, the height of athree-story building. And it would
be moving at eight hundred kilometers an hour, roaring up to the shore.

“And when it comesto the shore?’ she said. “Isthat the dope at thisend? It looks like a pebbl e texture
onit. Isthat the shore?

“That’sright,” Marshdl said. “How high the wave goes up the shore isafunction of the angle of the
dope. We can adjust the dopeto any angle.”

The boyfriend came forward, moving closer to the tank, but still he hung back. He never said aword.
Marisawas excited. “ Y ou can adjust it? How?’

“Itismotorized.”

“Toany angle?” Shegiggled. “ Show mevingt-sept degrees. Twenty-seven.”

“Coming up.” Marshd typed at the keyboard. With adight grinding sound, the dope of the shore
angled higher.

The American boyfriend went closer to the tank to look, drawn by the activity. Itwas fascinating,



Marshall thought. Anybody would be interested. But the guy never spoke. He just stood and watched
the pebbled surfacetilt. Soon it stopped.

“So that isthe dope?’ shesaid.

“Yes” Marshdl said. “ Although in point of fact, twenty-seven degreesisfairly steep, more than the
average shorelinein thereal world. Maybe | should set it to—"

Her dark hand closed over his. “No, no,” she said. Her skin was soft. “Leaveit. Show me awave. |
want to seeawave.”

Small waves were being generated every thirty seconds. They rippled aong the length of the tank, with a
dight whoosh. “Well, | first have to know the shape of the shoreline. Right now, it' sflat beach, but if it
wasaninlet of somekind...”

“Will it changeto meke aninlet”

“Of course.”

“Redly? Show me.”

“What kind of inlet do you want? A harbor, ariver, abay...”

“Oh,” shesad, shrugging, “make abay.”

Heamiled. “Fine. How big?’

With the whir of eectric motors, the shoreline began to sink into a curve, the dope indenting into a bowl.

“Fantagtic,” she said. “ Come on, Jonathan, show me the wave.”

“Not yet. How big isthe bay?’

“Oh...” Shegestured intheair. “Onemile. A bay of one mile. Now will you show me?’ She leaned
toward him. “I do not like to wait. Y ou should know this.”

He améelled her perfume. Hetyped quickly. “Hereit comes,” hesaid. “A big wave, coming into a
one-mile bay, with a twenty-seven-degree dope.”

There was amuch louder whoosh as the next wave was generated at the far end of the tank, and then it
rippled smoothly toward them, araised line of water about six inches high.

“Oh!” Marisapouted. “ Y ou promised meit would bebig. ”

“Jugt wait,” he said.

“It will grow?” she said, giggling. She put her hand on his shoulder again. Then the American glanced
back, and gave her adirty look. She jerked her chinintheair, defiant. But when he looked back at the
tank, she took her hand away.

Marshall felt despondent again. She was just using him, he was a pawn in this game between them.



“Yousad it will grow?’ shesad.

“Yes” Marshdl sad, “the wave will grow asit comesto the shore. In degp water atsunami issmal, but
in shalow water it builds. And the inlet will concentrate its power, so it goes higher.”

The wave rose higher, and then smashed against the curved shore at the near end. It foamed white, and
doshed up the sides of the shore. It came up about five feet, he guessed.

“Soit comeshigh,” shesad. “Inthered world?’
“That' s about forty, fifty feet,” he said. “ Fifteen meters.”
“Oohlala” shesad, pursing her lips. “ So aperson cannot run away from this.”

“Ohno,” Marshdl said. “You can't outrun atidal wave. There wasawavein Hilo, Hawaii, in 1957,
came right down the streets of the town, tall asthe buildings, people ran from it but—"

“Sothat’sit?’ the American said. “That'sal it does?” His voice was growly, like he needed to clear his
throdt.

“Don't mind him,” shesad quietly.
“Yes, that'swhat we do here,” Marshall said. “We generate waves—"
“Jesusfucking A,” the American said. “I could do that in my bathtub when | was sx months old.”

“Wdl,” Marshall said, gesturing to the control pandl, and the monitors displaying data, “we generate alot
of databases for researchers around the world who are—"

“Y eah, yeah. That's enough. Boring aswhae shit. I'm leaving. Y ou coming, Marisa, or not?” He stood
and glared at her.

Marshdl heard her suck in her breath.
“No,” shesaid. “| am not.”

The American turned and walked off, damming the door loudly as hel&ft.

Her gpartment was just across the river from Notre Dame, and from the balcony in the bedroom he had
abeautiful view of the cathedra, which waslighted at night. It wasten o’ clock, but there was till adeep
blue in the sky. He looked down at the street below, the lights of the cafés, the crowds walking on the
Streets. It was abusy and glamorous scene.

“Don’t worry,” shesaid, behind him. “If you' relooking for Immy, he won’'t come here.”

Actualy, the thought hadn’t occurred to him, until she mentioned it. “No?’

“No,” shesaid. “Hewill go esawhere. Immy has many women.” Shetook asip of red wine, then set



the glass down on the bedside table. Unceremonioudly, she pulled her top over her head and dropped
her skirt. She was wearing nothing benesath.

Still in her high hedls, she waked toward him. He must have seemed surprised, because she said, “I told
you: | do not liketo wait,” and threw her arms around him and kissed him hard, fiercely, dmost angrily.
The next moments were awkward, trying to kisswhile she tore off his clothes. She was breathing hard,
amost panting. She never spoke. She was S0 passionate she seemed amost angry, and her beauty, the
physica perfection of her dark body, intimidated him, but not for long.

Afterward shelay against him, her skin soft but her body taut beneath the surface. The bedroom ceiling
had a soft glow from the church fagade opposite. He was relaxed, but she seemed, if anything, to be
energized, restless after making love. He wondered if she had redlly come, despite her moans and her
find cries. And then abruptly, she got up.

“Anything wrong?’

Shetook asip of wine. “To thetoilet,” she said, and turned away, passing through a door. She had | ft
her wineglass. He sat up and took asip, seeing the delicate pattern of her lipstick on therim.

He looked at the bed and saw the dark streaks on the sheets from her heels. She had not taken them off
until midway through their love-making. Now the heel's were tossed away, coming to a stop beneath the
window. Signs of their passion. He il felt, even now, asif hewerein adream. He had never been with
awoman likethis. Beautiful likethis, living in aplace like this. He wondered how much this gpartment
cost, thewood paneling, the perfect location. ..

He took another sip of wine. He could get used to this, he thought.
He heard water running in the bathroom. A humming sound, atuneless song.

With abang! the front door dammed open and three men burst into the bedroom. They were wearing
dark raincoats and hats. Terrified, Marshall set the wineglass on the table—it fell—and dived for his
clothes beside the bed to cover himsdlf, but in an ingtant the men were on him, grabbing him with gloved
hands. He yelled in darm and panic as they threw him over, shoving him facedown on the bed. He was
il yeling asthey pushed hisfaceinto a pillow. He thought they were going to suffocate him, but they
didn’t. One man hissed, “Be quiet. Nothing will happen if you are quiet.”

Hedidn't believe him, so he struggled, caling out again. Where was Marisa? What was she doing? It
was happening so fast. One man was sitting on his back, knees digging into his spine, his cold shoeson
Marshal’ s bare buttocks. He felt the man’ s hand on his neck, shoving him into the bed.

“Bequiet!” the man hissed again.

The other men had each taken one of hiswrigts, and they were pulling hisarmswide, spread-eagling him
on the bed. They were getting ready to do something to him. Hefdt terrified and vulnerable. He moaned,

and somebody hit him on the back of the head. “Quiet!”

Everything was happening quickly, it was dl impressionigtic. Where was Marisa? Probably hiding in the

bathroom, and he couldn’t blame her. He heard a s oshing sound and saw a plastic baggie and something
whiteinit, likeagolf bal. They were placing the baggie under hisarmpit, on the fleshy part of hisarm.

What the hell were they doing?He fdlt the water cold against his under-arm, and he struggled but they



held him tight, and then indgde the water, something soft pressed against the arm, and he had agticky
sensation, like sticky chewing gum, something sticky and tugging againgt the flesh of hisarm, and then he
fdt alittle pinch. Nothing, hardly noticeable, amomentary sting.

The men were moving quickly, the baggie was removed, and at that moment he heard two surprisingly
loud gunshots and Marisawas screaming in rapid French—* Sdlaud! Salopard! Bouge-toi le cul!” —and
the third man had tumbled off Marshall’ s back and falen to the ground, then scrambled up, and Marisa
was gtill screaming, there were more shots, and he could smell powder inthe air, and the men fled. The
door dammed, and she came back, stark naked, babbling in French he could not understand, something
aboutvacherie, which he thought was a cow but he wasn't thinking straight. He was starting to tremble on
the bed.

She came over and threw her arms around him. The barrdl of the gun was hot and he yelled, and she set
it asde. “Oh Jonathan, | am so sorry, so sorry.” She cradled his head againgt her shoulder. “Please, you
must forgiveme, itisdl right now, | promiseyou.”

Gradudly histrembling stopped, and shelooked a him. * Did they hurt you?’

He shook his head, no.

“Good. | did not think so. Idiots! Friends of immy, they think they make ajoke, to scare you. And mel
am sure. But you are not hurt?’

He shook his head again. He coughed. “Perhaps,” he said, finding hisvoice at last. “Perhaps| should be
going.”

“Oh, no,” she said. “No, no, you cannot do thisto me.”
“I don't fed—"

“Absolutely no,” she said. She pushed closer to him, so her body was touching his. “Y ou must say a
while”

“Should we cdl the police?’
“Maisnon.The police will do nothing. A quarrel of lovers. In France we do not do this, call the police.”
“But they brokein...”

“They aregone now,” she said, whispering in hisear. Hefelt her breath. “Thereisonly us, now. Only us,
Jonathan.” Her dark body did down his chest.

It was after midnight when hewas finally dressed and standing at the window, looking out at Notre
Dame. The streetswere till crowded.

“Why will you not stay?’ she said, pouting prettily. “I want you to stay. Don't you want to please me?’

“I'msorry,” hesaid. “1 haveto go. | don't fed very well.”



“I will makeyou fed better.”

He shook hishead. In truth, heredlly did not fed well. He was experiencing waves of dizziness, and his
legsfelt oddly wesk. His hands were trembling as he gripped the bal cony.

“I'm sorry,” hesaid again. “| haveto leave.”
“All right, then I will driveyou.”

Her car, he knew, was parked on the other side of the Seine. It seemed far to walk. But he just nodded
numbly. “All right,” he said.

Shewasin no rush. They strolled arm in arm, like lovers, dong the embankment. They passed the
houseboat restaurantstied up to the side, brightly lit, still busy with guests. Above them, on the other Sde
of theriver, rose Notre Dame, brilliantly lit. For awhile, thisdow walk, with her head on his shoulder,
the soft words she spoke to him, made him fed better.

But soon he sumbled, feding akind of clumsy weakness coursing through his body. His mouth was very
dry. Hisjaw fdt tiff. It was difficult to spesk.

She did not seem to notice. They had moved past the bright lights now, under one of the bridges, and he
sumbled again. Thistime hefdl on the stone embankment.

“My darling,” she said, worried and solicitous, and helped him to hisfest.
Hesad, “I think...1 think...”

“Darling, areyou dl right?” She helped him to abench, away from theriver. “Here, just sit herefor a
moment. Y ou will fed better inamoment.”

But he did not feel better. He tried to protest, but he could not speak. In horror he redized he could not
even shake his head. Something was very wrong. Hiswhole body was growing wesk, swiftly and
astonishingly wesk, and he tried to push up from the bench, but he could not move hislimbs, he could not
move hishead. Helooked at her, Sitting beside him.

“Jonathan, what iswrong? Do you need a doctor?’

Yes, | need adoctor, he thought.

“Jonathan, thisisnot right...”

His chest was heavy. He was having trouble breathing. He looked away, staring straight ahead. He
thought in horror:1 am paralyzed.

“ Jonathan?’

Hetried to look at her. But now he could not even move his eyes. He could only look straight forward.
His breathing was shdlow.



“Jonathan?’
| need adoctor.
“Jonathan, can you look at me? Can you? No? Y ou cannot turn your head?’

Somehow, her voice did not sound concerned. She sounded detached, clinical. Perhaps his hearing was
affected. There was arushing sound in hisears. It was harder and harder to bresthe.

“All right, Jonathan, |et’s get you away from here.”

She ducked her head under his arm and with surprising strength got him to hisfeet. Hisbody wasloose
and floppy, sagging around her. He could not control where he looked. He heard the clicking of
footsteps approaching and thought, Thank God. He heard aman’ s voice say in French, “Mademoisdlle,
do you need help?’

“Thank you, but no,” she said. “ Just too much to drink.”

“Areyou sure?’

“Hedoesthisdl thetime.”

“ YS?’

“I can manage.”

“Ah. Then | wish youbonne nuit.

“Bonnenuit,” she said.

She continued on her way, carrying him. The footsteps became fainter. Then she paused, turned to look
indl directions. And now. .. she was moving him toward theriver.

“You are heavier than | thought,” she said, in a conversationd tone.

Hefet adeep and profound terror. He was completely paralyzed. He could do nothing. His own feet
were scraping over the stone.

Toward theriver.

“l am sorry,” she said, and she dropped him into the water.

It was ashort fall, and a stunning sense of cold. He plunged beneath the surface, surrounded by bubbles
and green, then black. He could not move, even in the water. He could not believe this was happening to
him, he could not bdieve that he was dying thisway.

Then dowly, hefdt hisbody rise. Green water again, and then he broke the surface, on his back, turning
dowly.



He could see the bridge, and the black sky, and Marisa, standing on the embankment. Shelit acigarette
and stared at him. She had one hand on her hip, one leg thrust forward, amodel’ s pose. She exhaed,
smokerisng in the night.

Then he sank beneath the surface again, and he felt the cold and the blackness closein around him.

At three 0’ clock in the morning the lights snapped on in the L aboratoire Ondulatoire of the French
Marine Indtitute, in Vissy. The control pand cameto life. The wave machine began to generate waves
that rolled down the tank, one after another, and crashed against the artificial shore. The control screens
flashed three-dimensional images, scrolled columns of data. The data was transmitted to an unknown
location somewherein France.

At four o’ clock, the control pand went dark, and the lights went out, and the hard drives erased any
record of what had been done.

PAHANG
TUESDAY, MAY 11
11:55 A.M.

Thetwisting jungle road lay in shadow benesth the canopy of the Malay rain forest. The paved road was
very narrow, and the Land Cruiser careened around the corners, tires squealing. In the passenger sedt, a
bearded man of forty glanced a hiswatch. “How much farther?’

“Jugt afew minutes” the driver said, not dowing. “We reamogt there.”

The driver was Chinese but he spoke with a British accent. His name was Charles Ling and he had
flown over from Hong Kong to Kuaa Lumpur the night before. He had met his passenger at the airport
that morning, and they had been driving at breskneck speed ever since.

The passenger had given Ling acard that read “ Allan Peterson, Seismic Services, Cagary.” Ling didn’t
believeit. He knew perfectly well that there was acompany in Alberta, EL S Engineering, that sold this
equipment. It wasn't necessary to come al theway to Maaysiato seeit.

Not only that, but Ling had checked the passenger manifest on the incoming flight, and there was no
Allan Peterson listed. So thisguy had comein on adifferent name.

Furthermore, hetold Ling hewas afield geologist doing independent consulting for energy companiesin
Canada, mostly evauating potentid oil Stes. But Ling didn’t believe that, elther. Y ou could spot those
petroleum engineersamile off. Thisguy wasn't one.

So Ling didn’t know who the guy was. It didn’t bother him. Mr. Peterson’s credit was good; the rest
was none of Ling’sbusiness. He had only oneinterest today, and that wasto sdll cavitation machines.
And thislooked like abig sale: Peterson was talking about three units, more than amillion dollarsin totd.

He turned off the road abruptly, onto a muddy rut. They bounced through the jungle beneath huge trees,



and suddenly came out into sunlight and alarge opening. There was ahuge semicircular gashinthe
ground, exposing adliff of gray earth. A green lakelay below.

“What' sthis?’ Peterson said, wincing.

“It was open-face mine, abandoned now. Kaolin.”

“Whichis...?’

Ling thought, thisis no geologist. He explained that kaolin wasaminerd in clay. “It’sused in paper and
ceramics. Lot of industrial ceramics now. They make ceramic knives, incredibly sharp. They'll make
ceramic auto engines soon. But the quality here wastoo low. It was abandoned four years ago.”

Peterson nodded. “ And whereisthe cavitator?’

Ling pointed toward alarge truck parked at the edge of the cliff. “There.” He drove toward it.

“Russansmekeit?’

“The vehicle and the carbon-matrix frame are Russian made. The € ectronics come from Taiwan. We
assemble oursalves, in KualaLumpur.”

“And isthisyour biggest model ?”’

“No, thisistheintermediate. We don’'t have the largest one to show you.”

They pulled alongside the truck. It was the size of alarge earthmover; the cab of the Land Cruiser barely
reached above the hugetires. In the center, hanging above the ground, was alarge rectangular cavitation
generator, looking like an oversize diesdl generator, aboxy mass of pipesand wires. The curved

cavitation plate was dung undernesth, afew feet above the ground.

They climbed out of the car into sweltering heet. Ling' s eyeglasses clouded over. He wiped them on his
shirt. Peterson walked around the truck. “ Can | get the unit without the truck?’

“Y es, we make transportable units. Seagoing containers. But usually clients want them mounted on
vehideseventudly.”

“I just want the units,” Peterson said. “ Are you going to demonstrate?’

“Right away,” Ling said. He gestured to the operator, high up in the cab. * Perhaps we should step
avay.”

“Wait aminute,” Peterson said, suddenly alarmed. “I thought we were going to be done. Who isthat?’
“That’smy brother,” Ling said smoothly. “He svery trustworthy.”

“Well...”

“Let’sstep away,” Ling said. “We can see better from adistance.”

The cavitation generator fired up, chugging loudly. Soon the noise blended with another sound, a deep



humming that Ling dways seemed to fed in hischest, in hisbones.

Peterson must have felt it, too, because he moved back hadtily.

“These cavitation generators are hypersonic,” Ling explained, “producing aradially symmetric cavitation
field that can be adjusted for focal point, rather like an optical lens, except we are using sound. In other
words, we can focus the sound beam, and control how deep the cavitation will occur.”

He waved to the operator, who nodded. The cavitation plate came down, until it wasjust above the
ground. The sound changed, becoming deeper and much quieter. The earth vibrated dightly where they
were standing.

“Jesus,” Peterson said, stepping back.

“Not toworry,” Ling said. “Thisisjust low-grade reflection. The main energy vector is orthogond,
directed straight down.”

About forty feet below the truck, the walls of the canyon suddenly seemed to blur, to become indistinct.
Smadl clouds of gray smoke obscured the surface for amoment, and then awhole section of cliff gave
way, and rumbled down into the lake below, like agray avaanche. The whole areafilled with smoke and
dust.

Asit beganto clear, Ling said, “Now we will show how the beam isfocused.” The rumbling began
again, and thistime the cliff blurred much farther down, two hundred feet or more. Once again the gray
sand gave way, thistime diding rather quietly into the lake.

“And it canfocuslaerdly aswdl?" Peterson said.

Ling said it could. A hundred yards north of the truck, the cliff was shaken free, and again tumbled
down.

“Wecanamitinany direction, and any depth.”
“Any depth?’
“Our big unit will focus at athousand meters. Although no client has any use for such depths.”

“No, no,” Peterson said. “We don’t need anything like that. But we want beam power.” He wiped his
hands on histrousers. “I’ ve seen enough.”

“Really? We have quite afew other techniques to demon—"
“I'm ready to go back.” Behind his sunglasses, his eyes were unreadable.
“Very wdl,” Ling sad. “If you are sure—"

“I"'maure.”

Driving back, Peterson said, “Y ou ship from KL or Hong Kong?’



“FromKL.”

“With what regtrictions?’

Ling said, “How do you mean?’

“Hypersonic cavitation technology in the USisredtricted. It can't be exported without alicense.”

“As| said, we use Taiwanese electronics.”

“Isit asrdiable asthe US technology?’

Lingsad, “Virtualy identical.” If Peterson knew his business, he would know that the US had long ago
lost the capacity to manufacture such advanced chipsets. The US cavitation chipsets were manufactured
in Taiwan. “Why do you ask? Are you planning to export to the US?’

“No.”

“Then thereisno difficulty.”

“What' syour lead time?’ Peterson said.

“We need seven months.”

“I wasthinking of five”

“It can be done. There will be a premium. For how many units?’

“Three” Peterson said.

Ling wondered why anyone would need three cavitation units. No geologica survey company inthe
world owned more than one.

“I canfill that order,” Ling said, “upon receipt of your deposit.”
“Youwill haveit wired to you tomorrow.”
“ And we are shipping where? Canada?’

“Y ou will receive shipping ingructions,” Peterson said, “in five months.”

Directly ahead, the curved spans of the ultramodern airport designed by Kurokawarose into the sky.
Peterson had lapsed into silence. Driving up theramp, Ling said, “I hopewe arein timefor your flight.”

“What? Oh yes. We refine”

“Y ou're heading back to Canada?’



"Y&,”

Ling pulled up at the international terminal, got out, and shook Peterson’s hand. Peterson shouldered his
day bag. It was hisonly luggage. “Well,” Peterson said. “1’d better go.”

“SHeflight.”

“Thank you. Y ou, too. Back to Hong Kong?’

“No,” Ling sad. “I haveto go to the factory, and get them Started.”

“It' snearby?’

“Yes, in Pudu Raya Just afew kilometers.”

“All right, then.” Peterson disappeared insde the termind, giving afind wave. Ling got back in the car
and drove away. But as he was heading down the ramp, he saw that Peterson had left behind his cell
phone on the car seat. He pulled over to the curb, glancing back over his shoulder. But Peterson was
gone. And the cell phonein his hand was lightweight, made of cheap plagtic. It was one of those
prepaid-card phones, the disposable ones. It couldn’t be Peterson’ s main phone.

It occurred to Ling that he had afriend who might be able to trace the phone and the card insideit. Find
out more about the purchaser. And Ling would like to know more. So he dipped the phoneinto his
pocket and drove north, to the factory.

SHAD THAMES
FRIDAY, MAY 21
11:04 A.M.

Richard Mallory looked up from hisdesk and said, “Yes?’

The man standing in the doorway was pa e-complected, dender, and American-looking, with ablond
crew cut. His manner was casud, his dress nondescript: dirty Adidas running shoes and afaded navy
tracksuit. Helooked asif he might be out for ajog and had stopped by the office for amoment.

And since thiswas Design/Quest, ahot graphics shop located on Butler’ sWharf, arefurbished
warehouse digtrict below London’s Tower Bridge, most of the employeesin the office were casudly
dressed. Mallory was the exception. Since he was the boss, he wore dacks and awhite shirt. And
wingtip shoesthat hurt hisfeet. But they were hip.

Madlory sad, “Can | hdp you?’

“I’'ve comefor the package,” the American said.

“I’'m sorry. What package?’ Mallory said. “If it'saDHL pickup, the secretary hasit up front.”

The American looked annoyed. “ Don’t you think you' re overdoing it?” he said. “ Just give me the fucking



package.”
“Okay, fine,” Mallory said, getting up from behind the desk.

Apparently the American felt he had been too harsh, because in aquieter tone he said, “Nice posters,”
and pointed to the wall behind Mdlory. “You do’em?’

“Wedid,” Mdlory sad. “Our firm.”

There were two posters, sSide by sde on thewall, both stark black with ahanging globe of the Earthin
pace, differing only in the tag line. One said “ Save the Earth” and beneeth it, “1t’ sthe Only Home We
Have.” The other said “ Save the Earth” and benesath that, “ There’ s Nowhere Else to Go.”

Then off to one Side was aframed photograph of ablond mode in aT-shirt: “ Save the Earth” and the
copy linewas*“And Look Good Doing It.”

“That was our ‘ Save the Earth’ campaign,” Madlory said. “But they didn’t buy it.”

“Who didn’t?”

“Internationa Conservation Fund.”

He went past the American and headed down the back stairs to the garage. The American followed.
“Why not? They didn't like it?”

“No, they liked it,” Mdlory said. “But they got Leo as a spokesman, and used him instead. Campaign
went to video spots.”

At the bottom of the stairs, he swiped his card, and the door unlocked with aclick. They stepped into
the small garage beneath the building. It was dark except for the glare of daylight from the ramp leading
to the street. Mdlory noticed with annoyance that a van partly blocked the ramp. They dways had
trouble with ddivery vans parking there.

Heturned to the American. “Y ou haveacar?”’

“Yes. A van.” He pointed.

“Oh good, so that’ s yours. And somebody to help you?’

“No. Just me. Why?’

“It' sbloody heavy,” Mdlory said. “It may just bewire, but it'shaf amillion feet of it. Weighs seven
hundred pounds, mate.”

“l can handleit.”

Mallory went to his Rover and unlocked the boot. The American whistled, and the van rumbled down
the ramp. It was driven by atough-looking woman with spiked hair, dark makeup.

Madlory sad, “I thought you were done.”



“She doesn't know anything,” the American said. “ Forget her. She brought the van. Shejust drives.”

Mallory turned to the open boot. There were stacked white boxes marked “ Ethernet Cable
(Unshielded).” And printed specifications.

“Let’sseeone” the American said.

Mallory opened abox. Insde was ajumble of fist-sized coils of very thin wire, each in shrink-wrap
plagtic. “Asyou see,” hesad, “it’ sguide wire. For anti-tank missles.”

“Isit?
“That’ swhat they told me. That’swhy it' swrapped that way. One coil of wire for each missle”

“I wouldn’'t know,” the American said. “I’'m just the delivery man.” He went and opened the back of his
van. Then he began to transfer the boxes, one at atime. Mallory helped.

The American said, “ Thisguy tdll you anything else?’

“Actudly, hedid,” Mdlory said. “He said somebody bought five hundred surplus Warsaw Pact rockets.
Cadled Hotfire or Hotwire or something. No warheads or anything. Just the rocket bodies. The story is
they were sold with defective guide wire.”

“I haven't heard that.”

“That' swhat he said. Missleswere bought in Sweden. Gothenburg, | think. Shipped out from there.”
“Soundslike you' reworried.”

“I"'m not worried,” Mdlory said.

“Likeyou reafraid you' re mixed up in something.”

“Not me.”

“Sure about that?’ the American said.

“Yes, of coursel’m sure”

Most of the boxes were transferred to the van. Mallory started to swesat. The American seemed to be
glancing at him out of the corner of hiseye. Openly skeptical. He said, “ So, tell me. What' d helook like,

thisguy?’

Madlory knew better than to answer that. He shrugged. “ Just aguy.”
“American?’

“I don’t know.”

“Y ou don't know whether he was American or not?”’



“I couldn’t be sure of hisaccent.”

“Why isthat?’ the American said.

“He might have been Canadian.”

“Alone?’

“Yesh”

“Because | hear talk about some gorgeous woman. Sexy woman in high hedls, tight skirt.”
“I would have noticed awoman like that,” Mdlory said.

“Youwouldn’t be...leaving her out?’ Another skeptical glance. “Keeping her to yoursdf?” Mallory
noticed a bulge on the American’ ship. Wasit agun? It might be.

“No. Hewasdone.”
“Whoever theguy was.”
113 Y$”

“You ask me” the American said, “1’ d be wondering why anybody needed haf amillion feet of wirefor
anti-tank misslesin thefirgt place. | mean, for what?’

Madlory sad, “Hedidn't say.”
“Andyou just said, ‘ Right, mate, haf amillion feet of wire, leaveit to me,” with never aquestion?’
“Seemslikeyou re asking dl the questions” Malory said. Still swesting.

“And | have areason,” the American said. Histone turned ominous. “1 got to tell you, pa. | don’t like
what | am hearing.”

Thelast of the boxes were stacked in the van. Mdlory stepped back. The American dammed thefirst
door shut, then the second. Asthe second door closed, Mallory saw the driver standing there. The
woman. She had been standing behind the door.

“I don't likeit either,” she said. She was wearing fatigues, army surplus stuff. Baggy trousers and
high-laced boots. A bulky green jacket. Heavy gloves. Dark glasses.

“Now wait aminute,” the American said.

“Give meyour cell phone,” she said. Holding out her hand for it. Her other hand was behind her back.
Asif shehad agun.

“Why?

“Giveittome”



“WI,1y?1

“I want to look at it, that’ swhy.”

“There' snothing unusuad—"

“Giveittome”

The American pulled the cell phone out of his pocket and handed it to her. Instead of taking it, she
grabbed hiswrist and pulled him toward her. The cell phone clattered to the ground. She brought her
other hand from around her back and quickly gripped the side of his neck with her gloved hand. She held
him with both hands around his neck, asif she were strangling him.

For amoment he was stunned; then he began to struggle. “What the fuck are you doing?’ he said.
“What are you—hey!” He knocked her hands away and jumped back asif he had been burned. “What
was that? What did youdo?”

Hetouched his neck. A tiny trickle of blood ran down, just afew drops. Therewasred on hisfingertips.
Almog nothing.

“What did you do?’ hesaid.

“Nothing.” Shewas stripping off her gloves. Mdlory could see shewas doing it carefully. Asif
something were in the glove. Something she did not want to touch.

“Nothing?’ the American said. “ Nothing?Son of abitch!” Abruptly, he turned and began to run up the
ramp toward the street outside.

Camly, shewatched him go. She bent over, picked up the cell phone, and put it in her pocket. Then she
turned to Mallory. “Go back to work.”

He hesitated.
“You did agood job. | never saw you. Y ou never saw me. Now go.”
Mallory turned and walked to the back-stairs door. Behind him, he heard the woman dlam the van door,

and when he glanced back, he saw the van racing up the ramp into the glare of the street. The van turned
right, and was gone.

Back in hisoffice, hisassstant, Elizabeth, came in with amockup for the new ultralight computer adsfor
Toshiba. The shoot was tomorrow. These were the finalsto go over. He shuffled through the boards
quickly; Mdlory had trouble concentrating.

Elizabeth said, “Y ou don't like them?’

“No, no, they'refine.”

“Youlook alittle pale.”



“I'just, um...my stomach.”
“Ginger tea,” shesaid. “That’ sbest. Shdl | make some?’

He nodded, to get her out of the office. He looked out the window. Mallory’ s office had a spectacular
view of the Thames, and the Tower Bridge off to the left. The bridge had been repainted baby blue and
white (wasthat traditional or just abad idea?), but to see it always made him feel good. Secure
somehow.

Hewalked closer to the window, and stood looking at the bridge. He was thinking that when his best
friend had asked if he would lend ahand in aradicd environmentd cause, it had sounded like something
fun. A bit of secrecy, abit of dash and derring-do. He had been promised that it would not involve
anything violent. Mdlory had never imagined he would be frightened.

But he was frightened now. His hands were shaking. He stuck them in his pockets as he stared out the
window. Five hundred rockets? he thought. Five hundred rockets. What had he gotten himsdf into? Then,
dowly, heredized that he was hearing srens, and there were red lights flashing on the bridge railings.

There had been an accident on the bridge. And judging from the number of police and rescue vehicles, it
was a serious accident.

Onein which someone had died.

He couldn’t help himself. Feding a sense of panic, heleft the office, went outside to the quay, and with
his heart in histhroat, hurried toward the bridge.

From the upper level of the red double-decker bus, the tourists were staring down, covering their
mouthsin horror. Malory pushed through the crowd clustered near the front of the bus. He got close
enough to see a half-dozen paramedics and police crouched around abody lying in the street. Above
them stood the burly bus driver, in tears. He was saying that there was nothing he could have done, the
man had stepped in front of the bus at the last moment. He must have been drunk, the driver said,
because he was wobbling. It was amost asif hefdl off the curb.

Mallory could not see the body; the policemen blocked hisview. The crowd was nearly silent, just
watching. Then one of the policemen stood, holding ared passport in his hands—a German passport.
Thank God, Madlory thought, feding aflood of relief that lasted until amoment later, when one of the
paramedics stepped away and Malory saw one leg of the victim—afaded black tracksuit and adirty
Adidas running shoe, now soaked with blood.

Hefet awave of nausea, and turned away, pushing back through the crowd. The faces stared past him,
impassive or annoyed. But nobody even glanced at him. They were dl looking at the body.

Except for one man, dressed like an executive in adark suit and tie. He was looking directly a Mdlory.
Mallory met his eyes. The man nodded dightly. Mallory made no response. He just pushed through the
last of the crowd and fled, hurrying back down the sairsto his office, and redlizing that somehow, in
someway that he did not understand, hislife had changed forever.



TOKYO
TUESDAY, JUNE 1
10:01 A.M.

IDEC, the International Data Environmental Consortium, waslocated in asmall brick building adjacent
to the campus of Keio Mita University. To the casua observer, IDEC was part of the university, and
even showed the coat of arms (“Caamus Gladio Fortior”), but in fact it was independent. The center of
the building conssted of asmall conference room with a podium and two rows of five chairsfacing a
screen at the front.

At ten in the morning, IDEC director AkiraHitomi stood at the podium and watched as the American
camein and took a seat. The American was alarge man, not so tall but thick in the shoulders and chest,
like an athlete. For such alarge man he moved easily, quietly. The Nepdi officer entered right behind
him, dark-skinned and watchful. He took a seat behind the American and off to one side. At the podium,
Hitomi nodded to them and said nothing.

The wood-paneled room darkened dowly, to dlow eyesto adjust. On all sides, thewood panelsdid
slently away, exposing huge flat-pand screens. Some of the screens moved smoothly out from thewalls.

At last, the main door closed and locked with aclick. Only then did Hitomi spesk.

“Good morning, Kenner-san.” On the main screenit said “ Hitomi Akird’ in English and Japanese. “And
good morning, Thapa-san.” Hitomi flipped open avery smal, very thin slver laptop. “Today | will
present data from the last twenty-one days, correct up to twenty minutes ago. These will befindings from
our joint project, Akamai Tree.”

The two visitors nodded. Kenner smiled in anticipation. Aswell he should, Hitomi thought. Nowhere
elsein the world could he see such a presentation, for Hitomi’ s agency wasthe world leader in the
accumulation and manipulation of eectronic data. Now images on the screens came up, glowing one after
another. They showed what appeared to be a corporate logo: a green tree on awhite background, and
theletteringAKAMAI TREE DIGITAL NETWORK SOLUTIONS .

This name and image had been chosen for their smilarity to actual Internet companies and their logos.
For thelast two years, Akamal Tree' s network of servers actudly consisted of carefully designed traps.
They incorporated multilevel quad-check honeynets established in both business and academic domains.
This enabled them to track backward from serversto user with an 87 percent successrate. They had
baited the net starting last year, first with ordinary feed and then with increasingly juicy morsels.

“Our stesmirrored established geology, applied physics, ecology, civil engineering, and biogeography
gtes,” Hitomi said. “To attract deep divers, typica dataincluded information on the use of explosivesin
selsmic recordings, the tests of the stability of structuresto vibration and earthquake damage, and in our
oceanographic sites, data on hurricanes, rogue waves, tsunamis, and so forth. All thisisfamiliar to you.”

Kenner nodded.

Hitomi continued: “We knew we had a disseminated enemy, and a clever one. Users often operate
behind netnanny firewalls, or used AOL accounts with teen ratings, to imply they are juvenile pranksters



or kiddie scripters. But they are nothing of the sort. They arewell organized, patient, and unrelenting. In
recent weeks, we have begun to understand more.”

The screen changed, showing aligt.

“Out of amix of sitesand discussion groups, our sys progs found the deep divers clustered on the
following category topics:

Aarhus, Denmark

Argon/Oxygen Drives

Audrdian Military Higtory

Caisson Seawalls

Cavitation (Solid)

Cdlular Encryption

Controlled Demalition

Flood Mitigation

High-Voltage Insulators

Hilo, Hawaii

Mid-Ocean Relay Network (MORN)
Missonary Diaries of the Pecific
Nationa Earthquake Information Center (NEIC)
Nationa Environmenta Resource Fund (NERF)
Network Data Encryption

Potassum Hydroxide

Prescott, Arizona

Rain Forest Disease Foundation (RFDF)
Salgmic Sgnatures, Geologica

Shaped Explosives (Timed)

Shinkai 2000

Solid Rocket Propellant Mixtures



Toxinsand Neurotoxins
Wire-guided Projectiles
“Animpressve, if myseriouslist,” Hitomi said. “However, we havefiltersto identify smeesand
high-performance clients. These are individuas attacking firewalls, setting trojans, wild spiders, and so
forth. Many of them are looking for credit card lists. But not all.” He tapped hislittle computer, and the
images changed.

“We added each of these topicsinto the honeynet with increasing stickiness, finaly including hints of
forthcoming research data, which we exposed as e-mail exchanges among scientistsin Audrdia,
Germany, Canada, and Russia. We drew a crowd and watched the traffic. We eventually sorted a
complex noda North America—Toronto, Chicago, Ann Arbor, Montreal—with spinesto both
American coadts, aswell as England, France, and Germany. Thisis a serious Alpha extremist group.

They may dready have killed aresearcher in Paris. We re awaiting data. But the French authorities can
be...dow.”

Kenner spokefor thefirst time. “And what’ sthe current deltacellular?”’

“Cdlular trafficisaccelerating. E-mail isheavily encrypted. STF rateisup. It isclear thereisaproject
under way—global in scope, immensday complicated, extremely expensve.”

“But wedon't know what itis.”
“Not yet.”
“Then you' d better follow the money.”

“Wearedoing it. Everywhere.” Hitomi smiled grimly. “It isonly amatter of time before one of these
fishestakes the hook.”

VANCOUVER
TUESDAY, JUNE 8
4:55 P.M.

Nat Damon signed the paper with aflourish. “1’ ve never been asked to sign a nondisclosure agreement
before”

“I'msurprised,” the man in the shiny suit said, taking the paper back. “1 would have thought it was
standard procedure. We don’t want our proprietary information to be disclosed.” He was alawyer
accompanying his client, abearded man with glasses, wearing jeans and awork shirt. This bearded man
said he was a petroleum geologist, and Damon believed him. He certainly looked like the other petroleum
geologists he had dedlt with.

Damon’'s company was caled Canada Marine RS Technologies; from atiny, cramped office outside
Vancouver, Damon leased research submarines and remote submersibles to clients around the world.



Damon didn’t own these subs; he just leased them. The subs were located al over the world—in

Y okohama, Dubal, Mebourne, San Diego. They ranged from fully operationd fifty-foot submersibles
with crews of Six, capable of traveling around the globe, to tiny one-man diving machines and even
smaller remote robotic vehicles that operated from atender ship on the surface.

Damon’ s clients were energy and mining companies who used the subs for undersea prospecting or to
check the condition of offshore rigs and platforms. Hiswas a specidized business, and hislittle office at
the back of aboat repair yard did not receive many visitors.

Y et these two men had come through his door just before closing time. The lawyer had done dl of the
talking; the client merely gave Damon abusiness card that said Seismic Services, with aCagary address.
That made sense; Calgary was abig city for hydrocarbon companies. Petro-Canada, Shell, and Suncor
wered| there, and many more. And dozens of small private consulting firms had sprung up thereto do
prospecting and research.

Damon took asmall modd down from the shelf behind him. It was atiny white snub-nosed submarine
with abubble top. He set it on the tablein front of the men.

“Thisisthe vehiclel would recommend for your needs,” he said. “The RS Scorpion, built in England just
four years ago. Two-man crew. Diesdal and electric power with closed cycle argon drive. Submerged, it
runs on twenty percent oxygen, eighty percent argon. Solid, proven technology: potassum hydroxide
scrubber, two-hundred-volt electrical, operationa depth of two thousand feet, and 3.8 hours divetime.
It’ sthe equivalent of the Japanese Shinkai 2000, if you know that one, or the DownStar 80, of which
there are four in the world, but they’re all on long leases. The Scorpion is an excellent submarine.”

The men nodded, and looked at each other. “ And what kind of externa manipulators arethere?’ the
bearded man said.

“That’ s depth dependent,” Damon said. “ At lesser depths—"
“Let’ssay a two thousand feet. What external manipulators are there?’
“Y ou want to collect samples at two thousand feet?’

“Actudly, we re placing monitoring devices on the bottom.”

“I see. Like radio devices? Sending datato the surface?’

“Something like that.”

“How large are these devices?’

The bearded man held his hands two feet gpart. “About so big.”

“And they weigh what?’

“Oh, | don’'t know exactly. Maybe two hundred pounds.”

Damon concedled his surprise. Usually petroleum geologists knew precisaly what they were going to

place. Exact dimensions, exact weight, exact specific gravity, dl that. This guy was vague. But perhaps
Damon was just being paranoid. He continued. “ And these sensors are for geologica work?’



“Ultimatdly. First we need information on ocean currents, flow rates, bottom temperatures. That kind of
thing.”

Damon thought: For what? Why did they need to know about currents? Of course, they might be sinking
atower, but nobody would do that in two thousand feet of water.

What were these guys intending to do?

“Wel,” hesad, “if you want to place externd devices, you have to secure them to the exterior of the hull
prior to the dive. There are lateral shelves on each side—" he pointed to the model “—for that purpose.

Onceyou're at depth, you have a choice of two remote armsto place the devices. How many devices
areyou talking about?’

“Quiteafew.”
“Morethan eight?’

“Oh yes. Probably.”

“Widll, then you' re talking about multiple dives. Y ou can only take eight, maybe ten externd deviceson
any given dive.” Hetalked on for awhile, scanning their faces, trying to understand what lay behind the
bland looks. They wanted to lease the sub for four months, starting in August of that year. They wanted
the sub and the tender ship transported to Port Moresby, New Guinea. They would pick it up there.
“Depending on where you go, there are some required marine licenses—"

“WE |l worry about that later,” the lawyer said.

“Now, the crew—"

“WEe |l worry about thet later, too.”
“It' s part of the contract.”

“Then just writeit in. However you doiit.”

“You'll return the tender to Moresby at the end of the lease period?’

“Y&"

Damon sat down in front of the desktop computer and began to fill in the estimate forms. There were, dl
indl, forty-three categories (not including insurance) that had to befilled out. At last he had thefindl
number. “Five hundred and eighty three thousand dollars,” he said.

The men didn’t blink. They just nodded.

“Haf in advance”

They nodded again.



“Second haf in escrow account prior to your taking delivery in Port Moresby.” He never required that
with hisregular cusomers. But for some reason, these two made him uneasy.

“That will befine” thelawyer said.

“Plustwenty percent contingency, payablein advance.”

That was Ssmply unnecessary. But now he was trying to make these guys go away. It didn’t work.
“Thet will befine”

“Okay,” Damon said. “Now, if you need to talk to your contracting company before you sgn—"
“No. We're prepared to proceed now.”

And then one of them pulled out an envelope and handed it to Damon.

“Tdl meif thisissatisfactory.”

It was acheck for $250,000. From Seismic Services, payable to Canada Marine. Damon nodded, and
said it was. He put the check and the envelope on his desk, next to the submarine modd.

Then one of the men said, “Do you mind if | make acouple of notes?’” and picked up the envelope and
scribbled onit. And it was only after they were gone that Damon realized they had given him the check
and taken back the envelope. So there would be no fingerprints.

Or was he just being paranoid? The following morning, he was inclined to think so. When hewent to

Scotiabank to deposit the check, he stopped by to see John Kim, the bank manager, and asked him to
find out if there were sufficient funds in the Seismic Services account to cover the check.

John Kim said he would check right away.

STANGFEDLIS
MONDAY, AUGUST 23
3:02 A.M.

Chrig, it was cold, George Morton thought, climbing out of the Land Cruiser. The millionaire
philanthropist stamped hisfeet and pulled on gloves, trying to warm himsdlf. It was three o' clock in the
morning, and the sky glowed red, with streaks of yellow from the still-visible sun. A bitter wind blew
across theSprengisandur, the rugged, dark plainin theinterior of Iceland. Hat gray clouds hung low over
the lavathat siretched away for miles. The Icelandersloved this place. Morton couldn’t see why.

In any case, they had reached their destination: directly ahead lay ahuge, crumpled wall of dirt-covered
snow and rock, stretching up to the mountains behind. Thiswas Snorrgokul, one tongue of the huge
Vatngokull glacier, the largest ice cap in Europe.

The driver, agraduate student, climbed out and clapped his hands with delight. “Not bad at dl! Quite



warm! You are lucky, it'sapleasant August night.” He was wearing a T-shirt, hiking shorts, and alight
vest. Morton was wearing a down vest, a quilted windbreaker, and heavy pants. And he was il cold.

He looked back as the others got out of the backseat. Nicholas Drake, thin and frowning, wearing a
shirt and tie and a tweed sport coat beneath hiswindbresker, winced asthe cold air hit him. With his
thinning hair, wire-frame glasses, and pinched, disgpproving manner, Drake conveyed ascholarly quality
that in fact he cultivated. He did not want to be taken for what he was, a highly successful litigator who
had retired to become the director of the National Environmental Resource Fund, amaor American
activist group. He had held thejob at NERF for the last ten years.

Next, young Peter Evans bounced out of the car. Evans was the youngest of Morton’ s attorneys, and
the one he liked best. Evans was twenty-eight and a junior associate of the Los Angelesfirm of Hasde
and Black. Now, even late a night, he remained cheerful and enthusiastic. He pulled on a Patagonia
fleece and stuck hishandsin his pockets, but otherwise gave no sign that the weather bothered him.

Morton had flown dl of themin from Los Angeles on his Gulfstream G5 jet, arriving in Keflavik airport
at nine yesterday morning. None of them had dept, but nobody wastired. Not even Morton, and he was
axty-fiveyearsold. Hedidn't fed the dightest sense of fatigue.

Just cold.

Morton zipped up hisjacket and followed the graduate student down the rocky hill from the car. “The
light a night givesyou energy,” the kid said. “ Dr. Einarsson never degps more than four hoursanight in
the summer. None of us does.”

“And whereis Dr. Einarsson?’ Morton asked.

“Down there.” Thekid pointed off to the lft.

At first, Morton could see nothing &t al. Finaly he saw ared dot, and redlized it was avehicle. That was
when he grasped the enormous size of the glacier.

Drakefdl into step with Morton as they went down the hill. “George,” he said, “you and Evans should
fed freeto go on atour of the site, and let metalk to Per Einarsson adone.”

HWI,]yJ?I
“I expect Einarsson would be more comfortableif there weren't alot of people standing around.”
“But is't the point that I'm the one who funds his research?’

“Of course,” Drake said, “but | don't want to hammer that fact too hard. | don’t want Per to fed
compromised.”

“I don’t see how you can avoid it.”
“Ill just point out the stakes,” Drake said. “Help him to see the big picture.”
“Frankly, I waslooking forward to hearing this discussion,” Morton said.

“l know,” Drakesad. “But it'sddicate.”



Asthey came closer to the glacier, Morton felt adistinct chill in the wind. The temperature dropped
severa degrees. They could see now the series of four large, tan tents arranged near the red Land
Cruiser. From adistance, the tents had blended into the plain.

From one of the tentsa very tal, blond man appeared. Per Einarsson threw up his hands and shouted,
“Nicholag”

“Per!” Drake raced forward.

Morton continued down the hill, feding distinctly grouchy about being dismissed by Drake. Evans came
up towak aongside him. “1 don’'t want to take any damn tour,” Morton said.

“Oh, | don't know,” Evans said, looking ahead. “It might be more interesting than we think.” Coming out
of one of the other tents were three young women in khakis, al blond and beautiful. They waved to the
newcomers.

“Maybeyou'reright,” Morton said.

Peter Evansknew that his client George Morton, despite hisintenseinterest in dl things environmenta,
had an even more intense interest in pretty women. And indeed, after a quick introduction to Einarsson,
Morton happily dlowed himsdf to be led away by Eva Jonsdéttir, who wastall and athletic, with
short-cropped white blond hair and aradiant smile. She was Morton’ s type, Evans thought. She looked
rather like Morton’ s beautiful assstant, Sarah Jones. He heard Morton say, “1 had no ideaso many
women were interested in geology,” and Morton and Eva drifted away, heading toward the glacier.

Evans knew he should accompany Morton. But perhaps Morton wanted to take thistour alone. And
more important, Evans sfirm also represented Nicholas Drake, and Evans had a nagging concern about
what Drake was up to. Not that it wasillegal or unethical, exactly. But Drake could be imperious, and
what he was going to do might cause embarrassment later on. So for amoment Evans stood there,
wondering which way to go, which man to follow.

It was Drake who made the decison for him, giving Evansadight, dismissve wave of hishand ashe
disappeared into the big tent with Einarsson. Evanstook the hint, and ambled off toward Morton and the
girl. Evawas chattering on about how 12 percent of Iceland was covered in glaciers, and how some of
the glaciers had active vol canoes poking out from theice.

Thisparticular glacier, she said, pointing upward, was of the type caled asurge glacier, becauseit had a
history of rapid advances and retreats. At the moment, she said, the glacier was pushing forward at the
rate of one hundred meters a day—the length of afootball field, every twenty-four hours. Sometimes,
when thewind died, you could actudly hear it grinding forward. Thisglacier had surged more than ten
kilometersin the last few years.

Soon they were joined by Asdis Sveinsdéttir, who could have been Eva s younger sister. She paid
flattering atention to Evans, asking him how histrip over had been, how he liked Iceland, how long he
was staying in the country. Eventualy, she mentioned that she usualy worked in the office at Reykjavik,
and had only come out for the day. Evans redlized then that she was here doing her job. The sponsors
were vidting Einarsson, and Einarsson had arranged for the vidit to be memorable.



Evawas explaining that although surge-type glaciers were very common—there were several hundred of
them in Alaska—the mechanism of the surges was not known. Nor was the mechanism behind the
periodic advances and retreats, which differed for each glacier. “ Thereis ill so much to study, to learn,”
shesaid, smiling & Morton.

That was when they heard shouts coming from the big tent, and considerable swearing. Evans excused
himsdlf, and headed back to the tent. Somewhat reluctantly, Morton trailed after him.

Per Einarsson was shaking with anger. Heraised hisfigts. “I tell you, no!” he yelled, and pounded the
table.

Standing opposite him, Drake was very red in the face, clenching histeeth. “Per,” he said, “1 am asking
you to congder the redlities.”

“You arenot!” Einarsson said, pounding the table again. “ The redlity iswhat you donot want meto
publish!”

“Now, Per—”

“Theredlity, ” hesaid, “isthat in Iceland the first haf of the twentieth century was warmer than the
second hdf, asin Greenland.* Theredlity isthat in Iceland, most glaciers|ost mass after 1930 because
summers warmed by .6 degrees Celsus, but since then the climate has become colder. Theredity isthat
since 1970 these glaciers have been steadily advancing. They have regained haf the ground that was |ost
earlier. Right now, deven are surging. That istheredity, Nicholas And | will not lie about it.”

“No one has suggested you do,” Drake said, lowering hisvoice and glancing at his newly arrived
audience. “1 am merely discussing how you word your paper, Per.”

Einarsson raised a sheet of paper. “Y es, and you havesuggested some wording—"

“Merdy asuggestion—"

“That twigstruth!”

“Per, with due respect, | fed you are exaggerating—"

“Am 17?" Einarsson turned to the others and began to read. “ Thisiswhat he wants meto say: ‘ The threat
of globa warming has melted glaciers throughout the world, and in Icdland aswell. Many glaciersare
shrinking dramatically, athough paradoxicaly others are growing. However, in al cases recent extremes
in climate variability seemto bethe cause...blah...blah...blah...og svo framvegis’ ” He threw the paper
down. “That issmply not true.”

“It'sjust the opening paragraph. The rest of your paper will amplify.”

“The opening paragraph isnot true.”

“Of courseitis. It refersto ‘extremesin climate variability.” No one can object to such vague wording.”

“ Recentextremes. But in |cdand these effects are not recent.”



“Then take out ‘recent.””
“That isnot adequate,” Einarsson said, “because theimplication of this paragraph isthat we are

observing the effects of globa warming from greenhouse gases. Whereasin fact we are observing locd
climate patterns that are rather specific to Iceland and are unlikely to be related to any globd pattern.”

“And you can say S0 in your concluson.”

“But this opening paragraph will be abig joke among Arctic researchers. Y ou think Motoyama or
Sigurosson will not see through this paragraph? Or Hicks? Watanabe? [ saksson? They will laugh and call
me compromised. They will say | did it for grants.”

“But there are other considerations,” Drake said soothingly. “We must al be awvare there are
disinformation groups funded by industry—petroleum, automotive—who will seize on the report that
some glaciers are growing, and useit to argue againgt globa warming. That iswhat they always do. They
snatch a anything to paint afdse picture.”

“How theinformation isused is not my concern. My concernisto report the truth asbest | can.”
“Very noble,” Drake said. “ Perhaps not so practica.”

“I see. And you have brought the source of funding right here, in the form of Mr. Morton, so | do not
missthe point?’

“No, no, Per,” Drake said hastily. “Please, don’t misunderstand—"

“I understand only too well. What is he doing here?’ Einarsson wasfurious. “Mr. Morton? Do you
approve of what | am being asked to do by Mr. Drake?’

It was at that point that Morton’s cell phone rang, and with ill-concedled rdief, heflipped it open.
“Morton. Yes?Yes, John. Where are you? Vancouver? What timeisit there?” He put hishand over the
mouthpiece. “John Kim, in Vancouver. Scotiabank.”

Evans nodded, though he had no ideawho that was. Morton’' s financia operations were complex; he
knew bankersall over theworld. Morton turned and walked to the far side of the tent.

An awkward silence fell over the others as they waited. Einarsson stared at the floor, sucking in his
breath, till furious. The blond women pretended to work, giving gresat attention to the papersthey
shuffled through. Drake stuck hishandsin his pockets, looked at the roof of the tent.

Meanwhile, Morton was laughing. “Redly? | hadn’t heard that one,” he said, chuckling. He glanced
back at the others, and turned away again.

Drake sad, “Look, Per, | feel we have gotten off on the wrong foot.”

“Not at al,” Einarsson said coldly. “We understand each other only too well. If you withdraw your
support, you withdraw your support.”

“Nobody istaking about withdrawing support...”



“Timewill tdl,” hesad.

And then Morton said, “ What?They didwhat? Deposited towhat? How much money are we—? Jesus
Chrigt, John. Thisisunbdievable! ” And il talking, he turned and walked out of the tent.

Evanshurried after him.

It was brighter, the sun now higher in the sky, trying to break through low clouds. Morton was
scrambling up the dope, till talking on the phone. He was shouting, but hiswordswere lost in thewind
asEvansfollowed him.

They cameto the Land Cruiser. Morton ducked down, using it asashield against thewind. “ Chrigt,
John, do | have legdl ligbility there? | mean—no, | didn’t know athing about it. What wasthe
organization? Friends of the Planet Fund?’

Morton looked questioningly at Evans. Evans shook his head. He' d never heard of Friends of the
Planet. And he knew mogt of the environmental organizations.

“Based where?” Morton was saying. “ San Jose? California? Oh. Jesus. What the hell isbased in Costa
Rica?’ He cupped his hand over the phone. “ Friends of the Planet Fund, San José, CostaRica”

Evans shook his head.

“I never heard of them,” Morton said, “and neither has my lawyer. And | don’t remember—no, Ed, if it
was aquarter of amillion dollars, I'd remember. The check wasissued where? | see. And my name was
where? | see. Okay, thanks. Y eah. | will. Bye.” Heflipped the phone shuit.

Heturned to Evans.

“Peter,” he said. “ Get a pad and make notes.”

Morton spoke quickly. Evans scribbled, trying to keep up. It was a complicated story that he took
down as best he could.

John Kim, the manager of Scotiabank, VVancouver, had been called by a customer named Nat Damon, a
local marine operator. Damon had deposited a check from acompany called Seismic Services, in
Cdlgary, and the check had bounced. It was for $300,000. Damon was nervous about whoever had
written the check, and asked Kim to look into it.

John Kim could not legdly makeinquiriesin the US, but theissuing bank wasin Cagary, and hehad a
friend who worked there. He learned that Seismic Services was an account with apostal box for an
address. The account was modestly active, receiving deposits every few weeks from only one source:
The Friends of the Planet Foundation, based in San Josg, Costa Rica.

Kim placed acal down there. Then, about that time, it came up on his screen that the check had
cleared. Kim called Damon and asked him if he wanted to drop the inquiry. Damon said no, check it out.



Kim had a brief conversation with Miguel Chavez at the Banco Credito Agricolain San José. Chavez
said he had gotten an dectronic deposit from the Moriah Wind Power Associates via Ansbach (Cayman)

Ltd., aprivate bank on Grand Cayman idand. That wasal he knew.

Chavez called Kim back ten minutes later to say he had made inquiries at Ansbach and had obtained a
record of awiretransfer that was paid into the Moriah account by the Internationa Wilderness
Preservation Society three days before that. And the IWPS transfer noted in the comment field, “G.

Morton Research Fund.”

John Kim called his VVancouver client, Nat Damon, to ask what the check was for. Damon said it was
for the lease of asmdl two-man research submarine.

Kim thought that was pretty interesting, so he telephoned his friend George Morton to kid him abit, and
ask why hewasleasing asubmarine. And to his surprise, Morton knew absolutely nothing about it.

Evansfinished taking down notes on the pad. He said, “ Thisis what some bank manager in Vancouver
told you?’

“Yes. A good friend of mine. Why are you looking at me that way?”

“Becauseit'salot of information,” Evans said. He didn’t know the banking rulesin Canada, to say
nothing of Costa Rica, but he knew it was unlikdly that any bankswould fredly exchange information in
the way Morton had described. If the Vancouver manager’ s story was true, there was moreto it that he
wasn't telling. Evans made a note to check into it. “And do you know the International Wilderness
Preservation Society, which has your check for aquarter of amillion dollars?’

Morton shook his head. “Never heard of them.”
“S0 you never gave them two hundred and fifty thousand dollars?”’

Morton shook hishead. “I'll tell you what | did do, inthe last week,” he said. “| gave two hundred and
fifty grand to Nicholas Drake to cover amonthly operating shortfal. He told me he had some problem
about a big contributor from Seattle not coming through for aweek. Drake s asked meto help him out

before like that, once or twice.”

“Y ou think that money ended up in Vancouver?’

Morton nodded.

“Y ou better ask Drake about it,” Evans said.

“I havenoideaat dl,” Drake said, looking mystified. “ Costa Rica? Internationa Wilderness
Preservation? My goodness, | can’'t imagine.”

Evanssaid, “Y ou know the International Wilderness Preservation Society?’

“Very well,” Drake said. “ They’ re excdllent. We ve worked closdly with them on any number of

projects around the world—the Everglades, Tiger Topsin Nepal, the Lake Toba preserve in Sumatra.
Theonly thing | can think isthat somehow George' s check was mistakenly deposited in the wrong



account. Or...| just don’'t know. | haveto cdl the office. But it slatein Cdifornia. It'll haveto wait until
morning.”

Morton was staring at Drake, not speaking.

“George,” Drake said, turning to him. “I’'m sure this must make you fed very strange. Eveniif it' san
honest mistake—as | am dmost certain it is—it' s<till alot of money to be mishandled. | fed terrible. But
mistakes happen, especidly if you usealot of unpaid volunteers, aswe do. But you and | have been
friendsfor along time. | want you to know that | will get to the bottom of this. And of course | will see
that the money isrecovered at once. Y ou have my word, George.”

“Thank you,” Morton said.

They dl climbed into the Land Cruiser.

The vehicle bounced over the barren plain. “ Damn, those | celanders are stubborn,” Drake said, staring
out thewindow. “ They may be the most stubborn researchersin theworld.”

“He never saw your point?’ Evanssaid.

“No,” Drake said, “I couldn’'t make him understand. Scientists can’t adopt that | ofty attitude anymore.

They can't say, ‘| do theresearch, and | don’t care how itisused.” That's out of date. It’sirresponsible.
Eveninaseemingly obscurefield like glacier geology. Because, likeit or not, we' rein the middle of a
war—agloba war of information versus disnformation. The war isfought on many battlegrounds.
Newspaper op-eds. Television reports. Scientific journas. Websites, conferences, classrooms—and
courtrooms, too, if it comesto that.” Drake shook his head. “We have truth on our side, but we're
outnumbered and out-funded. Today, the environmenta movement is David battling Goliath. And Goliath
isAventisand Alcatel, Humanaand GE, BP and Bayer, Shell and Glaxo-Wellcome—huge, globd,
corporate. These people are the implacable enemies of our planet, and Per Einarsson, out there on his
gleacier, isirresponsbleto pretend it isn't happening.”

Sitting beside Drake, Peter Evans nodded sympathetically, though in fact he took everything Drake was
saying with alarge grain of salt. The head of NERF was famoudy melodramatic. And Drake was
pointedly ignoring the fact that severd of the corporations he had named made substantia contributions
to NERF every year, and three executives from those companies actualy sat on Drake' s board of
advisors. That was true of many environmenta organizations these days, athough the reasons behind
corporate involvement were much debated.

“Wdl,” Morton said, “maybe Per will reconsider later on.”

“I doubt it,” Drake said gloomily. “Hewas angry. We' velost thisbattle, I'm sorry to say. But we do
what we dways do. Soldier on. Fight the good fight.”

It wassilent in the car for awhile.
“The girlswere damn good looking,” Morton said. “Weren't they, Peter?’

“Yes” Evanssad. “They were.”



Evans knew that Morton wastrying to lighten the mood in the car. But Drake would have none of it. The
head of NERF stared morosely at the barren landscape, and shook his head mournfully at the
snow-covered mountainsin the distance.

Evans had traveled many timeswith Drake and Morton in the last couple of years. Usudly, Morton
could cheer everybody around him, even Drake, who was glum and fretful.

But lately Drake had become even more pessmigtic than usua. Evans had first noticed it afew weeks
ago, and had wondered at thetime if there wasillnessin the family, or something else that was bothering
him. But it seemed there was nothing amiss. At least, nothing that anyone would talk about. NERF was a
bechive of activity; they had moved into awonderful new building in Beverly Hills, fund-rasngwasat an
al-time high; they were planning spectacular new events and conferences, including the Abrupt Climate
Change Conference that would begin in two months. Y et despite these successes—or because of
them?—Drake seemed more miserable than ever.

Morton noticed it, too, but he shrugged it off. “He' salawyer,” he said. “What do you expect? Forget
about it.”

By the time they reached Reykjavik, the sunny day had turned wet and chilly. It was deeting a Keflavik
arport, obliging them to wait while the wings of the white Gulfstream jet were de-iced. Evansdipped
away to acorner of the hangar and, since it was till the middle of the night inthe US, placed acdll toa
friend in banking in Hong Kong. He asked about the VVancouver story.

“Absolutely impossible,” was the immediate answer. “No bank would divulge such information, even to
another bank. There' san STR in the chain somewhere.”

“AnSTR?

“Suspicioustransfer report. If it looks like money for drug trafficking or terrorism, the account gets
tagged. And from then on, it’ stracked. There are waysto track eectronic transfers, even with strong
encryption. But none of that tracking is ever going to wind up on the desk of abank manager.”

“No?’

“Not achance. You' d need internationa law-enforcement credentiasto see that tracking report.”

“So thisbank manager didn’t do dl thishimsef?’

“I doubt it. Thereis somebody eseinvolved in thisstory. A policeman of some kind. Somebody you're
not being told about.”

“Like acustomsguy, or Interpol ?’
“Or something.”

“Why would my client be contacted at al?’



“I don’t know. But it’s not an accident. Does your client have any radical tendencies?’

Thinking of Morton, Evans wanted to laugh. “ Absolutdly not.”

“You quite sure, Peter?’

“Wdl, yes...”

“Because sometimes these wealthy donors amuse themselves, or justify themselves, by supporting
terrorist groups. That’ swhat happened with the IRA. Rich Americansin Boston supported them for
decades. But times have changed. No oneisamused any longer. Y our client should be careful. And if

you' re his attorney, you should be careful, too. Hate to visit you in prison, Peter.”

And he hung up.

TOLOSANGELES
MONDAY, AUGUST 23
1:04 P.M.

Theflight attendant poured Morton’ s vodkainto a cut-glass tumbler. “No moreice, swestie,” Morton
sad, raisng hishand. They were flying west, over Greenland, avast expanse of iceand cloud in pale sun
benegth them.

Morton sat with Drake, who talked about how the Greenland ice cap was mdting. And the rate at which
the Arctic ice was melting. And Canadian glaciers were receding. Morton sipped his vodka and nodded.
“So lcdand isan anomay?’

“Ohyes” Drakesad. “An anomay. Everywhere el se, glaciers are melting at an unprecedented rate.”
“It'sgood we have you, Nick,” Morton said, putting his hand on Drake s shoulder.

Drake smiled. “ And it’ sgood we haveyou, George,” he said. “We wouldn’'t be able to accomplish
anything without your generous support. Y ou’ ve made the Vanutu lawsuit possible—and that’ s extremely
important for the publicity it will generate. And asfor your other grants, well...wordsfal me.”

“Words never fail you,” Morton said, dapping him on the back.

Sitting across from them, Evans thought they really were the odd couple. Morton, big and hearty,
dressed casudly in jeans and aworkshirt, always seeming to burst from his clothes. And Nicholas Drake,
tall and painfully thin, wearing a coat and tie, with his scrawvny neck risng from the collar of ashirt that
never seemed to fit.

In their manner, too, they were compl ete opposites. Morton loved to be around as many people as
possible, loved to eat, and laugh. He had a penchant for pretty girls, vintage sports cars, Asian art, and
practica jokes. His parties drew most of Hollywood to his Holmby Hills mansion; his charity functions
were dways specid, dways written up the next day.



Of course, Drake atended those functions, but invariably |eft early, sometimes before dinner. Often he
pleaded illness—his own or afriend’s. In fact, Drake was a solitary, ascetic man, who detested parties
and noise. Even when he stood at a podium giving aspeech, he conveyed an air of isolation, asif hewere
aonein the room. And, being Drake, he made it work for him. He managed to suggest that hewasa
lone messenger in the wilderness, delivering the truth the audience needed to hear.

Despite their differencesin temperament, the two men had built a durable friendship that had lasted the
better part of adecade. Morton, the heir to aforklift fortune, had the congenital uneasiness of inherited
wedlth. Drake had a good use for that money, and in return provided Morton with apassion, and a
cause, that informed and guided Morton’ slife. Morton’ s name appeared on the board of advisors of the
Audubon Society, the Wilderness Society, the World Wildlife Fund, and the SierraClub. Hewas a
major contributor to Greenpeace and the Environmenta Action League.

All this culminated in two enormous gifts by Morton to NERF. Thefirst wasagrant of $1 million, to
finance the Vanutu lawsuit. The second was agrant of $9 million to NERF itself, to finance future
research and litigation on behadf of the environment. Not surprisingly, the NERF board had voted Morton
their Concerned Citizen of the Year. A banquet in his honor was scheduled for later thet fdl, in San
Francisco.

Evans sat across from the two men, idly thumbing through amagazine. But he had been shaken by the
Hong Kong call, and found himsdlf observing Morton with some care.

Morton till had his hand on Drake' s shoulder, and wastelling him ajoke—as usud, trying to get Drake
to laugh—~but it seemed to Evans that he detected a certain distance on Morton’s part. Morton had
withdrawn, but didn’t want Drake to notice.

This suspicion was confirmed when Morton stood up abruptly and headed for the cockpit. “I want to
know about this damn eectronic thing,” he said. Since takeoff, they had been experiencing the effects of
amgjor solar flare that rendered satellite telephones erratic or unusable. The pilots said the effect was
heightened near the poles, and would soon diminish as they headed south.

And Morton seemed eager to make some calls. Evans wondered to whom. It was now four am. in
New Y ork, oneam. in Los Angeles. Who was Morton calling? But of courseit could concern any of his
ongoing environmental projects—water purification in Cambodia, reforestation in Guinea, habitat
preservation in Madagascar, medicind plantsin Peru. To say nothing of the German expedition to
measure the thickness of theicein Antarctica. Morton was persondly involved in dl these projects. He
knew them in detail, knew the scientistsinvolved, had visited the locations himsdlf.

So it could be anything.
But somehow, Evansfdlt, it wasn't just anything.

Morton came back. “RFilots say it's okay now.” He sat by himsdlf in the front of the plane, reached for
his headset, and pulled the diding door shut for privecy.

Evansturned back to his magazine,



Drake sad, “ Y ou think he' sdrinking more than usua ?’

“Not redly,” Evanssaid.

“I'worry.”

“I wouldn't,” Evanssaid.

“Youredize” Drakesad, “we arejust five weeks from the banquet in his honor, in San Francisco.
That'sour biggest fund-raising event of the year. It will generate considerable publicity, andit'll help us
launch the conference on Abrupt Climate Change.”

“Uh-huh,” Evanssad.

“I"d like to ensure that the publicity focuses on environmental issues, and not anything el se. Of apersona
nature, if you know what | mean.”

Evanssad, “Isn't thisaconversation you should be having with George?’
“Oh, | have. | only mention it to you because you spend so much timewith him.”
“I don't, redlly.”

“You know helikesyou, Peter,” Drake said. “Y ou're the son he never had or—héll, | don’'t know. But
hedoes like you. And I’'m just asking you to help us, if you can.”

“I don’'t think he!' Il embarrassyou, Nick.”

“dud...kegp aneyeon him.”

“Okay. Sure.”

At the front of the plane, the diding door opened. Morton said, “Mr. Evans? If you please.”
Peter got up and went forward.

He did the door shut behind him.

“1 have been on the phoneto Sarah,” Morton said. Sarah Joneswas hisassstant in LA.
“lan'tit late?”

“It' sher job. She'swell paid. Sit down.” Evans sat in the chair opposite. “ Have you ever heard of the
NSIA?

“ NO_"

“The Nationa Security Intelligence Agency?’



Evans shook his head. “No. But there are twenty security agencies.”

“Ever heard of John Kenner?’

“No...”

“Apparently he’ sa professor at MIT.”

“No,” Evanssaid. “ Sorry. Does he have something to do with the environment?’
“He may. Seewhat you can find out.”

Evansturned to the laptop by his seat, and flipped open the screen. It was connected to the Internet by
satellite. He started to type.

In afew moments he was looking at a picture of afit-looking man with prematurely gray hair and heavy
horn-rim glasses. The atached biography was brief. Evansread it doud. “ Richard John Kenner, William
T. Harding Professor of Geoenvironmenta Engineering.”

“Whatever that means,” Morton said.

“Heisthirty-nine. Doctorate in civil engineering from Caltech at age twenty. Did histhesis on soil erosion
in Nepd. Barely missed qualifying for the Olympic ski team. A JD from Harvard Law School. Spent the
next four yearsin government. Department of the Interior, Office of Policy Andyss. Scientific advisor to
the Intergovernmenta Negotiating Committee. Hobby is mountain climbing; he was reported dead on
Naya Khanga peak in Nepd, but hewasn't. Tried to climb K2, driven back by wesather.”

“K2,” Morton said. “1sn’t that the most dangerous peak?’

“I think so. Looks like he'sa serious climber. Anyway, he then went to MIT, wherel’d say hisrise has
been spectacular. Associate professor in’93. Director of the MIT Center for Risk Analysisin’95.
William T. Harding Professor in* 96. Consultant to the EPA, the Department of the Interior, the
Department of Defense, the government of Nepal, God knowswho else. Lookslike alot of
corporations. And since 2002, on faculty leave.”

“Meaning what?’
“Itjust ssyshe'son leave”

“For the last two years?” Morton came and looked over Evans s shoulder. “I don't likeit. The guy
burns up thetrack a MIT, goes on leave, and never comes back. Y ou think he got into trouble?’

“I don't know. But...” Evanswas calculating the dates. “ Professor Kenner got a doctorate from Caltech
at twenty. Got hislaw degree from Harvard in two years instead of three. Professor at MIT when he's

twenty-eight...”

“Okay, okay, so he'ssmart,” Morton said. “| till want to know why he' son leave. And why he'sin
Vancouver.”

Evanssad, “He sin Vancouver?’



“He sbeen calling Sarah from Vancouver.”

“Why?

“He wants to meet with me.”

“Wdl,” Evanssad, “I guessyou' d better meet with him.”

“I will,” Morton said. “But what do you think he wants?’

“I have no idea. Funding? A project?”’

“Sarah says he wants the meeting to be confidential. He doesn’t want anybody to betold.”
“Wadll, that’snot hard. Y ou're on an airplane.”

“No,” Morton said, jerking his thumb. “He specificaly doesn’t want Drake to betold.”
“Maybe I’ d better attend this meeting,” Evans said.

“Yes,” Morton said. “Maybe you should.”

LOSANGELES
MONDAY, AUGUST 23
4:09 P.M.

Theiron gates swung open, and the car drove up the shaded driveway to the house that dowly came
into view. Thiswas Holmby Hills, the wedthiest area of Beverly Hills. The billionaireslived here, in
residences hidden from the street by high gates and dense foliage. In this part of town, security cameras
were al painted green, and tucked back unobtrusively.

The house came into view. It was aMediterranean-style villa, cream colored, and large enough for a
family of ten. Evans, who had been speaking to his office, flipped his cell phone shut and got out asthe
car cameto astop.

Birds chirped in theficustrees. The air smelled of the gardeniaand jasmine that bordered the driveway.
A hummingbird hung near the purple bougainvilleaa the garage. It was, Evansthought, atypica
Cdiforniamoment. Evans had been raised in Connecticut and schooled in Boston; even after fiveyearsin
Cdifornia, the place ill seemed exatic to him.

He saw that another car was parked in front of the house: adark gray sedan. It had government license
plates.

From out of the front door came Morton’ s assistant, Sarah Jones, atall blond woman of thirty, as
glamorous as any movie star. Sarah was dressed in awhite tennis skirt and pink top, her hair pulled back
inapony tail. Morton kissed her lightly on the cheek. “Y ou playing today?’



“1 was. My boss came back early.” She shook Evans' s hand and turned back to Morton. “ Good trip?’
“Fine. Drakeismorose. And hewon't drink. It getstiresome.”

AsMorton started toward the door, Sarah said, “1 think | ought to tell you, they’ re here right now.”
“Whois?’

“Professor Kenner. And another guy with him. Foreign guy.”

“Redly?But didn’t you tell them they had to—"

“Make an gppointment? Yes, | did. They seem to think that doesn’t apply to them. They just sat down
and said they’ d wait.”

“Y ou should have called me—"

“They got herefive minutesago.”

“Huh. Okay.” Heturned to Evans. “Let’ sgo, Peter.”

They went ingde. Morton' s living room looked out on the garden in back of the house. The room was
decorated with Asian antiques, including alarge stone head from Cambodia. Sitting erectly on the couch
were two men. One was an American of middle height, with short gray hair and glasses. The other was
very dark, compact, and very handsome despite the thin scar that ran down the left Sde of hisfacein
front of hisear. They were dressed in cotton dacks and lightweight sport coats. Both men sat on the
edge of the couch, very dert, asif they might spring up at any momen.

“Look military, don't they?” Morton muttered, as they went into the room.

The two men stood. “Mr. Morton, I'm John Kenner from MIT, and thisis my colleague, Sanjong
Thapa A graduate student from Mustang. In Nepa.”

Morton said, “And thisismy colleague, Peter Evans.”

They shook hands dl around. Kenner’ s grip was firm. Sanjong Thapa gave avery dight bow ashe
shook hands. He spoke softly, with a British accent. “How do you do.”

“| didn’t expect you,” Morton said, “so soon.”
“Wework quickly.”
“So | see. What' sthis about?’

“I'm afraid we need your help, Mr. Morton.” Kenner smiled pleasantly at Evans and Sarah. “And
unfortunately, our discussion is confidentia.”

“Mr. Evansismy attorney,” Morton said, “and | have no secrets from my ass stant—"

“I'msaure” Kenner said. “Y ou may take them into your confidence whenever you choose. But we must
speak to you aone.”



Evanssad, “If you don’t mind, I’ d like to see some identification.”

“Of course,” Kenner said. Both men reached for wallets. Evans was shown Massachusetts driver’s
licenses, MIT faculty cards, and passports. Then they handed out business cards.

John Kenner, PhD

Center for Risk Analyss

Massachusetts I ndtitute of Technology

454 Massachusetts Avenue

Cambridge, MA 02138

Sanjong Thapa, PhD

Research Associate

Department of Geoenvironmental Engineering
Building 4-C 323

Massachusetts I ndtitute of Technology
Cambridge, MA 02138

There were telephone numbers, fax, e-mail. Evansturned the cards over. It al looked straightforward.

Kenner said, “Now, if you and Miss Joneswill excuseus...”

They were outside, in the halway, looking into the living room through the large glass doors. Morton
was sitting on one couch. Kenner and Sanjong were on the other. The discussion was quiet. Infact, it
looked to Evansjust like one more of the endless investment meetings that M orton endured.

Evans picked up the hal phone and dialed a number. “ Center for Risk Analysis,” awoman said.
“Professor Kenner’' s office, please.”

“Onemoment.” Clicking. Another voice. “Center for Risk Anadysis, Professor Kenner’ s office.”
“Good afternoon,” Evans said. “My nameis Peter Evans, and I’ m calling for Professor Kenner.”
“I'm sorry, heisnot in the office”

“Do you know where heis?’

“Professor Kenner is on extended leave.”



“Itisimportant that | reach him,” Evans said. “Do you know how | could do that?’
“Wall, it shouldn’t be hard, sinceyou arein Los Angdesand soishe.”

So she had seen the cdller 1D, Evans thought. He would have imagined Morton had ablocked ID. But
evidently not. Or perhaps the secretary in Massachusetts had away to unblock it.

“Wdl,” Evanssaid, “canyou tel me—’

“I’'m sorry, Mr. Evans,” she said, “but I'm not able to help you further.”
Click.

Sarah said, “What was that about?’

Before Evans could answer, acell phonerang in theliving room. He saw Kenner reach into his pocket,
and answer briefly. Then heturned, looked a Evans, and waved.

Sarah sad, “Hisoffice called him?’
“Lookslikeit.”

“So | guessthat’s Professor Kenner.”

“I guessitis” Evanssad. “And we re dismissed.”

“Comeon,” Sarah sad. “I'll give you aride home.”

They walked past the open garage, the row of Ferraris glinting in the sun. Morton owned nine vintage
Ferraris, which he kept in various garages. These included a 1947 Spyder Corsa, a 1956 Testa Rossa,
and a 1959 Cdifornia Spyder, each worth more than amillion dollars. Evans knew this because he
reviewed the insurance every time Morton bought another one. At thefar end of the linewas Sarah's
black Porsche convertible. She backed it out, and he climbed in beside her.

Even by Los Angdles stlandards, Sarah Jones was an extremely beautiful woman. Shewastall, with a
honey-colored tan, shoulder-length blond hair, blue eyes, perfect features, very white teeth. She was
athletic in the casual way that Cdlifornia people were athletic, generally showing up for work in ajogging
suit or short tennis skirt. She played golf and tennis, scuba dived, mountain biked, skied, snowboarded,
and God knew what else. Evansfelt tired whenever he thought abot it.

But he also knew that she had “issues,” to use the Californiaword. Sarah was the youngest child of a
wedthy San Francisco family; her father was a powerful attorney who had held politicd office; her
mother was aformer high fashion modd. Sarah’ s older brothers and ssterswere dl happily married, al
successful, and dl waiting for her to follow in their footsteps. Shefound her family’ s collective successa
burden.

Evans had dways wondered why she chose to work for Morton, another powerful and wealthy man. Or
why she had cometo Los Angelesat al, since her family regarded any address south of the Bay Bridge



to be hopelesdy tawdry. But she was good at her job, and devoted to Morton. And as George often
said, her presence was aestheticaly pleasing. And the actors and cel ebrities who attended Morton's
parties agreed; she had dated severd of them. Which further displeased her family.

Sometimes Evans wondered if everything she did was rebellion. Like her driving—she drove quickly,
amogt recklesdy, shooting down Benedict Canyon, heading into Beverly Hills. “ Do you want to go to the
office, or your gpartment?’

“My apartment,” he said. “1 haveto pick up my car.”

She nodded, swerved around a dlow-moving Mercedes, then cut left down aside street. Evanstook a
deep breath.

“Ligten,” she said. “Do you know what netwar is?’

“What?" Hewasn't sure he had heard her over the sound of the wind.

“Netwar.”

“No,” hesad. “Why?’

“I heard them talking about it, before you showed up. Kenner and that Sanjong guy.”
Evans shook hishead. “Doesn't ring abdll. Y ou sure it wasn't netware?”

“Might have been.” She sped across Sunset, running aye low light, and then downshifted as she cameto
Beverly. “You gill on Roxbury?

He said hewas. He looked at her long legs, protruding from the short white skirt. “Who were you going
to play tenniswith?’

“I don't think you know him.”

“It'snot, uh...”

“No. That'sover.”

“l see”

“I'm serious, it’ sover. ”

“Okay, Sarah. | hear you.”

“You lavyersare dl so suspicious.”

“So, it salawyer you're playing with?’

“No, itisnot alawyer. | don't play with lavyers.”

“What do you do with them?’



“Aslittle aspossible. Like everybody ese”
“I'm sorry to hear that.”
“Except you, of course,” she sad, giving him adazzling amile.

She accelerated hard, making the engine scream.

Peter Evanslived in one of the older gpartment buildings on Roxbury Drivein theflats of Beverly Hills.
There werefour unitsin hisbuilding, acrossthe street from Roxbury Park. It was anice park, abig green
expanse, dways busy. He saw Hispanic nannies chatting in groups while they minded the children of rich
people, and severd oldsters sitting in the sun. Off in acorner, aworking mother in abusiness suit had
taken off lunch to be with the kids.

The car screeched to astop. “Hereyou are.”

“Thanks” he said, getting out.

“lan'tit timeto move? Y ou' ve been here five years.”

“I’m too busy to move,” he said.

“Got your keys?’

“Y eah. But there’ saways one under the doormat.” He reached in his pocket, jingled metal. “All set.”

“Seeyou.” And she raced off, squealed around the corner, and was gone.

Evanswalked through the little sunlit courtyard, and went up to his gpartment, on the second floor. As
aways, he had found Sarah dightly distressing. She was so beautiful, and so flirtatious. He dways had
the feeling that she kept men at a distance by keeping them off balance. At least, she kepthim off balance.
He could never tell if she wanted him to ask her out or not. But considering his relationship with Morton,
it was abad idea. He would never doit.

As soon as he walked in the door, the phone began to ring. It was his assistant, Heather. She was going
home early because she felt sick. Heather frequently felt sick toward the afternoon, in time to beat rush
hour traffic. Shetended to call in sick on Fridays or Mondays. Y et the firm showed asurprising
reluctance to fire her; she had been there for years.

Some said she had had arelationship with Bruce Black, the founding partner, and that, ever since, Bruce
lived in congtant dread that hiswife would find out, Snce she had dl the money. Others claimed Heather
was seeing another of the firm’s partners, aways unspecified. A third story was that she had been on the
scene when the firm moved offices from one Century City skyscraper to another, in the course of which
she stumbled on some incriminating documents, and copied them.

Evans suspected the truth was more mundane: that she was a clever woman who had worked in the firm
long enough to know everything about wrongful termination suits, and now carefully gauged her repeated



infractions againgt the cost and aggravation of their firing her. And in thisway worked about thirty weeks
ayear.

Heather was invariably assigned to the best junior associate in the firm, on the assumption thet aredly
good attorney wouldn’'t be hampered by her inconstancy. Evans had tried for yearsto get rid of her. He
was promised a new assistant next year. He saw it as a promotion.

“I'm sorry you don't fed well,” hetold Heather dutifully. One had to go along with her pretense.

“It' sjust my stomach,” she said. “I have to see the doctor.”

“Areyou going today?’

“Well, I'mtrying to get an appointment...”

“All right, then.”

“But | wanted to tell you they just set abig meeting for the day after tomorrow. Nine 0’ clock in the big
conference room.”

“Oh?’

“Mr. Morton just called it. Apparently ten or twelve people are caled.”

“Y ou know who?’

“No. They didn’'t say.”

Evansthought: Usdess. “Okay,” hesaid.

“And don’t forget you have the arraignment for Morton’s daughter next week. Thistimeit’s Pasadena,
not downtown. And Margo Lane s calling about her Mercedes lawsuit. And that BMW dedler ill wants
to go forward.”

“He 4till wantsto sue the church?’

“Hecdlsevery other day.”

“Okay. Isthat it?’

“No, there’ s about ten others. I'll try to leave thelist on your desk if | fed well enough...”

That meant shewouldn't. “Okay,” he said.

“Areyou comingin?

“No, it'stoo late. | need to get some deep.”

“Then I'll see you tomorrow.”



Heredized he was very hungry. There was nothing to eat in the refrigerator except acontainer of yogurt
of indeterminate age, some wilted cdery, and a haf-finished bottle of wine left over from hislast date,
about two weeks earlier. He had been seeing a girl named Carol who did product liability at another firm.
They’ d picked each other up in the gym and had begun a desultory, intermittent affair. They were both
busy, and not especidly interested in each other, to tell the truth. They met once or twice aweek, had
passionate sex, and then one of them would plead a breakfast appointment the next day and go home
early. Sometimes they went to dinner aswell, but not usudly. Neither of them wanted to take thetime.

He went into the living room to check his answering machine. There was no message from Caral, but
there was amessage from Janis, another girl he sometimes saw.

Janiswas atrainer in the gym, the possessor of one of those LA bodies, perfectly proportioned and
rock hard. Sex for Janis was an athletic event, involving multiple rooms, couches, and chairs, and it
adwaysleft Evansfeding vagudy inadequate, asif hisbody fat weren't low enough for her. But he
continued to see her, feding vaguely proud that he could have agirl who looked so astonishing, even if
the sex wasn't that good. And she was often available on short notice. Janis had a boyfriend who was
older, aproducer for a cable news station. He was out of town alot, and she was restless.

Janis had left a message the night before. Evans didn’t bother to cal her back. With Janisit was aways
that night, or forget it.

Before Janis and Caral, there had been other women, more or less the same. Evanstold himsdlf he
should find amore satisfying relationship. Something more serious, more adult. More suited to hisage
and gation in life. But he was busy, and just took things asthey came.

Meanwhile hewas hungry.

He went back down to his car and drove to the nearest drive-in, a hamburger joint on Pico. They knew
him there. He had a double cheeseburger and a strawberry shake.

He went home, intending to go to bed. Then he remembered that he owed Morton acall.

“I'mglad you called,” Morton said, “I’ ve just been going over some things with—going over some
things. Where are we now on my donationsto NERF? The Vanutu lawsuit, dl that?’

“1 don’t know,” Evans said. “ The papers are drawn and signed, but | don’t think anything’s been paid
yet”

“Good. | want you to hold off payments.”
“Sure, no problem.”

“Jugt for awhile”

“Okay.”

“Ther€ sno need to say anything to NERF.”

“No, no. Of course not.”



“Good.”
Evans hung up. He went into the bedroom to get undressed. The phone rang again.
It was Janis. The exerciseingtructor.

“Hey,” shesad. “I wasthinking about you, and | wondered what you were doing.”
“Asamatter of fact, | was going to go to bed.”

“Oh. Pretty early for that.”

“I just got infrom lcdland.”

“So you must betired.”

“Well,” he said. “Not that tired.”

“Want company?’

“Sure.”

She giggled and hung up.

BEVERLY HILLS
TUESDAY, AUGUST 24
6:04 A.M.

Evans awoke to the sound of rhythmic gasping. He flung his hand across the bed, but Janis wasn't there.
Her sde of the bed was till warm. Heraised his head dightly, yawning. In the warm morning light he saw
one dender, perfectly formed leg rise above the foot of the bed, to bejoined by the other leg. Then both
legs dowly descended. Gasping. Then legs up again.

“Janis” hesad, “what are you doing?’

“I haveto warm up.” She stood, smiling, naked and at ease, confident of her gppearance, every muscle
outlined. “I have aclassa seven.”

“What timeisit?’

“Six.”

He groaned, and buried his head in the pillow.

“Y ou redly should get up now,” she said. “It shortensyour lifespanto deepin.”

He groaned again. Janiswasfull of hedth information; it was her job. “How can it possibly shorten my



lifeto degp?’

“They did sudiesonrats. They didn’t let them deep, and you know what? They lived longer.”
“Uh-huh. Would you mind turning on the coffee?

“Okay,” shesad, “but you redly should give up coffee...” Shedrifted out of the room.

He swung hisfeet onto the floor and said, “Haven't you heard? Coffee prevents strokes.”

“It doesnot,” she said, from the kitchen. “ Coffee has nine hundred twenty-three different chemicasiniit,
anditisnot good for you.”

“New study,” he said. It wastrue, too.
“Begdes, it causes cancer.”

“That's never been shown.”

“And miscarriages.”

“Not aconcernfor me.”

“And nervoustenson.”

“Janis, please”

She came back, crossing her arms across her perfect breasts as she leaned against the doorjamb. He

could seethe veinsin her lower abdomen, running down to her groin. “Well, youare nervous, Peter. You
haveto admit it.”

“Only when | look at your body.”

She pouted. “ Y ou don’t take me serioudy.” She turned back into the kitchen, showing him her perfect,
high glutes. He heard her open therefrigerator. “ There’'sno milk.”

“Blackisfine”

He stood, and headed for the shower.

“Did you have any damage?’ shesaid.

“From what?’

“From the earthquake. We had alittle one, while you were gone. About 4.3.”
“Not that | know.”

“Wadll, it suremoved your TV.”

He stopped in mid-gtride. “What?’



“It moved your TV. Look for yoursdlf.”

Themorning sunlight that danted through the window clearly showed the faint outline where the base of
the television had compressed the carpet. The TV had been moved about three inchesfrom its former
position. It was an old thirty-two-inch monitor, and damned heavy. It didn’'t move easily. Looking &t it
now gave Evansachill.

“You'relucky,” shesad. “You have dl those glass things on your mantel. They bresk dl thetime, even
inasmall quake. Do you have an insurance policy?’

Hedidn't answer. He was bent over, looking behind the television at the connections. Everything looked
normal. But he hadn’t looked behind his TV for about ayear. He wouldn’t realy know.

“By theway,” she said, “thisis not organic coffee. Y ou should at least drink organic. Areyou listening to
me?’

“Jugt aminute.” He had crouched down in front of the television, looking for anything unusua beneeth
the set. He could see nothing out of the ordinary.

“Andwhat isthis?” she said.

Helooked over. She was holding adonut in her hand. “ Peter,” Janis said severdly, “do you know how
much fat’ sin these things? Y ou might aswell just eat astick of butter.”

“I know...I should give them up.”

“Wal, you should. Unlessyou want to develop digbeteslater in life. Why are you on the floor?’
“I wascheckingthe TV.”

“Why?Isit broken?’

“I don’'t think so.” He got to hisfest.

“Thewater isrunning in your shower,” she said. “ That’ snot environmentally conscious.” She poured
coffee, handed it to him. “ Go and take your shower. I’ ve got to get to my class.”

When he came out of the shower, she was gone. He pulled the covers up over the bed (asclose ashe
ever came to making it) and went into the closet to dress for the day.

CENTURY CITY
TUESDAY, AUGUST 24
3:45 A.M.




Thelaw firm of Hasde and Black occupied five floors of an office building in Century City. They werea
forward-looking, socidly aware firm. They represented many Hollywood celebrities and wedthy activists
who were committed to environmental concerns. The fact that they aso represented three of the biggest
land developersin Orange County was less often publicized. But asthe partners said, it kept the firm
bal anced.

Evans had joined the firm because of its many environmentdly active clients, particularly George
Morton. He was one of four attorneys who worked amost full-time for Morton, and for Morton's pet
charity, the Nationd Environmental Resource Fund, NERF.

Nevertheless, hewas till ajunior associate, and his office was small, with awindow that |ooked directly
at theflat glasswall of the skyscraper across the Street.

Evans|ooked over the papers on his desk. It wasthe usual stuff that cameto junior attorneys. There
was aresdentia sublet, an employment agreement, written interrogatories for abankruptcy, aform for
the Franchise Tax Board, and two drafted | etters threatening lawsuits on behdf of his clients—onefor an
artist againg agdlery refusing to return his unsold paintings, and one for George Morton’s mistress, who
claimed that the parking attendant at Sushi Roku had scratched her Mercedes convertible while parking
it.

The mistress, Margaret Lane, was an ex-actress with abad temper and a propensty for litigation.
Whenever George neglected her—which, in recent months, wasincreasingly often—shewould find a
reason to sue somebody. And the suit would inevitably land on Evans' s desk. He made anoteto call
Margo; hedidn’t think she should proceed with this suit, but she would take convincing.

The next item was a Soreadsheet from a Beverly Hills BMW deder who claimed that the “What Would
Jesus Drive?” campaign had hurt his business because it denigrated luxury cars. Apparently hisdealership
was ablock from a church, and some parishioners had come around after services and harangued his
sdesgaff. Thededer didn't likethat, but it looked to Evansasif his salesfigureswere higher thisyear
than last. Evans made anoteto call him, too.

Then he checked hise-mails, sorting through twenty offersto enlarge his penis, ten offersfor
tranquilizers, and another ten to get anew mortgage now before rates started to rise. Therewereonly a
half-dozen e-mails of importance, the first from Herb Lowengtein, asking to see him. Lowenstein wasthe
senior partner on Morton’ s account; he did mostly estate management, but handled other aspects of
investments aswell. For Morton, estate management was afull-time job.

Evans wandered down the hall to Herb' s office.

Lisa, Herb Lowengtein’ s ass stant, was listening on the phone. She hung up and looked guilty when
Evans entered. “He' staking to Jack Nicholson.”

“How is Jack?’
“He sgood. Finishing a picture with Meryl. There were some problems.”

LisaRay was a bright-eyed twenty-seven-year-old, and a dedicated gossip. Evans had long ago come
to rely on her for officeinformation of al sorts.



“What's Herb want me for?’

“Something about Nick Drake.”

“What' s this meeting about tomorrow at nine?’

“I don’'tknow, ” she said, sounding amazed. “I can’t find out athing.

“Who cdlled it?’

“Morton’ s accountants.” She looked at the phone on her desk. “Oh, he' shung up. You cangorightin.”
Herb Lowenstein stood and shook Evans s hand perfunctorily. He was a pleasant-faced bal ding man,
mild-mannered and dightly nerdy. His office was decorated with dozens of pictures of hisfamily, stacked
three and four deep on his desk. He got on well with Evans, if only because these days, whenever
Morton'’ s thirty-year-old daughter got arrested for cocaine possession, it was Evans who went
downtown at midnight to post her bail. Lowenstein had doneit for many years, and now was glad to
deep through the night.

“S0,” hesad, “how was Icdand?’

“Good. Cold.”

“Iseverything okay?’

“Sure”

“I mean, between George and Nick. Everything okay there?’

“I think so. Why?’

“Nick isworried. He called me twicein thelast hour.”

“ About what?’

“Where are we on George' s NERF donation?’

“Nick’ sasking that?’

“Isthere aproblem about it?’

“George wantsto hold off for awhile.”

“Why?

“Hedidn't say.”

“Isit thisKenner guy?’

“Georgedidn’'t say. Hejust said, hold off.” Evans wondered how Lowenstein knew about Kenner.



“What do | tell Nick?’

“Tel himit'sin the works and we don't have adate for him yet.”
“But there’ snot aproblem with it, isthere?’

“Not that I’ ve been told,” Evans said.

“Okay,” Lowengein said. “In thisroom. Tell me: Isthere aproblem?’

“Theremight be.” Evanswas thinking that George rarely held up charitable donations. And there had
been acertain tensgon in the brief talk he had with him the night before.

“What' s this meeting about tomorrow morning?’ Lowengtein said. “ The big conference room.”
“Bestsme.”

“Georgedidn’t tell you?’

“No.”

“Nick isvery upsat.”

“Well, that’s not unusual for Nick.”

“Nick has heard of this Kenner guy. He thinks he' s atroublemaker. Some kind of anti-environmental

“I doubt that. He' saprofessor a MIT. In some environmental science.”

“Nick thinks he' satroublemaker.”

“I couldn’t say.”

“He overheard you and Morton talking about Kenner on the airplane.”

“Nick should stop listening a keyholes.”

“He sworried about his standing with George.”

“Not surprising,” Evans said. “Nick screwed up on abig check. Got deposited in the wrong account.”
“1 heard about that. It was an error by avolunteer. Y ou can’'t blame Nick for that.”

“It does't build confidence.”

“It was deposited to the Internationa Wilderness Preservation Society. A greet organization. And the
money is being transferred back, even as we speak.”

“That'sfine”



“Whereareyou in this?’

“Nowhere. | just do what the client says.”

“But you advisehim.”

“If heasksme. He hasn't asked.”

“It soundslike you' velost confidence yoursdlf.”

Evans shook hishead. “Herb,” he said. “I’'m not aware of any problem. I'm aware of adelay. That's
al”

“Okay,” Lowengtein said, reaching for the phone. “I’ll calm Nick down.”

Evans went back to his office. His phone was ringing. He answered it. “What are you doing today?’
Morton said.

“Not much. Paperwork.”

“That canwait. | want you to go over and see how that VVanutu lawsuit is coming.”
“Jeez, George, it' sl pretty preiminary. | think thefiling is severd months away.”
“Pay them avigt,” Morton said.

“Okay, they'rein Culver City, I'll call over there and—"

“No. Don't cdl. Just go.”

“But if they’ re not expecting—"

“That’ sright. That’ swhat | want. Let me know what you find out, Peter.”

And he hung up.

CULVERCITY
TUESDAY, AUGUST 24
10:30 A.M.

The Vanutu litigation team had taken over an old warehouse south of Culver City. It wasan indudtria
area, with potholesin the streets. There was nothing to see from the curb: just aplain brick wall, and a
door with the street number in battered meta numeras. Evans pushed the buzzer and was admitted to a
amall walled-off reception area. He could hear the low murmur of voices from the other sde of thewall,
but he could see nothing at all.



Two armed guards stood on either side of the far door, leading into the warehouse itself. A receptionist
sat &t asmdl desk. She gave him an unfriendly look.

“Andyou are?’

“Peter Evans, Hasde and Black.”

“Tosee?

“Mr. Balder.”

“Y ou have an gppointment?’

“No.”

The receptionist looked disbelieving. “1 will buzz his assistant.”

“Thank you.”

The receptionist talked on the phonein alow voice. He heard her mention the name of the law firm.
Evanslooked at the two guards. They were from a private security firm. They stared back at him, their
faces blank, unamiling.

The receptionist hung up and said, “Ms. Hayneswill be out in amoment.” She nodded to the guards.

One of them came over and said to Evans, “Just aformality, Sir. May | see someidentification?’

Evansgave him hisdriver’ slicense.

“Do you have any cameras or recording equipment on your person?’

“No,” Evanssaid.

“Any disks, drives, flash cards, or other computer equipment?’

“No.”

“Areyou armed, Sr?’

“No.”

“Would you mind raising your armsfor amoment?’ When Evans gave him a strange ook, the guard
sad, “Just think of it like airport security,” and he patted him down. But he was dso clearly feding for
wires. Heran hisfingers over the collar of Evans sshirt, felt the gitching in hisjacket, ran hisfinger
(;arvc::rrl]ciir:.iswai sthand, and then asked him to take off his shoes. Findly he passed an € ectronic wand

“You guysare serious,” Evanssaid.

“Yesweare. Thank you, Sir.”



The guard stepped away, resuming his place a the wall. There was no place to Sit, so Evansjust stood
there and waited. It was probably two minutes before the door opened. An attractive but tough-looking
woman in her late twenties, with short dark hair and blue eyes, wearing jeans and awhite shirt, said, “Mr.
Evans? I’ m Jennifer Haynes.” Her handshake was firm. “1 work with John Balder. Come thisway.”

They went ingde.

They werein anarrow corridor, with alocked door &t the far end. Evansrealized it was a security
lock—two doorsto get insde.

“What wasthat al about?” he said, indicating the guards.

“We've had alittle trouble.”

“What kind of trouble?’

“People want to know what’ sgoing on here.”

“Uhrhuh...”

“We velearned to be careful.”

She held her card againgt the door, and it buzzed open.

They entered an old warehouse—a vast, high-ceilinged space, separated into large rooms by glass
partitions. Immediately to hisleft, behind glass, Evans saw aroom filled with computer terminals, each

manned by ayoung person with astack of documents beside their keyboard. In big lettering on the glass
it said, “data-raw.”

To hisright, there was a matching conference room labeled “ satdllites/radiosonde.” Evans saw four
people ingde that room, busly discussing huge blowups of agraph onthewall, jagged lineson agrid.

Farther dong there was another room marked “ genera circulation models (gcms).” Herethe walswere
plastered with large maps of the world, graphical representationsin many colors.

“Wow,” Evanssaid. “Big operation.”

“Big lawsuit,” Jennifer Haynesreplied. “ These are dl our issue teams. They’ re mostly graduate students
in climate science, not attorneys. Each team isresearching adifferent issue for us.” She pointed around
the warehouse. “ The first group does raw data, meaning processed data from the Goddard I nstitute for
Space Studies at Columbia University, in New Y ork, from the USHCN at Oak Ridge, Tennessee, and
from Hadley Center in East Anglia, England. Those are the mgjor sources of temperature data from
around the world.”

“l see” Evanssaid.

“Then the group over there works on satdllite data. Orbiting satellites have recorded temperatures of the
upper atmosphere since 1979, so there is more than atwenty-year record. We re trying to figure out



what to do abouit it.”

“What to do about it?’

“The satellite data saproblem,” she said.

1] WI,V?!

Asthough she hadn’t heard him, she pointed to the next room. “ The team there is doing comparative
analyses of GCMs—meaning the computer-generated climate models—from the 1970sto the present.
Asyou know, these models areimmensaly complex, manipulating amillion variables or more a once.
They are by far the most complex computer models ever created by man. We re dedling with American,
British, and German modedls, primaxrily.”

“I| see...” Evanswas arting to fed overwhemed.

“ And the team down there is doing sea-level issues. Around the corner is paeoclimate. Those re proxy
studies, of course. And thefinal team is dedling with solar irradiance and aerosols. Then we have an
off-gteteam at UCLA that is doing atimospheric feedback mechanisms, primarily focusing on cloud
cover asit varies with temperature change. And that’ sabout al of it.” She paused, seeing the confusion
on Evans sface. “I’'m sorry. Since you work with George Morton, | assumed you were familiar with al
thissuff.”

“Who said | work with George Morton?’

She amiled. “We know our job, Mr. Evans.”

They passed afina glass-walled room that had no labdl. It wasfilled with charts and huge photographs,
and three-dimensiond models of the earth set insde plastic cubes. “What' sthis?’ he said.

“Our AV team. They prepare visuasfor the jury. Some of the dataiis extremely complex, and we're
trying to find the smplest and most forceful way to present it.”

They walked on. Evanssaid, “Isit redly that complicated?’

“That'scorrect,” shesaid. “Theidand nation of Vanutu is actudly four cord atollsin the southern
Pecific, which have amaximum eevation of twenty feet above sealeve. The eight thousand inhabitants of
thoseidands are at risk of being flooded out by rising sealevels caused by globa warming.”

“Yes” Evanssaid. “I understand that. But why do you have so many people working on the science?’

Shelooked a him oddly. “Because we' re trying to win the case.”

“Yes...”

“And it’'snot an easy casetowin.”

“What do you mean?’ Evanssaid. “Thisisgloba warming. Everybody knows that globa warmingis—"

A voice boomed from the other end of the warehouse. “Iswhat?”



A bad, bespectacled man came toward them. He had an ungainly gait, and looked like his nickname: the
Bad Eagle. Asadways, John Balder was dressed dl in blue: ablue suit, ablue shirt, and abluetie. His
manner wasintense, his eyes narrowed as he looked a Evans. In spite of himsdlf, Evanswas intimidated
to meet the famous litigator.

Evans extended his hand. “ Peter Evans, Hasde and Black.”

“And you work with George Morton?’

“Yesdr, | do.”

“We are indebted to Mr. Morton’ s generosity. We strive to be worthy of his support.”

“I'll tell him that, sir.”

“I'm sure you will. Y ou were speaking of globa warming, Mr. Evans. Isit asubject that interests you?’
“Yes, dr, it does. And every concerned citizen of the planet.”

“| certainly agree. But tel me. Whatis globa warming, asyou understand it?’

Evanstried to concedl his surprise. He hadn’t expected to be quizzed. “Why do you ask?’

“We ask everybody who comes here. We retrying to get afed for the generd state of knowledge.
What' sglobd warming?’

“Globa warming isthe heating up of the earth from burning fossi| fuels”

“Actudly, that is not correct.”

“It'snot?’

“Not even close. Perhapsyou'd try again.”

Evans paused. It was obvious he was being interrogated by afussy and preciselegal mind. He knew the
type only too well, from law school. He thought for amoment, choosing hiswords carefully. “ Globa
warming is, uh, the heating up of the surface of the earth from the excess of carbon dioxidein the
atmospherethat is produced by burning fossil fuels.”

“Again, not correct.”

“Why not?’

“Severa reasons. At aminimum, | count four errorsin the satement you just made.”

“I don't understand,” Evans said. “My statement—that’ s what globa warmingis.”

“Infact, itisnot.” Bader' stone was crisp, authoritative. “ Globa warming isthetheory —’

“—hardly atheory, anymore—"



“No, itisatheory, ” Bader sad. “Bdieveme, | wishit were otherwise. But in fact, globa warming isthe
theory that increased levels of carbon dioxide and certain other gasesare causing anincreasein the
average temperature of the earth’ satmosphere because of the so-called * greenhouse effect.’”

“Well, okay,” Evanssad. “That'samore exact definition, but...”

“Mr. Evans, you yoursdf believein globa warming, | takeit?’

“Of course.”

“Bdieveinit srongly?’

“Sure. Everybody does.”

“When you have astrongly held bdlief, don’t you think it’ simportant to expressthat belief accurately?’

Evanswas arting to sweat. Heredly fdt like hewas back inlaw school. “Wdll, gr, | guess...not redly,
inthis case. Because when you refer to globa warming, everybody knows what you are talking about.”

“Do they? | suspect that even you don’'t know what you are talking about.”

Evansfelt aburst of hot anger. Before he could check himself, he had blurted, “ L ook, just because |
may not be expressing the fine details of the science—"

“I’m not concerned aboutdetalls, Mr. Evans. I’ m concerned about thecore of your strongly held beliefs.
| suspect you have no basisfor those beliefs.”

“With al due respect, that’ sridiculous.” He caught hisbreath. “Sir.”
“Y ou mean you do have such abasis?’
“Of coursel do.”

Bader looked at him thoughtfully. He seemed pleased with himself. “In that case, you can be agreat
help to thislawsuit. Would you mind giving us an hour of your time?’

“Uh...l guessso.”

“Would you mind if we videotaped you?’

“No, but...why?’

Bader turned to Jennifer Haynes, who said, “We' retrying to establish abasdine for what a
well-informed person such as yoursaf knows about globa warming. To help usrefine our jury
presentation.”

“Sort of amock jury of one?’

“Exactly. We veinterviewed severd people aready.”

“Okay,” Evanssaid. “1 guess| could schedule that a some point.”



“Nowisagood time,” Bader said. He turned to Jennifer. “Get your team together in room four.”

“Of coursel’d liketo help,” Evanssaid, “but | came hereto get an overview—"

“Because you' ve heard there are problems with the lawsuit? There aren't. But there are significant
challenges,” Bader said. He glanced a hiswatch. “1’m about to go into ameeting,” he said. “Y ou spend
sometime with Ms. Haynes, and when you' re done, we' Il talk about the litigation as| seeit. Isthat al
right with you?’

Therewas nothing Evans could do but agree.

VANUTU TEAM
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11:00 A.M.

They put him in aconference room at the end of along table, and aimed the video camera at him from
thefar end. Just like adeposition, he thought.

Five young people drifted into the room and took seats at the table. All were casualy dressed, in jeans
and T-shirts. Jennifer Haynes introduced them so quickly that Evans didn’t catch their names. She
explained that they were dl graduate sudentsin different scientific disciplines.

While they were setting up, Jennifer dipped into achair besde hisand said, “I’ m sorry John was so
rough on you. He' sfrustrated and under alot of pressure.”

“From the case?’
1] Y$”
“What kind of pressure?’

“This sesson may give you some ideawhat we' re deding with.” She turned to the others. “ Arewe

ready?’

Heads nodded, notebooks flipped open. The cameralight came on. Jennifer said, “Interview with Peter
Evans, of Hasde and Black, on Tuesday, August twenty-fourth. Mr. Evans, we d like to go over your
views about the evidence that supports globa warming. Thisisn't atest; we' d just like to clarify how you
think about theissue.”

“Okay,” Evanssaid.
“Let’sbegininformaly. Tdl uswhat you know about the evidence for globa warming.”
“Wdl,” Evanssaid, “1 know that temperatures around the globe have risen dramatically in the last twenty

or thirty years asaresult of increasesin carbon dioxide that is released by industry when foss| fuelsare
burned.”



“Okay. And by adramatic rise in temperature, you mean how much?’
“I think about a degree.”

“Fahrenheat or Cdsus?’

“Fahrenheit.”

“And this rise has occurred over twenty years?’

“Twenty or thirty, yes.”

“And earlier in the twentieth century?’

“Temperatures went up then, too, but not asfast.”

“Okay,” shesaid. “Now | am going to show you agraph...” She pulled out agraph* on foam core
backing:
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“Doesthislook familiar to you?’ she asked.
“I’'ve seen it before,” Evanssaid.

“It’ staken from the NA SA—-Goddard data set used by the UN and other organizations. Do you
consider the UN atrustworthy source?’

“yes”
“So we can regard this graph as accurate? Unbiased? No monkey business?’
“yes”

“Good. Do you know what this graph represents?’

Evans could read that much. He said, “It' s the mean globa temperature from dl the weather Sations
around the world for the last hundred years or s0.”

“That' sright,” shesaid. “And how do you interpret this graph?’

“Wadl,” hesaid, “it showswhat | was describing.” He pointed to the red line. “World temperatures have
been rising since about 1890, but they start to go up steeply around 1970, when industridization is most
intense, which istheredl proof of globa warming.”

“Okay,” shesad. “ So the rapid increase in temperature since 1970 was caused by what?’

“Rising carbon dioxide levelsfrom indudtridization.”

“Good. In other words, as the carbon dioxide goes up, the temperature goes up.”

“Y&"

“All right. Now you mentioned the temperature started to rise from 1890, up to about 1940. And we
see herethat it did. What caused that rise? Carbon dioxide?’

“Um...I'mnot sure”

“Because there was much less industriai zation back in 1890, and yet ook how temperatures go up.
Was carbon dioxide rising in 18907

“I"'m not sure.”

“Actudly, it was. Hereis agraph showing carbon dioxide levels and temperature.”

Globa Temperature 1880-2003
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“Okay,” Evanssaid. “Just what you would expect. Carbon dioxide goes up, and makes temperatures go

up.

“Good,” shesaid. “Now | want to direct your attention to the period from 1940 to 1970. Asyou see,

during that period the global temperature actualy went down. Y ou see that?’
“Yes...”
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“Let me show you a closeup of that period.” She took out another chart.

“Thisisathirty-year period. Onethird of acentury during which temperatures declined. Crops were
damaged by frost in summer, glaciersin Europe advanced. What caused the decline?’

“I don’t know.”
“Was carbon dioxide rising during that period?’
1] Y$”

“So, if rising carbon dioxideisthe cause of rising temperatures, why didn’t it cause temperaturesto rise
from 1940 to 19707’

“I don’'t know,” Evans said. “ There must have been another factor. Or it could be an anomay. There are
anomalies within broad secular trends. Just look at the stock market.”

“Doesthe stock market have anomaliesthat last thirty years?’

He shrugged. “Or it could have been soot. Or particulate matter in the air. Therewere alot of
particulates back then, before environmenta laws took effect. Or maybe some other factor.”

“These graphs show that carbon dioxide rose continuoudly, but temperature did not. It rose, then fell,
then rose again. Even o, | take it you remain convinced that carbon dioxide has caused the most recent
temperature rise?’

“Y es. Everybody knowsthat’ sthe cause.”

“Doesthisgraph troubleyou a al?’

“No,” Evanssaid. “1 admit it raises some questions, but then not everything is known about the climate.
S0, no. The graph doesn’t trouble me.”

“Okay, good. I'm glad to hear it. Let’smove on. Y ou said this graph was the average of weather



stations around the world. How reliable isthat westher data, do you think?’

“I havenoidea”

“Well, for example, in the late nineteenth century, the data were generated by people going out to alittle
box and writing down the temperature twice aday. Maybe they forgot for afew days. Maybe somebody
intheir family was sick. They had tofill itin later.”

“That was back then.”

“Right. But how accurate do you think westher records are from Poland in the 1930s? Or Russian
provinces since 19907’

“Not very good, | would guess.”

“And | would agree. So over thelast hundred years, afair number of reporting stations around the world
may not have provided high-qudity, reliable data.”

“That could be,” Evanssaid.

“Over the years, which country do you imagine has the best-maintained network of weether Sations
over alarge area?’

“TheUS?”
“Right. I think thereis no dispute about that. Here is another graph.”

US Temperature 1880—2000
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“Doesthisgraph look like thefirst one we saw of world temperatures?’

“Not exactly.”

“What isthe change in temperature since 18807

“Lookslike, uh, athird of adegree.”

1964
1970
1976

o
O
o
—

1988
1994

A third of adegree Celsusin ahundred and twenty years. Not very dramatic.” She pointed to the

graph. “And what was the warmest year of the last century?’

“Lookslike 1934.”

“Doesthisgraph indicate to you that global warming is occurring?’

“Wadl. The temperatureis going up.”
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“For the last thirty years, yes. But it wentdown for the previousthirty years. And current temperaturesin

the US are roughly the same asthey werein the 1930s. So: Does this graph argue for global warming?’



“Yes” Evanssad. “It'sjust not asdramatic in the US asit isin the rest of theworld, but it’ s till
happening.”

“Doesit trouble you that the most accurate temperature record shows the least warming?’
“No. Because globa warming isagloba phenomenon. It' s not just the US.”

“If you had to defend these graphsin acourt of law, do you think you could persuade ajury of your
position? Or would ajury look at the graph and say, this globa warming stuff is nothing serious?’

“Leading thewitness” he said, laughing.

Infact, Evanswasfeding dightly uneasy. But only dightly. He d heard such damsbefore, at
environmental conferences. Industry hacks could dap together data that they had massaged and twisted,
and give aconvincing, well-prepared speech, and before Evans knew it, he' d start to doubt what he
knew.

Asif shewerereading hismind, Jennifer said, “ These graphs show solid data, Peter. Temperature
records from Goddard I ngtitute for Space Studies at Columbia University. Carbon dioxide levelsfrom
Mauna Loaand the Law Domeice coresin Antarctica.* All generated by researcherswho believe firmly
inglobd warming.”

“Yes” hesad. “Because the overwhelming consensus of scientists around the world isthat global
wamingis happening and itisamajor worldwide threat.”

“Okay, good,” she said smoothly. “I’m glad that none of this changesyour views. Let’ sturn to some
other questions of interest. David?’

One of the graduate students leaned forward. “Mr. Evans, I'd like to talk to you about land use, the
urban heat idand effect, and satellite data on the temperature of the troposphere.”

Evansthought,Oh Jesus. But he just nodded. “ Okay...”

“One of theissues we' re trying to address concerns how surface temperatures change with land use.
Areyou familiar with that issue?’

“Not redly, no.” Helooked at hiswatch. “Frankly, you people areworking at aleve of detail that is
beyond me. | just listen to what the scientists say—"

“And we're preparing alawsuit,” Jennifer said, “based on what scientists say. Thisleve of detall is
wherethe suit will befought.”

“Fought?” Evans shrugged. “Who' s going to fight it? Nobody with any stature. Thereisn't areputable
scientist in the world who doesn't believein globa warming.”

“On that point, you arewrong,” she said. “The defense will call full professorsfrom MIT, Harvard,
Columbia, Duke, Virginia, Colorado, UC Berkeley, and other prestigious schools. They will cdl the
former president of the Nationa Academy of Sciences. They may aso call some Nobe Prize winners.
They will bring in professors from England, from the Max Planck Indtitute in Germany, from Stockholm



University in Sweden. These professorswill argue that globa warming isat best unproven, and a worst
purefantasy.”

“Their research paid for by industry, no doubt.”

“A few. Not dl.”

“Arch-conservatives.Neocons. ”
“Thefocusinlitigation,” shesad, “will beon the data.”

Evanslooked at them and saw the concern on their faces. And he thought, They redly believethey might
losethisthing.

“But thisisridiculous,” Evanssaid. “All you have to do is read the newspapers, or wetch televison—"

“Newspapers and television are susceptible to carefully orchestrated media campaigns. Lawsuits are
rm.ﬂ

“Then forget massmedia,” Evans said, “and just read the scientific journals—"

“Wedo. They're not necessarily helpful to our side. Mr. Evans, we have alot to go over. If you'd hold
your protestations, we can get on with the issues.”

It was a that moment that the phone buzzed, and Bader ddivered him from historment. “ Send the guy
from Hasde and Black into my office,” hesaid. “I have ten minutesfor him.”

VANUTU TEAM
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Bader was ensconced in aglass-walled office, with hisfeet up on aglass desk, working hisway through
astack of briefs and research papers. He didn’t take hisfeet down as Evans camein.

“Youfinditinteresting?’ he said. He meant the interrogation.

“Inaway,” Evanssaid. “But if you'll pardon my saying so, | get the sense they’ re worried they might
lose”

“1 have no doubt that we will winthiscase,” Bader said. “No doubt whatsoever. But | don’'t want my
peoplethinking that way! | want them worried as hell. | want my team running scared before any trid.
And especidly thisone. We are bringing this suit againgt the EPA, and in anticipation of that, the agency
has retained outside counsdl in the person of Barry Beckman.”

“Whew,” Evanssaid. “Big guns”

Barry Beckman was the most famousllitigator of his generation. A professor at Stanford Law School at



twenty-eight, heleft the university in hisearly thirtiesto go into private practice. He had aready
represented Microsoft, Toyota, Phillips, and ahost of other multinationas. Beckman had an incredibly
agilemind, acharming manner, aquick sense of humor, and a photographic memory. Everyone knew
that when he argued before the Supreme Court (as he had done three times aready) he cited document
page numbers as he answered the Justices' questions. “Y our honor, | believe you will find that in footnote
17 on the bottom of page 237.” Likethat.

“Barry hashisfaults” Bader sad. “He has so much information a hisfingertipsthat he can easily dip
into irrdlevance. Helikesto hear himsdf talk. His arguments drift. | have beaten him once. And lost to
him, once. But onething is sure: We can expect anextremdy well-prepared opposition.”

“Isn’'tit alittle unusud to hire an attorney before you' ve even filed?’

“It' satactic,” Bader said. “The current administration doesn’t want to defend thislawsuit. They believe
they will win, but they don’t want the negative publicity that will accompany their brief againgt globa
warming. So they hope to intimidate usinto dropping the case. And of course we never would.
Especidly now that we are fully funded, thanksto Mr. Morton.”

“That'sgood,” Evanssaid.

“At the sametime, the chalenges are Sgnificant. Barry will argue that thereisinsufficient evidencefor
globa warming. He will argue that the supporting science isweak. He will argue that the predictionsfrom
ten and fifteen years ago have aready been shown to be wrong. And he will argue that even leading
proponents of globa warming have publicly expressed doubts about whether it can be predicted,
whether it is aserious problem—and indeed, whether it’s occurring at dl.”

“Leading proponents have said that?’
Bader sghed. “They have. Injournds.”
“I’ve never read anything of that sort.”

“The statements exist. Barry will dig them out.” He shook his head. “ Some experts have expressed
different views a different times. Some have said rising carbon dioxide isn’'t abig problem; now they say
itis. Sofar, we don't have asingle expert witnessthat can’t be turned. Or made to look very foolish on
Cross.”

Evans nodded sympatheticaly. He was familiar with this circumstance. One of thefirst thingsyou learned
inlaw school wasthat the law was not about truth. It was about dispute resolution. In the course of
resolving adispute, the truth might or might not emerge. Often it did not. Prosecutors might know a
crimina was guilty, and gtill be unableto convict him. It happened dl thetime.

“That’ swhy,” Balder said, “this caseis going to hinge on the sea-leve recordsin the Pecific. We are
collecting al available data records now.”

“Why does the case hinge on that?’

“Because | believe,” Bader said, “that thisis a case we should bait and switch. The caseis about global
warming, but that' s not where the emotiona impact isfor ajury. Juries aren’t comfortable reading
graphs. And dl thistalk about tenths of a degree Celsus goesright over their heads. It stechnica detall;
it' sthe quibbles of experts; and it’ sincredibly boring for normal people.



“No, the jury will see this as a case about helpless, victimized, impoverished people being flooded out of
their ancestral homelands. A case about theterror of sealevelsrising precipitous y—and inexplicably—
with no conceivable causeunless you accept that something extraordinary and unprecedented has
affected the entireworld in recent years. Something that is causing the sealevelsto rise and to threaten
the lives of innocent men, women, and children.”

“And that something isgloba warming.”

Bader nodded. “Thejury will haveto draw their own conclusons. If we can show them a convincing
record of rising sealevels, we will be on very strong ground. When juries see that damage has been
done, they areinclined to blamesomebody. ”

“Okay.” Evans saw where Bader was going. “ So the sea-level dataisimportant.”

“Yes, but it needsto be solid, irrefutable.”

“Isthat so hard to obtain?’

Balder cocked an eyebrow. “Mr. Evans, do you know anything about the study of sealevels?’

“No. | just know that sealevels arerisng around the world.”

“Unfortunatdly, that clamisin congderable dispute.”

“You'rejoking.”

“It iswdl known,” Bader said, “that | have no sense of humor.”

“But sealeve can't bedisputed,” Evans said. “It' stoo smple. Y ou put amark on adock at high tide,
measure it year after year, watch it go up...I mean, how difficult can it be?’

Bader sghed. “You think sealeve issmple? Trust me, it’ snot. Have you ever heard of the geoid? No?
The geoid isthe equipotential surface of the earth’ s gravitationa field that approximates the mean sea
surface. That help you?’

Evans shook his head.

“Wall, it isacore concept in the measurement of sealevels.” Bader flipped through the stack of papers
in front of him. “How about glacio-hydro-isogtatic modeling? Eustatic and tectonic effects on shoreline
dynamics? Hol ocene sedimentary sequences? Intertidal foraminifera distributions? Carbon analysis of
coastd paeoenvironments? Aminogtratigraphy? No? Not ringing abell? Let me assureyou, sealeve isa
fiercely debated specidty.” Hetossed the last of the papers aside. “ That’ swhat I’ m working through
now. But the disputes within the field give added importance to finding an unimpeachable set of data.”

“And you are obtaining this data?’
“Waiting for them to arrive, yes. The Audtrdians have severa sets. The French have at least onein

Moorea and perhaps another in Papeete. Thereis a set that was funded by the V. Allen Willy
Foundation, but it may be of too short aduration. And other setsaswell. We will haveto see”



Theintercom buzzed. The assstant said, “Mr. Bader, it'sMr. Drake on the line, from NERF.”

“All right.” Balder turned to Evans, extended ahand. “Nice talking with you, Mr. Evans. Again, our
thanksto George. Tell him any time he wants to have alook around, he can drop by. We are dways
hard a work here. Good luck to you. Close the door on your way out.”

Bader turned away, picking up the phone. Evans heard him say, “Well, Nick, what the fuck isgoing on
at NERF? Areyou going to fix thisfor me, or not?’

Evans closed the door.

Hewaked out of Balder’ s office with asense of nagging unease. Balder was one of the most persuasive
men on the planet. He had known Evans was there on behaf of George Morton. He knew Morton was
on the verge of making ahuge contribution to the lawsuit. Bader should have been totally upbest,
radiating confidence. And he had, indeed, begun that way.

| have no doubt we will win thislawsuit.

But then, Evans had heard:

The chdlenges are Sgnificant.

| do not have asingle expert witnesswho can't be turned.

Thisisacase we should bait and switch.

This casewill hinge on sea-level records.

Sealeve isafiercely debated specidlty.

Wewill haveto see.

It certainly wasn't a conversation calculated to raise Evans sleved of confidence. Neither, for that matter,
was the video sesson hel d had with Jennifer Haynes, discussing the scientific problems the lawsuit would
face.

But then, as he considered it, he decided that these expressions of doubt were actualy asign of
confidence on the part of thelegd team. Evanswas an attorney himsdlf; he had cometo learn theissues
surrounding thetrid, and they had been forthright with him. 1t was a case they would win, even though it
would not be easy, because of the complexity of the dataand the short attention span of thejury.

So: would he recommend that Morton continue?

Of course hewould.

Jennifer was waiting for him outside Bader’ s office. She said, “ They’ re ready for you back in the
conference room.”



Evanssad, “I'mredly sorry, | can't. My schedule...”

“I| undergtand,” she said, “we'll do it another time. | waswondering if your schedule wasredly tight, or
whether there wastime for you and meto have lunch.”

“Oh,” Evans said, without missing a beet, “ my schedule isn't that tight.”

“Good,” shesad.

CULVERCITY
TUESDAY, AUGUST 24
12:15 P.M.

They had lunch in aMexican restaurant in Culver City. It was quiet. There were ahandful of film editors
in the corner, from nearby Sony Studios. A couple of high school kids necking. A group of older women
in sunhats.

They sat in acorner booth and both ordered the specid. Evans said, “ Bader seemsto think the
Searleve dataiskey.”

“That' swhat Bader thinks. Frankly, I’'m not so sure.”
“Why isthat?’

“Nobody’ sseen dl the data. But even if it’ s high quality, it needsto show a substantial seerleve riseto
impressajury. It may not.”

“How could it not?’ Evans said. “With glaciers melting, and bresking off Antarctica—"

“Even s, it may not,” she said. “Y ou know the Madive Idandsin the Indian Ocean? They were
concerned about flooding, so ateam of Scandinavian researchers camein to study sealevels. The
stientistsfound no risein severa centuries—and afdl inthe last twenty years.”

“A fdl?Wasthat published?’

“Lagt year,” shesaid. Thefood came; Jennifer gave adismissive wave of her hand: enough shop talk for
now. She ate her burrito with gusto, wiping her chin with the back of her hand. He saw ajagged white
scar running from her palm down the underside of her forearm. She said, “ God, | love thisfood. Y ou
can't get decent Mexican food in DC.”

“Isthat where you' refrom?’

She nodded. 1 came out to help John.”

“He asked you?’



“I couldn’t turn him down.” She shrugged. “ So | see my boyfriend on dternate weekends. He comes out
here, or | go back there. But if thistrial goesforward, it will be ayear, maybe two years. | don’t think
our relaionship will makeit.”

“What does he do? Y our boyfriend.”

“Attorney.”

Evansamiled. “ Sometimes | think everyone s an atorney.”
“Everyoneis. He does securities law. Not my thing.”
“What' syour thing?’

“Witness prep and jury selection. Psychologica analysis of the pool. That’ swhy I’ min charge of the
focus groups.”

“| see”

“We know that most people we might put on the jury will have heard of globa warming, and most will
probably beinclined tothink it isred.”

“Jesus, I'dhope s0,” Evanssaid. “1 mean, it's been an established fact for the last fifteen years.”
“But we need to determine what people will believe in the face of contrary evidence.”

“Such as?’

“Such asthe graphs | showed you today. Or the satellite data. Y ou know about the satellite data?’

Evans shook his head.

“Thetheory of globa warming predicts that the upper atmosphere will warm from trapped hest, just like
agreenhouse. The surface of the Earth warms later. But since 1979 we' ve had orbiting satellites that can

continuousy measure the aimaosphere five miles up. They show that the upper aimosphereiswarming
much lessthan theground is”

“Maybe there’ s a problem with the data—"

“Trust me, the satdllite data have been re-analyzed dozens of times,” she said. “They’re probably the
most intensely scrutinized datain the world. But the datafrom weather balloons agree with the satellites.
They show much lesswarming than expected by the theory.” She shrugged. “ Another problem for us.
We reworking onit.”

“How?’

“Wethink it'll provetoo complex for ajury. The details of M SUs—microwave-sounding units,
cross-track scanners with four-channel radiance analysis—and the questions about whether channel 2
has been corrected for diurna drifts and inter-satdllite offsets, time-varying nonlinear insrumental
responses...We hope it will make them throw up their hands. Anyway. Enough of al that.” She wiped
her face with her napkin and again he saw the white scar that ran down the underside of her arm.



“How’'d you get that?’ he said.
She shrugged. “In law school.”

“And | thought my school wastough.”
“I taught an inner-city karate class,” she said. “ Sometimesit went late. Y ou want any more of these

chips?
“No,” he said.

“Shall we get the check?’

“Tdl me” hesad.
“Ther€ snot alot to tell. One night, | got in my car to drive home, and akid jumped in the passenger

seat and pulled agun. Told meto start driving.”

“Kidfrom your class?’

“No. An older kid. Late twenties.”

“What'd you do?’
“I told him to get out. He told meto drive. So | started the car, and as| put it in gear | asked him where

he wanted meto go. And he was stupid enough to point, so | hit him in the windpipe. | didn’t hit him hard
enough, and he got off around, blew out the windshield. Then | hit him again with my elbow. Couple,

threetimes.”

“What happened to him?’ he said.

“Hedied.”

“Jesus” Evanssad.
“Some people make bad decisions,” she said. “What' re you staring a me like that for? He was six-two
and two-ten and had arecord from here to Nebraska. Armed robbery, assault with adeadly weapon,

attempted rape—you nameit. Y ou think | should fed sorry for him?’

“No,” Evanssaid quickly.
“Youdo, | canseeitinyour eyes. A lot of people do. They go, Hewasjust akid, how could you do
that? Let metdl you, people don’t know what the hell they’ re talking about. One of uswas going to get

killed that night. I’'m glad it wasn’t me. But of course, it till bothers me.”

“ | ) ” tH.”
“Sometimes | wake up in acold swesat. Seeing the gunshot blow the windshield in front of my face.
Redizing how close| cameto dying. | was stupid. | should have killed him thefirg time.”



Evans paused. He didn’t know what to say.

“You ever had agun at your head?’ she said.

“No...”

“Then you have no ideahow it feds, do you?’

“Was there trouble about it?’ he said.

“Y ou bet your assthere wastrouble. For awhile | thought | wasn't going to be able to practice law.
They clamed | led him on. Do you believe that shit? | never saw the guy in my life. But then avery good
attorney cameto my rescue.”

“Bader?’

She nodded. “That’ swhy I’'m here.”

“And what about your arm?’

“Ahhdl,” shesad, “the car crashed and | cut it on the broken glass.” She signaled to the waitress.
“What do you say we get the check?’

“I’ll do that.”

Minutes later they were back outsde. Evans blinked in the milky midday light. They waked down the
street. “So,” Evanssaid. “I guessyou're pretty good at karate.”

“Good enough.”

They came to the warehouse. He shook her hand.

“I'd redly like to have lunch again sometime,” she said. She was so direct about it, he wondered
whether it was persond, or whether she wanted him to know how the lawsuit was going. Because like
Bader, much of what she had said was not encouraging.

“Lunch sounds greet,” he said.

“Not too long?’

“Ded.”

“Will you cdl me?’

“Count onit,” hesad.

BEVERLY HILLS
TUESDAY, AUGUST 24




5:04 P.M.

It was dmost dark when he went home to his apartment and parked in the garage facing the dlley. He
was going up the back stairs when the landlady poked her head out the window. “Y ou just missed them,”
shesaid.

“Who?’

“The cablerepair people. They just left.”

“I didn’t cdl any cable repair people,” he said. “Did you let them in?’

“Of course not. They said they would wait for you. They just left.”

Evans had never heard of cable repair people waiting for anyone. “How long did they wait?’

“Not long. Maybe ten minutes.”

1] Okw.”

He got up to the second-floor landing. A tag was hooked on his door-knob. “ Sorry We Missed Y ou.”
There was a check box to “ Cdl again to reschedule service.”

Then he saw the problem. The address was listed as 2119 Roxbury. His address was 2129 Roxbury.
But the address was on the front door, not the back door. They’ d just made amistake. He lifted his
doormat to check on the key he kept there. It wasright where he'd Ieft it. It hadn’t been moved. There
was even aring of dust around it.

He unlocked the door and went inside. He went to the refrigerator, and saw the old container of yogurt.
He needed to go to the supermarket but he wastoo tired. He checked the messagesto seeif Janisor
Carol had called. They hadn’t. Now of course there was the prospect of Jennifer Haynes, but she had a
boyfriend, shelived in DC, and...he knew it would never work.

He thought of calling Janis, but decided not to. He took a shower, and was considering calling for pizza
delivery. Helay down on the bed to relax for aminute before he called. And he fell immediately adeep.

CENTURY CITY
WEDNESDAY , AUGUST 25
3:59 A.M.

The meeting was held in the big conference room on the fourteenth floor. Morton’ s four accountants
werethere; his assstant Sarah Jones, Herb Lowenstein, who did estate planning; a guy named Marty
Bren, who did tax work for NERF, and Evans. Morton, who hated al financia meetings, paced
restlesdy.



“Let’'sgettoit,” hesaid. “1 am supposedly giving ten million dollarsto NERF, and we have signed
papers, isthat right?’

“Right,” Lowengein said.

“But now they want to attach arider to the agreement?”’

“Right,” Marty Bren said. “It’'s pretty standard boilerplate for them.” He shuffled through his papers.
“Any charity wantsto have full use of the money they receive, even when it is eearmarked for a particular
purpose. Maybe that purpose costs more or lessthan predicted, or it isdelayed, or mired in litigation, or
set aside for some other reason. In this case, the money has been earmarked for the Vanutu lawsuit, and
the relevant phrase NERF wantsto add is * said moneys to be used to defray the cost of the Vanutu
litigation, including fees, filing, and copying costs.. .blah blah. ..or for other lega purposes, or for such
other purposes as NERF shdl seefit in its capacity as an environmental organization.”

Morton said, “ That’ sthe phrase they want?’

“Boilerplate, as| said,” Bren sad.

“It’ sbeen in my previous donation agreements?’

“I don’t recall offhand.”

“Because,” Morton said, “it soundsto me like they want to be able to pull the plug on thislawsuit, and
spend the money elsewhere.”

“Oh, | doubt that,” Herb said.

“Why?" Morton said. “Why else would they want this boilerplate? L ook, we had asigned deal. Now
they want achange. Why?’

“It'snot redly achange,” Bren said.
“Itaureashdl is, Marty.”

“If you look at the origina agreement,” Bren said camly, “it saysthat any money not spent on the lawsuit
goesto NERF for other purposes.”

“But that’sonly if there’ smoney |eft after the lawsuit ends,” Morton said. “ They can't spend it on
anything ese until the suit isdecided.”

“I think they imagine there may belong ddays here.”

“Why should there be delays?” Morton turned to Evans. “Peter? What is going on over therein Culver
City?’

“It lookslike the suit isgoing forward,” Evans said. “ They have alarge operation. There must be forty
people working on that one case. | don't think they planto giveit up.”

“And are there problems with the suit?’



“There are certainly chdlenges,” Evanssaid. “It's complicated litigation. They face strong opposing
counsd. They’ reworking hard.”

“Why am | not convinced here?” Morton said. “ Six months ago Nick Drake told me this damn lawsuit
was adam dunk and agreat publicity opportunity, and now they want abail-out clause.”

“Maybe we should ask Nick.”

“1 got abetter idea. Let’ saudit NERF.”

Murmursin theroom. “I don’t think you have that right, George.”
“Makeit part of the agreement.”

“I’m not sure you can do that.”

“They want arider. | want arider. What' sthe difference?’

“I"'m not sure you can audit their entire operation—"

“George,” Herb Lowengtein said. “Y ou and Nick arefriends of long standing. Y ou' re their Concerned
Citizen of the Y ear. Auditing them seemsalittle out of character for your relaionship.”

“You meanit lookslikel don't trust them?’

“Put bluntly, yes.”

“I don’'t.” Morton leaned on the table and looked at everyone sitting there. “Y ou know what | think?
They want to blow off the litigation and spend al the money on this conference on abrupt climate change
that Nick is so excited about.”

“They don't need ten million for aconference.”

“I don’t know what they need. He aready misplaced two hundred and fifty thousand of my money. It
ended up in fucking Vancouver. | don't know what heis doing anymore.”

“Wéll, then you should withdraw your contribution.”

“Ahah” Marty Bren said. “Not so fagt. | think they’ ve aready made financia commitments based on
the reasonabl e expectation that the money was coming.”

“Then give them some amount, and forget the rest.”

“No,” Morton said. “I’m not going to withdraw the grant. Peter Evans here saysthe litigation isgoing
forward, and | believe him. Nick saysthat the two hundred and fifty grand was amistake, and | believe
him. I want you to ask for an audit and | want to know what happens. | will be out of town for the next
three weeks.”

“Youwill? Where?”

“I'mtaking atrip.”



“But we' ll haveto be able to reach you, George.”

“I may be unreachable. Cal Sarah. Or have Peter here get in touch with me.”
“But George—"

“That'sit, guys. Tak to Nick, see what he says. W€ Il be in contact soon.”
And hewalked out of the room, with Sarah hurrying after him.

Lowenstein turned to the others. “What the hall wasthat al about?’

VANCOUVER
THURSDAY, AUGUST 26
12:44 P.M.

Thunder rumbled ominoudly. Looking out the front windows of his office, Nat Damon sighed. He had
always known that that submarine lease would mean trouble. After the check bounced, he had canceled
the order, hoping that that would be the end of it. But it was't.

For weeks and weeks he had heard nothing, but then one of the men, the lawyer in the shiny suit, had
come back unexpectedly to poke afinger in hisface and tel him that he had signed a nondisclosure
agreement and could not discuss any aspect of the submarine lease with anybody, or risk alawsuit.
“Maybewe |l win, and maybewe |l lose,” the lawyer said. “But either way, you' re out of business,
friend. Y our house is mortgaged. Y ou'rein debt for the rest of your life. So, think it over. And keep your
mouth shut.”

All during this, Damon’ s heart was pounding. Because the fact was, Damon had aready been contacted
by some sort of revenue service guy. A man named Kenner, who was coming to Damon'’ s office that
very afternoon. To ask afew questions, he had said.

Damon had been afraid that this Kenner would show up whilethe lawyer was ill in his office, but now
the lawyer was driving away. His car, a nondescript Buick sedan with Ontario plates, drove through the
boatyard, and was gone.

Damon started to clean up the office, getting ready to go home. He was toying with the idea of leaving
before Kenner arrived. Kenner was some revenue agent. Damon had done nothing wrong. He didn’t
have to meet any revenue agent. And if he did, what would he do, say he couldn’t answer questions?

The next thing, he’ d be subpoenaed or something. Dragged into court.

Damon decided to leave. There was more thunder, and the crack of distant lightning. A big ssorm was
movingin.

Ashewas closing up, he saw that the lawyer had |€ft his cell phone on the counter. He looked out to see
if the lawyer was coming back for it. Not yet, but surely he would redlize he had lft it, and come back.



Damon decided to leave before he showed up.

Hadtily, he dipped the cell phonein his pocket, turned out the lights, and locked the office. Thefirst
drops of rain were spattering the pavement as he went to his car, parked right in front. He opened the
door and was climbing into the car when the cell phone rang. He hesitated, not sure what to do. The
phonerang ingstently.

A jagged balt of lightning crashed down, striking the mast of one of the shipsin the boatyard. In the next
instant there was aburst of light by the car, ablast of furious heat that knocked him to the ground.
Dazed, hetried to get up.

Hewas thinking that his car had exploded, but it hadn’t; the car was intact, the door blackened. Then he
saw that histrouserswere on fire. He stared stupidly at his own legs, not moving. He heard the rumble of
thunder and redlized thathe had been struck by lightning.

My God, he thought. | was hit by lightning. He sat up and dapped at histrousers, trying to put out the
fire. It wasn't working, and hislegs were beginning to fed pain. He had afire extinguisher insde the
office.

Staggering to hisfeet, he moved ungteadily to his office. He was unlocking the door, hisfingers fumbling,
when there was another explosion. Hefelt asharp painin his ears, reached up, touched blood. He
looked at hisbloody fingertips, fell over, and died.

CENTURY CITY
THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 2
12:34 P.M.

Under normal circumstances, Peter Evans spoke to George Morton every day. Sometimes twice aday.
So after aweek went by without hearing from him, Evans caled his house. He spoke to Sarah.

“I have no ideawhat isgoing on,” she said. “Two days ago he was in North Dakota. North Dakotal
The day before that he wasin Chicago. | think he might be in Wyoming today. He' s made noises about
going to Boulder, Colorado, but | don’t know.”

“What'sin Boulder?” Evanssaid.

“I haven't aclue. Too early for snow.”

“Has he got anew girlfriend?” Sometimes Morton disappeared when he wasinvolved with anew
woman.

“Not that | know,” Sarah said.
“What' she doing?’

“I haveno idea. It soundslike he has ashopping list.”



“A shopping lig?’
“Waell,” she said, “ sort of. He wanted me to buy some kind of specid GPS unit. Y ou know, for locating
position? Then he wanted some special video camerausing CCD or CCF or something. Had to be

rush-ordered from Hong Kong. And yesterday he told meto buy anew Ferrari from aguy in Monterey,
and haveit shipped to San Francisco.”

“ Another Ferrari?’

“1 know,” she said. “How many Ferraris can one man use? And this one doesn’t seem up to hisusual
gtandards. From the e-mail picturesit looks kind of beat up.”

“Maybe he' sgoing to haveit restored.”
“If hewas, he/'d send it to Reno. That’ swhere his car restorer is.”
He detected anote of concernin her voice. “Is everything okay, Sarah?’

“Between you and me, | don't know,” she said. “The Ferrari he bought isa 1972 365 GTS Daytona
Spyder.”

g7
“Hedready hasone, Peter. It'slike he doesn’t know. And he sounds weird when you talk to him.”
“Weird in what way?’

“Jud...weird. Not hisusud sdif at all.”

“Who'straveing with him?”

“Asfar as| know, nobody.”

Evansfrowned. That was very odd. Morton hated being done. Evans simmediate inclination wasto
dishdieveit.

“What about that guy Kenner and his Nepali friend?’
“Last | heard, they were going to VVancouver, and on to Japan. So they’ re not with him.”
“Uhhuh.”

“When | hear from him, I'll et him know you caled.”

Evans hung up, feding dissatisfied. On an impulse, he dided Morton’'s cell phone. But he got the voice
mail. “Thisis George. At the beep.” And the quick beep.

“George, thisis Peter Evans. Just checking in, to seeif there sanything you need. Cal meat the office if
| canhelp.”



He hung up, and stared out the window. Then he dided again.

“Center for Risk Andyss”

“Professor Kenner’ s office, please.”

In amoment he got the secretary. “Thisis Peter Evans, I’'m looking for Professor Kenner.”
“Ohyes, Mr. Evans. Dr. Kenner said you might call.”

“Hedid?

“Yes. Areyou trying to reach Dr. Kenner?’

“Yes | am.”

“He' sin Tokyo a the moment. Would you like his cell phone?’

“Please”

She gave him the number, and he wrote it down on hisyellow pad. He was abouit to cal when his
assstant, Heather, camein to say that something at lunch had disagreed with her, and she was going
home for the afternoon.

“Fed better,” he said, 9ghing.

With her gone, he was obliged to answer his own phone, and the next call was from Margo Lane,
George' s migtress, asking where the hell George was. Evans was on the phone with her for the better
part of half an hour.

And then Nicholas Drake waked into his office.

“|1 am very concerned,” Drake said. He stood at the window, hands clasped behind his back, staring at
the office building opposite.

“ About what?’

“This Kenner person that George is spending so much time with.”

“I don't know that they’ re spending time together.”

“Of coursethey are. You don't serioudy believe George isadone, do you?’
Evans said nothing.

“Georgeis never done. We both know that. Peter, | don't likethisStuation at al. Not at al. Georgeisa
good man—I don't haveto tdl you that—but he is susceptible to influence. Including the wrong
influence”



“You think aprofessor a MIT isthewrong influence?’
“I’ve looked into Professor Kenner,” Drake said, “and there are afew mysteries about him.”
“Oh?

“His résumé says he spent anumber of yearsin government. Department of the Interior,
Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee, and so on.”

13 YS?!

“The Department of the Interior has no record of hisworking there.”

Evans shrugged. “ It was more than ten years ago. Government records being what they are...”
“Possibly,” Drake said. “But thereis more. Professor Kenner comes back to MIT, works there for eight
years, very successfully. Consultant to the EPA, consultant to Department of Defense, God knows what
else—and then he suddenly goes on extended leave, and no one seemsto know what happened to him
snce. Hejus fel off theradar.”

“I don't know,” Evans said. “His card says heis Director of Risk Analyss.”

“But he'son leave. | don't know what the hell heis doing these days. | don’t know who supportshim. |
takeit you've met him?’

“Briefly.”

“And now he and George are great pas?’

“1 don’t know, Nick. | haven’t seen or spoken to George in more than aweek.”

“He s off with Kenner.”

“I don’t know that.”

“But you know that he and Kenner went to Vancouver.”

“Actudly, | didn’t know.”

“Let melay it out for you plainly,” Drake said. “I have it on good authority that John Kenner has
unsavory connections. The Center for Risk Analysisiswholly funded by industry groups. | needn’t say

more. In addition, Mr. Kenner spent anumber of years advising the Pentagon and in fact was so involved
with them that he even underwent some sort of training for a period of time.”

“Y ou mean military training?’

“Y es. Fort Bragg and Harvey Point, in North Caroling,” Drake said. “Thereis no question the man has
military connections aswell asindustry connections. And | am told heis hostile toward mainstream
environmenta organizations. | hate to think of aman like that working on poor George.”



“I wouldn't worry about George. He can see through propaganda.”
“I hope so. But frankly | do not share your confidence. This military man shows up, and the next thing
we know, Georgeistrying to audit us. | mean, my God, why would he want to do that? Doesn’t George

redize what awaste of resources that involves? Time, money, everything? It would be atremendous drag
onmy time”

“I was't aware an audit was going forward.”
“It’ sbeing discussed. Of course, we have nothing to hide, and we can be audited a any time. | have
aways sad so. But thisis an especidly busy time, with the Vanutu lawsuit starting up, and the conference

on Abrupt Climate Change to be planned for. All that’ sin the next few weeks. | wish | could spesk to
George.”

Evans shrugged. “Cdl hiscdl.”
“I have. Have you?’

“yes”

“Hecall you back?’

“No,” Evanssaid.

Drake shook hishead. “That man,” he said, “ismy Concerned Citizen of the Year, and | can’t even get
him on the phone.”

BEVERLY HILLS
MONDAY, SEPFTEMBER 13
38:07 A.M.

Morton sat at asidewalk table outside a café on Beverly Drive at eight in the morning, waiting for Sarah
to show up. His assistant was ordinarily punctual, and her gpartment was not far away. Unless she had
taken up with that actor again. Y oung people had so much time to waste on bad relationships.

He spped his coffee, glancing at theWall Street Journa without much interest. He had even lessinterest
after an unusua couple sat down at the next table.

The woman was petite and strikingly beautiful, with dark hair and an exotic look. She might have been
Moroccan; it was hard to judge from her accent. Her clothing was chic and out of placein casua Los
Angdes—tight-fitting skirt, spike hed's, Chanel jacket.

The man who accompanied her could not have been more different. He was ared-faced, beefy

American, with dightly piggish features, wearing aswester, baggy khakis, and running shoes. Hewas as
big asafootball player. He dumped at the table and said, “I’ Il have alatte, sweetheart. Nonfat. Grande.”

Shesad, “1 thought you would get onefor me, like agentleman.”



“I'm not agentleman,” he said. “And you' re no fucking lady. Not after you didn’t come home last night.
So we can forget about ladies and gentlemen, okay?’

She pouted. “ Chéri,do not make a scene.”

“Hey. | asked you to get afucking latte. Who's making ascene?’

“Butchéri —”

“You going to get it, or not?’ Heglared at her. “I’ veredly had it with you, Marisa, you know that?’
“Youdon'townme,” shesad. “l doas| please”

“Y ou’ ve made that obvious.”

During this conversation, Morton's paper had been dowly drifting downward. Now hefolded it flat, set
it on hisknee, and pretended to read. But in fact he could not take his eyes off thiswoman. Shewas
extremely beautiful, he decided, athough not very young. She was probably thirty-five. Her maturity
somehow made her more overtly sexual. He was captivated.

She said to thefootbal player, “William, you are tiresome.”

“Y ou want meto leave?’

“Perhapsitisbest.”

“Oh, fuck you,” he said, and dapped her.

Morton could not restrain himself. “Hey,” he said, “take it easy there.”

The woman gave him asmile. The beefy man stood up, fists bunched. “Mind your own fucking

“Youdon't hit thelady, pa.”
“How about just you and me?’ he said, shaking hisfi.

At that moment, aBeverly Hills cruiser drove by. Morton looked at it, and waved. The cruiser came
over to the curb. “Everything dl right?’ one of the cops said.

“Just fine, officer,” Morton said.

“Fuck thisnoise,” the football player said, and turned away. He stalked off up the street.
The dark woman smiled a Morton. “Thank you for that.”

“No problem. Did | hear you say you wanted alatte?’

She amiled again. She crossed her legs, exposing brown knees. “If you would be so kind.”



Morton was standing to get it when Sarah cdled to him, “Hey, George! Sorry to belate” She came
jogging up in atracksuit. Asdways, shelooked very beautiful.

Anger flashed across the dark woman' sfeatures. It was flegting, but Morton caught it and he thought,
Something iswrong here. He didn’t know this woman. She had no reason to be angry. Probably, he

decided, she had wanted to teach the boyfriend alesson. Even now the guy was hanging around at the
end of the block, pretending to look in a shop window. But at this early hour, al the shops were closed.

“Ready to go?’ Sarah said.

Morton made brief gpologies to the woman, who made little gestures of indifference. He had the fedling
now that she was French.

“Perhapswe will meet again,” he said.

“Yes” shesad, “but | doubt it. | am sorry.Cava. ”
“Haveaniceday.”

Asthey walked off, Sarah said, “Who was that?’
“I don’'t know. She sat down at the next table.”
“Spicy little number.”

He shrugged.

“Did I interrupt something? No? That’sgood.” She handed Morton three manilafolders. “Thisone's
your contributionsto NERF to date. This oneisthe agreement for the last contribution, so you have the
language. And this oneisthe cashier’ s check you wanted. Be careful with that. It'sabig number.”
“Okay. It'snot aproblem. I'm leaving in an hour.”

“Y ou want to tdl mewhere?’

Morton shook his head. “It’ s better you don’'t know.”

CENTURY CITY
MONDAY, SEPFTEMBER 27

9:45 A.M.

Evans had heard nothing from Morton for dmost two weeks. He could not remember ever having gone
s0 long without contact with his dlient. He had lunch with Sarah, who was vishly anxious. “ Do you hear
fromhimat dl?’ hesad.

“Not aword.”



“What do the pilots say?’

“They'rein Van Nuys. He srented a different plane. | don’t know where heis.”
“And he' scoming back...”

She shrugged. “Who knows?’

And o it was with considerable surprise that he received Sarah’ s call that day. “Y ou better get going,”
she sad. “George wants to see you right away.”

“Where?’
“At NERF. In Beverly Hills”
“He sback?’

“I’” w.”

It was aten-minute drive from his officesin Century City to the NERF building. Of course the National
Environmenta Resource Fund was headquartered in Washington, DC, but they had recently opened a
west coast office, in Beverly Hills. Cynics claimed that NERF had done it to be closer to the Hollywood
celebrities who were o essentid to their fund-raising. But that was just gossip.

Evans haf expected to find Morton pacing outside, but he was nowhere in sight. Evans went into the
reception area and was told that Morton was in the third-floor conference room. He walked up to the
third floor.

The conference room was glass-walled on two sides. Theinterior was furnished with alarge,
boardroom-style table and eighteen chairs. There was an audiovisua unit in the corner for presentations.

Evans saw three people in the conference room, and an argument in progress. Morton stood at the front
of the room, red-faced, gesticulating. Drake was a so standing, pacing back and forth, pointing an angry
finger a Morton, and shouting back at him. Evans aso saw John Henley, the saturnine head of PR for
NERF. He was bent over, making notes on ayellow lega pad. It was clearly an argument between
Morton and Drake.

Evanswas not sure what to do, so he stood there. After amoment, Morton saw him and made a quick
jabbing motion, indicating that Evans should sit down outside. He did. And watched the argument
through the glass.

It turned out there was afourth person in the room aswell. Evans hadn’t seen him at first because he
was hunched down behind the podium, but when that person stood, Evans saw aworkman in clean,
neatly pressed overdls carrying abriefcase-style toolbox and with acouple of eectronic meters clipped
to hisbelt. On his chest pocket alogo read av network systems.

The workman looked confused. Apparently Drake didn’t want the workman in the room during the
argument, whereas Morton seemed to like an audience. Drake wanted the guy to go; Morton insisted he
stay. Caught in the middle, the workman looked uncomfortable, and ducked down out of sight again. But
soon after, Drake prevailed, and the workman | eft.



Asthe workman walked past him, Evans said, “Rough day?’

The workman shrugged. “ They got alot of network problemsin thisbuilding,” hesaid. “Mysdlf, | think
it'sbad Ethernet cable, or the routers are overheating...” And he walked on.

Back ingde, the argument raged, fiercer than ever. It continued for another five minutes. The glasswas
amogt entirely soundproof, but from time to time, when they shouted, Evans could hear a phrase. He
heard Morton yell, “ God damniit, | want towin!” and he heard Drake reply, “1t'sjust too risky.” Which
made Morton even angrier.

And later Morton said, “Don’'t we haveto fight for the most important issue facing our planet?” And
Drake answered something about being practicd, or facing redity. And Morton said, “ Fuck redlity!”

At which point the PR guy, Henley, glanced up and said, “My sentiments exactly.” Or something like
that.

Evans had the distinct impression that this argument concerned the Vanutu lawsuit, but it seemed to
range over anumber of other subjectsaswell.

And then, quite abruptly, Morton came out, damming the door so hard that the glasswalls shook. “Fuck
those guyd”

Evansfdl into step with his client. Through the glass, he saw the other two men huddle, whispering
together.

“Fuck ’em!” George said loudly. He paused and looked back. “1f we have right on our side, shouldn’t
we betdling the truth?

Inside, Drake just shook his head sorrowfully.

“Fuck "em,” Morton said again, walking off.

Evanssad, “'Y ou wanted me here?’

“Yes” Morton pointed. “Y ou know who that other guy was?’

“Yes” hesad. “John Henley.”

“Correct. Thosetwo guysare NERF,” George said. “| don't care how many celebrity trusteesthey have
on their letterhead. Or how many lawyersthey keep on staff. Those two run the show, and everyone else
rubberstamps. None of the trustees really knows anything about what is going on. Otherwise they
wouldn’t be a part of this. And let metell you, I’'m not going to be a part of this. Not anymore.”

They started walking down the Sairs.

“Meaning what?" Evanssaid to him.

“Meaning,” Morton said, “I’ m not giving them that ten-million-dollar grant for the lawsuit.”



“Y ou told them that?’

“No,” hesad, “1 did not tell them that. And you will not tell them that ether. | think I'll let it bea
aurprise, for later.” He smiled grimly. “But draw up the papers now.”

“Areyou sure about this, George?’
“Don’'t pissme off, kid.”

“I'mjust asking—"

“And | said draw up the papers. Sodo it.”
Evanssaid hewould.

“Today.”

Evans said hewould do it at once.

Evanswaited until they got to the parking garage before he spoke again. He walked Morton to his
waiting town car. His driver, Harry, opened the door for him. Evans said, “ George, you have that NERF
banquet honoring you next week. Isthat still going ahead?’

“Absolutdy,” Morton said. “1 wouldn't missit for theworld.”

He got in the car, and Harry closed the door.

“Good day, gr,” Harry said to Evans.

And the car drove off into the morning sunlight.

Hecdled from hiscar: “Sarah.”

“1 know, | know.”

“What isgoing on?’

“Hewon't tell me. But he' sredlly angry, Peter.Redly angry.”
“| got that impression.”

“And hejudt left again.”

“What?’

“Heleft. Said he would be back in aweek. Intimeto fly everybody up to San Francisco for the
banquet.”



Drake caled Evans s cdl phone. “What isgoing on, Peter?’

“1 have no idea, Nick.”

“The man’ s demented. The things hewas saying...could you hear him?’
“No, actudly.”

“He' sdemented. | realy am worried about him. | mean asafriend. To say nothing of our banquet next
week. | mean, ishe going to bedl right?’

“| think s0. He staking aplaneload of friends up there.”

“Areyou sure?’

“That' swhat Sarah says.”

“Can| talk to George? Can you set something up?’

“My undergtanding,” Evanssaid, “isthat hejust went out of town again.”

“It' sthat damn Kenner. He sbehind dl this”

“I don’t know what’ s going on with George, Nick. All I know is, he' s coming to the banquet.”
“I want you to promise meyou' |l ddiver him.”

“Nick,” Evans said. “ George does what he wants.”

“That'swhet I'm afraid of .”

TO SAN FRANCISCO
MONDAY, OCTOBER 4
1:38 P.M.

Flying up on his Gulfstream, Morton brought severa of the most prominent celebrity supporters of
NERF. These included two rock stars, the wife of acomedian, an actor who played the president on a
televison series, awriter who had recently run for governor, and two environmenta lawyers from other
firms. Over white wine and smoked salmon canapés, the discussion became quite lively, focusing on what
the United States, asthe world' s leading economy, should be doing to promote environmental sanity.

Uncharacterigticaly, Morton did not join in. Instead, he dumped in the back of the plane, looking
irritable and gloomy. Evans sat besde him, keeping him company. Morton was drinking straight vodka.
Hewas aready on his second.



“I brought the papers cancelling your grant,” Evans said, taking them out of hisbriefcase. “If you still
want to do this.”

“1 do.” Morton scribbled his signature, hardly looking at the documents. He said, “ Keep those safe until
tomorrow.” Helooked back at his guests, who were now trading statistics on specieslossastherain
forests of the world were cut down. Off to one side, Ted Bradley, the actor who played the president,
was talking about how he preferred his eectric car—which, he pointed out, he had owned for many
years now—to the new hybrids that were so popular. “ There' s no comparison,” he was saying. “The
hybrids are nice, but they’ re not the redl thing.”

At the center table, Ann Garner, who sat on the boards of environmental organizations, was arguing that
Los Angeles needed to build more public transportation so that people could get out of their cars.
Americans, she said, belched out more carbon dioxide than any other people on the planet, and it was
disgraceful. Ann wasthe beautiful wife of afamous attorney, and awaysintense, especialy on
environmental issues.

Morton sghed. Heturned to Evans. “Do you know how much pollution we re creating right this minute?
We Il burn four hundred fifty gallons of aviation fue to take twelve people to San Francisco. Just by
making thistrip, they’ re generating more pollution per capitathan most people on the planet will generate
Inayear.”

Hefinished hisvodka, and rattled the ice in the glassirritably. He handed the glass to Evans, who
dutifully sgndled for more.

“If there' sanything worse than alimousineliberd,” Morton sad, “it'sa Gulfstream environmentdist.”
“But George” Evanssaid. “Y ou're a Gulfstream environmentaist.”

“I know it,” Morton said. “And | wish it bothered me more. But you know what? It doesn’t. [ like flying
around in my own airplane.”

Evanssad, “I heard you werein North Dakota and Chicago.”

“l was. Yes”

“What' d you do there?’

“| spent money. A lot of money. Alat. ”

Evanssaid, “Y ou bought some art?’

“No. | bought something far more expensive than art. | bought integrity.”

“You' ve dways had integrity,” Evanssaid.

“Oh, not my integrity,” Morton said. “I bought somebody else's.”

Evansdidn’t know what to say to that. For a minute he thought Morton was joking.

“I wasgoing to tdl you about it,” Morton continued. “1 got alist of numbers, kid, and | want you to get it



to Kenner. It isvery much—for later. Hello, Ann!”

Ann Garner was coming toward them. “ So, George, are you back for awhile? Because we need you
here now. The Vanutu lawsuit, which thank God you are backing, and the climate change conference that
Nick has scheduled, and it’ s S0 important—my God, George. Thisiscrunchtime.”

Evans started to stand to let Ann take his seat, but Morton pushed him back down again.

“Ann,” hesaid, “I must say you look more lovely than ever, but Peter and | are having asmall business
discusson.”

She glanced at the papers, and Evans s open briefcase. “ Oh. | didn't know | was interrupting.”

“No, no, if you'd just give usaminute.”

“Of course. I'm sorry.” But shelingered. “ Thisis so unlike you, George, doing business on the plane.”
“I know,” Morton said, “but, if you must know, | am fedling quite unlike mysdf these days.”

That made her blink. She didn’t know how to take it, so she smiled, nodded, and moved away. Morton
said, “ She looks wonderful. | wonder who did her work.”

“Her work?’

“She' shad more, in the last few months. | think eyes. Maybe chin. Anyway,” he said, waving his hand,
“about the list of numbers. You areto tell thisto no one, Peter.No one. Not anyonein thelaw firm. And
especidly not anyone a—’

“George, damn it, why are you hiding back there?” Evans looked over his shoulder and saw Ted
Bradley coming toward them. Ted was dready drinking heavily, though it was only noon. “It has't been
the same without you, George. My God, the world without Bradley isaboring world. Oops! | mean,

without George Morton, isaboring world. Come on, George. Get up out of there. That manisalawyer.
Come and have adrink.”

Morton allowed himself to be led avay. He glanced over his shoulder at Evans. “Later,” he said.

SAN FRANCISCO
MONDAY, OCTOBER 4
9:02 P.M.

The Grand Balroom of the Mark Hopkins Hotel was darkened for the after-dinner speeches. The
audience was e egant, the men in tuxedos, the women in bal gowns. Benegath the ornate chanddliers, the
voice of Nicholas Drake boomed from the podium.

“Ladies and gentlemen, it is no exaggeration to say that we face an environmental crisis of
unprecedented proportions. Our forests are disappearing. Our lakes and rivers are polluted. The plants
and animals that make up our biosphere are vanishing at unprecedented rates. Forty thousand species



become extinct every year. That' sfifty speciesevery single day. At present rates, we will lose half of al
species on our planet in the next few decades. It isthe greatest extinction in the history of earth.

“And what isthe texture of our own lives? Our food is contaminated with lethal pesticides. Our crops
arefalling from globa warming. Our wesather is growing worse, and more severe. Flooding, droughts,
hurricanes, tornadoes. All around the globe. Our sea levels are rising—twenty-five feet in the next
century, and possibly more. And most fearsome of al, new scientific evidence points to the specter of
abrupt climate change, asaresult of our destructive behavior. In short, ladies and gentlemen, we are
confronted by agenuine globa catastrophe for our planet.”

Sitting at the center table, Peter Evanslooked around at the audience. They were staring down &t their
plates, yawning, leaning over and talking to one another. Drake wasn't getting alot of attention.

“They’ve heard it before,” Morton growled. He shifted his heavy frame and gave a soft belch. He had
been drinking steadily through the evening, and was now quite drunk.

“...Lossof biodiversity, shrinking of habitat, destruction of the ozonelayer...”

Nicholas Drake gppeared tall and ungainly, histuxedo ill-fitting. The collar of his shirt was bunched up
around his scrawny neck. Asaways, he gave theimpression of an impoverished but dedicated
academic, alatter-day Ichabod Crane. Evans thought no one would ever guessthat Drake was paid a
third of amillion dollars ayear to head the Fund, plus another hundred thousand in expenses. Or that he
had no science background at dl. Nick Drake was atria attorney, one of five who had started NERF
many years before. And like dl tria attorneys, he knew the importance of not dressing too well.

“...theerosion of bio-reservoirs, therise of ever more exotic and lethal diseasss...”

“I wish he'd hurry up,” Morton said. He drummed his fingers on the table. Evans said nothing. He had
attended enough of these functions to know that Morton was dwaystenseif he had to speak.

At the podium, Drake was saying “ ...glimmers of hope, faint rays of positive energy, and none more
positive and hopeful than the man whose lifelong dedication we are here to honor tonight...”

“Can | get another drink?” Morton said, finishing the last of hismartini. It was hissixth. He set the glass
on the table with athud. Evansturned to look for the waiter, raising his hand. He was hoping the waiter
wouldn’t come over in time. George had had enough.

“...for three decades has dedicated his considerable resources and energy to making our world a better,
hedlthier, saner place. Ladies and gentlemen, the Nationa Environmenta Resource Fund is proud...”

“Ah screw, never mind,” Morton said. He tensed his body, ready to push back from thetable. “I hate
making afool of mysdlf, even for agood cause.”

“Why should you make afool of—" Evans began.

“...my good friend and colleague and this year’ s concerned citizen...Mr.George Morton! ”

The room filled with applause, and a spotlight hit Morton as he stood and headed toward the podium, a
hunched bear of aman, physicaly powerful, solemn, head down. Evans was darmed when Morton

stumbled on thefirst step, and for amoment he feared his boss would fall backward, but Morton
regained his balance, and as he stepped to the stage he seemed dl right. He shook hands with Drake and



moved to the podium, gripping it on both sdeswith hislarge hands. Morton looked out at the room,
turning his head from side to sde, surveying the audience. He did not spesk.

Hejust stood there, and said nothing.
Ann Garner, gtting besde Evans, gave him anudge. “Ishedl right?’

“Ohyes. Absolutdly,” Evans said, nodding. But in truth, hewasn't sure.

Finally George Morton began to speak. “I’d like to thank Nicholas Drake and the National
Environmental Resource Fund for thisaward, but | don't fedl | deserveit. Not with al the work that
remains to be done. Do you know, my friends, that we know more about the moon than we do about the
Earth’s oceans? That’ sarea environmental problem. We don’t know enough about the planet we
depend on for our very lives. But as Montaigne said three hundred years ago, ‘ Nothing is so firmly
believed asthat whichisleast known.””

Evansthought: Montaigne? George Morton quoting Montaigne?

In the glare of the spotlight, Morton was distinctly weaving back and forth. He was gripping the podium
for balance. The room was absolutely silent. People were not moving at dl. Even the waiters had
stopped moving between the tables. Evans held his bregath.

“All of usin the environmenta movement,” Morton said, “have seen many wonderful victories over the
years. We have witnessed the creation of the EPA. We have seen the air and water made cleaner,
sewage trestment improved, toxic dumps cleaned up, and we have regulated common poisons like lead
for the safety of dl. These arered victories, my friends. We take judtifiable pride in them. And we know
more needs to be done.”

The audience was rdaxing. Morton was moving onto familiar ground.

“But will thework get done? | am not sure. | know my mood has been dark, since the death of my
beloved wife, Dorothy.”

Evans sat bolt upright in hischair. At the next table, Herb Lowenstein looked shocked, his mouth open.
George Morton had no wife. Or rather, he had Sx ex-wives—none named Dorothy.

“Dorothy urged me to spend my money wisdly. | dwaysthought | did. Now | am lesssure. | said before
that we don’t know enough. But | fear that today, the watchword of NERF has become, We don't sue

enough.”
Y ou could hear bresth sucked in sharply al around the room.

“NERF isalaw firm. | don’'t know if you redizethat. It was sarted by lawyersand it isrun by lawyers.
But | now believe money is better spent on research than litigation. And that iswhy | am withdrawing my
funding for NERF, and why | am—"

For the next few moments Morton could not be heard above the excited jabber of the crowd. Everyone
wastaking loudly. There were scattered boos, some guests got up to leave. Morton continued to talk,
seemingly obliviousto the effect he was having. Evans caught afew phrases. “...one environmentdl



charity isunder FBI investigation... completelack of oversight...”

Ann Garner leaned over and hissed,” Get him off there.”

“What do you want meto do?’ Evanswhispered.

“Go and get him. He sobvioudy drunk.”

“That may be, but | can’t—"

“You haveto stop this.”

But on the stage, Drake was aready moving forward, saying “All right, thank you, George—"
“Becauseto tdl the truth right now—"

“Thank you, George,” Drake said again, moving closer. He was actualy pushing against Morton’ s bulk,
trying to shove him away from the podium.

“Okay, okay,” Morton said, clinging to the podium. “1 said what | did for Dorothy. My dear dead
wife—"

“Thank you, George.” Drake was gpplauding now, holding his hands up at head height, nodding to the
audienceto join with him. “Thank you.”

“...who| missdesperately...”

“Ladies and gentlemen, pleasejoin mein thanking—"

“Yeah, okay, I'mleaving.”

To muted applause, Morton shambled off the stage. Drake immediately stepped up to the podium and
sgnaed the band. They darted into arousing rendition of Billy Jod’s“Y ou May Be Right,” which
someone had told them was Morton’ s favorite song. It was, but it seemed apoor choice under the

circumstances.

Herb Lowengtein leaned over from the next table and grabbed Evans by the shoulder, pulling him close.
“Ligten,” he whispered fiercely.” Get him out of here”

“I'will,” Evanssaid. “Don’'t worry.”
“Did you know thiswas going to happen?’
“No, | swear to God.”

Lowengtein released Evansjust as George Morton returned to the table. The assembled group was
stunned. But Morton was singing cheerfully with the music, “Y ou may beright, | may becrazy...”

“Comeon, George,” Evans said, standing up. “Let’sget out of here.”

Morton ignored him. “...But it just may be aloo-natic you'relooking for...”



“George? What do you say?’ Evanstook him by thearm. “Let’sgo.”
“...Turn out thelight, don't try to ssveme...”
“I’'m not trying to save you,” Evans said.

“Then how about another damn martini?” Morton said, no longer Snging. Hiseyeswere cold, alittle
resentful. “I think | fucking earned it.”

“Harry will have onefor you inthe car,” Evans said, steering Morton away from thetable. “If you stay
here, you' |l haveto wait for it. And you don’t want to wait for adrink right now...” Evans continued
talking, and Morton dlowed himsdlf to be led out of the room.

“...too late to fight,” he sang, “too lateto changeme...”

Before they could get out of the room, therewasa TV camerawith lights shining in their faces, and two
reporters shoving small tape recordersin front of Morton. Everybody was yelling questions. Evans put
his head down and said, “ Excuse us, sorry, coming through, excuse us...”

Morton never stopped singing. They made their way through the hotel |obby. The reporters were running
in front of them, trying to get some distance ahead, so they could film them walking forward. Evans
gripped Morton firmly by the elbow as Morton sang:

“I was only having fun, wasn't hurting anyone, and we al enjoyed the weekend for achange...”

“Thisway,” Evans said, heading for the door.

“I was stranded in the combat zone...”

And then at last they were through the swinging doors, and outside in the night. Morton stopped singing
abruptly when the cold air hit him. They waited for hislimousine to pull around. Sarah came out, and
stood beside Morton. Shedidn’t say anything, shejust put her hand on hisarm.

Then the reporters came out, and the lights came on again. And then Drake burst through the doors,
saying “ God damn it, George—"

He broke off when he saw the cameras. He glared at Morton, turned, and went back inside. The
cameras remained on, but the three of them just stood there. It was awkward, just waiting. After what
seemed like an eternity, the limousine pulled up. Harry came around, and opened the door for George.

“Okay, George,” Evanssaid.

“No, not tonight.”

“Harry’ swaiting, George.”

“I sad,not tonight. ”



There was a deep-throated growl in the darkness, and asilver Ferrari convertible pulled up dongside
thelimousne,

“My car,” Morton said. He started down the gtairs, lurching a bit.
Sarah sad, “George, | don't think—"

But he was singing again: “And you told me not to drive, but | madeit home dive, so you said that only
provesthat I’ m in-sayyy-nnne.”

One of the reporters muttered, “He' sinsane, dl right.”

Evansfollowed Morton, very concerned. Morton gave the parking attendant a hundred dollar bill, saying
“A twenty for you, my good man.” He fumbled with the Ferrari door. “ These crummy Itaian imports.”
Then he got behind the whed of the convertible, gunned the engine, and smiled. “ Ah, amanly sound.”

Evansleaned over the car. “ George, let Harry drive you. Besides,” he added, “don’t we need to talk
about something?’

“Wedo not.”
“But | thought—"

“Kid, get out of my way.” The cameralightswere till on them. But Morton moved so that hewasin the
shadow cast by Evans sbody. “Y ou know, the Buddhists have a saying.”

“What saying?’

“Remember it, kid. Goeslikethis: * All that mattersis not remote from where the Buddha sits.””
“George, | redly think you should not be driving.”

“Will you remember what | just said to you?’

“yes”

“Wisdom of the ages. Good-bye, kid.”

And he accelerated, roaring out of the parking lot as Evans jumped back. The Ferrari squedled around
the corner, ignoring astop sign, and was gone.

“Peter, comeon.”

Evansturned, and saw Sarah standing by the limousine. Harry was getting in behind the whed . Evans
got in the back seat with Sarah, and they drove off after Morton.

The Ferrari turned |eft at the bottom of the hill, disappearing around the corner. Harry accelerated,
handling the huge limousine with kill.



Evanssaid, “Do you know where he' sgoing?’

“Noides,” shesad.

“Who wrote his speech?’

“Hedid.”

“Redly?’

“Hewasworking in the house al day yesterday, and he wouldn't let me see what hewas doing...”
“Jesus” Evanssad. “Montaigne?’

“He had abook of quotations out.”

“Where d he come up with Dorothy?’

She shook her head. “1 have no idea”

They passed Golden Gate Park. Traffic was light; the Ferrari was moving fast, weaving among the cars.
Ahead was the Golden Gate Bridge, brightly lit in the night. Morton accelerated. The Ferrari was going
amog ninety milesan hour.

“He sgoing to Marin,” Sarah said.

Evans scdl phonerang. It was Drake. “Will you tell me what the hell that was dl about?’

“I’'msorry, Nick. | don’'t know.”

“Was he serious? About withdrawing his support?’

“| think hewas”

“That' sunbdievable. He' s obvioudy suffered anervous breakdown.”

“I couldn’t say.”

“| was afraid of this,” Drake said. “| was afraid something like this might happen. Y ou remember, on the
plane coming back from Iceland? | said it to you, and you told me | shouldn’t worry. Isthat your opinion
now? That | shouldn’t worry?’

“I don’'t know what you' re asking, Nick.”

“Ann Garner said he signed some papers on the plane.”

“That' sright. He did.”

“Arethey related to this sudden and inexplicable withdrawa of support for the organization that he loved
and cherished?’



“He seemsto have changed his mind about that,” Evans said.

“And why didn’'t you tdl me?’

“Heingtructed me not to.”

“Fuck you, Evans”

“I’'msorry,” Evans said.

“Not as sorry asyou will be.”

The phone went dead. Drake had hung up. Evans flipped the phone shut.
Sarah sad, “ Drakeis mad?

“Furious.”

Off the bridge, Morton headed west, away from the lights of the freeway, onto adark road skirting the
diffs. Hewas driving faster than ever.

Evans said to Harry, “Do you know where we are?’

“I believewe' rein agtate park.”

Harry wastrying to keep up, but on this narrow, twisting road, the limousine was no match for the
Ferrari. It moved farther and farther ahead. Soon they could see only the taillights, disappearing around
curves aquarter mile ahead.

“Weregoingtolosehim,” Evanssaid.

“I doubt it, Sir.”

But the limousinefdl steadily behind. After Harry took one turn too fast—the big rear end lost traction
and swung wide toward a dliff’ s edge—they were obliged to dow down even more. They wereina
desolate areanow. The night was dark and the cliffs deserted. A risng moon put astresk of slver on the
black water far below.

Up ahead, they no longer saw any taillights. It seemed they were aone on the dark road.

They came around a curve, and saw the next curve a hundred yards ahead—obscured by billowing gray
smoke.

“Oh no,” Sarah said, putting her hand to her mouth.

The Ferrari had spun out, struck atree, and flipped over. It now lay upside down, acrumpled and
smoking mass. It had very nearly gone off the cliff itself. The nose of the car was hanging over the edge.



Evans and Sarah ran forward. Evans got down on his hands and knees and crawled dong the dliff’s
edge, trying to seeinto the driver’ s compartment. It was hard to see much of anything—the front
windshield was flattened, and the Ferrari lay amost flush to the pavement. Harry came over with a
flashlight, and Evansused it to peer insde.

The compartment was empty. Morton’s black bow tie was dangling from the doorknob, but otherwise
he was gone.

“He must have been thrown.”

Evans shone the light down the cliff. It was crumbling yellow rock, descending steeply for eighty feet to
the ocean below. He saw no sign of Morton.

Sarah was crying softly. Harry had gone back to get afire extinguisher from the limousine. Evans swung
hislight back and forth over the rock face. He did not see George' s body. In fact, he did not see any sign
of George at dl. No disturbance, no path, no bits of clothing. Nothing.

Behind him he heard the whoosh of the fire extinguisher. He crawled away from the dliff’ s edge.

“Didyou seehim, Sr?’ Harry said, hisface full of pain.

“No. | didn’t see anything.”

“Perhaps...over there.” Harry pointed toward the tree. And he wasright; if Morton had been thrown
from the car by theinitia impact, he might be twenty yards back, on the road.

Evans waked back, and shone hisflashlight down the cliff again. The battery was running down, the
beam was weakening. But dmost immediately, he saw aglint of light off aman’s patent leather dipper,
wedged among the rocks at the edge of the water.

He sat down in the road and put his head in hishands. And cried.

POINT MOODY
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 5
3:10 A.M.

By the time the police were finished talking with them, and a rescue team had rappelled down the cliff to
recover the shoe, it was three o’ clock in the morning. They found no other sign of the body, and the

cops, talking among themsalves, agreed that the prevailing currentswould probably carry the body up the
coast to Pismo Beach. “We' ll find him,” one said, “in about aweek or so. Or at least, what' s left by the
great whites”

Now the wreck was being cleared away, and loaded onto aflatbed truck. Evans wanted to leave, but
the highway patrolman who had taken Evans s statement kept coming back to ask for more details. He
was akid, in hisearly twenties. It seemed he had not filled out many of these forms before.



Thefirst time he came back to Evans, he said, “How soon after the accident would you say you arrived
on the scene?’

Evanssad, “I’m not sure. The Ferrari was about haf amile ahead of us, maybe more. We were
probably going forty milesan hour, s0...maybe aminute later?’

The kid looked darmed. “Y ou were going forty in that limo? On this road?’

“Wdl. Don't hold metoit.”

Then he came back and said, “Y ou said you were thefirst on the scene. Y ou told me you crawled
around at the edge of the road?’

“Thet’ sright.”

“So you would have stepped on broken glass, on the road?’

“Yes. Thewindshield was shattered. | had it on my hands, too, when | crouched down.”

“So that explainswhy the glasswas disturbed.”

113 Y$”

“Lucky you didn't cut your hands.”

1] Y%.”

Thethird time he came back, he said, “In your estimation, what time did the accident occur?’

“What time?’ Evanslooked at hiswatch. “| have no idea. But let me see...” Hetried to work
backward. The speech must have started about eight-thirty. Morton would have left the hotdl at nine.
Through San Francisco, then over the bridge. ..“ Maybe nine-forty-five, or ten a night.”

“So, five hours ago? Roughly?’

113 Yaﬂ
Thekid said, “Huh.” Asif he were surprised.

Evanslooked over at the flatbed truck, which now held the crumpled remains of the Ferrari. One cop
was standing on the flatbed, beside the car. Three other cops were on the street, talking with some
animation. There was another man there, wearing a tuxedo. He was talking to the cops. When the man
turned, Evanswas surprised to see that it was John Kenner.

“What'sgoing on?’ Evans asked thekid.

“I don’'t know. They just asked meto check on the time of the accident.”

Then the driver got into the flatbed truck, and started the engine. One of the cops yelled to the kid,
“Forget it, Eddiel”



“Never mind, then,” the kid said to Evans. “I guess everything’' s okay.”

Evanslooked over at Sarah, to seeif she had noticed Kenner. She was|eaning on the limousine, talking
on the phone. Evans looked back in time to see Kenner get into adark sedan driven by the Nepali guy,
and drive off.

The copswere leaving. The flatbed turned around and headed up the road, toward the bridge.

Harry said, “Lookslikeit’stimeto go.”

Evans got into the limousine. They drove back toward the lights of San Francisco.

TOLOSANGELES
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 5
12:02 P.M.

Morton's jet flew back to Los Angeles at noon. The mood was somber. All the same people were on
board, and afew more, but they sat quietly, saying little. The late-edition papers had printed the story
that millionaire philanthropist George Morton, depressed by the death of hisbeloved wife, Dorothy, had
given adigointed speech (termed “rambling and illogica” by theSan Francisco Chronicle ) and afew
hourslater had died in atragic automobile crash while test-driving his new Ferrari.

In the third paragraph, the reporter mentioned that single-car fatdities were frequently caused by
undiagnosed depression and were often disguised suicides. And this, according to a quoted psychiatrist,
wasthelikdly explanation for Morton's desth.

About ten minutesinto the flight, the actor Ted Bradley said, “1 think we should drink atoast in memory
of George, and observe aminute of silence.” And to achorus of “Hear, hear,” glasses of champagne
were passed dl around.

“To George Morton,” Ted said. “A great American, agreat friend, and agreat supporter of the
environment. We, and the planet, will misshim.”

For the next ten minutes, the celebrities on board remained relatively subdued, but dowly the
conversation picked up, and finaly they began to talk and argue as usud. Evanswas sitting in the back, in
the same seet he had occupied when they flew up. He watched the action at the table in the center,
where Bradley was now explaining that the US got only 2 percent of its energy from sustainable sources
and that we needed a crash program to build thousands of offshore wind farms, like England and
Denmark were doing. The talk moved on to fud cells, hydrogen cars, and photovoltaic households
running off the grid. Some talked about how much they loved their hybrid cars, which they had bought for
their gaff to drive.

Evansfdt his spiritsimprove as he listened to them. Despite the loss of George Morton, there were il
lots of people like these—famous, high-profile people committed to change—who would lead the next
generation to amore enlightened future.



He was starting to drift off to deep when Nicholas Drake dropped into the seat beside his. Drake leaned
acrosstheaide. “Ligen,” hesaid. “I oweyou an apology for last night.”

“Thet'sdl right,” Evanssaid.

“I wasway out of line. And | want you to know I’'m sorry for how | behaved. | was upset, and very
worried. Y ou know George has been acting weird as hell the last couple of weeks. Taking strangdly,
picking fights. | guessin retrospect he was beginning to have a nervous breakdown. But | didn’t know.
Didyou?’

“l am not sure it was a nervous breakdown.”

“It must have been,” Drake said. “What else could it have been? My God, the man disowns hislife's
work, and then goes out and kills himsdlf. By theway, you can forget about any documentsthat he
sgned yesterday. Under the circumstances, he obvioudy was not in hisright mind. And | know,” he
added, “that you wouldn't argue the point differently. Y ou’ re dready conflicted enough, doing work both
for him and for us. Y ou really should have recused yoursdlf and seen to it that any papers were drawn up
by aneutra attorney. I’ m not going to accuse you of mapractice, but you’ ve shown highly questionable

judgment.”
Evans said nothing. The threat was plain enough.

“Wall, anyway,” Drake said, resting hishand on Evans sknee, “I just wanted to gpologize. | know you
did your best with adifficult Stuation, Peter. And...I think we re going to come out of thisdl right.”

The planelanded in Van Nuys. A dozen black SUV limos, the latest fashion, were lined up on the
runway, waiting for the passengers. All the celebrities hugged, kissed air, and departed.

Evanswasthelast to leave. He didn't rate a car and driver. He climbed into hislittle Prius hybrid, which
he' d parked there the day before, and drove through the gates and onto the freeway. He thought he
should go to the office, but unexpected tears came to his eyes as he negotiated the midday traffic. He
wiped them away and decided he was too damned tired to go to the office. Instead, he would go back to
his apartment to get some deep.

He was dmaost home when his cell phonerang. It was Jennifer Haynes, at the Vanutu litigation team.
“I’'m sorry about George,” shesaid. “It’ sjust terrible. Everybody hereisvery upset, asyou can imagine.
He pulled the funding, didn’t he?”

“Yes, but Nick will fight it. You'll get your funding.”

“We need to have lunch,” she said.

“Wel, | think—"

“Today?’

Something in her voicemade him say, “I'll try.”



“Phone me when you're here.”

He hung up. The phone rang again amost immediately. It was Margo Lane, Morton’s mistress. Shewas
angry. “What thefuck isgoing on?’

“How do you mean?’ Evans said.

“Was anybody going to fucking cal me?’

“I"m sorry, Margo—"

“I just saw it on TV. Missing in San Francisco and presumed dead. They had pictures of the car.”

“l wasgoing to call you,” Evanssaid, “when | got to my office.” Thetruth was, she had completely
dipped hismind.

“ And when would that have been, next week? Y ou' re as bad asthat sick assistant of yours. Y ou're his
lawyer, Peter. Do your fucking job. Because, you know, let’ sfaceit, thisisnot asurprise. | knew this
was going to happen. Weadl did. | want you to come over here.”

“I have abusy day.”

“Jud for aminute.”

“All right,” hesaid. “ Jugt for aminute.”

WEST LOS ANGELES
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 5
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Margo Lanelived on the fifteenth floor of ahigh-rise gpartment building in the Wilshire Corridor. The
doorman had to call up before Evanswas dlowed in the eevator. Margo knew he was coming up, but
she dtill answered the door wrapped in atowe. “Oh! | didn’t realize you' d be here so soon. Comein, |
just got out of the shower.” She frequently did something like this, flaunting her body. Evans cameinto
the gpartment and sat on the couch. She sat opposite him. The towel barely covered her torso.

“So,” shesaid, “what’ sdl this about George?’

“I’'m sorry,” Evans said, “but George crashed his Ferrari at very high speed and was thrown from the
car. Hefell down acliff—they found a shoe at the bottom—and into the water. His body hasn’t been
recovered but they expect it to turn up in aweek or 0.”

With her love of drama, he was sure Margo would start to cry, but she didn’t. Shejust stared at him.
“That’sbullshit,” shesaid.

“Why do you say that, Margo?’



“Because. He shiding or something. Y ou know it.”

“Hiding? From what?’

“Probably nothing. He d become completely paranoid. Y ou know that.”
Asshesad it, she crossed her legs. Evanswas careful to keep his eyes on her face.
“Paranoid?’ he asked.

“Don't act like you didn’t know, Peter. It was obvious.”

Evans shook his head. “Not to me.”

“Thelagt time he came here was a couple of daysago,” she said. “He went right to the window and
stood back behind the curtain, looking down onto the street. He was convinced he was being followed.”

“Had he done that before?’

“I don't know. | hadn’t seen him much lately; he was traveling. But whenever | caled him and asked
when he was coming over, he said it wasn't safe to come here.”

Evans got up and walked to the window. He stood to one side and looked down at the Street below.
“Areyou being followed, too?’ she said.

“I don't think s0.”

Traffic on Wilshire Boulevard was heavy, the start of afternoon rush hour. Threelanes of cars moving
fast in each direction. He could hear the roar of the traffic, even up there. But there was no place to park,
to pull out from the traffic. A blue Prius hybrid had pulled to the curb across the street, and traffic was
backing up behind it, honking. After amoment, the Prius started up again.

No place to stop.

“Do you see anything suspicious?’” she asked.

“No.”

“I never did ether. But George did—or thought he did.”

“Did he say who wasfollowing him?’

“No.” Sheshifted again. “1 thought he should have medication. | told him.”

“Andwhat did he say to that?’

“Hesad | wasin danger, too. Hetold me| should leave town for awhile. Go vist my sister in Oregon.
But | won't.”

Her towel was coming loose. Margo tightened it, lowering it across her firm, enhanced breasts. “So I'm



telling you, George went into hiding,” shesaid. “And | think you better find him fast, because the man
needs help.”

“| see” Evanssaid. “But | supposeit’ spossible heisn't in hiding, that heredlly crashed hiscar.... In
which casg, there are things you need to do now, Margo.”

He explained to her that if George remained missing, his assets could be ordered frozen. Which meant
that she ought to withdraw everything from the bank account into which he put money for her every
month. So she would be sure to have money to live on.

“But that'sglly,” she protested. “1 know he' Il be back in afew days.”

“Justin case” Evanssaid.

She frowned. “ Do you know something you' re not telling me?’

“No,” Evanssaid. “I’'m just saying, it could be awhile before thisthing gets cleared up.”

“Look,” shesaid. “He ssick. You're supposed to be hisfriend. Find him.”

Evans said that he would try. When he left, Margo was flouncing off to the bedroom to get dressed
before going to the bank.

QOutgde, in the milky afternoon sunlight, fatigue overwhemed him. All he wanted to do was go home and
goto deep. Hegot in hiscar and started driving. He was within sight of his apartment when his phone

rang again.

It was Jennifer, asking where he was.
“I'msorry,” hesaid. “I can’'t come today.”

“It' simportant, Peter. Redlly.”

He said hewas sorry, and would call her later.

Then Lisa, Herb Lowengtein’s secretary, called to say that Nicholas Drake had been trying to reach him
al afternoon. “Heredly wantsto talk to you.”

“Okay,” Evanssad, “I'll cal.”

“He sounds pissed.”

“Okay.”

“But you better cdl Sarah firet.”

“Why?

His phone went dead. It dways did in the back aley of his gpartment; it was adead spot in the cellular



net. He dipped the phone into his shirt pocket; he'd cdl in afew minutes. He drove down the aley, and
pulled into his garage space.

He walked up the back stairsto his apartment and unlocked the door.

And stared.

The gpartment was amess. Furniture torn gpart, cushions dashed open, papers al over the place, books
tumbled out of the bookshelves and lying scattered on the floor.

He stood in the entrance, stunned. After amoment he walked into the room, straightened one of the
toppled chairsand sat down init. It occurred to him that he had to cal the police. He got up, found the
phone on the floor, and dialed them. But dmost immediately the cell phonein his pocket began to ring.
He hung up on the police and answered the cell phone. “Yes.”

It wasLisa “Wegot cut off,” shesaid. “Y ou better call Sarah right away.”

HWI,]yJ?I

“She’ sover at Morton’ s house. There was arobbery there.”

“What?’

“1 know. Y ou better cdl her,” she said. “ She sounded upset.”

Evansflipped the phone shut. He stood and walked into the kitchen. Everything was amess there, too.
He glanced into the bedroom. Everything was amess. All he could think was the maid wasn't coming
until next Tuesday. How could he ever clean thisup?

Hedided his phone.

“Sarah?’

“Isthat you, Peter?’

“Y es. What happened?”’

“Not on the phone. Have you gone home yet?’

“Jugt got here.”
“S0...did it happen to you too?’
“Yes. Metoo.”

“Can you come here?’



"Y&,”

“How soon?’ She sounded frightened.
“Tenminutes”

“Okay. Seeyou.” She hung up.

Evansturned theignition of his Priusand it hummed to life. He was pleased to have the hybrid; the
waiting list in Los Angeles to get one was now more than six months. He' d had to take alight gray one,
which wasn't his preferred color, but he loved the car. And hetook aquiet satisfaction in noticing how
many of them there were on the Streets these days.

He drove down the dley to Olympic. Across the street he saw ablue Prius, just like the one he had seen
below Margo's gpartment. It was dectric blue, agarish color. He thought he liked his gray better. He
turned right, and then left again, heading north through Beverly Hills. He knew there would be rush hour
traffic starting at thistime of day and he should get up to Sunset, where traffic moved alittle better.

When he got to thetraffic light at Wilshire, he saw another blue Prius behind him. That same ugly color.
Two guysin the car, not young. When he made hisway to the light at Sunset, the same car was il
behind him. Two cars back.

Heturned left, toward Holmby Hills.

The Priusturned left, too. Following him.

Evans pulled up to Morton’ s gate and pressed the buzzer. The security camera above the box blinked
on. “Can| hepyou?’

“It's Peter Evans for Sarah Jones.”

A momentary pause, and then abuzz. The gates swung open dowly, revedling a curving roadway. The
house was ill hidden from view.

While he waited, Evans glanced down the road to hisleft. A block away, he saw the blue Prius coming
up the road toward him. It passed him without dowing down, and disappeared around a curve.

S0. Perhaps he was not being followed after all.
Hetook a deep breath, and let it out Sowly.

The gates swung wide, and he droveinside,

HOLMBY HILLS
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3:54 P.M.

It was almost four 0’ clock as Evans drove up the driveway to Morton’'s house. The property was
crawling with security men. There were severa searching among the trees near the front gate, and more
inthe driveway, clustered around severa vans marked anderson security service.

Evans parked next to Sarah’ s Porsche. He went to the front door. A security man opened it. “Ms. Jones
isintheliving room.”

He walked through the large entryway and past the staircase that curved up to the second floor. He
looked into the living room, prepared to see the same disarray that he' d witnessed at his own apartment,
but here everything seemed to bein its place. The room appeared exactly as Evans remembered it.

Morton’sliving room was arranged to display his extensive collection of Asan antiquities. Abovethe
fireplace was alarge Chinese screen with shimmering gilded clouds; alarge stone head from the Angkor
region of Cambodia, with thick lips and a half-smile, was mounted on a pedesta near the couch; against
one wall stood a seventeenth-century Japanesetanay, itsrich wood glowing. Extremely rare, two
hundred-year-old wood-cuts by Hiroshige hung on the back wall. A standing Burmese Buddha, carved
in faded wood, stood at the entrance to the mediaroom, next door.

In the middle of the room, surrounded by these antiquities, Sarah sat dumped on the couch, staring
blankly out the window. Shelooked over as Evans camein. “They got your gpartment?’

“Yes, It'samess.”

“This house was broken into, too. It must have happened last night. All the security people hereare
trying to figure out how it could have happened. Look here.”

She got up and pushed the pedestal that held the Cambodian head. Considering the weight of the head,
the pedestal moved surprisingly easily, reveding a safe sunk in the floor. The safe door stood open.
Evans saw neatly stacked manilafoldersingde.

“What was taken?’ he said.

“Asfar asl cantdl, nothing,” she said. “ Seemslike everything istill inits place. But | don’t know
exactly what George had in these safes. They were his safes. | rardly went into them.”

She moved to thetansu, diding open acenter pand, and then afase back pand, to expose asafein the
wall behind. It, too, was open. “There are six safesin the house,” she said. “ Three down here, onein the
second-floor study, one in the basement, and one up in his bedroom closet. They opened every one.”

“Cracked?’

“No. Someone knew the combinations.”

Evanssad, “Did you report thisto the police?’

“No.”



“Why not?’

“I wanted to talk to you first.”

Her head was close to his. Evans could smell afaint perfume. He sad, “Why?’
“Because,” she said. “Someone knew the combinations, Peter.”

“Youmean it wasaninsdejob.”

“It had to be.”

“Who gtaysin the house a night?’

“Two housekeepers deep in the far wing. But last night wastheir night off, so they weren't here.”
“So nobody was in the house?’

“Thet’sright.”

“What about the darm?’

“I armed it mysdlf, before | went to San Francisco yesterday.”
“Thedarmdidn’t go off?’

She shook her head.

“So somebody knew the code,” Evans said. “Or knew how to bypassit. What about the security
cameras?’

“They’'redl over the property,” she said, “insde the house and out. They record onto ahard drivein the
basement.”

“You'veplayed it back?’

She nodded. “Nothing but static. It was scrubbed. The security people are trying to recover something,
but...” Sheshrugged. “I don't think they’ Il get anywhere.”

It would take pretty sophisticated burglars to know how to wipe ahard drive. “Who hasthe darm
codes and safe combinations?’

“Asfar as| know, just George and me. But obvioudy somebody el se does, too.”
“I think you should cdl the police,” he said.

“They’ relooking for something,” she said. “ Something that George had. Something they think one of us
has now. They think George gaveiit to one of us.”

Evansfrowned. “But if that’ strue,” he said, “why are they being so obvious? They smashed my place so
| couldn’t help notice. And even here, they |eft the safes wide open, to be sure you' d know you' d been



robbed...”

“Exactly,” shesaid. “They want usto know what they’re doing.” She bit her lip. “ They want usto panic,
and rush off to retrieve thisthing, whatever it is. Then they’ll follow us, and takeit.”

Evansthought it over. “Do you have any ideawhat it could be?’

“No,” shesaid. “Do you?’

Evanswas thinking of the list George had mentioned to him, on the airplane. Thelist he never got around
to explaining, before he died. But certainly theimplication was that Morton had paid alot of money for
some sort of list. But something made Evans hesitate to mention it now.

“No,” hesaid.

“Did George give you anything?’

“No,” hesad.

“Menether.” Shebit her lip again. “1 think we should leave.”

“Leave?’

“Get out of town for awhile.”

“It' snaturd to fed that way after arobbery,” he said. “But | think the proper thing to do right now isto
cdl thepolice”

“Georgewouldn’t likeit.”

“Georgeisno longer with us, Sarah.”

“George hated the Beverly Hillspolice.”

“He never cdled them. He dways used private security.”

“That may be, but...”

“They won't do anything but file areport.”

“Perhaps, but...”

“Did you cal the police, about your place?’

“Not yet. But | will.”

“Okay, well you cal them. See how it goes. It' sawaste of time.”

His phone beeped. There was atext message. He looked at the screen. It said: n. drake cometo office



immed. urgent.

“Ligten,” hesaid. “1 haveto go see Nick for abit.”
“I'll befine”

“I'll comeback,” hesaid, “assoonas| can.”

“I'll befing,” she repeated.

He stood, and she stood, too. On a sudden impulse he gave her ahug. She was so tall they were almost
shoulder to shoulder. “It' sgoing to be okay,” he said. “Don’t worry. It'll be okay.”

She returned the hug, but when he released her, she said, “Don't ever do that again, Peter. I'm not
hysterica. I'll see you when you get back.”

Heleft hadtily, feding foolish. At the door, she said, “By the way, Peter: Do you have agun?’
“No,” hesad. “Do you?’
“Just a9-millimeter Beretta, but it’s better than nothing.”

“Oh, okay.” As he went out the front door, he thought, so much for manly reassurances for the modern
woman.

He got in the car, and drove to Drake' s office.

It was not until he had parked his car and was walking in the front door to the office that he noticed the
blue Prius parked at the end of the block, with two men gitting inddeiit.

Watching him.
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“No, no,no! ” Nicholas Drake stood in the NERF media room, surrounded by a half-dozen
stunned-looking graphic designers. On the walls and tables were posters, banners, flyers, coffee mugs,
and stacks of pressreleases, and mediakits. All were emblazoned with a banner that went from green to
red, with the superimposed words. “ Abrupt Climate Change: The Dangers Ahead.”

“I hateit,” Drakesaid. “I just fuckinghate it.”

“Why?



“Becauseit’ sboring. It sounds like adamn PBS specid. We need some punch here, some pizzazz.”

“Wadll, gr,” oneof the designers said, “if you remember, you originally wanted to avoid anything that
looked like overstatement.”

“I did?No, | didn’t. Henley wanted to avoid overstatement. Henley thought it should be made to look

exactly likeanormal academic conference. But if we do that, the mediawill tune us out. | mean, shit, do
you know how many climate change conferences there are every year? All around the world?’

“No gr, how many?’

“Wadl, um, forty-seven. Anyway, that’ s not the point.” Drake rapped the banner with his knuckles. “I
mean look at this, ‘Dangers.” It'sso vague, it could refer to anything.”

“| thought that’ swhat you wanted—thet it could refer to anything.”

“No, | want ‘Crigs or ‘Catastrophe.” * The Criss Ahead.” ‘ The Catastrophe Ahead.” That’ s better.
‘Catastrophe’ is much better.”

“You used ‘ Catastrophe’ for the last conference, the one on species extinction.”
“I don't care. We useit because it works. This conference must point to a catastrophe.”

“Uh, dr,” onesaid, “with al duerespect, isit redly accurate that abrupt climate change will lead to
catastrophe? Because the background materials we were given—"

“Yes, God damnit,” Drake snapped, “it'll lead to a catastrophe. Believe me, it will! Now make the
damn changesl”

The graphic artists surveyed the assembled materials on the table. “Mr. Drake, the conference startsin
four days”

“Youthink | don't know it?" Drake said. “Y ou think | fucking don’'t know it?’
“I"m not sure how much we can accomplish—"
“Catastrophe! Lose‘Danger,’ add ‘ Catastrophe’! That'sal I'm asking for. How difficult can it be?’

“Mr. Drake, we can redo the visud materials and the bannersfor the mediakits, but the coffee mugs are
aproblem.”

“Why arethey aproblem?’

“They’ re made for usin China, and—"

“Madein China?Land of pollution? Whose ideawas that?’
“We dways have the coffee mugs made in Chinafor—’

“Well, we definitely can’t usethem. ThisisNERF, for Christ’s sake. How many cups do we have?’



“Three hundred. They're given to the mediain attendance, along with the presskit.”

“Well get some damn eco-acceptable mugs,” Drake said. “ Does't Canada make mugs? Nobody ever
complains about anything Canada does. Get some Canadian mugs and print ‘ Catastrophe’ on them.
That'sdl.”

The artistsswere looking at one another. One said, “ There sthat supply housein Vancouver...”
“But their mugs are cream-colored...”

“I don't careif they're chartreuse,” Drake said, hisvoicerisng. “Just doit! Now what about the press
releases?’

Another designer held up ashest. “ They’ re four-color banners printed in biodegradable inks on recycled
bond paper.”

Drake picked up ashest. “ Thisisrecycled? It looks damn good.”

“Actudly, it' sfresh paper.” The designer looked nervous. “But no one will know.”
“Youdidn't tel methat,” Drake said. “It' s essentid that recycled materidslook good.”
“And they do, sr. Don't worry.”

“Then let’smove on.” Heturned to the PR people. “What’ sthe time-line of the campaign?’

“It' sastandard starburst launch to bring public awareness to abrupt climate change,” thefirst rep said,
standing up. “We have our initia press break on Sunday-morning talk shows and in the Sunday
newspaper supplements. They’ |l be talking about the start of the conference Wednesday and interviewing
major photogenic principals. Stanford, Levine, the other people who show well on TV. We ve given
enough lead timeto get into al the major weekly newsbooks around the world, Time, Newsweek, Der
Spiegd, ParisMatch, Oggi, The Economist. All together, fifty news magazinesto inform lead opinion
makers. We ve asked for cover stories, accepting banner folds with agraphic. Anything less and they
didn’t get us. We expect coverson a least twenty.”

“Okay,” Drake said, nodding.

“We start the conference on Wednesday. Well-known, charismatic environmentalists and major
politicians from industridized nations are scheduled to appear. We have del egates from around the
world, so B-rall reaction shots of the audience will be satisfactorily color-mixed. Industridized countries
now include Indiaand Koreaand Japan, of course. The Chinese delegation will participate but there will
be no speakers.

“Our two hundred invited television journdistswill stay at the Hilton, and wewill have interview facilities
there aswell asin the conference halls, so our speakers can spread the message to video audiences
around the world. We will aso have anumber of print media people to carry the word to ite opinion
makers, the ones that read but do not watch TV.”

“Good,” Drake said. He appeared pleased.

“Each day’ sthemewill beidentified by adistinctive graphicicon, emphasizing flood, fire, risng sea



leves, drought, icebergs, typhoons, and hurricanes, and so on. Each day we have afresh contingent of
politicians from around the world coming to attend and give interviews explaining the high leve of their
dedi cation and concern about this newly emerging problem.”

“Good, good.” Drake nodded.

“The paliticianswill stay for only aday—some only afew hours—and they will not have time to attend
the conferences beyond a brief photo-op showing them in the audience, but they are briefed and will be
effective. Then we havelocal schoolchildren, gradesfour to seven, coming each day to learn about the
dangers—sorry, the catastrophe—in their futures, and we have educationd kits for grade-school
teachers, so they can teach their kids about the crisis of abrupt climate change.”

“When do those kits go out?’

“They were going out today, but now we Il hold them for rebannering.”

“Okay,” Drake sad. “And for high schools?’

“We have some trouble there,” the PR guy said. “We showed the kits to a sample of high school science
teachersand, uh...”

“And what?’ Drake said.

“The feedback we got was they might not go over so well.”

Drake s expression turned dark. “And why not?’

“Wadll, the high schoal curriculum isvery college oriented, and thereisn’t alot of room for eectives...”
“Thisishardly andective ...”

“And, uh, they fdtit wasal speculative and unsubstantiated. They kept saying thingslike, ‘Where sthe
hard science here? Just reporting, Sr.”

“God damn it,” Drake said, “it isnot speculdtive. It ishappening! ”
“Uh, perhgpswe didn’t get the right materidsthat show what you are saying...”

“Ah fuck. Never mind now,” Drake said. “ Just trust me, it’s happening. Count on it.” Heturned, and
said in asurprised voice, “Evans, how long have you been here?’

Peter Evans had been standing in the doorway for at least two minutes and had overheard agood deal
of the conversation. “Just got here, Mr. Drake.”

“All right.” Drake turned to the others. “I think we' ve gone through this. Evans, you come with me.”

Drake shut the door to his office. “I need your counsel, Peter,” he said quietly. He walked around to his
desk, picked up some papers, and did them toward Evans. “What the fuck isthis?’



Evanslooked. “That is George swithdrawal of support.”
“Did you draw it up?’

“l did.”

“Whose idea was paragraph 3a?’

“Paragraph 3a?’

“Yes. Did you add that little bit of wisdom?’

“| don't really remember—"

“Then let me refresh your memory,” Drake said. He picked up the document and started toread. “ “In
the event of any claim that | am not of sound mind, there may be an attempt to obtain injunctive relief
from the terms of this document. Therefore this document authorizes the payment of fifty thousand dollars
per week to NERF while awaiting the judgment of afull trid. Said monies shdl be deemed sufficient to
pay ongoing cogtsincurred by NERF and shall by said payment deny injunctiverdief.” Did you writethis,

Evans?’

“l did.”

“Whoseideawasit?’

“George’ s”

“Georgeisnot alawyer. He had help.”

“Not fromme,” Evanssaid. “Hemore or less dictated that clause. | wouldn't have thought of it.”

Drake snorted in disgust. “Fifty thousand aweek,” he said. “At that rate, it will take usfour yearsto
receive the ten-million-dollar grant.”

“That’ swhat George wanted the document to say,” Evans said.
“But whoseideawasit?’ Drake sad. “If it wasn't you, who wasit?’
“I don’t know.”

“Find out.”

“I don’'t know if | can,” Evanssaid. “1 mean, Georgeis dead now, and | don’t know who he might have
consulted—"

Drake glared at Evans. “ Are you with us here, Peter, or not?’ He started pacing back and forth.
“Because this Vanutu litigation is undoubtedly the most Significant lawsuit we have ever filed.” He lgpsed
into his speech-making mode. “ The stakes are enormous, Peter. Global warming isthe grestest crisis

facing mankind. Y ou know that. | know that. Mogt of the civilized world knows that. Wemugt act to save
the planet, beforeit istoo late.”



“Yes” Evanssad. “| know that.”

“Doyou?’ Drakesad. “We have alawsuit, avery important lawsuit, that needs our help. And fifty
thousand dollars aweek will srangleit.”

Evans was sure that was not true. “ Fifty thousand isalot of money,” hesaid, “I don’t seewhy it should
drangle—"

“Becauseit will!” Drake snapped.“Because | antdling you it will!” He seemed surprised by hisown
outburst. He gripped the desk, got control of himself. “Look,” he said. “We can never forget about our
opponents here. The forces of industry are strong, phenomendly strong. And industry wantsto be left
aoneto pallute. It wantsto pollute here, and in Mexico, and in China, and wherever elseit doesits
business. The stakes are huge.”

“I understand,” Evans said.

“Many powerful forces aretaking an interest in this case, Peter.”

“Yes I'msure”

“Forcesthat will stop at nothing to be sure that we loseit.”

Evansfrowned. What was Draketelling him?

“Ther influence is everywhere, Peter. They may have influence with members of your law firm. Or other
people you know. People whom you believe you can trust—but you can’t. Because they are on the other
Sde, and they don't even know it.”

Evans said nothing. Hewas just looking at Drake.

“Be prudent, Peter. Watch your back. Don't discuss what you are doing with anyone—withanyone
—except me. Try not to use your cell phone. Avoid e-mail. And keep an eye out in case you are
followed.”

“Okay.... But actudly I’ ve aready been followed,” Evanssaid. “ There' sablue Prius—"

“Thosewere our guys. | don’t know what they are doing. | called them off days ago.”

“Your guys?’

“Yes. It'sanew security firm we ve been trying out. They’ re obvioudy not very competent.”

“I'm confused,” Evans said. “NERF has a security firm?”

“Absolutely. For years, now. Because of the danger we face. Please understand meWearedl in
danger, Peter. Don't you understand what this lawsuit meansif wewin? Trillions of dollarsthat industry
must pay in the coming years, to hat their emissonsthat are causing globad warming. Trillions. With those
dtakes, afew lives don't matter. So: Be very damn careful .”

Evans said that he would. Drake shook his hand.



“1 want to know who told George about the paragraph,” Drake said. “And | want that money freed up
for usto useit aswe seefit. Thisisdl riding on you now,” he said. “Good luck, Peter.”

On hisway out of the building, Evans ran into ayoung man who was sprinting up the stairs. They
collided so hard that Evans was amost knocked down. The young man gpologized hastily, and continued
on hisway. He looked like one of the kids working on the conference. Evans wondered what the crisis
could be, now.

When he got back outside, he looked down the street. The blue Prius was gone.

He got into the car and drove back to Morton's, to see Sarah.
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Traffic was heavy. He crept dowly dong Sunset; he had plenty of time to think. The conversation with
Drakeleft him feding odd. There had been afunny quality to the actual meeting. Asif it didn't redly need
to happen, asif Drake just wanted to make sure he was able to call Evansin, and Evanswould come. As
if he were assarting his authority. Or something like that.

Anyway, Evansfet, something was off.

And Evansaso fdt alittle strange about the security firm. That just didn’t ssemright. After dl, NERF
was one of the good guys. They shouldn’t be sneaking around and following people. And Drake' s
paranoid warnings were somehow not persuasive. Drake was overreacting, as he so often did.

Drake was dramatic by nature. He couldn’t help it. Everything was acriss, everything was desperate,
everything was vitdly important. Helived in aworld of extreme urgency, but it wasn't necessarily the real
world.

Evans cdled his office, but Heather had gone for the day. He called Lowenstein’ s office and spoke to
Lisa “Ligen,” hesaid, “I need your help.”

Her voice was lower, conspiratorid. “Of course, Peter.”

“My apartment was robbed.”

“No—you, too?’

“Yes, me, too. And | reslly need to talk to the police—"

“WEéll, yes, you certainly do—my goodness—did they take anything?’

“I don't think s0,” he said, “but just to fileareport, dl that—I"m kind of busy right now, degling with
Sarah...it may go later into thenight...”



“WEell, of course, do you need meto ded with the police about your robbery?’
“Could you?" hesaid. “It would help so much.”

“Why of course, Peter,” shesad. “Leaveit to me.” She paused. When she spoke again, it wasamost a
whisper. “Isthere, ah, anything you don’t want the police to find?’

“No,” hesaid.

“I mean, it'sdl right with me, everybody in LA hasafew bad habits, otherwise we wouldn't be here—"
“No, Lisa” hesaid. “Actudly, | don’'t have any drugs, if that’swhat you mean.”

“Oh, no,” shesaid quickly. “I was't assuming anything. No pictures or anything like that”

“No, Lisa”

“Nothing, you know, underage?’

“Afrad not.”

“Okay, | just wanted to be sure.”

“Wall, thanksfor doing this. Now to get in through the door—"

“I know,” she said, “the key isunder the back mat.”

“Yes” He paused. “How’ d you know that?’

“Peter,” she said, sounding alittle offended. “'Y ou can count on me to know things.”

“All right. Well, thanks”

“Don’'t mention it. Now, what about Margo? How’ sshedoing?’ Lisasad.

“She'sfine”

“Y ou went to see her?’

“Thismorning, yes, and—"

“No, | mean at the hospitd. Didn’t you hear? Margo was coming back from the bank today and walked
inwhile her apartment was being robbed. Three robberiesin oneday! You, Margo, Sarah! What is
going on? Do you know?’

“No,” Evanssaid. “It' svery mysterious.”

“Itis”

“But about Margo...?’



“Ohyes. So | guess she decided to fight these guys, which was the wrong thing to do, and they beat her

up, maybe knocked her unconscious. She had ablack eye, | heard, and while the cops were there
interviewing her, she passed out. Got completely paralyzed and couldn’t move. And she even stopped
bresthing.”

“You'rekidding.”

“No. | had along conversation with the detective who was there. He told meit just came over her, and
she was unable to move and was dark blue before the paramedics showed up and took her to UCLA.
She' sbeeninintensive care al afternoon. The doctors are waiting to ask her about the bluering.”

“What bluering?’

“Just before she became parayzed, she was durring her words but she said something about the blue
ring, or the bluering of death.”

“Thebluering of death,” Evans said. “What does that mean?’

“They don't know. Sheisn't ableto talk yet. Does she take drugs?’

“No, she'sahedth nut,” Evans said.

“WEell, | hear the doctors say she'll be okay. It was sometemporary paraysis.”
“I'll go see her later,” he said.

“When you do, will you call me afterward? And I’ ll handle your apartment, don’t worry.”

It was dark when he got to Morton’ s house. The security people were gone; the only car parked in front
was Sarah’ s Porsche. She opened the front door when he rang. She had changed into a tracksuit.
“Everything dl right?’ he said.

“Yes” shesad. They cameinto the hallway, and they crossed to the living room. Thelights were on,
and the room was warm and inviting.

“Where are the security people?’

“They left for dinner. They'll be back.”

“Theydl l€ft?’

“They’ll be back. | want to show you something,” she said. She pulled out awand with an eectronic
meter attached to it. Sheran it over hisbody, like an airport security check. She tapped his left pocket.
“Empty it.”

The only thing in his pocket were his car keys. He dropped them on the coffee table. Sarah was running
the wand over his chedt, his jacket. She touched hisright jacket pocket, gestured for him to empty it out.

“What' sthis about?’ he said.



She shook her head, and didn’t speak.

He pulled out a penny. Set it on the counter.
Shewaved her hand: more?

Hefdt again. Nothing.

Sheran thewand over his car keys. There was a plastic rectangle on the chain, which unlocked his car
door. She pried it open with a pocket-knife.

“Hey, ligen...”

The rectangle popped open. Evans saw eectronic circuitsinsde, awatch battery. Sarah pulled out atiny
bit of eectronics hardly bigger than thetip of alead pencil. “Bingo.”

“Isthat what | think it is?’

She took the electronic unit and dropped it into a glass of water. Then she turned to the penny. She
examined it minutely, then twisted it in her fingers. To Evans ssurprise, it brokein half, reveding asmal
electronic center.

She dropped that in the glass of water, too. “Where’ syour car?’ she said.

“Outinfront.”

“We can check it later.”

Hesaid, “What' s this about?”’

“The security guys found bugson me,” shesaid. “And dl over the house. The best guessisthat wasthe
reason for the robbery—to plant bugs. And guesswhat? Y ou have bugs, too.”

He looked around. “1s the house okay?”

“The house has been dectronicaly swept and cleared. The guys found about a dozen bugs. Supposedly
it'sclean now.”

They sat together on the couch. “Whoever isdoing al this, they think we know something,” she said.
“And I’m beginning to believe they'reright.”

Evanstold her about Morton’s comments about the list.
“Hebought alig?’ shesad.

Evansnodded. “That’ swhat he said.”

“Did hesay what kind of alig?’

“No. Hewas going to tell me more, but he never got around to it.”



“Hedidn’t say anything more to you, when you were donewith him?’
“Not that | remember.”

“Going up on the plane?’

“No...”

“Atthetable, at dinner?’

“I don’t think so, no.”

“When you waked him to hiscar?’

“No, hewas singing al that time. It was sort of embarrassng, to tell you the truth. And then hegot in his
car...Wat aminute” Evanssat up. “Hedid say onefunny thing.”

“What wasthat?’
“It was some Buddhist philosophica saying. He told me to remember it.”
“What wasit?’

“I don't remember,” Evans said. “ At least not exactly. It was something like * Everything that mattersis
near where the Buddhasits.””

“George wasn't interested in Buddhism,” Sarah said. “Why would he say that to you?’
“Everything that mattersis near wherethe Buddha sits,” Evans said, repesting it again.
He was staring forward, into the mediaroom adjacent to the living room.

Directly facing them, under dramétic overhead lighting, was alarge wooden scul pture of a sested
Buddha. Burmese, fourteenth century.

Evans got up and walked into the mediaroom. Sarah followed him. The sculpture was four feet high,
and mounted on a high pedestal. Evans walked around behind the statue.

“Youthink?" Sarah said.

“Maybe.”

He ran hisfingers around the base of the Statue. There was a narrow space there, beneath the crossed
legs, but he could fed nothing. He crouched, looked: nothing. There were some wide cracks in the wood
of the statue, but nothing was there.

“Maybe movethe base?’ Evanssaid.



“It'sonrallers” Sarah said.

They did it to one Sde, exposing nothing but white carpet.
Evanssghed.

“Any other Buddhas around here?’ he said, looking around the room.
Sarah was down on her hands and knees. “Peter,” she said.

“What?’

“Look.”

He crouched down. There was aroughly one-inch gap between the base of the pedestal and the floor.
Barely visblein that gap was the corner of an envelope, attached to the inside of the pedestal .

“I'll be damned.”

“It' san envelope.”

Shedid her fingersin.

“Canyoureachit?

“I...think so...got it!”

She pulled it out. It was abusiness-size envel ope, sedled and unmarked.
“Thiscould beit,” she said, excited. “ Peter, | think we may havefound it!”
The lights went out, and the house was plunged into darkness.

They scrambled to their feet.

“What happened?’ Evans said.

“It' sokay,” she sad. “ The emergency generator will cut in at any second.”

“Actudly, itwon't,” avoicein the darkness said.

Two powerful flashlights shone directly in their faces. Evans squinted in the harsh light; Sarah raised her
hand to cover her eyes.

“May | have the envelope, please,” the voice said.
Sarah said, “No.”

Therewas amechanicd click, like the cocking of agun.



“We |l take the envelope,” the voice said. “One way or another.”

“Noyouwon't,” Sarah said.

Standing beside her, Evans whispered,” Sar-ah...”

“Shut up, Peter. They can't haveit.”

“WEell shoot if we haveto,” the voice said.

“Sarah, give them the fucking envelope,” Evans said.

“Let them takeit,” Sarah said defiantly.

“Bitch!” the voice screamed, and a gunshot sounded. Evans was embroiled in chaos and blackness.
There was another scream. One of the flashlights bounced on the floor and rolled, pointing in acorner. In
the shadows Evans saw alarge dark figure attack Sarah, who screamed and kicked. Without thinking,
Evansthrew himsdf againgt the attacker, grabbing an arm in alegther jacket. He could smell theman's

beery bregth, hear him grunting. Then someone e se pulled him off, damming him to the ground, and he
was kicked intheribs.

Herolled away, banging againgt the furniture, and then anew, deep voice held up aflashlight and said
“Moveawaynow. ” Immediatdly the attacker sopped fighting with them, and turned to this new voice.
Evans|ooked back to see Sarah, who was on the floor. Another man got up and turned toward the
flashlight.

There was a crackling sound and the man screamed and fell backward. The flashlight swung to the man
who had been kicking Peter.

“You. Down.”

The man immediately lay on the carpet.

“Face down.”

Themanrolled over.

“That' s better,” the new voice said. “Are you two dl right?’

“I'mfing” Sarah said, panting, aring into the light. “Who the hell are you?’
“Sarah,” thevoice sad. “I'm disappointed you don't recognize me.”

Just then, the lights came back up in the room.

Sarah said, “ John!”

And to Evans s astonishment, she stepped across the body of the fallen attacker to give agrateful hug to



John Kenner, professor of Geoenvironmental Engineering at MIT.
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“I think | deserve an explanation,” Evans said. Kenner had crouched down and was handcuffing the two
men lying on the floor. Thefirst man was il unconscious.

“It'samodulated taser,” Kenner said. “ Shoots a five-hundred-megahertz dart that deliversa
four-millisecond jolt that inactivates cerebellar functioning. Down you go. Unconsciousnessisimmediate.
But it only lastsafew minutes”

“No,” Evanssaid. “1 meant—"

“Why am | here?’ Kenner said, looking up with afaint smile.

“Yes” Evanssad.

“He' sagood friend of George's,” Sarah said.

“Heis?’ Evanssad. “Sincewhen?’

“Sincewedl met, awhile back,” Kenner said. “And | believe you remember my associate, Sanjong
Thapa, aswell.”

A compact, muscular young man with dark skin and a crew cut cameinto the room. As before, Evans
was struck by hisvaguely military bearing, and British accent. “Lightsare dl back on, Professor,”
Sanjong Thapa said. “Should | call the police?’

“Not just yet,” Kenner said. “ Give me ahand here, Sanjong.” Together, Kenner and his friend went
through the pockets of the handcuffed men. “As| thought,” Kenner said, straightening at last. “No
identification on them.”

“Who are they?’

“That' Il be aquegtion for the police,” he said. The men were beginning to cough, and wake up.
“Sanjong, let’s get them to the front door.” They hauled the intrudersto their feet, and haf-led,
half-dragged them out of the room.

Evanswas adonewith Sarah. “How did Kenner get in the house?’

“Hewas in the basement. He' s been searching the house most of the afternoon.”

“And why didn’'t you tel me?’

“| asked her not to,” Kenner said, walking back into the room. “I wasn't sure about you. Thisisa



complicated business.” He rubbed his hands together. “Now then, shdl we have alook at that
envelope?’

“Yes.” Sarah sat down on the couch, and tore it open. A single sheet of paper, neetly folded, wasinside.
Shedared a it in dishelief. Her facefell.

“What isit?’ Evanssaid.
Without aword, she handed it to him.

It was abill from the Edwards Fine Art Display Company of Torrance, Cdifornia, for construction of a
wooden pedestal to support astatue of a Buddha. Dated three years ago.

Fedling dgjected, Evans sat down on the couch next to Sarah.

“What?" Kenner said. “Giving up dready?”’

“I don’'t know what elseto do.”

“Y ou can begin by telling me exactly what George Morton said to you.”
“I don't remember exactly.”

“Tel mewhat you do remember.”

“Hesad it was aphilosophica saying. And it was something like, ‘ Everything that mattersis near where
the Buddhasits.””

“No. That'simpossible,” Kenner said, in adefinite tone.
“Why?

“Hewouldn’t have said that.”

“Why?'

Kenner sighed. “I should think it's self-evident. If he was giving ingtructions—which we presume he
was—hewouldn't be so inexact. So he must have said something else.”

“That'sdl | remember,” Evans said, defensively. Evans found Kenner’ s quick manner to be brusgue,
amost insulting. He was beginning not to like thisman.

“That'sdl you remember?’ Kenner said. “Let’ stry again.Where did George make this statement to
you? It must have been after you | eft the lobby.”

At first Evans was puzzled. Then he remembered: “Were you there?’

“Yes, | was. | wasin the parking lot, off to one side.”



“Why?" Evanssaid.
“WEe | discussthat later,” Kenner said. *Y ou were telling me, you and George went outside...”

“Yes” Evanssad. “We went outsde. It was cold, and George stopped singing when hefelt the cold.
We were standing on the steps of the hotel, waiting for the car.”

“Uhrhuh...”

“And when it came, he got into the Ferrari, and | was worried he shouldn’t be driving, and | asked him
about that, and George said, * Thisreminds me of a philosophical saying.” And | said, ‘What isit? And
he said. ‘ Everything that mattersis not far from where the Buddha sits.””

“Not far?” Kenner said.

“That’swhat he said.”

“All right,” Kenner said. “And a thismoment, you were...”

“Leaning over thecar.”

“The Ferrari.”

“yes”

“Leaning over. And when George told you this philosophica saying, what did you answer back?’

“| just asked him not to drive.”

“Did you repest the phrase?’

“No,” Evanssaid.

“Why not?"

“Because | wasworried about him. He shouldn’t be driving. Anyway, | remember thinking it was sort of
awkwardly phrased. * Not remote from where the Buddha sits.””

“Not remote?’ Kenner said.
“Yes” Evanssad.

“Hesaid to you, ‘ not remote? ”
“Ves”

“Muchbetter,” Kenner said. He was moving restlesdy around the room, his eyesflicking from object to
object. Touching things, dropping them, moving on.

“Why isit much better?’ Evanssaidirritably.



Kenner gestured around the room. “L ook around you, Peter. What do you see?’

“I seeamediaroom.”

“Exactly.”

“Well, | don’t understand—"

“Sit down on the couch, Peter.”

Evans sat down, still furious. He crossed hisarms over his chest and glowered at Kenner.

The doorbell rang. They were interrupted by the arrival of the police. Kenner said, “Let me handlethis.
It seader if they don’t seeyou,” and he again walked out of the room. From the hallway, they heard
severd low voices discussing the two captured intruders. It sounded al very chummy.

Evanssaid, “Does Kenner have something to do with law enforcement?”

“Not exactly.”

“What does that mean?’

“Hejust seemsto know people.”

Evans stared at her. “He knows people,” he repeated.

“Different sorts of people. Y es. He sent George off to see alot of them. Kenner has atremendoudly
wide range of contacts. Particularly in the environmenta area.”

“Isthat what the Center for Risk Analysis does? Environmental risks?’

“I'mnot sure.”

“Why is he on sabbaticd ?’

“Y ou should ask him these things.”

“Okay.”

“You don't like him, do you?’ shesad.

“I' like him fine. I just think he'saconceited asshole.”

“He svery sure of himsdlf,” shesaid.

“Assholesusudly are”

Evans got up, and walked to where he could see into the hallway. Kenner was talking to the policemen,

sgning some documents, and turning over theintruders. The police were joking with him. Standing to one
sidewasthe dark man, Sanjong.



“And what about thelittle guy with him?’

“Sanjong Thapa,” she said. “Kenner met him in Nepa when he was climbing amountain there. Sanjong
was aNepdi military officer assigned to help ateam of scientists studying soil erosion inthe Himalaya.
Kenner invited him back to the States to work with him.”

“I remember now. Kenner’samountain climber, too. And he was dmaost on the Olympic ski team.”
Evans couldn’t conced hisannoyance.

Sarah said, “He' saremarkable man, Peter. Evenif you don't like him.”

Evans returned to the couch, sat down again, folded hisarms. “Weéll, you' reright about that,” he said. “I
don't.”

“I havethe feding you' re not donethere,” shesaid. “Thelist of people who didike John Kenner isa
long one”

Evans snorted, and said nothing.

They were dtill sitting on the couch when Kenner came bounding back into the room. Hewas again
rubbing hishands. “All right,” he said. “ All the two boys have to say isthat they want to talk to alawyer,
and they seem to know one. Imagine that. But we'll know morein afew hours.” He turned to Peter. * So:
mystery solved? Concerning the Buddha?’

Evansglared a him. “No.”

“Redly? It squite straghtforward.”

“Why don’t you just tell us” Evanssaid.

“Reach your right hand out to the end table,” Kenner said.

Evans put his hand out. There were five remote controls on the table.

“Yes? hesad. “And?’

“What arethey for?’

“It samediaroom,” Evanssaid. “I think we' ve established that.”

“Yes” Kenner said. “Butwhat are they for?”

“Obvioudy,” Evanssad, “to control thetelevison, the satdllite, the DVD, the VHS, dl that.”

“Which one doeswhich?’ Kenner said.

Evans stared at the table. And suddenly he got it. “Oh my God,” he said. “Y ou’ re absolutely right.”



Hewasflipping them over, one after another.

“Thison€ stheflat pand...DVD...sadlite...high def...” He stopped. There was one more. “Lookslike
there aretwo DVD controllers.” The second one was stubby and black and had dl the usual buttons, but
it was dightly lighter than the other.

Evans pulled open the battery compartment. Only one battery wasthere. In place of the other wasa
tightly rolled piece of paper.

“Bingo,” hesad.
He took the paper out.

All that mattersis not remote from where the Buddha sits. That' s what George had said. Which meant
that this paper was | that matters.

Carefully, Evans unrolled the tiny sheet and pressed it flat on the coffee table with the hed of his hand,
smoothing out the wrinkles.

And then he stared.

The paper contained nothing but columns of numbers and words:

662262 3982293 24FXE 62262 82293  TERROR
882320 4898432 12FXE 8223254393  SNAKE
774548 9080799 02FXE 6753343433 LAUGHER
482320 5898432 22FXE 7223204393  SCORPION
ALT

662262 3982293 24FXE 62262 82293  TERROR
382320 4898432 12FXE 82232 54393  SEVER
244548 9080799 02FXE 6753343433 CONCH
482320 5898432 22FXE 7223204393  SCORPION
ALT

662262 3982293 24FXE 62262 82293  TERROR
382320 4898432 12FXE 8223254393  BUZZARD



444548 7080799 02FXE 6753343433 OLD MAN

482320 5898432 22FXE 7223204393  SCORPION
ALT

662262 3982293 24FXE 62262 82293  TERROR
382320 4898432 12FXE 8223254393 BLACK MESA
344548 9080799 02FXE 6753343433 SNARL
482320 5898432 22FXE 7223204393  SCORPION

Evanssad, “Isthiswhat everybody’ s after?’
Sarah was|ooking at the paper over hisshoulder. “I don’t get it. What doesit mean?’

Evans passed the paper to Kenner. He hardly glanced at it before he said, “No wonder they were so
desperate to get this back.”

“Y ou know what it is?’

“There' sno doubt about what it is,” Kenner said, handing the paper to Sanjong. “It’ salist of geographic
locations”

“Locations? Where?’

“WEe I haveto cdculatethat,” Sanjong said. “They’re recorded in UTM, which may mean thelisting was
intended for pilots.” Kenner saw the blank looks on the others faces. “Theworldisaglobe,” he sad,
“and maps areflat. Therefore all maps are projections of a sphere onto aflat surface. One projection is
the Universal Transverse Mercator grid, which divides the globe into six-degree grids. It was origindly a
military projection, but some pilot chartsuseit.”

Evans said, “ So these numbers are latitude and longitude in adifferent form?”’

“Correct. A military form.” Kenner ran hisfinger down the page. “It appearsto be severd dternate sets
of four locations. But in every instance the first and last locations are the same. For whatever reason...”
Hefrowned, and stared off into space.

“Isthat bad?’ Sarah said.

“I’'mnot sure,” Kenner said. “But it might be, yes.” He looked a Sanjong.

Sanjong nodded gravely. “What istoday?’ he said.

“Tuesday.”



“Then...timeisvery short.”

Kenner said, “ Sarah, we' re going to need George' s plane. How many pilots does he have?’
“Two, usudly.”

“WEll need at least four. How soon can you get them?”

“1 don’t know. Where do you want to go?’ she said.

“Chile”

“Chilel And leave when?’

“As soon as possible. Not later than midnight.”

“It'll take me sometimeto arrange—"

“Then get started now,” Kenner said. “ Timeis short, Sarah. Very short.”

Evanswatched Sarah go out of the room. He turned back to Kenner. “Okay,” he said. “1 give up.
What'sin Chile?’

“A suitablearfidd, | presume. With adequate jet fudl.” Kenner snapped hisfingers. “ Good point, Peter.
Sarah,” he called into the next room, “what kind of aplaneisit?’

“G-fivel” she caled back.

Kenner turned to Sanjong Thapa, who had taken out a small handheld computer and was tapping away
at it. “Areyou connected to Akama 7’

“yes”
“Weasl| right?’

“I’ve only checked thefirst location so far,” Sanjong said. “But yes. We need to go to Chile.”
“Then Terror is Terror?” Kenner said.

“I think s0, yes.”

Evanslooked from one man to the other. “Terror is Terror?’ he said, puzzled.

“That'sright,” Kenner said.

Sanjong said, “ Y ou know, Peter’ s got apoint.”

Evanssad, “ Areyou guys ever going to tel mewhat’ sgoing on?’



“Yes” Kenner said. “But first, you have your passport?’

“| dwayscary it

“Good man.” Kenner turned back to Sanjong. “What point?’

“I'sUTM, Professor. It'sasix-degree grid.”

“Of course!” Kenner said, sngpping hisfingersagain. “What' sthe matter with me?’

“I giveup,” Evanssaid. “What' sthe matter with you?’

But Kenner didn’t answer; he now seemed amost hyperactive, hisfingerstwitching nervoudy ashe
picked up the remote control from the table beside Peter and peered at it closdly, turning it in the light.
Finaly, he spoke.

“A sx-degreegrid,” Kenner said, “means that these locations are only accurate to athousand meters.
Roughly haf amile. That'ssmply not good enough.”

“Why?How accurate should it be?’
“Three meters,” Sanjong said. “About ten feet.”

“Assuming they areusing PPS,” Kenner said, ill squinting at the remote contral. “Inwhich case...Ah. |
thought so. It’ sthe oldest trick in the book.”

He pulled the entire back of the remote off, exposing the circuit board. He lifted that away to reved a
second folded sheet of paper. It wasthin, hardly more than tissue paper. It contained rows of numbers
and symbols.
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“All right,” Kenner said. “Thisismorelikeit.”

“And these are?’ Evans said.

“True coordinates. Presumably for the same locations.”
“TerrorisTerror?’ Evans said. He was starting to fed foolish.

Kenner said, “Y es. We retalking about Mount Terror, Peter. An inactive volcano. Y ou have heard of
it?”

1] No-”
“Wdl, we re going there.”
“Whereisit?

“I thought you' d have guessed that by now,” Kenner said. “It'sin Antarctica, Peter.”

TERROR

TO PUNTA ARENAS
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 5
9:44 P.M.

Van Nuys Airport sank beneath them. The jet turned south, crossing the flat, glowing expanse of the Los



Angeles Basin. Theflight attendant brought Evans coffee. On thelittle screen, it said 6,204 milesto
degtination. Flying time was nearly twelve hours.

The flight attendant asked them if they wanted dinner, and went off to prepareit.

“All right,” Evans said. “ Three hours ago, I’ m coming to help Sarah deal with arobbery. Now I'mflying
to Antarctica. Isn't it time somebody told me what thisis about?’

Kenner nodded. “Have you heard of the Environmenta Liberation Front? ELF?’

“No,” Evans said, shaking his head.

“Not me,” Sarah said.

“It’san underground extremist group. Supposedly made up of ex-Greenpeace and Earth First! types
who thought those organi zations had gone soft. ELF engagesin violence on behdf of environmenta
causes. They’ve burned hotelsin Colorado, houses on Long Idand, spiked treesin Michigan, torched

carsin Cdifornia”

Evans nodded. “| read about them.... The FBI and other law enforcement agencies can't infiltrate them
because the organization conssts of separate cellsthat never communicate with one another.”

“Yes” Kenner said. “ Supposedly. But cell phone conversations have been recorded. WEe ve known for
sometime that the group was going globa, planning aseries of mgjor events around the world, starting a
few daysfrom now.”

“What kind of events?’

Kenner shook his head. “That, we don’'t know. But we have reason to think they’ll be big—and
dedtructive.”

Sarah said, “What does this have to do with George Morton?’

“Funding,” Kenner said. “If ELF is preparing actions around the world, they need alot of money. The
question is, where are they getting it?”

“Are you saying George has funded an extremist group?’

“Not intentionally. ELF isacrimina organization, but even o, radica groupslike PETA fund them.
Frankly, it' sadisgrace. But the question became whether better-known environmenta groups were
funding them, too.”

“Better-known groups? Like who?’

“Any of them,” Kenner said.

“Wait aminute,” Sarah said. “ Are you suggesting that the Audubon Society and the Sierra Club fund
terrorist groups?’

“No,” Kenner said. “But I'm telling you that nobody knows exactly what any of these groups do with
their money. Becauise government oversight of foundations and charitiesis extraordinarily lax. They don't



get audited. The books don't get ingpected. Environmental groupsin the US generate haf abillion dollars
ayear. What they do with it isunsupervised.”

Evansfrowned. “And George knew this?’

“When | met him,” Kenner said, “he was dready worrying about NERF. What it was doing with its
money. It dispenses forty-four million dollarsayear.”

Evanssaid, “You're not going to tell me that NERF—"

“Not directly,” Kenner said. “ But NERF spends nearly sixty percent of its money on fund-raising. It
can't admit that, of course. It'd look bad. It gets around the numbers by contracting nearly al of itswork
to outsde direct-mail advertisers and tel ephone solicitation groups. These groups have mideading names,
like the International Wildlife Preservation Fund—that’ s an Omaha-based direct-mail organization, that in
turn outsources the work to CostaRica.”

“You'rekidding,” Evanssaid.

“No. | am not. And last year the IWPF spent six hundred fifty thousand dollars to gather information on
environmenta issues, including three hundred thousand dollarsto something called the Rainforest Action
and Support Coalition, RASC. Which turns out to be adrop box in EImira, New Y ork. And an equal
sum to Seismic Servicesin Calgary, another drop box.”

“Youmean...”

“A drop box. A dead end. That was the true basis of the disagreement between Morton and Drake.
Morton fdlt that Drake wasn't minding the store. That' swhy he wanted an external audit of the
organization, and when Drake refused, Morton got really worried. Morton is on the NERF board; he has
ligbility. So he hired ateam of private investigatorsto investigate NERF.”

“Hedid?’ Evanssad.

Kenner nodded. “ Two weeks ago.”

Evansturned to Sarah. “Did you know this?’

She looked away, then back. “Hetold mel couldn’t tell anyone.”

“Georgedid?’

“I did,” Kenner said.

“So you were behind this?’

“No, | merely consulted with George. It was hisbal game. But the point is, once you outsource the
money, you no longer control how it is spent. Or, you have deniability about how it is spent.”

“Jesus,” Evanssad. “All thistime, | just thought George was worried about the Vanutu lawsuit.”

“No,” Kenner said. “The lawsuit is probably hopeless. It isvery unlikdy it will ever goto trid.”



“But Balder said when he gets good sea-leve data—"

“Bader aready hasthe good data. He has had it for months.”

“What?’

“The data show no risein South Pacific sealevelsfor theladt thirty years.”
“What?”’

Kenner turned to Sarah. “Ishe awayslike this?’

Theflight attendant set out placemats, napkins, and silverware. “1’ve got fusilli pastawith chicken,
asparagus, and sun-dried tomatoes,” she said, “and amixed green salad to follow. Would anyonelike
wine?’

“Whitewing,” Evanssad.

“I have Puligny-Montrachet. I’ m not sure of the year, | think it's’98. Mr. Morton usualy kept *98 on
board.”

“Just give me thewhole bottle,” Evans said, trying to make ajoke. Kenner had unnerved him. Earlier in
the evening, Kenner had been excited, amost twitchy-nervous. But now, sitting on the airplane, he was
very gill. Implacable. He had the manner of a man who wastdling obvioustruths, even though none of it
was obviousto Peter. “1 had it dl wrong,” Evanssaid findly. “If what you're sayingistrue...”

Kenner just nodded Sowly.

Evansthought: HE sletting me put it together. He turned to Sarah. “Did you know this, too?’

“No,” shesaid. “But | knew something was wrong. George was very upset for the last two weeks.”

“Y ou think that’ swhy he gave that speech, and then killed himsdlf?”

“Hewanted to embarrass NERF,” Kenner said. “He wanted intense media scrutiny of that organization.
Because he wanted to stop what is about to happen.”

Thewine camein cut glass crystal. Evans gulped it, held out hisglass for more. “And what is about to
happen?’ he said.

“According to that lit, there will be four events,” Kenner said. “Infour locationsin the world. Roughly
one day apart.”

“What kind of events?’
Kenner shook his head. “We now have three good clues.”

Sanjong fingered hisnapkin. “Thisisred linen,” he said, in an awestruck tone. “And red crysta.”



“Nice, huh?’ Evanssad, draining hisglassagain.
Sarah said, “What are the clues?’

“Thefirg isthe fact that thetiming isnot exact. Y ou might think aterrorist event would be precisdly
planned, down to the minute. These events are not.”

“Maybe the group isn't that well organized.”

“1 doubt that’ s the explanation. The second clue we got tonight, and it’ s very important,” Kenner said.
“Asyou saw from thelig, there are severd aternate locations for these events. Again, you'd think a
terrorist organization would pick one location and tick to it. But this group hasn't done that.”

“Why not?’

“| assumeit reflectsthe kind of eventsthat are planned. There must be some uncertainty inherent in the
event itsalf, or in the conditions needed for it to take place.”

“Pretty vague.”

“It' smore than we knew twelve hours ago.”

“And thethird clue?’ Evans said, gesturing to the flight attendant to refill hisglass.

“Thethird clue we have had for sometime. Certain government agenciestrack the sae of restricted high
technologies that might be useful to terrorists. For example, they track everything that can beused in
nuclear weapons production—centrifuges, certain metals, and so on. They track the sale of dll
conventional high explosives. They track certain critica biotechnologies. And they track equipment that
might be used to disrupt communications networks—that generate e ectromagnetic impulses, for
example, or high-intensity radio frequencies.”

“Yes...”

“They do thiswork with neura network pattern-recognition computersthat search for regularitiesin
great masses of data—in this case, basicaly thousands of salesinvoices. About eight months ago, the
computers detected a very faint pattern that seemed to indicate acommon origin for the widely scattered
sdeof certain field and e ectronic equipment.”

“How did the computer decide that?’

“The computer doesn’'t tell you that. It just reports the pattern, which isthen investigated by agentson
the ground.”

“Am’?’

“The pattern was confirmed. ELF was buying very sophisticated high technology from companiesin
Vancouver, London, Osaka, Helsinki, and Seoul.”

“What kind of equipment?’ Evans said.

Kenner ticked them off on hisfingers. “ Fermentation tanksfor AOB primers—that’ sammonia-oxidizing



bacteria. Mid-leve particle-dispersa units, military grade. Tectonic impulse generators. Trangportable
MHD units. Hypersonic cavitation generators. Resonant impact processor assemblies.”

“I don’t know what any of that is,” Evans said.

“Few people do,” Kenner said. “Some of it’ sfairly standard environmenta technology, likethe AOB
primer tanks. They’re used in industria wastewater trestment. Some of it' s military but sold on the open
market. And some of it' shighly experimentd. But it sall expensve.”

Sarah said, “But how isit going to be used?’

Kenner shook his head. “Nobody knows. That's what we' re going to find out.”

“How do youthink it' sgoing to be used?’

“I hate to speculate,” Kenner said. He picked up abasket of rolls. “Bread, anyone?’

TO PUNTA ARENAS
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
3:01 A.M.

Thejet flew through the night.

Thefront of the cabin was darkened; Sarah and Sanjong were degping on makeshift beds, but Evans
couldn’t deep. He sat in the back, staring out the window at the carpet of clouds glowing silver inthe
moonlight.

Kenner sat opposite him. “It’ sabeautiful world, isn't it?” he said. “Water vapor isone of the distinctive
features of our planet. Makes such beauty. It' s surprising there is so little scientific understanding of how
water vapor behaves.”

1] Ra |y?1

“The amosphereisabigger mystery than anyone will admit. Smple example: No one can say for sureiif
globa warming will result in more clouds, or fewer clouds”

“Wait aminute,” Evans said. “Globa warming is going to raise the temperature, SO more moisture will
evaporate from the ocean, and more moisture means more clouds.”

“That’ soneidea. But higher temperature also means more water vapor inthe air and therefore fewer
clouds”

“Sowhichisit?’
“Nobody knows.”

“Then how do they make computer mode s of climate?’ Evanssaid.



Kenner amiled. “Asfar as cloud cover is concerned, they guess.”
“Theyguess?”

“Wadll, they don’t cdll it aguess. They cal it an estimate, or parameterization, or an gpproximation. But if
you don’t understand something, you can’'t gpproximeateit. You'reredly just guessing.”

Evansfdt the beginnings of aheadache. He said, “I think it’stime for meto get some deep.”

“Good idea,” Kenner said, glancing at hiswatch. “We till have another eight hours before we land.”

The flight attendant gave Evans some pgjamas. He went into the bathroom to change. When he came
out, Kenner was il Sitting there, staring out the window at the moonlit clouds. Against his better
judgment, Evans said, “ By theway. Y ou said earlier that the Vanutu lawsuit won't go to tria.”

“Thet’sright.”

“Why not? Because of the searlevel data?’

“In part, yes. It'shard to clam globa warming isflooding your country if sealevelsaren't rising.”

“It shard to believe sealevelsaren’t rising,” Evans said. “ Everything you read saysthat they are. All the
televison reports...”

Kenner said, “Remember African killer bees? There wastak of them for years. They’ re here now, and
apparently there’ s no problem. Remember Y 2K? Everything you read back then said disaster was
imminent. Went on for months. But in the end, it just wasn't true.”

Evansthought that Y 2K didn’t prove anything about sealevels. Hefelt an urge to argue that point, but
found himsdf suppressng ayawn.

“It' slate,” Kenner said. “We can talk about al thisin the morning.”

“You're not going to deep?’

“Not yet. | have work to do.”

Evans went forward to where the others were degping. He lay down acrossthe aide from Sarah, and
pulled the covers up to his chin. Now hisfeet were exposed. He sat up, wrapped the blanket around his
toes, and then lay down again. The blanket only came to mid-shoulder. He thought about getting up and
asking theflight attendant for another.

And then he dept.

He awoketo harsh, glaring sunlight. He heard the clink of slverware, and smelled coffee. Evans rubbed
his eyes, and sat up. In the back of the plane, the others were eating breakfast.



Helooked at hiswatch. He' d dept for more than six hours.
He walked to the back of the plane.

“Befter eat,” Sarah said, “weland in an hour.”

They stepped out onto the runway of Marso del Mar, shivering in the chill wind that whipped in off the
ocean. The land around them was low, green, marshy, and cold. In the distance Evans saw the jagged,
snow-covered spires of the El Fogararange of southern Chile.

“| thought thiswas summer,” he said.
“Itis” Kenner said. “Late spring, anyway.”

Theairfield congsted of a smal wooden terminal, and arow of corrugated sted hangars, like oversize
Quonset huts. There were seven or eight other aircraft on thefield, al four-engine prop planes. Some had
skisthat were retracted above the landing whedls.

“Right ontime,” Kenner said, pointing to the hills beyond the airport. A Land Rover was bouncing
toward them. “Let’sgo.”

Insdethelittle termind, which waslittle more than asingle large room, itswalls covered with faded,
stained air charts, the group tried on parkas, boots, and other gear brought by the Land Rover. The
parkaswere adl bright red or orange. “I tried to get everybody’ ssizeright,” Kenner said. “Make sure you
take long johns and microfleece, too.”

Evans glanced at Sarah. She was Sitting on the floor, pulling on heavy socks and boots. Then she
unselfconscioudy stripped down to her bra, and pulled afleece top over her head. Her movements were
quick, businesdike. Shedidn’'t look at any of the men.

Sanjong was saring at the charts on the wall, and seemed particularly interested in one. Evans went
over. “What isit?’
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“It’ sthe record from the weather station at Punta Arenas, near here. It' sthe closest city to Antarcticain
theworld.” He tapped the chart and laughed. “ There' syour globa warming.”

Evansfrowned at the chart.

“Finish up, everybody,” Kenner said, glancing at hiswatch. “Our plane leavesin ten minutes.”
Evanssad, “Where exactly are we going?’

“To the base nearest Mount Terror. It's called Weddell Station. Run by New Zealanders.”
“What' sthere?”

“Not much, mate,” the Land Rover driver said, and he laughed. “But the way the weather’ s been latdly,
you'll belucky if you can get there at dl.”

TOWEDDELL STATION




WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
3:04 A.M.

Evans stared out the narrow window of the Hercules. The vibration of the props made him deepy, but
he was fascinated by what he saw beneath him—mile after mile of gray ice, avista broken by intermittent
fog, and the occasiond outcrop of black rock. It was amonochromatic, sunlessworld. And it was huge.
“Enormous,” Kenner said. “ People have no perspective on Antarctica, because it appears asafringe at
the bottom of most maps. But in fact, Antarcticais amajor festure on the Earth’ s surface, and amajor
factor in our climate. It'sabig continent, one and ahdf times the size of either Europe or the United
States, and it holds ninety percent of dl theice on the planet.”

“Ninety percent?” Sarah said. “Y ou mean there’ sonly ten percent in the rest of the world?’

“Actudly, since Greenland hasfour percent, al the other glaciersin the world—Kilimanjaro, the Alps,
the Himalaya, Sweden, Norway, Canada, Siberia—they al account for six percent of the planet’sice.
The overwhelming mgority of the frozen water of our planet isin the continent of Antarctica. In many
placestheiceisfive or sx milesthick.”

“No wonder they’ re concerned that theice hereismdlting,” Evans said.

Kenner said nothing.

Sanjong was shaking his head.

Evans said, “ Come on, guys. Antarcticais mdting.”

“Actudly, it'snot,” Sanjong said. “I can give you the references, if you like.”

Kenner said, “While you were adeep, Sanjong and | were talking about how to clarify thingsfor you,
snceyou seemto be s0ill-informed.”

“Il-informed?’ Evanssaid, siffening.

“1 don’t know what else onewould call it,” Kenner said. “Y our heart may bein theright place, Peter,
but you smply don't know what you' re talking about.”

“Hey,” hesad, controlling hisanger. “ Antarcticais mdting.”

“Y ou think repetition makes something true? The data show that one rdatively smdl areacaled the
Antarctic Peninsulais melting and calving huge icebergs. That' swhat gets reported year after year. But
the continent asawhole is getting colder, and theiceis getting thicker.”

“Antarcticais gettingcolder?”

Sanjong had taken out alaptop and was hooking it up to asmall portable bubble jet printer. He flipped
open hislaptop screen.



“What we decided,” Kenner said, “isthat we' re going to give you references from now on. Becauseit's
too boring to try and explain everything to you.”

A shest of paper began to buzz out of the printer. Sanjong passed it to Evans.

Doran, P. T., Priscy, J. C,, Lyons, W. B., Wdsh, J. E., Fountain, A. G., McKnight, D. M.,
Moorhead,D. L., Virginia, R. A., Wdll, D. H., Clow, G. D., Fritsen, C. H., McKay, C. P., and Parsons,
A.N., 2002, “ Antarctic climate cooling and terrestrial ecosystem response,” Nature 415: 517—-20.

From 1986 to 2000 central Antarctic valleys cooled .7° C per decade with serious ecosystem damage
from cold.

Comiso, J. C., 2000, “Variahility and trendsin Antarctic surface temperatures fromin Stuand sadlite
infrared measurements,” Journd of Climate 13: 1674-96.

Both satdllite data and ground stations show dight cooling over the last 20 years.

Joughin, 1., and Tulaczyk, S., 2002, “ Positive mass balance of the Ross |ce Streams, West Antarctica,”
Science 295: 476-80.

Side-looking radar measurements show West Antarcticiceisincreasing at 26.8 gigatons/yr. Reversng
the melting trend of the last 6,000 years.

Thompson, D. W. J., and Solomon, S., 2002, “ Interpretation of recent Southern Hemisphere climate
change” Science 296: 895-99.

Antarctic peninsula has warmed severd degrees while interior has cooled somewhat. | ce shelves have
retrested but seaice hasincreased.

Petit, J. R., Jouzd, J., Raynaud, D., Barkov, N. |., Barnola, J-M., Basile, 1., Bender, M., Chappellaz,
J, Davis, M., Delaygue, G., Delmotte, M., Kotlyakov, V. M., Legrand, M., Lipenkov, V.Y ., Lorius,
C., Pepin, L., Ritz, C., Sdtzman, E., and Stievenard, M., 1999, “ Climate and atmospheric history of the
past 420,000 years from the VVostok ice core, Antarctica,” Nature 399: 429-36.

During thelast four interglacials, going back 420,000 years, the Earth was warmer than it istoday.

Anderson, J. B., and Andrews, J. T., 1999, “ Radiocarbon constraints on ice sheet advance and retreat
inthe Weddell Sea, Antarctica,” Geology 27: 179-82.

Less Antarctic ice has melted today than occurred during the last interglacial.

Liu, J,, Curry, J. A., and Martinson, D. G., 2004, “Interpretation of recent Antarctic seaice variability,”
Geophysical Research Letters 31: 10.1029/2003 GL018732.

Antarctic seaiice has increased since 1979.
Vyas, N. K., Dash, M. K., Bhandari, S. M., Khare, N., Mitra, A., and Pandey, P. C., 2003, “On the

secular trendsin seaiice extent over the antarctic region based on OCEANSAT-1 MSMR
observations,” Internationd Journd of Remote Senaing 24: 2277-87.



Trend toward more seaice may be accelerating.

Parkinson, C. L., 2002, “Trendsin the length of the southern Ocean searice season, 1979-99,” Annds
of Glaciology 34: 435-40.

The greater part of Antarctica experiences alonger sea-ice season, lasting 21 dayslonger than it did in
1979.

“Okay, well, | seedight cooling referred to here,” Evanssaid. “1 dso see warming of the peninsula of
severd degrees. That certainly seems more sgnificant. And that peninsula sa pretty big part of the
continent, isn't it?” He tossed the paper aside. “Frankly, I’'m not impressed.”

Sanjong said, “ The peninsulais two percent of the continent. And frankly, | am surprised that you did
not comment on the most significant fact in the datayou were given.”

“Whichis?”

“When you said earlier that the Antarctic ismelting,” Sanjong said, “were you aware that it has been
meting for the lastsix thousand years?”

“Not specificdly, no.”

“But generdly, you knew that?’

“No,” Evanssaid. “| wasn't aware of that.”

“Y ou thought that the Antarctic meting was something new?’
“I thought it was melting faster than previoudy,” Evanssaid.
“Maybe we won't bother anymore,” Kenner said.

Sanjong nodded, and started to put the computer away.

“No, no,” Evanssaid. “I'm interested in what you have to say. I’'m not closed-minded about this. I'm
ready to hear new information.”

“Youjust did,” Kenner said.

Evans picked up the sheet of paper again, and folded it carefully. He dipped it into his pocket. “ These
studies are probably financed by the cod industry,” he said.

“Probably,” Kenner said. “I’m sure that explainsit. But then, everybody’ s paid by somebody. Who
paysyour sdary?’

“My law firm.”
“And who paysthem?’

“Theclients. We have severa hundred clients.”



“Y ou do work for dl of them?’

“Me, personaly? No.”

“Infact, you do most of your work for environmenta clients,” Kenner said. “Isn’t thet true?’

“Mostly. Yes”

“Would it befair to say that the environmenta clients pay your sdlary?’ Kenner said.

“Y ou could make that argument.”

“I'm just asking, Peter. Would it befair to say environmentalists pay your salary?’

“yes”

“Okay. Then would it befair to say the opinions you hold are because you work for environmentaists?’
“Of course not—"

“Y ou mean you're not apaid flunky for the environmental movement?’

“No. Thefactis—"

“You're not an environmenta stooge? A mouthpiece for agreat fund-raising and media machine—a
multi-billion-dollar indudtry in its own right—with its own private agendathat’ s not necessarily in the
public interest?’

“God damn it—"

“Isthispissing you off?" Kenner said.

“You'redamnrightitid”

“Good,” Kenner said. “Now you know how legitimate scientistsfed when their integrity isimpugned by
dimy characterizations such asthe one you just made. Sanjong and | gave you acareful, peer-reviewed
interpretation of data. Made by severa groups of scientists from severa different countries. And your
response was firg to ignore it, and then to make an ad hominem attack. Y ou didn’'t answer the data. Y ou

didn’t provide counter evidence. Y ou just smeared with innuendo.”

“Oh, fuck you,” Evanssaid. “Y ou think you have an answer for everything. But there’ sonly one
problem: Nobody agrees with you. Nobody in the world thinks that Antarcticais getting colder.”

“These scientists do,” Kenner said. “They published the data.”
Evansthrew up hishands. “The hdl withit,” he said. “I don’t want to talk about this anymore.”
He walked to the front of the plane and sat down, crossed his arms, and stared out the window.

Kenner looked at Sanjong and Sarah. “ Anyone fed like coffee?’



Sarah had watched Kenner and Evans with a certain amount of uneasiness. Even though she had
worked for the past two yearsfor Morton, she had never shared her employer’ s passion for
environmenta issues. All during that time, Sarah had been in atempestuous, exciting relationship with a
handsome young actor. Their time together consisted of an unending series of passonate evenings, angry
confrontations, dammed doors, tearful reconciliations, jedlousies, and infiddities—and it had consumed
her more than she cared to admit. The truth was that she had paid no more attention to NERF or
Morton's other environmenta interests than the job required. At least, until the sonof-a-bitch actor
appeared in the pages of People magazine with ayoung actressfrom his TV show, and Sarah findly
decided she had had enough, erased the guy from her cell phone, and threw hersdlf into her work.

But she certainly held the same genera view about the state of the world as Evans did. Perhaps Evans
was more aggressive in gating his views, and more trusting of his assumptions, but she basicaly agreed
with him. And here was Kenner, casting doubt after doulbt.

It Ieft her wondering whether Kenner was really correct about everything he was saying. And it dso
made her wonder just how he and Morton had become friends.

She asked Kenner, “Did you have these same discussions with George?’

“Inthelast weeks of hislife, yes”

“And did he argue with you the way Evansis?’

“No.” Kenner shook his head. “ Because by then, he knew.”

“Knew what?’

They wereinterrupted by the pilot’ s voice on the intercom. “ Good news,” he said. “ The weather’s
broken over Wedddll, and we will land in ten minutes. For those of you who have never made alanding
on ice, seat belts should below and tight, and al your gear safely stowed. And we really mean it.”

The plane began adow, curving descent. Sarah looked out the window at a crusty expanse of white,
snow-covered ice. In the distance she saw a series of brightly colored buildings—red, blue, green—built

on acliff, overlooking the gray and choppy ocean.

“That'sWeddd| Station,” Kenner said.

WEDDELL STATION
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
11:04 A.M.

Trudging toward structures that |ooked like oversize children’ s building blocks, Evans kicked a clump of
iceout of hispath. He wasin agrumpy mood. He felt relentlessly bullied by Kenner, whom he now
recognized as one of those perpetua contrarians who argued againgt al conventiona wisdom, smply



becauseit was conventiondl.

But since Evans was stuck with this lunatic—at least for the next few days—he decided to avoid Kenner
asmuch as possible. And certainly not engage him in any more conversations. There was no point in
arguing with extremigts

Helooked at Sarah, walking acrosstheice airfield beside him. Her cheeks were flushed in the cold air.
Shelooked very beautiful. “1 think the guy isanut,” Evanssaid.

“Kennegr?’

“Y eah. What do you think?’

She shrugged. “Maybe.”

“I bet those references he gave me arefake,” he said.

“They’ll be easy enough to check,” she said. They samped their feet and entered thefirst building.

Weddd | Research Station turned out to be home to thirty-odd scientists, graduate students, technicians,
and support staff. Evans was pleasantly surprised to find it was quite comfortable inside, with a cheerful
cafeteria, agame room, and alarge gym with arow of treadmills. There were big picture windows with
views of the choppy, restless ocean. Other windows looked out over the vast, white expanse of the Ross
|ce Shelf, Stretching away to the west.

The head of the station greeted them warmly. He was a heavyset, bearded scientist named MacGregor
who looked like Santa Claus in a Patagonia vest. Evans was annoyed that MacGregor seemed to know
Kenner, at least by reputation. The two men immediately struck up afriendly conversation.

Evans excused himsdlf, saying he wanted to check hise-mail. He was shown to aroom with severa
computer terminals. He signed on to one, and went directly to the site for Science magazine.

It took him only afew momentsto determine that the references Sanjong had given him were genuine.
Evans read the online abstracts, and then the full text. He began to fed alittle better. Kenner had
summarized the raw data correctly, but he had drawn a different interpretation from that of the authors.
The authors of those papers were firmly committed to the idea of globa warming—and said sointhe
text.

Or a least, most of them did.

It was abit complicated. In one paper, it was clear that even though the authors gave lip service to the
threat of globa warming, their data seemed to suggest the opposite of what they were saying in the text.
But that apparent confusion, Evans suspected, was probably just the result of drawing up apaper with
half adozen authors. What theysaid was they supported the idea of globa warming. And that was what
counted.

More disturbing was the paper on the increase in ice thickness in the Ross | ce Shelf. Here Evansfound
some troubling points. Firgt, the author did say that the shelf had been mdting for the last x thousand
years, ever since the Holocene era. (Though Evans could not remember reading, in any article about



melting Antarctic ice, that it had been going on for the last six thousand years.) If that weretrue, it wasn't
exactly news. On the contrary, the author suggested that the real news was the end of thislong-term
melting trend, and thefirst evidence of ice thickening. The author was hinting thet this might be the first
sgn of the start of the next Ice Age.

Jesus!

Thenextlce Age?

There was aknock on the door behind him. Sarah stuck her head in. “Kenner wantsus,” she said.
“He s discovered something. Looks like we re going out on theice.”

The map covered the entire wall, showing the enormous, star-shaped continent. In the lower right-hand
corner was Weddd | Station, and the curving arc of the Ross I ce Shelf.

“We velearned,” Kenner said, “that asupply ship docked five days ago bringing boxes of fidld materid
for an American scientist named James Brewster, from the University of Michigan. Brewster isavery
recent arrival who was permitted to come at the last minute because the terms of his research grant were
unusually generousin their allowance for overhead—meaning the station would get some much-needed
money for operations.”

“So he bought hisway in?” Evans said.

“In effect.”

“When did he get here?’

“Last week.”

“Whereishe now?’

“Outinthefied.” Kenner pointed to the map. “ Somewhere south of the dopes of Mount Terror. And
that’ swherewe regoing.”

“You say thisguy’ sascientist from Michigan?’ Sarah sald.

“No,” Kenner said. “We just checked with the university. They have a Professor James Brewster, dll
right. He' sageophysicist a the University of Michigan, and right now he' sin Ann Arbor waiting for his
wifeto ddiver ababy.”

“Sowhoisthisguy?’

“Nobody knows.”

“And what was his offloaded equipment?’ Evans said.

“Nobody knowsthat, either. It was helicoptered out to the field, still inthe original crates. Theguy’s

been out there aweek with two so-called graduate students. Whatever he' sdoing, he' s apparently
working across alarge area, so he moves his base camp frequently. Nobody here knows precisely



whereheis.” Kenner lowered hisvoice. “One of the graduate students came back yesterday to do some
computer work. But we won't use him to lead us out there, for obvious reasons. WE |l use one of the
gtaff people at Wedddl, Jmmy Bolden. He svery knowledgeable.

“The weather’ stoo dicey for helicopters, so we have to take snow-tracks. It' s seventeen milesto the
camp. The snowtracks should get ustherein two hours. The outside temperature’ s perfect for springtime
in Antarctica—minus twenty-five degrees Fahrenheit. So, bundle up. Any questions?’

Evans glanced at hiswatch. “Won't it get dark soon?”

“We have much less nighttime now that spring is here. We |l have daylight al the time we' re out there.

The only problem we faceisright here,” Kenner said, pointing to the map. “We have to cross the shear
zone”

THE SHEAR ZONE
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
12:09 P.M.

“The shear zone?’” Jmmy Bolden said, asthey trudged toward the vehicle shed. “ There snothing to it.
You just haveto be careful, that'sdl.”

“But what isit?” Sarah said.

“It sazonewheretheiceis subjected to laterd forces, shear forces, abit like theland in Cdifornia. But
instead of having earthquakes, you get crevasses. Lots of 'em. Deep ones.”

“We haveto cross that?”’

“It'snot aproblem,” Bolden said. “ Two years ago they built aroad that crossesthe zone safely. They
filled in al the crevasses aong the road.”

They went into the corrugated stedl shed. Evans saw arow of boxy vehicles with red cabs and tractor
treads. “ These are the snowtracks,” Bolden said. “ Y ou and Sarah’'ll go in one, Dr. Kenner in one, and
I’ll bein thethird, leading you.”

“Why can't wedl goinone?’

“Standard precaution. Keep the weight down. Y ou don’t want your vehicleto fall through into a
crevase.”

“I thought you said there was aroad where the crevasses werefilled in?’

“Thereis. But theroad ison anicefield, and theice moves a couple of inches aday. Which meansthe
road moves. Don’t worry, it’s clearly marked with flags.” Bolden climbed up onto the tread. “Here, let
me show you the features of the snowtrack. Y ou driveit like aregular car: clutch there, handbrake,
accelerator, steering whedl. Y ou run your heater on this switch here—" he pointed to aswitch “—and
keepitonat dl times. It will maintain the cab at around ten above zero. This bulgey orange beacon on



the dashboard is your transponder. It turns on when you push this button here. It dso turnson
automaticaly if the vehicle shifts more than thirty degreesfrom horizontd.”

“You mean if wefdl into acrevasse” Sarah said.

“Trust me; that isn’t going to happen,” Bolden said. “I’ m just showing you the festures. Transponder
broadcasts a unique vehicle code, so we can come and find you. If for any reason you need to be
rescued, you should know the average time to rescueistwo hours. Y our food is here; water here; you
have enough for ten days. Medicd kit here, including morphine and antibiotics. Fire extinguisher here,
Expedition equipment in this box—crampons, ropes, carabiners, dl that. Space blankets here, equipped
with mini heaters; they’ |l keep you above freezing for aweek, if you crawl ingde’em. That's about it.
We communicate by radio. Speaker in the cab. Microphone above the windshield.
Voice-activated—just talk. Got it?’

“Got it,” Sarah said, climbing up.

“Then let’s get started. Professor, you clear on everything?’

“I am,” Kenner said, climbing up into the adjacent cab.

“Okay,” Bolden said. “ Just remember that whenever you are outsde your vehicle, it isgoing to be thirty
below zero. Keep your hands and face covered. Any exposed skin will get frogtbite in less than aminute.
Five minutes, and you' rein danger of losing anatomy. We don’'t want you folks going home without al
your fingers and toes. Or noses.”

Bolden went to the third cab. “We proceed singlefile,” he said. “ Three cab-lengths apart. No closer
under any circumstances, and no farther. If astorm comes up and visibility drops, we maintain the same
distance but reduce our speed. Got it?’

They dl nodded.

“Thenlet'sgo.”

At thefar end of the shed, a corrugated door rolled up, theicy meta screeching. Bright sunlight outside.

“Looks like abeautiful day in the neighborhood,” Bolden said. And with a sputter of diesd exhaugt, he
drove the first snowtrack out through the door.

It was abouncing, bone-jolting ride. Theicefield that had looked so flat and featurelessfrom a distance
was surprisingly rugged when experienced up close, with long troughs and steep hillocks. Evansfelt like
hewasin aboat, crashing through choppy seas, except of course this seawas frozen, and they were
moving dowly throughiit.

Sarah drove, her hands confident on the whedl. Evans sat in the passenger seat beside her, clutching the
dashboard to keep his balance.

“How fast are we going?’

“Looks like fourteen milesan hour.”



Evans grunted as they nosed down a short trench, then up again. “We ve got two hours of this?’
“That’ swhat he said. By theway, did you check Kenner’ s references?’

“Yes” Evanssad, inasulky voice.

“Were they made up?’

“No.”

Their vehiclewasthird in the row. Ahead was Kenner’ s snowtrack, following behind Bolden'sin the
lead.

Theradio hissed. “Okay,” they heard Bolden say, over the speaker. “Now we re coming into the shear
zone. Maintain your distance and stay within theflags.”

Evans could see nothing different—it just looked like moreice field, glistening in the sun—but here there
were red flags on both sides of the route. The flags were mounted on six-foot-high posts.

Asthey moved deeper into the field, he looked beyond the road to the openings of crevassesintheice.
They had adeep blue color, and seemed to glow.

“How deep arethey?’ Evanssaid.

“The deepest we' ve found isakilometer,” Bolden said, over theradio. “ Some of them are athousand
feet. Most are afew hundred feet or less”

“They dl havethat color?’

“They do, yes. But you don’t want a closer look.”

Despite the dire warnings, they crossed thefield in safety, leaving the flags behind. Now they saw to the
left adoping mountain, with white clouds.

“That' s Erebus,” Bolden said. “It’san active volcano. That' s sseam coming from the summit. Sometimes
it lobs chunks of lava, but never thisfar out. Mount Terror isinactive. Y ou seeit ahead. That little dope.”

Evans was disappointed. The name, Mount Terror, had suggested something fearsome to him—not this
gentle hill with arocky outcrop at the top. If the mountain hadn’t been pointed out to him, he might not
havenoticed it at dll.

“Why isit cdled Mount Terror?” hesaid. “It’ snot terrifying.”

“Has nothing to do with that. The first Antarctic landmarks were named after the shipsthat discovered
them,” Bolden said. “Terror was gpparently the name of aship in the nineteenth century.”

“Wher€ sthe Brewster camp?’ Sarah said.



“Should be visible any minute now,” Bolden said. “ So, you people are some kind of inspectors?’

“We'refromthel ADG,” Kenner said. “ The international inspection agency. We' re required to make
surethat no US research project violates the international agreements on Antarctica.”

“Uh-huh...”

“Dr. Brewster showed up so quickly,” Kenner went on, “he never submitted his research grant proposa
for IADG approvad. Sowe |l check inthefidd. It' sjust routine.”

They bounced and crunched onward for several minutesin silence. They ill did not seeacamp.

“Huh,” Bolden said. “Maybe he moved it.”

“What type of research ishe doing?’ Kenner said.

“I’'m not sure,” Bolden said, “but | heard he!' s studying the mechanics of ice calving. Y ou know, how the
iceflowsto the edge, and then breaks off the shelf. Brewster’ s been planting GPS unitsin theiceto
record how it movestoward the sea.”

“Arewe closeto the sea?’ Evanssaid.

“About ten or eleven milesaway,” Bolden said. “ To the north.”

Sarah sad, “If he' s studying iceberg formation, why ishe working so far from the coast?’

“Actudly, thisisn't so far,” Kenner said. “ Two years ago an iceberg broke off the Ross Shelf that was
four mileswide and forty mileslong. It was as big as Rhode Idand. One of the biggest ever seen.”

“Not because of global warming, though,” Evans said to Sarah, with adisgusted snort. “ Globa warming
couldn’t be responsible for that. Oh no.”

“Actudly, it wasn't reponsible,” Kenner said. “ It was caused by local conditions.”

Evanssghed. “Why am | not surprised?’

Kenner said, “ There' s nothing wrong with the idea of local conditions, Peter. Thisis acontinent. It would
be surprising if it didn’'t have its own digtinctive weether patterns, irrespective of globa trendsthat may or
may not exig.”

“And that’ svery true,” Bolden said. “ There are definitely locd patterns here. Like the katabatic winds.”

“Thewhat?’

“Katabatic winds. They’re gravitational winds. Y ou’ ve probably noticed that it' salot windier here than
intheinterior. Theinterior of the continent isrelatively cam.”

“What' sagravitationad wind?’ Evanssaid.

“Antarctica’ sbadcaly onebig ice dome,” Bolden said. “Theinterior is higher than the coast. And
colder. Cold air flows downhill, and gathers speed as it goes. It can be blowing fifty, eighty miles an hour



when it reaches the coast. Today isnot abad day, though.”
“That'sardlief,” Evanssaid.

And then Bolden said, “ See there, dead ahead. That' s Professor Brewster’ s research camp.”

BREWSTER CAMP
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
2:04 P.M.

It wasn't much to look at: apair of orange domed tents, one small, one large, flapping in the wind. It
looked like the large one was for equipment; they could see the edges of boxes pressing againgt the tent
fabric. From the camp, Evans could see orange-flagged units stuck into the ice every few hundred yards,
in aline dretching away into the distance.

“We Il stop now,” Bolden said. “I’m afraid Dr. Brewster’ s not here at the moment; his snowtrack is
gone.”

“I'll just have alook,” Kenner said.

They shut the engines and climbed out. Evans had thought it was chilly in the cab, but it was ashock to
fed the cold air hit him as he stepped out onto theice. He gasped and coughed. Kenner appeared to
have no reaction; he went straight for the supply tent and disappeared inside.

Bolden pointed down the line of flags. “Y ou see his vehicle tracks there, parald to the sensor units? Dr.
Brewster must have gone out to check hisline. It runsamost a hundred milesto the west.”

Sarah said, “ A hundred miles?’

“That' sright. He hasingtaled GPSradio unitsal aong that distance. They transmit back to him, and he
records how they move with theice.”

“But there wouldn'’ t be much movement...”

“Not in the course of afew days, no. But these sensorswill remain in place for ayear or more. Sending
back the data by radio to Weddell.”

“Dr. Brewdter isstaying that long?’

“Ohno, he'll go back, I'm sure. It stoo expensve to keep him here. Hisgrant dlowsaninitial
twenty-one-day stay only, and then monitoring visits of aweek every few months. But we' |l be
forwarding hisdatato him. Actualy, we just put it up on the Internet; he takes it wherever he happensto
m”

“ S0 you assign him a secure web page?”’

“Exactly.”



Evans stamped hisfeet in the cold. “ So, is Brewster coming back, or what?’

“Should be coming back. But | couldn’t tell you when.”

From within the tent, Kenner shouted, “Evang!”

“I guesshewantsme.”

Evans went to the tent. Bolden said to Sarah, “ Go ahead with him, if you want to.” He pointed off to the
south, where clouds were darkening. “We don't want to be staying here too long. Looks like weather
coming up. We have two hours ahead of us, and it won’'t be any fun if it socksin. Vishility dropsto ten
feet or less. We' d have to stay put until it cleared. And that might be two or three days.”

“I'll tell them,” she said.

Evans pushed the tent flap aside. The interior glowed orange from the fabric. There were the remains of
wooden crates, broken down and stacked on the ground. On top of them were dozens of cardboard
boxes, al stenciled identically. They each had the University of Michigan logo, and then green lettering:

Universty of Michigan

Dept. of Environmenta Science
Contents: Research Materias
Extremdy Sengtive

HANDLE WITH CARE
ThisSideUp

“Looksofficid,” Evanswas saying. “You surethisguy isn't an actua research scientist?”’

“Seefor yoursdf,” Kenner said, opening one cardboard carton. Within it, Evans saw a stack of plastic
cones, roughly the size of highway cones. Except they were black, not orange. “Y ou know what these
ae?’

“No.” Evans shook his head.

Sarah came into the tent. “ Bolden says bad weather coming, and we shouldn’t stay here.”

“Don’'t worry, wewon't,” Kenner said. “ Sarah, | need you to go into the other tent. Seeif you can find
acomputer there. Any kind of computer—Iaptop, lab controller, PDA—anything with a microprocessor
init. And seeif you can find any radio equipment.”

“Y ou mean transmitters, or radiosfor ligening?’

“Anything with an antenna.”

“Okay.” Sheturned and went outsde again.



Evans was gill going through the cartons. He opened three, then afourth. They dl contained the same
black cones. “I don't get it.”

Kenner took one cone, turned it to the light. In raised lettering it said: “Unit
PTBC-XX-904/8776-AW203 USDOD.”

Evanssad, “These are military?’

“Correct,” Kenner said.

“But what arethey?’

“They’ re the protective containers for coned PTBS.”

“PTBS?

“Precision-timed blasts. They’ re explosives detonated with millisecond timing by computer in order to
induce resonant effects. Theindividua blasts are not particularly destructive, but the timing setsup

standing waves in the surrounding materid. That's where the destructive power comes from—the
ganding wave.”

“What' sastanding wave?’ Evanssaid.

“Y ou ever watch girls play jump rope?Y es? Well, if instead of spinning the rope, they shakeit up and
down, they generate loopy wavesthat travel dong the length of the rope, back and forth.”

“Okay..."

“But if the girls shake it just right, the waves appear to stop moving back and forth. The rope takeson a
sngle curved shape and holdsit. Y ou’ ve seen that? Well, that’ s a standing wave. It reflects back and
forth in perfect synchronization so it doesn’'t seem to move.”

“And these explosives do that?’

“Yes. In nature, standing waves areincredibly powerful. They can shake a suspension bridge to pieces.
They can shatter a skyscraper. The most destructive effects of earthquakes are caused by standing
waves generated in the crust.”

“So Brewster’ sgot these explosives...setinarow...for ahundred miles? Isn’t that what Bolden said?
A hundred miles?’

“Right. And | think there’ sno question what he intends. Our friend Brewster is hoping to fracture theice
for ahundred miles, and bresk off the biggest iceberg in the history of the planet.”

Sarah stuck her head in.
Kenner said, “Did you find a computer?’

“No,” shesaid. “There s nothing there. Nothing at al. No deeping bag, no food, no persond effects.
Nothing but a bare tent. The guy’ sgone.”



Kenner swore. “All right,” he said. “Now, listen carefully. Here' swhat we are going to do.”

TOWEDDELL STATION
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
2:22 P.M.

“Oh no,” Jmmy Bolden said, shaking hishead. “I’m sorry, but | can’t dlow that, Dr. Kenner. It' stoo
dangerous.”

“Why isit dangerous?’ Kenner said. “Y ou take these two back to the station, and I'll follow Brewster’s
snowtracks until 1 meet up with him.”

“No, gr, we dl stay together, Sir.”
“Jmmy,” Kenner said firmly, “we re not going to do that.”
“With al due respect, sir, you don’t know your way around this part of theworld...”

“Youforget, | aman IADG ingpector,” Kenner said. “| wasresdent in Vostok Station for sx monthsin
the winter of *99. And | wasresident in Morval for three monthsin’91. | know exactly what I’ m doing.”

“Geg, | don't know...”

“Cadl back to Weddell. The gtation chief will confirmiit.”

“Wdl, gr, if you put it that way...”

“I do,” Kenner said firmly. “Now get these two people back to base. Timeiswasting.”

“Okay, if you'll beall right...” Bolden turned to Evans and Sarah. “Then | guess we go. Mount up,
folks, and we Il head out.”

Within minutes, Evans and Sarah were jouncing along on the ice, following behind Bolden' s snowtrack.
Behind them, Kenner was driving parale to the line of flags, heading east. Evans |looked back just intime
to see Kenner stop, get out, check one of the flags briefly, then get back in again and drive on.

Bolden saw it, too. “What ishe doing?’ he said in an anxioustone.

“Just looking at the unit, | guess.”

“He shouldn’t be getting out of hisvehicle,” Bolden said. “And he shouldn’t be done on the shelf. It's
againd regulations”

Sarah had the fedling Bolden was about to turn back. She said, “1 can tell you something about Dr.
Kenner, Jmmy.”

“What' sthat?’



“Y ou don’'t want to make him mad.”

“Redly?”

“No, Jmmy. Youdon't.”

“Well...okay then.”

They drove on, climbing along rise, descending on the other Sde. Brewster’ s camp was gone, and so
was Kenner’ s snowtrack. Ahead lay the vast white field of the Ross Ice Shelf, stretching away to the

gray horizon.

“Two hours, folks,” Bolden said. “ And then ahot shower.”

Thefirst hour passed uneventfully. Evans started to fall adeep, only to be jolted awake by the sharp
movements of the vehicle. Then hewould drift off again, his head nodding until the next shock.

Sarah was driving. He said to her, “Aren’t you tired?’
“No, not a al,” shesaid.

The sun was now low on the horizon, and obscured by fog. The landscape was shades of pae gray,
with amost no separation between land and sky. Evans yawned. “Want meto take over?’

“I'vegoat it, thanks.”
“I’'magood driver.”
“I know you are.”

He was thinking she had a definite bossy side, despite her charm and her beauty. She was the kind of
woman who would want to control the remote.

“I bet you want the remote,” he said.

“You think s0?7" She amiled.

It wasirritating in a certain way, he thought, that she did not take him serioudy asaman. At least, not as
aman she could beinterested in. In truth, shewas alittle too cool for histaste. A littletooice blond. A
little too controlled, benesth that beautiful exterior.

Theradio clicked. Bolden said, “1 don’t like this weather coming in. We better take a shortcut.”

“What shortcut?’

“It' sonly haf amile, but it' [l save twenty minutes on our time. Follow me.” He turned his snowtrack I eft,
leaving the packed snow road, and heading off onto theice fields.



“Okay,” Sarah said. “Right behind you.”

“Good work,” Bolden said. “We re still an hour from Weddedll. | know thisroute, it' s a piece of cake.
Just stay directly behind me. Not to the left or right, but directly behind, you understand?’
“Got it,” Sarah said.

“Good.”

In amatter of minutes, they had moved severa hundred yards from the road. Theice there was bare and
hard, the treads of the snowtracks scratching and squeaking asthey crossed it.

“You'reonicenow,” Bolden said.

“| noticed.”

“Won't belong now.”

Evans was looking out the window. He could no longer seethe road. In fact, he wasn't sure anymorein
which direction it lay. Everything now looked the same. He felt anxious suddenly. “We reredly inthe
middle of nowhere.”

The snowtrack did lateraly alittle, acrosstheice. He grabbed for the dashboard. Sarah immediately
brought the vehicle back under control.

“Jeez,” Evanssaid, clinging to the dashboard.

‘Areyou anervous passenger?’ shesad.

“Maybealittle”
Too bad we can’'t get some music. Isthere any way to get music?’ she asked Bolden.
“You should,” Bolden said. “Wedde | broadcasts twenty-four hours. Just aminute.” He stopped his

snowtrack, and walked back to their stopped vehicle. He climbed up on the tread and opened the door,

inablast of freezing air. “ Sometimes you get interference from this,” he said, and unclipped the
transponder from the dash. “ Okay. Try your radio now.”

Sarah fiddled with the receiver, twisting the knob. Bolden walked back to hisred cab, carrying the
transponder. His diesel engine spit acloud of black exhaust as he put the snowtrack in gear.

“Y ou think they’ d be alittle more ecologicaly minded,” Evans said, looking at the exhaust as Bolden's
snowtrack chugged forward.

“I’m not getting any music,” Sarah said.
“Never mind,” Evanssaid. “1 don't care that much.”

They drove another hundred yards. Then Bolden stopped again.

“Now what?’ Evans said.



Bolden climbed out of hisvehicle, waked to the back of it, and looked at his own treads.

Sarah was dill fiddling with the radio. Punching the buttonsfor the different transmission frequencies, she
got bursts of static for each.

“I’m not sure thisisan improvement,” Evans said. “ Just let it go. Why have we stopped, anyway?’
“I don’'t know,” Sarah said. “He seemsto be checking something.”
Now Bolden turned and looked back at them. He didn’t move. He just stood there and stared.

“Should we get out?” Evanssaid.

The radio crackled and they heard “—is Weddell CM to—401. Areyou there, Dr. Kenner? Weddell
CM to—Kenner. Can you hear—7?’

“Hey,” Sarah said, amiling. “1 think wefindly got something.”

The radio hissed and sputtered.

“—just found Jmmy Bolden unconscious in—maintenance room. We don’'t know who is—out there
with—but it’ snot—"

“Oh shit,” Evanssaid, saring a the man in front of them. “That guy’ s not Bolden? Who ishe?’

“I don’t know, but he’ sblocking theway,” Sarah said. “And he swaiting.”

“Waiting for what?’

Therewas aloudcrack! from beneath them. Inside the cab, the sound echoed like agunshot. Their
vehide shifted dightly.

“Screw this,” Sarah said. “We re getting out of here, even if | have to ram the bastard.” She put the

snowtrack in gear, and Sarted to back away from the vehiclein front of them. She shifted, starting the
snowtrack forward again.

Anothercrack!
“Let’'sgo!” Evanssad. “Let’'sgo! ”

Crack! Crack! Their vehicle lurched beneath them, tilted Sideways at an angle. Evanslooked out at the
guy pretending to be Bolden.

“It'stheice,” Sarah said. “He swaiting for our weight to break through.”

“Ram him!” Evans said, pointing ahead. The bastard was making some hand gesture to them. It took him
amoment for Evansto understand what it meant. Then he got it.



The man was waving goodbye.

Sarah ssomped on the accelerator and the engine rumbled forward, but in the next moment the ground
gave way completely beneath them, and their vehicle nosed down. Evans saw the blue-ice wdll of a
crevasse. Then the vehicle began to tumble forward, and they were encased for an instant in aworld of
eerie blue before they plunged onward into the blackness below.

SHEAR ZONE
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
3:51 P.M.

Sarah opened her eyes and saw a huge blue starburst, streaks radiating outward in al directions. Her
forehead wasicy cold, and she had terrible pain in her neck. Tentatively, she shifted her body, checking
each of her limbs. They hurt, but she could move dl of them except her right leg, which was pinned under
something. She coughed and paused, taking stock. She was lying on her side, her face shoved up against
the windshield, which she had shattered with her forehead. Her eyeswerejust inches from the fractured
glass. She eased away, and dowly looked around.

It was dark, akind of twilight. Faint light coming from somewhere to her left. But she could seethat the
whole cab of the snowtrack waslying onits sSide, the treads up againgt theice wall. They must have
landed on aledge of some kind. She looked upward—the mouth of the crevasse was surprisingly close,
maybe thirty or forty yards above her. It was near enough to give her aburst of encouragement.

Next she looked down, trying to see Evans. But it was dark everywhere benegath her. She couldn’t see
him at al. Her eyes dowly adjusted. She gasped. She saw her true Situation.

Therewas no ledge.

The snowtrack had tumbled into the narrowing crevasse, and wedged itself sideways within the crevasse
walls. The treads were against onewall, the roof of the cab against the other, and the cab itself was
suspended over the inky downward gash. The door on Evans's side hung open.

Evanswas not in the cab.

He had fallen out.

Into the blackness.

“Peter?’

No answer.

“Peter, can you hear me?’

She listened. There was nothing. No sound or movement.

Nothing a all.



And then theredlization hit her: She was ad one down there. A hundred feet down in afreezing crevasse,
inthe middle of atracklessicefield, far off theroad, milesfrom anywhere.

And sheredized, with achill, that thiswas going to be her tomb.

Bolden—or whoever he was—had planned it very well, Sarah thought. He had taken their transponder.
He could drive afew miles, drop it down the deepest crevasse he could find, and then go back to the
base. When the rescue parties set out, they would head for the transponder. 1t would be nowhere near
where shewas. The party might search for daysin adeep crevasse before giving up.

And if they widened the search? They till wouldn't find the snowtrack. Even though it was only about
forty yards below the surface, it might aswell be four hundred yards below. It was too deep to be seen
by apassing helicopter, or even avehicle asit drove by. Not that any vehicle would. They would think
the snowtrack had gone off the marked road, and they would search along the edge of the road. Not
way out here, inthe middle of theicefield. The road was seventeen mileslong. They would spend days
searching.

No, Sarah thought. They would never find her.

And even if she could get hersdlf to the surface, what then? She had no compass, no map, no GPS. No
radio—it lay smashed beneath her knee. She didn’t even know in what direction Wedddl Station might
be from her present location.

Of course, she thought, she had a bright red parka that would be visible from a distance, and she had
supplies, food, equipment—all the equipment that guy had talked about, before they set out. What wasit,
exactly? She vaguely remembered something about climbing supplies. Crampons and ropes.

Sarah bent down, managed to free herself from atoolbox that had pinned her foot to the floor, and then
crawled to the rear of the cab, balancing carefully to avoid the gaping, wide-open door beneath her. In
the perpetud twilight of the crevasse, she saw the supply locker. It was crumpled dightly from the
impact, and she couldn’t get it open.

She went back to the toolbox, opened it, took out a hammer and a screwdriver, and spent the better
part of the next half hour trying to pry the locker open. At last, with a metallic screech, the door swung
wide. She peered inside.

The locker was empty.

No food, no water, no climbing supplies. No space blankets, no heaters.

Nothing at all.

Sarah took adeep bregth, let it out dowly. She remained calm, refusing to panic. She considered her
options. Without ropes and crampons, she could not get to the surface. What could she useinstead? She



had a toolbox. Could she use the screwdriver as an ice axe? Probably too small. Perhaps she could
disassembl e the gearshift and make an ice axe out of the parts. Or perhaps she could take apart some of
the tread and find partsto use.

She had no crampons, but if she could find sharp pointed things, screws or something like that, she could
push them through the soles of her boots and then climb. And for arope? Some sort of cloth

perhaps. .. She looked around the interior. Maybe she could tear the fabric off the seats? Or cut it off in
grips? That might work.

In thisway, she kept her spirits up. She kept hersalf moving forward. Even if her chance of success was
gmall, therewas sill achance. A chance.

She focused on that.

Where was Kenner? What would he do when he heard the radio message? He probably had, aready.
Would he come back to WedddI? Almost certainly. And hewould look for that guy, the one they
thought of as Bolden. But Sarah was pretty sure that guy had disappeared.

And with his disappearance, her hopes for rescue.

The crysta of her watch was smashed. She didn’t know how long she had been down there, but she
noticed that it was darker than before. The gap above her was not as bright. Either the weather on the
surface was changing, or the sun waslow on the horizon. That would mean she had been down therefor
two or three hours aready.

She was aware of astiffening in her body—not just from thefall, but also, she redlized, because she was
cold. The cab had logt its hedt.

It occurred to her that perhaps she could start the motor, and get heat going. It was worth atry. She
flicked on the headlights, and one of them worked, glaring off theice wall. So there was il eectricity
from the battery.

Sheturned the key. The generator made agrinding sound. The engine did not kick on.

And she heard avoiceyel, “Hey!”

Sarah looked up, toward the surface. She saw nothing but the gap and the strip of gray sky beyond.
“Hey!”

She squinted. Was somebody redly up there? She yelled back: “Hey! I'm down herel”

“I know where you are,” the voice said.

And then she redlized the voice was coming frombelow her.



Shelooked down, into the depths of the crevasse.

“Peter?’ shesad.

“I'mfucking freezing,” he said. Hisvoice floated up from the darkness.

“Areyou hurt?’

“No, | don't think so. I don't know. | can’t move. I’'m wedged in somekind of cleft or something.”
“How far down areyou?’

“I don't know. | can’t turn my head to look up. I'm stuck, Sarah.” His voice trembled. He sounded
frightened.

“Canyoumoveat dl?’ shesad.

“Just onearm.”

“Can you see anything?’

“Ice. | seeabluewal. It's about two feet away.”

Sarah was straddling the open door, peering down into the crevasse, straining to see. It was very dark
down there. But it seemed asif the crevasse narrowed quickly, farther down. If o, he might not be that
far beneath her.

“Peter. Move your arm. Can you move your arm?’

“yes”

“Waveit.”

“lam.”

She didn’'t see anything. Just darkness.

“Okay,” shesaid. “ Stop.”

“Did you seeme?’

“No.”

“Shit.” He coughed. “It' sredly cold, Sarah.”

“I know. Hang on.”

She had to find away to see down into the cleft. She looked under the dashboard, near where the fire



extinguisher was clipped to the car wall. If there was afire extinguisher, there was probably aflashlight
there, too. They would be sure to have aflashlight. ..someplace.

Not under the dashboard.

Maybe the glove compartment. She opened it, shoved her hand in, fegling in the darkness. Crunching
paper. Her fingers closed around athick cylinder. She brought it out.

It wasaflashlight.

Sheflicked it on. It worked. She shone it down into the depths of the crevasse.
“| seethat,” Peter said. “| seethelight.”

“Good,” shesaid. “Now swing your arm again.”

“l'am.”

“Now?’

“I’'mdoing it now.”

She stared. “ Peter, | don't see—wait aminute.” Shedid see him—just thetips of hisfingersintheir red
gloves, protruding briefly beyond the tractor treads, and theice below.

“Peter.”

“What.”

“You'revery near me,” shesad. “Just five or six feet below me.”
“Gregt. Can you get me out?’

“I could, if I had arope.”

“There' snorope?’ he said.

“No. | opened the supply chest. There' snothing at al.”

“But it'snot in the supply chest,” he said. “It’sunder the seet.”
“What?’

“Yeah, | saw it. Theropes and stuff are under the passenger seat.”

Shelooked. The seat was on a steel base anchored firmly to the floor of the snowtrack. There were no
doors or compartmentsin the base. It was difficult to maneuver around the seat to see, but she was sure:
no doors. On asudden impulse, shelifted up the seat cushion, and saw acompartment benegth it. The
light of her flashlight revealed ropes, hooks, snow axes, crampons...



“Gotit,” shesad. “Youwereright. It' sdl here”

“Whew,” hesaid.

She brought the equipment out carefully, making sure none of it fell through the open door. Already her
fingers were growing numb, and she felt dumsy as she held afifty-foot length of nylon ropewith a
three-pronged ice hook at one end.

“Peter,” shesad. “If | lower arope, canyou grab it?’

“Maybe. | think s0.”

“Can you hold the ropetight, so | can pull you out?’

“I don’'t know. | just have the one arm free. The other one’s pinned under me.”

“Areyou strong enough to hold the rope with onearm?’

“I don’'t know. | don’t think so. | mean, if | got my body partway out, and lost my grip...” Hisvoice
broke off. He sounded on the verge of tears.

“Okay,” shesad. “Don’t worry.”

“I'mtrapped, Sarah!”

“No, you'renot.”

“I'am, I’'m trapped, I’m fucking trapped!” Now there was panic. “I’m going to die here!”

“Peter. Stop.” She was coiling the rope around her waist as she spoke. “It’ sgoing to be dl right. | have
aplan”

“What plan?’

“I’m going to lower an ice hook on therope,” she said. “Can you hook it onto something? Like your
belt?’

“Not my belt...No. I’'m wedged in here, Sarah. | can’t move. | can't reach my belt.”

Shewastrying to visudize his situation. He must be wedged in some sort of cleft intheice. It was
frightening just to imagine it. No wonder he was scared. “ Peter,” she said, “can you hook it onto

anything?”
“I'll try.”

“Okay, hereit comes,” she said, lowering the rope. The hook disappeared into the darkness. “Do you
eeit?”

“l seeit.”



“Canyoureachit?
“No.”

“Okay, I'll swing it toward you.” Sheturned her wrist gently, Starting theropein alateral swing. The
hook vanished out of sight, then swung back, then out of sight again.

“I can't...keep doing it, Sarah.”

“l'am.”

“| can't get it, Sarah.”

“Keeptrying.”

“It hasto belower.”

“Okay. How much lower?’

“About afoot.”

“Okay.” Shelowered it afoot. “How’ sthat?’

“Good, now swingit.”

Shedid. She heard him grunting, but each time the hook swung back into view.
“l can't doit, Sarah.”

“Yesyou can. Keep trying.”

“I can't. My fingers aretoo cold.”

“Keeptrying,” shesad. “Hereitisagan.”

“I can't, Sarah, | can't...Hey!”

“What?’

“| dmost got it.”

L ooking down, she saw the hook spinning when it came back into view. He d touched it.
“Oncemore,” shesaid. “You'll doit, Peter.”

“I’'mtrying, it' sjust | have so little—I got it, Sarah.l got it! ”

Shegavealong sgh of relief.



He was coughing in the darkness. She waited.
“Okay,” hesaid. “1 got it hooked on my jacket.”
“Where?’

“Right on the front. Just on my chest.”

Shewas visuaizing that if the hook ripped free, it would tear right into his chin. “No, Peter. Hook it on
thearmpit.”

“| can’t, unless you pull me out a couple of feet.”
“Okay. Say when.”
He coughed. “Ligten, Sarah. Are you strong enough to pull me out?’

She had avoided thinking about that. She just assumed that somehow she could. Of course shedidn’t
know how hard hewaswedged in, but..."Yes,” shesaid. “l candoit.”

“Areyou sure? | weigh ahundred and sixty.” He coughed again. “Maybe alittle more. Maybe ten
more.”

“I've got you tied off on the steering whed.”

“Okay, but...don’t drop me.”

“1 won't drop you, Peter.”

There was a pause. “How much do you weigh?’

“Peter, you never ask alady that question. Especidly inLA.”

“WerenotinLA.”

“I don’t know how much | weigh,” she said. Of course she knew exactly. She weighed a hundred and
thirty-seven pounds. He weighed over thirty pounds more than that. “But | know | can pull you up,” she
sad. “Areyou ready?’

“Shit.”

“Peter, are you ready or not?’

“Yeah. Go.”

She drew the rope tight, then crouched down, planting her feet firmly on either side of the open door.
Shefdt like asumo wrestler at the start of amatch. But she knew her legs were much stronger than her

arms. Thiswas the only way she could do it. She took a deep breath.

“Ready?’ shesad.



“I guess”

Sarah began to stand upright, her legs burning with effort. The rope stretched taut, then moved
upward—dowly at fird, just afew inches. But it was moving.

It was moving.

“Okay, stop. Stop!”

“What?’

“Stop!”

“Okay.” Shewasin mid-crouch. “But | can't hold thisfor long.”
“Don'tholditat dl. Letit out. Sowly. About three feet.”

Sheredized that she must have aready pulled him part of theway out of the cleft. His voice sounded
better, much less frightened, though he was coughing dmost continuoudly.

“Peter?’

“Minute. I'm hooking it on my belt.”

“Okay..."

“1 can seeup now,” hesaid. “I can seethetread. Thetread is about six feet above my head.”
“Okay.”

“But when you pull me up, the rope’ sgoing to rub on the edge of thetread.”
“It'll be okay,” shesaid.

“And I’ll be hanging right over the, uh...”

“I won't let you go, Peter.”

He coughed for awhile. Shewaited. He said, “ Tell me when you're ready.”
“I'm ready.”

“Then let’ sget thisover with,” he said, “before | get scared.”

There was only one bad moment. She had pulled him up about four feet, and he came free of the cleft,
and she suddenly took the full weight of hisbody. It shocked her; the rope did three feet down. He
howled.



1] %._d,]! ”

She gripped the rope, stopped it. “ Sorry.”

“Fuck!”

“Sorry.” She adjusted to the added weight, started pulling again. She was groaning with the effort but it
was not long before she saw his hand appear above the tread, and he gripped it, and began to haul
himsalf over. Then two hands, and his head appeared.

That shocked her, too. His face was covered in thick blood, his hair matted red. But he was smiling.

“Keep pulling, sgter.”

“I am, Peter. | am.”

Only after hefindly had scrambled into the cab did Sarah sink to the floor. Her legs began to shake
violently. Her body trembled dl over. Evans, lying on hisside, coughing and wheezing beside her, hardly
noticed. Eventualy the trembling passed. She found the first-aid kit and began to clean hisface up.

“It' sonly asuperficid cut,” shesaid, “but you'll need stitches.”

“If we ever get out of here...”

“We'll get out, dl right.”

“I'm glad you' re confident.” He looked out the window &t theice above. “Y ou done much ice
dimbing?’

She shook her head. “But I” ve done plenty of rock climbing. How different can it be?’
“More dippery? And what happens when we get up there?” he said.

“I don’t know.”

“We have no ideawhereto go.”

“Well follow the guy’ s snowtracks.”

“If they’' re till there. If they haven't blown away. And you know it' s at least seven or eight milesto
Wedddl.”

“Peter,” shesad.
“If astorm comes up, maybe we' re better off down here.”

“I’'mnot gaying here,” shesad. “If I’'m going to die, I'll diein daylight.”



The actual climb up the crevasse wall was not so bad, once Sarah got used to the way she had to kick
her boots with the crampons, and how hard she had to swing the axe to make it bite into theice. It took
her only seven or eight minutesto cover the distance, and clamber onto the surface.

The surface looked exactly the same as before. The same dim sunlight, the same gray horizon that
blended with the ground. The same gray, featuredlessworld.

She heped Evans up. His cut was bleeding again, and his mask wasred, frozen stiff againgt hisface.
“Shitit'scold,” he said. “Which way, do you think?’

Sarah waslooking at the sun. It was low on the horizon, but wasit sinking, or risng? And which
direction did the sun indicate, anyway, when you were at the South Pole? She frowned: She couldn’t
work it out, and she didn’t dare make amistake.

“We ll follow thetracks,” she said at last. Shetook off her crampons and started walking.

She had to admit, Peter was right about one thing: It was much colder here on the surface. After half an
hour, the wind came up, blowing strongly; they had to lean into it as they trudged forward. Worse, the
snow began to blow across the ground beneath their feet. Which meant—

“We'reloging thetracks” Evanssaid.

“I know.”

“They’ re getting blown away.”

“Iknow. ” Sometimes he was such a baby. What did he expect her to do about the wind?

“What do we do?’ he said.

“I don’'tknow, Peter. I’ ve never been lost in Antarctica before.”

“Wél, meneither.”

They trudged onward.

“But it was your ideato come up here”

“Peter. Pull yoursdf together.”

“Pull mysdlf together? It’ sfucking freezing, Sarah. | can't fed my nose or my ears or my fingersor my
toesor—"

“Peter.” She grabbed him by the shoulders and shook him.* Shut up!”

Hewas silent. Through dotsin hisfacemask, he stared out at her. His eyelashes were white with ice.

“I can't fed my nose either,” Sarah said. “We haveto keep agrip.”



Shelooked around, turning afull circle, trying to conceal her own growing desperation. The wind was
blowing more snow now. It was becoming harder to see. The world wasflatter and grayer, with amost
no sense of depth. If this weather continued, they would soon not be able to see the ground well enough

to avoid the crevasses.

Then they would have to stop where they were.

Inthemiddle of nowhere.

Hesaid, “Y ou're beautiful when you' re angry, you know that?’
“Peter, for Christ’s sake.”

“Wdl, you are”

She started walking, looking down at the ground, trying to see the tread marks. “Come on, Peter.”
Perhaps the tracks would return soon to the road. If they did, the road would be easier to follow ina

gorm. And safer for walking.

“I think I'mfdling inlove, Sarah.”

“Peter...”

“I had to tdll you. Thismay be my last chance.” He Started coughing again.

“Saveyour breath, Peter.”

“Fucking freezing.”

They stumbled on, no longer speaking. The wind howled. Sarah’ s parka was pressed flat against her
body. It became harder and harder to move forward. But she pressed on. She did not know how much

longer she continued in that way before she raised ahand, and stopped. Evans must not have been able
to see her, because he walked into her back, grunted, and stopped.

They had to put their heads together and shout to hear each other above the wind.
“We haveto stop!” sheyelled.

“I know!”

And then, because she didn’t know what € se to do, she sat down on the ground and pulled her legs up
and lowered her head to her knees, and tried not to cry. Thewind grew louder and louder. Now it was
shrieking. The air wasthick with flying snow.

Evans sat down beside her. “We re going to fucking die,” he said.
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She garted shivering, little tremulous burgts at first, and then amost continuoudy. Shefdt asif shewere
having a seizure. From skiing, she knew what that meant. Her core temperature had dropped
dangeroudy, and the shivering was an automatic physiologica attempt to warm her body up.

Her teeth chattered. It was hard to spesk. But her mind was still working, still looking for away out.
“Isn’'t there away to build a snow house?’

Evans said something. The wind whipped hiswords away.
“Do you know how?’ she said.
Hedidn't answer her.

But it wastoo late, anyway, she thought. She was losing control of her body. She could hardly even
keep her arms wrapped around her knees, the shaking was so bad.

And she was starting to fedl deepy.
She looked over at Evans. Hewaslying on hisside on theice.

She nudged him to get up. She kicked him. He didn’t move. She wanted to yell at him but she couldn't,
because her teeth were chattering so badly.

Sarah fought to retain consciousness, but the desire to deep was becoming overpowering. She struggled
to keep her eyes open and, to her astonishment, began to see swift scenesfrom her life—her childhood,
her mother, her kindergarten class, ballet lessons, the high school prom...

Her whole life was passing before her. Just like the books said happened, right before you died. And
when shelooked up, she saw alight in the distance, just like they said happened. A light at theend of a
long, dark tunnd....

She couldn’t fight it any longer. She lay down. She couldn’t fedl the ground anyway. Shewaslost in her
own, private world of pain and exhaugtion. And the light before her was growing brighter and brighter,
and now there were two other lights, blinking yellow and green...

Y dlow and green?

She fought the deepiness. Shetried to push herself upright again, but she couldn’t. Her muscleswere too
weak, her arms blocks of frozen ice. She couldn’t move.

Y dlow and green lights, growing larger. And awhite light in the center. Very white, like halogen. She
was Starting to see details through the swirling snow. Therewas asilver dome, and wheels, and large
glowing letters. Theletters said—

NASA.

She coughed. The thing emerged from the snow. It was some kind of small vehicle—about three feet



high, no larger than those Sunday lawn-mowersthat people drove around on. It had big whedsand a
flattened dome, and it was beeping asit came directly toward her.

Infact, it was going to drive right over her. Sheredlized it without concern. She could do nothing to
prevent it. Shelay on the ground, dazed, indifferent. Thewhedlsgrew larger and larger. Thelast thing she

remembered was amechanical voice saying, “Hello. Hello. Please move out of the way. Thank you very
much for your cooperation. Hello. Hello. Please move out of theway...”

And then nothing.

WEDDELL STATION
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 6
8:22 P.M.

Darkness. Pain. Harsh voices.

Pain.

Rubbing. All over her body, armsand legs. Likefire rubbed on her body.
She groaned.

A voice spoke, rasping and distant. It sounded like " Coffee grounds.”

The rubbing continued, brisk and harsh and excruciating. And a sound like sandpaper—scratching,
rough, terrible.

Something struck her in the face, on the mouth. She licked her lips. It was snow. Freezing snow.
“Coudnsset?’ avoicesad.
1] N(xj w y.H

It was aforeign language, Chinese or something. Sarah heard severa voices now. Shetried to open her
eyes but could not. Her eyes were held shut by something heavy over her face, like amask, or—

Shetried to reach up, but couldn’t. All her limbswere held down. And the rubbing continued, rubbing,
rubbing...

She groaned. She tried to spesk.
“Thin song now whore nod?’
“Donthinsong.”

“Kee pub yar wok.”



Pain.

They rubbed her, whoever they were, while she lay immobilized in darkness, and gradualy more
sensation returned to her limbs and to her face. She was not glad for it. The pain grew worse and worse.
Shefdt asif she were burned everywhere on her body.

The voices seemed to float around her, disembodied. There were more of them now. Four, five—she
was not sure anymore. All women, it sounded like.

And now they were doing something else, sheredized. Violating her. Sticking something in her body.
Dull and cold. Not painful. Cold.

The voicesfloated, dithered al around her. At her head, at her feet. Touching her roughly.

It was adream. Or death. Maybe she was dead, she thought. She felt oddly detached about it. The pain
made her detached. And then she heard awoman’svoicein her ear, very closeto her ear, and very
diginct. Thevoicesad:

“Sarah.”

She moved her mouth.

“Sarah, are you awake?’

She nodded dightly.

“I am going to take the icepack off your face, dl right?’

She nodded. The weight, the mask was lifted.

“Open your eyes. Sowly.”

Shedid. Shewasin adimly lit room with whitewalls. A monitor to one Side, atangle of green lines. It
was like ahospital room. A woman looked down at her with concern. The woman wore awhite nurse's
uniform and adown vest. The room was cold. Sarah could see her breath.

Shesaid, “Don't try to spesk.”

Sarah didn't.

“You're dehydrated. It'Il be afew hoursyet. We re bringing your temperature up dowly. Y ou're very
lucky, Sarah. Y ou're not going to lose anything.”

Not lose anything.

Shefelt darmed. Her mouth moved. Her tongue was dry, thick fegling. A sort of hissng sound came
from her throat.

“Don’t speak,” the woman said. “It’stoo soon. Isyour pain bad? Yes?I’ll give you something for it.”
Sheraised asyringe. “Y our friend saved your life, you know. He managed to get to hisfeet, and open
the radio-phone on the NASA robot. That’ s how we knew whereto find you.”



Her lipsmoved.
“He sin the next room. Wethink he'll be al right, too. Now just rest.”
Shefdt something cold in her veins,

Her eyes closed.

WEDDELL STATION
THURSDAY, OCTOBER 7
[:34 P.M.

The nurses|eft Peter Evans aone to get dressed. He put on his clothes dowly, taking stock of himsaif.
Hewasal right, he decided, though hisribs hurt when he breathed. He had abig bruise on the left side of
his chest, another big bruise on histhigh, and an ugly purple welt on hisshoulder. A line of gitcheson his
scalp. Hiswhole body was stiff and aching. It was excruciating to put on his socks and shoes.

But hewasal right. In fact, better than that—he felt new somehow, amost reborn. Out there on theiice,
he had been certain he was going to die. How he found the strength to get to hisfeet, he did not know.
He had felt Sarah kicking him, but he did not respond to her. Then he’ d heard the beeping sound. And
when he looked up, he saw the letters“NASA.”

He d redized vaguely that it was somekind of vehicle. So there must be adriver. Thefront tires had
stopped just inches from his body. He managed to get to hisknees, and haul himself up over thetires,
grabbing onto the struts. He hadn’t understood why the driver hadn’t climbed out and helped him.
Finaly, he managed to get to hiskneesin the howling wind. He redlized that the vehicle was low and
bulbous, barely four feet off the ground. It was too smal for any human operator—it was some kind of
robot. He scraped snow away from the dome-like shell. Thelettering read, “NASA Remote Vehicle
Meteorite Survey.”

The vehicle was talking, repeating ataped voice over and over. Evans couldn’t understand what it was
saying because of the wind. He brushed away the snow, thinking there must be some method of
communication, Some antenna, some—

Then hisfingers had touched apand with afinger hole. He pulled it open. Inside he saw atelephone—a
regular telephone handset, bright red. He held it to his frozen mask. He could not hear anything fromiit,
but hesad, “Hello? Hello?’

Nothing more.

He collapsed again.

But the nurses told him what he had done was enough to send asignal to the NASA dtation at Patriot
Hills. NASA had notified Wedddll, who sent out a search party, and found them in ten minutes. They
were both till dive, barely.



That had been more than twenty-four hours ago.

It had taken the medica team twelve hoursto bring their body temperatures back to normal, because,
the nurse said, it had to be done dowly. They told Evans he was going to befine, but he might lose a
couple of histoes. They would have to wait and see. It would be afew days.

Hisfeet were bandaged with some kind of protective splints around the toes. He couldn’t fit into his

regular shoes, but they had found him an oversized pair of sneskers. They looked like they belonged to a

basketba| player. On Evans, they made huge clown feet. But he could wear them, and there wasn't
much pain.

Tentatively, he sood. He was tremulous, but hewasdl right.
The nurse came back. “Hungry?’

He shook his head. “Not yet.”

“Pan?’

He shook his head. “ Just, you know, everywhere.”

“That'll get worse,” she said. She gave him asmall bottle of pills. “Take one of these every four hoursif
you need it. And you'll probably need it to deep, for the next few days.”

“And Sarah?”’

“Sarah will be another haf hour or s0.”

“Where' sKenner?’

“I think he sin the computer room.”

“Which way isthat?’

She said, “Maybe you better lean on my shoulder...”

“I'mfing” hesad. “Just tell metheway.”

She pointed, and he started walking. But he was more unsteady than he realized. His muscles weren't

working right; hefelt shaky dl over. He started to fall. The nurse quickly ducked, diding her shoulder
under hisarm.

“Tdl youwhat,” shesaid. “I'll just show you theway.”

Thistime he did not object.

Kenner sat in the computer room with the bearded station chief, MacGregor, and Sanjong Thapa.
Everybody was looking grim.



“Wefound him,” Kenner said, pointing to acomputer monitor. “ Recognize your friend?’

Evanslooked at the screen. “Yeah,” he said. “That' s the bastard.”

On the screen was a photo of the man Evans knew as Bolden. But the ID form onscreen gave his name
as David R. Kane. Twenty-six years old. Born Minnegpolis. BA, Notre Dame; MA, University of
Michigan. Current Status. PhD candidate in oceanography, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor. Research

Project: Dynamics of Ross Shelf Flow as measured by GPS sensors. Thesis Advisor/Project Supervisor:
James Brewster, University of Michigan.

“Hisname sKane,” the Weddell chief said. “He' s been here for aweek, along with Brewster.”
“Whereishe now?’ Evanssaid darkly.

“Noidea. He didn’t come back to the Station today. Neither did Brewster. We think they may have
gone to McMurdo and hopped the morning transport out. We have acall in to McMurdo to do avehicle
count, but they haven't gotten back to usyet.”

“You'resure he snot ill here?’ Evans said.

“Quite sure. Y ou need an ID tag to open the exterior doors here, so we aways know who' swhere.
Neither Kane nor Brewster opened any doorsin the last twelve hours. They aren't here.”

“So you think they may be on the plane?’

“McMurdo Tower wasn't sure. They're pretty casual about the daily transport—if somebody wants to
go, they just hop on and leave. It'sa C-130, so there' s aways plenty of room. Y ou see, alot of the
research grants don’t permit you to leave during the period of your research, but people have birthdays
and family events back on the mainland. So they just go, and come back. It s unrecorded.”

“If I recdl,” Kenner said, “ Brewster came here with two graduate students. Where s the other one?’

“Interesting. He left from McMurdo yesterday, the day you arrived.”

“Sothey all got out,” Kenner said. “ Got to give them credit: They’resmart.” He looked at hiswatch.
“Now let’sseewhat, if anything, they left behind.”

The name on the door said “Dave Kane, U. Mich.” Evans pushed it open, and saw asmall room, an
unmade bed, asmall desk with amessy stack of papers, and four cans of Diet Coke. Therewasa
suitcase lying open in the corner.

“Let’'sget sarted,” Kenner said. “1’ll take the bed and the suitcase. Y ou check the desk.”

Evans began to go through the papers on the desk. They all seemed to be reprints of research articles.
Some were stampe u mich geo lib followed by anumber.

“Window dressing,” Kenner said, when he was shown the papers. “ He brought those papers with him.
Anything e se? Anything persond ?’



Evansdidn’'t see anything of interest. Some of the papers were highlighted in yellow marker. There was
agtack of 3-by-5 notecards, with some notes written on them, but they seemed to be genuine, and
related to the stack of papers.

“Y ou don't suppose thisguy isredly agraduate sudent?’

“Could be, though | doubt it. Eco-terrorists aren’t usualy well educated.”

Therewere pictures of glacier flows, and satellite images of various sorts. Evans shuffled through them
quickly. Then he paused a one:



SS006.ESC1.03003375 SCORPION B



What caught his eye wasthe caption. “Listen,” he said, “on that list of four locations, wasn't one of them
called * Scorpion’?’

“Yes...”
“It'sright here, in Antarctica,” Evanssaid. “Look at this”

Kenner started to say, “But it can’'t be—" and abruptly broke off. “Thisis extremely interesting, Peter.
Wil done. It wasin that stack? Good. Anything €lse?’

Despite himsdlf, Evansfelt pleased by Kenner’ s approval. He searched quickly. A moment later he said,
“Y es. There' sanother one.”

SS006.ESC1.03003375 SCORPION B

“It’ sthe same basic pattern of rock outcropsin the snow,” Evans said, excitedly. “And, | don’t know
about these faint lines....roads? Rocks covered in snow?’

“Yes” Kenner said. “I think that’samost certainly correct.”

“And if they're aeria photographs, there must be away to trace them. Do you think these numbers are
references of somekind?’



“There sno question.” Kenner pulled out asmall pocket magnifying glass, and scanned the image,
peering closdly. “Yes, Peter. Very well done.”

Evans beamed.

From the doorway, MacGregor said, “Y ou found something? Can | help?’

“I don't think so,” Kenner said. “We |l deal with this oursalves.”

Evanssad, “But maybe hewill recognize—"

“No,” Kenner said. “WEe Il get the ID off the NASA imagefiles. Let’s continue.”

They searched in silence for several minutes more. Kenner took out a pocketknife and began cutting the
lining of the suitcase lying open in the corner of Brewster’ s office. “Ah.” He straightened. In hisfingers, he
held two curved arcs of pale rubber.

“What arethose?’ Evanssaid. “Silicon?’

“Or something very similar. A kind of soft plagtic, at any rate.” Kenner seemed very pleased.
“Whet'rethey for?” Evanssaid.

“I havenoidea,” Kenner said. He resumed his search of the suitcase. Privately, Evans wondered why
Kenner was so pleased. Probably he was not saying what he knew in front of MacGregor. But what
could two hits of rubber mean, anyway? What could they be used for?

Evans went through the documents on the desk a second time, but found nothing more. He lifted the
desk lamp and looked under the base. He crouched down and looked under the desk, in case something
was taped there. He found nothing.

Kenner closed the suitcase. “As| thought, nothing more. We were very lucky to find what we did.” He
turned to MacGregor. “Where' s Sanjong?’

“In the server room, doing what you requested—cuitting Brewster and histeam out of the system.”

The“server room” was hardly larger than a closet. There were twin racks of processors running floor to
ceiling, and the usual mesh ceiling for cabling. There was amagter termina in theroom, on asmal| sted!
table. Sanjong was crowded in there with aWeddell technician at his side, looking frustrated.

Kenner and Evans stood outside, in the hallway. Evans was pleased that he felt steady enough to stand.
His strength was coming back quickly.

“It hasn't been easy,” Sanjong said to Kenner. “The procedure hereisto give each Wedddl| researcher

private storage space and also direct radio and Internet connections. And these three guys knew how to
take advantage of it. Apparently the third man with Brewster was the computer guy. Within aday of his
arriva, he got into the system asroot, and installed back doors and trojans al over the place. We re not
sure how many. We retrying to get them out.”



“He a0 added afew dummy user accounts,” the technician said.
“Like about twenty,” Sanjong said. “But I’m not worried about those. They’ re probably just
that—dummies. If this guy was smart—and he was—he' d have given himself accessto the system

through an existing user, so he’ d go undetected. We relooking now for any users who have added a
new secondary password in the last week. But this system doesn’t have alot of maintenance utilities. It's

dow going.

“What about the trojans?’ Kenner said. “How are they timed?’ In computer dang, atrojan was an
innocent-looking program ingtaled in the system. It was designed to wake up at alater time and carry out
some action. It derived its name from the way the Greeks won the Trojan war—by making a huge horse
and presenting it to the Trojans as a gift. Once the horse was within the walls of Troy, the Greek soliders
who had been hiding insde it came out and attacked the city.

The classic trojan was one ingtalled by adisgruntled employee. It erased dl the hard drivesin abusiness
three months after the employee wasfired. But there were many variations.

“Timing on all of theones| found hereisshort,” Sanjong said. “ One day, two days from now. We found
onethat isthree daysfrom now. Nothing after that.”

“S0. Just aswe suspected,” Kenner said.

“Exactly,” Sanjong said, nodding. “They intended it to happen soon.”

“Intended what?’ Evans said.

“The calving of the big iceberg,” Kenner said.

“Why soon? They would still have been here”

“I"'m not sure they would have. But in any case the timing was determined by something e se”
“Yes?What?' Evanssaid.

Kenner gave him alook. “Wecan gointo it later.” He turned back to Sanjong. “ And what about the
radio connects?’

“We disabled dl the direct connectsright away,” he said. “And | assume you did work on the ground at
thelocation itsdf.”

“I did,” Kenner said.

“What did you do on the ground?’ Evanssaid.
“Random disconnects.”

“Of what?’

“Tel youlater.”

“So we' reredundant,” Sanjong said.



“No. Because we can't be sure there’ s not someone e se embedded in this place who will undo our
work.”

“I'wish,” Evanssad, “I knew what the hell you guyswere talking about...”
“Later,” Kenner said. Thistime the look was sharp.

Evanswas silent. Hefdt alittle wounded.

MacGregor said, “Ms. Jonesis awake, and getting dressed.”

“All right,” Kenner said. “1 believe our work hereisdone. Whedls up in an hour.”

“To gowhere?’ Evanssaid.

“| thought that was obvious,” Kenner said. “Helsinki, Finland.”

EN ROUTE
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The plane flew back through the dazzling morning light. Sarah was deeping. Sanjong wasworking on his
laptop. Kenner stared out the window.

Evanssad, “All right, what did you disconnect randomly?’

“The cone charges,” Kenner said. “ They were laid out in aprecise pattern, four hundred meters apart. |

disconnected fifty at random, mostly dong the eastern end of the line. That will sufficeto prevent the
ganding wave from being generated.”

“S0, no iceberg?’

“Thet'stheidea”

“And why arewe going to Helsinki?’

“We renot. | only said that for the benefit of the technician. We' re going to Los Angeles.”
“Okay. And why are we going to Los Angeles?’

“Because that’ swhere the NERF Conference on Abrupt Climate Changeisbeing held.”
“Thisisal related to the conference?’

Kenner nodded.



“These guys aretrying to bresk off an iceberg to coincide with the conference?’

“Exactly. All part of any good starburst mediaplan. Y ou arrange an event with good visuals that
reinforces the point of the conference.”

“Y ou seem awfully cam about it,” Evanssaid.

“It' sthe way things are done, Peter.” Kenner shrugged. “Environmental concerns don’'t cometo the
public's attention by accident, you know.”

“What do you mean?’

“Well, take your favorite fear, globa warming. The arriva of globa warming was announced
dramaticaly by aprominent climatologist, James Hansen, in 1988. He gave testimony before ajoint
House and Senate committee headed by Senator Wirth of Colorado. Hearings were scheduled for June,
30 Hansen could deliver histestimony during ablistering heat wave. It was a setup from the beginning.”

“That doesn't bother me,” Evanssaid. “It’ slegitimate to use agovernment hearing asaway to makethe
public avare—"

“Redlly? So you' re saying that in your mind, there’ s no difference between agovernment hearing and a
press conference?’

“I"m saying hearings have been used that way many times before.”

“True. But it isunquestionably manipulative. And Hansen' stestimony was't the only insgtance of media
manipulation that’ s occurred in the course of the globa warming sales campaign. Don't forget the
last-minute changesin the 1995 IPCC report.”

“IPCC? What |ast-minute changes?’

“The UN formed the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Changein the late 1980s. That' sthe IPCC, as
you know—a huge group of bureaucrats, and scientists under the thumb of bureaucrats. The ideawas
that sncethiswasagloba problem, the UN would track climate research and issue reports every few
years. Thefirgt assessment report in 1990 said it would be very difficult to detect a human influence on
climate, adthough everybody was concerned that one might exist. But the 1995 report announced with
conviction that there was now *adiscernable human influence on climate. Y ou remember that?”

1] V@lﬂ y.”

“Wadll, the claim of ‘adiscernable human influence was written into the 1995 summary report after the
scientists themsaves had gone home. Origindly, the document said scientists couldn’t detect ahuman
influence on climate for sure, and they didn’t know when they would. They said explicitly, ‘we don’t
know.” That statement was deleted, and replaced with anew statement that a discernable human
influence did indeed exit. It wasamgor change.”

“Isthat true?’ Evanssaid.
“Y es. Changing the document caused a stir among scientists at the time, with opponents and defendants

of the change coming forward. If you read their claims and counter-clams, you can't be surewho's
telling thetruth. But thisisthe Internet age. Y ou can find the origind documents and the list of changes



online and decide for yoursdf. A review of the actud text changes makesit crysta clear that the IPCCis
apolitica organization, not ascientific one.”

Evansfrowned. He wasn't sure how to answer. He' d heard of the IPCC, of course, dthough hedidn’t
know much abouit it....

“But my questionissmpler, Peter. If somethingisred, if it isagenuine problem that requires action, why
does anybody have to exaggerate their clams? Why do there have to be carefully executed media
campaigns?’

“I can giveyou asmple answer,” Evanssaid. “ The mediais acrowded marketplace. People are

bombarded by thousands of messages every minute. Y ou have to spesk loudly—and yes, maybe
exaggerate alittle—if you want to get their attention. And try to mobilize the entireworld to Sgn the

Kyoto tresty.”

“Wadll, let’ s consder that. When Hansen announced in the summer of 1988 that globa warming was
here, he predicted temperatures would increase .35 degrees Celsius over the next ten years. Do you
know what the actua increase was?’

“I'msureyou’ |l tedl meit waslessthan that.”

“Muchless, Peter. Dr. Hansen overestimated by three hundred percent. The actual increasewas .11
degrees.”

“Okay. But itdid increase.”

And ten years after histestimony, he said that the forces that govern climate change are so poorly
understood that long-term prediction isimpossible.”

“Hedid not say that.”

Kenner sghed. “Sanjong?’

Sanjong pecked at his|aptop. “Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, October 1998.” *

“Hansen didn’t say that prediction wasimpossible. ”

“He said quote ‘ The forcings that drive long-term climate change are not known with an accuracy
aufficient to define future climate change’ endquote. And he argued that, in the future, scientists should
use multiple scenarios to define arange of possible climate outcomes.”

“Wdl that isn't exactly—"

“Stop quibbling,” Kenner said. “He said it. Why do you think Balder isworried about hiswitnessesin
the Vanutu case? It' s because of statements like these. However you attempt to reframeit, it' sa clear
gatement of limited knowledge. And it’s hardly the only one. The IPCC itsalf made many limiting
Satements” T

“But Hansen Hill believesin globa warming.”

“Yes, he does. And his 1988 prediction,” Kenner said, “was wrong by three hundred percent.”



“Sowhat?’

“You areignoring theimplication of an error thet large,” Kenner said. “ Compareit to other fields. For
example, when NASA launched the rocket carrying the Mars Rover, they announced that in two
hundred and fifty three days, the Rover would land on the surface of Marsat 8:11 p.m., Cdiforniatime.
Infact, it landed at 8:35 p.m. That isan error of afewthousandths of a percent. The NASA people knew
what they were talking about.”

“Okay, fine. But there are some things you have to estimate.”

“You're absolutely right,” Kenner said. “People estimate dl thetime. They estimate sdes, they estimate
profits, they estimate delivery dates, they estimate—by the way, do you estimate your taxes for the
government?’

“Yes. Quarterly.”

“How accurate does that estimate have to be?’

“Well, there sno fixed rule—"

“Peter. How accurate, without pendty?’

“Maybe fifteen percent.”

“Soif you were off by three hundred percent, you' d pay apendty?’

113 Yaﬂ
“Hansen was off by three hundred percent.”

“Climateisnot atax return.”

“In the red world of human knowledge,” Kenner said, “to be wrong by three hundred percent istaken
asan indication you don't have agood grasp on what you are estimating. If you got on an airplane and
the pilot said it was athree-hour flight, but you arrived in one hour, would you think that pilot was
knowledgeable or not?’

Evans sighed. “Climate is more complicated than that.”

“Yes, Peter. Climateis more complicated. It is so complicated that no one has been able to predict future
climate with accuracy. Even though billons of dollars are being spent, and hundreds of people are trying
al around the world. Why do you resist that uncomfortable truth?”

“Westher prediction is much better,” Evans said. “And that’ s because of computers.”

“Y es, weather prediction hasimproved. But nobody triesto predict weather more than ten daysin
advance. Whereas computer mode ers are predicting what the temperature will be one hundred yearsin

advance. Sometimes athousand years, three thousand years.”

“And they are doing better.”



“Arguably they aren’t. Look,” Kenner said. “ The biggest eventsin globa climate arethe El Nifios. They
happen roughly every four years. But climate models can’t predict them—not their timing, their duration,
or their intengity. And if you can't predict El Nifios, the predictive value of your modd in other areasis

suspect.”

“I heard they can predict El Nifios.”
“That was claimed in 1998. But it isnot true.” * Kenner shook his head. * Climate science smply isn't

there yet, Peter. One day it will be. But not now.”

TOLOSANGELES
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Another hour passed. Sanjong was working continuoudy on the lgptop. Kenner sat motionless, staring
out the window. Sanjong was accustomed to this. He knew that Kenner could stay silent and immobile

for severa hours. He only turned away from the window when Sanjong swore.

“What' sthe matter?’ Kenner said.
“| lost our satellite connection to the Internet. It's been in and out for awhile.”

“Were you ableto trace the images?’
“Y es, that was no problem. | have the location fixed. Did Evansreally think these were images from

Antarctica?
“Y es. He thought they showed black outcrops against snow. | didn’t disagree with him.”

“The actua location,” Sanjong said, “isaplace caled Resolution Bay. It’'sin northeast Gareda.”

“How far from Los Angeles?’
“Roughly sx thousand nautica miles”
“So the propagation timeistwelve or thirteen hours.”

HYaﬂ
‘WEell worry about it later,” Kenner said. “We have other problemsfirst.”

Peter Evans dept fitfully. His bed consisted of apadded airplane seet laid flat, with aseam in the middle,
right where his hip rested. He tossed and turned, waking briefly, hearing snatches of conversation
between Kenner and Sanjong at the back of the plane. He couldn’t hear the whole conversation over the



drone of the engines. But he heard enough.

Because of what | need him to do.

He ll refuse, John.

...helikesit or not...Evansis at the center of everything.

Peter Evans was suddenly awake. He strained to hear now. He raised his head off the pillow so he
could hear better.

Didn't disagree with him.
Actud location...Resolution Bay...Gareda.
How far...?...thousand miles......the propagation time.. .thirteen hours...

He thought: Propagation time? What the hell were they taking about? On impulse he jumped up, strode
back there, and confronted them.

Kenner didn’t blink. “Sleep well?’

“No,” Evanssaid, “1 did not deep well. | think you owe me some explanations.”
“About what?’
“The satdlite pictures, for one.”

“I couldn’'t very well tell you right therein the room, in front of the others,” Kenner said. “And | hated to
interrupt your enthusasm.”

Evans went and poured himsalf acup of coffee. “Okay. What do the pictures redly show?’

Sanjong flipped his laptop around to show Evansthe screen. “Don’t fed bad. Y ou would never have
had any reason to suspect. The images were negatives. They’ re often used that way, to increase
contragt.”

“Negatives...”

“The black rocks are actually white. They’re clouds.”

Evanssghed.



“ And what isthe land mass?”’

“It' sanidand cdled Gareda, in the southern part of the Solomon chain.”

“Whichis...”




“Off the coast of New Guinea. North of Audrdia.”

“Sothisisanidand inthe South Pacific,” Evanssaid. “ Thisguy in Antarctica had a picture of a Pacific
idand.”

“Correct.”
“And the scorpion referenceis...”

“Wedon't know,” Sanjong said. “The actud location is called Resolution Bay on the charts. But it may
be known locally as Scorpion Bay.”

“And what are they planning down there?’

Kenner said, “We don't know that, either.”

“I heard you talking about propagation times. Propagation times for what?’

“Actudly, you misheard me,” Kenner said smoothly. 1 was talking about interrogation times.”
“Interrogation times?” Evans said.

“Y es. We were hoping we' d be able to identify at least one of the three men in Antarctica, sncewe
have good photographs of dl three. And we know the photographs are accurate because people on the
base saw them. But, I'm afraid we' re out of luck.”

Sanjong explained that they had transmitted photos of Brewster and the two graduate sudentsto severa
databases in Washington, where pattern-recognition computers checked them againgt individuaswith
known crimina records. Sometimes you got lucky, and the computer found amatch. But thistime, no
match had come back.

“It' sbeen severa hours, so | think we're out of luck.”

“Aswe expected,” Kenner said.

“Yes” Sanjong said. “Aswe expected.”

“Because these guys don’t have crimind records?” Evans said.

“No. They very wdl may.”

“Then why didn’t you get amatch?’

“Becausethisisanetwar,” Kenner said. “ And at the moment, we arelosing it.”

TOLOSANGELES
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3:27 P.M.

In mediaaccounts, Kenner explained, the Environmenta Liberation Front was usualy characterized asa
loose association of eco-terrorists, operating in small groups on their own initiative, and employing
relatively unsophisticated meansto create havoc—starting fires, trashing SUVsin car lots, and so on.

The truth was quite different. Only one member of ELF had ever been apprehended—a
twenty-nine-year-old graduate student at the University of Cdiforniaat Santa Cruz. He was caught
sabotaging an ail rig in El Segundo, Cdifornia. He denied any association with the group, and inasted he
was acting aone,

But what troubled authorities was the fact that he was wearing an appliance on his forehead that changed
the shape of his skull and made his eyebrowsjut out prominently. He was aso wearing fase ears. It
wasn't much of adisguise. But it was troubling, because it suggested that he knew quite alot about the
pattern-matching programs used by the government.

Those programs were tuned to look past changesin facid hair—wigs, beards, and mustaches—since
that was the most common method of disguise. They were aso designed to compensate for changesin
age, such asincreased heavinessin the face, drooping features, receding hairlines.

But ears didn’t change. The shape of the forehead didn’t change. So the programs were therefore
weighted to rely on the configuration of ears, and the shape of the forehead. Changing these parts of the
face would result in a“no-match” outcome on acomputer.

The guy from Santa Cruz knew that. He knew security cameras would photograph him when he got near
therig. So he changed his appearance in away that would prevent identification by computer.

Smilarly, thethree extremists at Weddel| clearly had formidable backing to carry out their high-tech
terrorigt act. It took months of planning. Costs were high. And they obvioudy had in-depth support to
obtain academic credentids, university stencils on their shipping boxes, shell companiesfor their Antarctic
shipments, false websites, and dozens of other details necessary for the undertaking. There was nothing
unsophisticated about their plan or the way they had executed it.

“And they would have succeeded,” Kenner said, “except for that list George Morton obtained shortly
before hisdeath.”

All of which suggested that if EL F was once aloose association of amateurs, it was no longer. Now it
was a highly organized network—one that employed so many channds of communication among its
members (e-mail, cell phones, radio, text messaging) that the network as awhole el uded detection. The
governments of the world had long worried about how to deal with such networks, and the “ netwars’
that would result from trying to fight them.

“For along time, the concept of anetwar wastheoretica,” Kenner said. “ There were studies coming out
of RAND, but nobody in the military wasreally focusing on it. The notion of a networked enemy, or
terrorigts, or even criminas was too amorphous to bother with.”

But it was the amorphous quality of the network—fluid, rapidly evolving—that madeit so difficult to
combat. Y ou couldn't infiltrateit. You couldn’t listenin on it, except by accident. Y ou couldn’t locateit
geographicaly because it wasn't in any one place. In truth, the network represented aradically new kind



of opponent, and one that required radically new techniques to combat it.
“Themilitary just didn’t get it,” Kenner said. “Buit likeit or not, we'rein anetwar right now.”
“And how do you fight anetwar?’ Evanssaid.

“The only way to oppose anetwork iswith another network. Y ou expand your listening posts. You
decrypt around the clock. Y ou employ techniques of networked deception and entrgpment.”

“Such aswhat?’

“It'stechnical,” Kenner said vaguely. “We rely on the Japanese to spearhead that effort. They arethe
best at it intheworld. And of course we extend our federsin multiple directions a the sametime. Based
onwhat we' ve just learned at Weddell, we have lots of ironsin thefire.” Kenner had databases being
searched. He had state organizations mobilized. He had inquiriesinto where the terrorists had obtained
their academic credentidss, their encrypted radio transmitters, their explosive charges, their computerized
detonation timers. None of this was commonplace stuff and it could be traced, given enough time.

“Isthere enough time?’ Evans said.

“I'mnot sure.”

Evans could see that Kenner was worried. “ So: What isit you want meto do?’

“Jugt one very smplething,” Kenner said.

“What' sthat?’

Kenner amiled.
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“Isthisredly necessary?’ Peter Evans said, with aworried |ook.

“Itis” Kenner said.



“Butit'sillegd,” Evanssad.

“It'snot,” Kenner said firmly.

“Because you are alaw-enforcement officer?” Evanssaid.

“Of course. Don't worry about it.”

They wereflying in over Los Angeles, approaching the runway a Van Nuys. The Cdifornia sun shone
through the windows. Sanjong was hunched over the dining table in the middle of the plane. In front of
him lay Evans's cell phone, the back removed. Sanjong was attaching athin gray platethe size of his
thumbnail right on top of the beattery.

“But what exactly isit?” Evanssaid.

“Flash memory,” Sanjong said. “It’ll record four hours of conversation in acompressed format.”

“l see” Evanssaid. “And what am | supposed to do?’

“Just carry the phonein your hand, and go about your business.”

“Andif | get caught?’ hesaid.

“Youwon't get caught,” Kenner said. “Y ou can take it anywhere. Y ou'll go right through any security,
no problem.”

“But if they have bug sweepers...”

“They won't detect you, because you' re not transmitting anything. It’ sgot aburst transmitter. For two
seconds every hour, it transmits. The rest of the time, nothing.” Kenner sighed. “L ook, Peter. It sjust a
cdl phone. Everyone hasthem.”

“I don’'t know,” Evanssaid. “1 fed bad about this. | mean, I’'m not astool pigeon.”

Sarah cameto the back, yawning, clearing her ears. “Whao' sastool pigeon?’

“It'show | fed,” Evanssaid.

“That'snot theissue,” Kenner said. “ Sanjong?’

Sanjong took out aprinted lit, passed it to Evans. It was Morton' s origind sheet, now with additionsto
it
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“Asyou see, Sanjong hasidentified the precise GPS locations,” Kenner said. “Y ou’ ve undoubtedly
noticed apattern in the list. The first incident we know about. The second incident will take place
somewhere in the American desart—either Utah, Arizona, or New Mexico. Thethird incident will be
somewhere in the Caribbean, east of Cuba. And the fourth incident will be in the Solomon Idands.”

“Yes?So?

“Qur concern right now isfor the second incident,” Kenner said. “ And the problem isthat from Utah to
Arizonato New Mexico there arefifty thousand square miles of desert. Unlesswe can get additiona

information, we Il never find these guys.”

“But you have exact GPSlocations...”

“Which they will undoubtedly change, now that they know of the trouble in Antarctica.”

“Y ou think they have dready changed plans?’

“Of course. Their network knew something was wrong as soon aswe arrived a Weddell yesterday. |
think that' swhy the first guy I€ft. | think he' sactudly the leader of the three. The other two were just foot

LDldiers”

“So you want meto go see Drake,” Evans said.
“Right. And find out whatever you can.”

“I hatethis” Evanssaid.
“I understand,” Kenner said. “But we need you to do it.”

Evanslooked at Sarah, who was rubbing her eyes, still deepy. He was annoyed to see that she had
arisen from her bed perfectly composed, her face uncreased, beautiful asever. “How areyou?’ hesaid

to her.

“I need to brush my teeth,” she said. “How long until we land?’

“Ten minutes.”
She got up, and walked to the back of the plane.

Evanslooked out the window. The sunlight was glaring, harsh. He hadn’t had enough deep. Theline of
gtitchesin his scalp pinched. His body ached from being wedged in the damned crevasse for so long. Just

to rest hiselbow on the armrest of the seat was painful.

Hesghed.



“Peter,” Kenner said, “those guystried to kill you. I wouldn't be too careful about the niceties when you
fight back.”

“Maybe so, but I'm alawyer.”

“And you could be adead lawyer,” Kenner said. “I don’'t adviseit.”

It was with asense of unredlity that Peter Evans merged his hybrid car onto the San Diego freeway,
twelve lanes of roaring traffic on an expanse of concrete aswide as hdf afootbal field. Sixty-five percent
of the surface area of Los Angeles was devoted to cars. People had to wedge themselvesin what little
was left. It was an inhuman design and it was environmentaly absurd. Everything was so far gpart, you
couldn’'t walk anywhere, the pollution wasincredible.

And peoplelike Kenner did nothing but criticize the good work of environmenta organizations, without
whose efforts the environment of aplace like Los Angeles would be much, much worse.

Faceit, he thought. The world needed help. It desperately needed an environmenta perspective. And
nothing in Kenner’ s smooth manipulation of factswould change that truth.

Histhoughts rambled on in thisway for another ten minutes, until he crossed Mulholland Pass and came
down toward Beverly Hills.

Helooked at the passenger seat beside him. The doctored cell phone glinted in the sunlight. He decided
to takeit to Drake s office right away. Get thiswhole thing over with.

He telephoned Drake' s office and asked to talk to him; he was told Drake was at the dentist and would
return later in the day. The secretary wasn't sure exactly when.

Evans decided to go to his gpartment and take a shower.

He parked in the garage and walked through the little garden to his gpartment. The sun was shining
down between the buildings; the roses were in bloom, beautiful. The only thing that marred it, he thought,
was the lingering odor of cigar smokein theair. It was offensve to think that somebody had smoked a
cigar and that what remained was—

“Sest! Evandl”

He paused. He looked around. He could see nothing.

Evans heard an intense whisper, like ahiss “Turn right. Pick adamn rose.”

“What?'

“Don't talk, you idiot. And stop looking around. Come over here and pick arose.”

Evans moved toward the voice. The cigar smell was stronger. Behind the tangle of the bushes, he saw an
old stone bench that he had never noticed before. It was crusted with algae. Hunched down on the bench



was aman in asportcoat. Smoking acigar.
“Who are—’

“Don't talk,” the man whispered. “How many timesdo | havetotell you. Taketherose, and smdll it.
That'll give you areason to stay aminute. Now listen to me. I'm aprivate investigator. | was hired by
George Morton.”

Evans smélled therose. Inhding cigar smoke.

“I have something important for you,” the guy said. “1I'll bring it to your gpartment in two hours. But |
want you to leave again, so they’ |l follow you. Leave your door unlocked.”

Evansturned therosein hisfingers, pretending to examineit. In fact, he waslooking past the rose at the
man on the bench. The man’ s face was familiar, somehow. Evans was sure he had seen him before. ..

“Yeah, yeah,” the man said, asif reading histhoughts. He turned hislapel, to show abadge. “AV
Network Systems. | was working in the NERF building. Now you remember, right? Don’tnod. For
Christ’s sake. Just go upstairs, change your clothes, and leave for awhile. Go to the gym or whatever.
Just go. These assholes—" hejerked his head toward the street “ have been waitin’ for you. So don’t
disappoint them. Nowgo. ”

His apartment had been put back together very well. Lisa had done agood job—the dashed cushions
had been flipped over; the books were back in the bookcase. They were out of order, but he would deal
with thet later.

From the large windowsin hisliving room, Evanslooked out toward the street. He could see nothing
except the green expanse of Roxbury Park. Thekids playing at midday. The clusters of gossiping
nannies. Therewas no sign of survelllance.

It looked perfectly normd.

Sdf-conscioudy, he started unbuttoning his shirt, and turned away. He went to the shower, letting the
hot spray sting his body. He looked at histoes, which were dark purple, aworrisome, unnaturd color.
Hewiggled them. He didn’t have much sensation, but other than that, they seemed to be dl right.

Hetoweed off, and checked his messages. There was acall from Janis, asking if he was free tonight.
Then another, nervous one from her, saying her boyfriend had just come back into town and shewas
busy (which meant, don't call her back). Therewasacadl from Lisa, Herb Lowenstein’ s assistant, asking
where he was. Lowengtein wanted to go over some documents with him; it wasimportant. A call from
Hesther, saying that Lowenstein was looking for him. A cal from Margo Lane, saying shewastill inthe
hospital and why hadn’t he called her back? A call from his client the BMW dedler, asking when hewas
coming to the showroom.

And about ten hang-ups. Far more than he usualy had.
The hang-ups gave him acreepy feding.

Evans dressed quickly, putting on asuit and tie. He came back into the living room and, fegling uneasy,



clicked on thetdlevison s, just in timefor the loca noon news. He was heading for the door when he
heard: “Two new devel opments emphasi ze once again the dangers of globa warming. Thefirst study, out
of England, saysgloba warming isliteraly changing the rotation of the Earth, shortening the length of our

day.
Evans turned back to look. He saw two co-anchors, aman and awoman. The man was explaining that

even more dramatic was a study that showed that the Greenland ice cap was going to melt entirely away.
That would cause sealevelsto rise twenty fedt.

“S0, | guessit’ sgood-bye Malibu!” the anchor said cheerfully. Of course, that wouldn't happen for a
few yearsyet. “But it scoming...unlesswe al change our ways.”

Evansturned away from the television and headed for the door. He wondered what Kenner would have
to say about thislatest news. Changing the rotation speed of the Earth? He shook his head at the sheer
enormity of it. And melting al theice in Greenland? Evans could imagine Kenner’ s discomfiture.

But then, he'd probably just deny it dl, the way he usudly did.

Evans opened the door, carefully ensured that it would remain unlocked, closed it behind him, and
headed for hisoffice.

CENTURY CITY
SATURDAY, OCTOBER 9
9:08 A.M.

Heraninto Herb Lowengtein in the hdl, walking toward a conference room. “ Jesus,” Lowenstein said,
“where the hdll have you been, Peter? Nobody could find you.”

“I’ve been doing a confidentia job for aclient.”

“Wael next timetell your damn secretary how to reach you. Y ou look like shit. What happened, you get
in afight or something? And what’ sthat above your ear? Jesus, are those stitches?’

“I fel.”

“Uh-huh. What client were you doing this confidential job for?’
“Nick Drake, actudly.”

“Funny. Hedidn't mention it.”

“No?’

“No, and hejust left. | spent the whole morning with him. He' s very unhappy about the document
rescinding the ten-million-dollar grant from the Morton Foundation. Especidly that clause.”

“l know,” Evanssaid.



“He wants to know where the clause came from.”

“I know.”

“Wheredid it come from?’

“George asked me not to divulge that.”

“Georgeisdead.”

“Not officidly.”

“Thisis bullshit, Peter. Where did the clause come from?’
Evans shook hishead. “I’'m sorry, Herb. | have specific ingtructions from the client.”
“We rein the samefirm. And he' smy client, too.”
“Heingdructed meinwriting, Herb.”

“Inwriting? Horseshit. George didn't write anything.”
“Handwritten note,” Evanssaid.

“Nick wants the terms of the document broken.”

“I'm sure he does”

“And | told him we' d do that for him,” Lowenstein said.
“I don’'t see how.”

“Morton wasnot in hisright mind.”

“But hewas, Herb,” Evanssaid. “Y ou'll betaking ten million out of his estate and if anybody whispersin
the ear of his daughter—"

“She'satotd cokehead—"

“—who goes through cash like amonkey through bananas. And if anybody whispersin her ear, thisfirm
will beliablefor the ten million, and for punitive damages for conspiracy to defraud. Have you taked to
the other senior partners about this course of action?’

“Y ou' re being obstructive.”

“I’'m being cautious. Maybe | should express my concernsin an e-mail to you.”

“Thisisnot how you advance in thisfirm, Peter.”

Evanssaid, “1 think | am acting in thefirm'’ sbest interest. | certainly don’t see how you can abrogate this



document without, at the very leadt, first obtaining written opinions from attorneys outside the firm.”

“But no outside attorney would countenance—" He broke off. He glared at Evans. “Drakeisgoing to
want to talk to you about this.”

“I'll be happy to do that.”
“I'll tell himyou'll cdl.”
HHr]e.”

Lowengtein stalked off. Then he turned back. “And what was al that business about the police and your
gpartment?’

“My apartment was robbed.”

“For what? Drugs?’

“No, Herb.”

“My assgtant had to leave the office to hel p you with a police matter.”
“That' strue. Asapersond favor. And it was after hours, if | recall.”
Lowengtein snorted, and stomped off down the hall.

Evans made amentd noteto cal Drake. And get this entire business behind him.

LOSANGELES
SATURDAY, OCTOBER 9
11:04 A.M.

In the hot midday sun, Kenner parked his car in the downtown lot and walked with Sarah out onto the
street. Heat shimmered off the pavement. The signsthere were al in Spanish, except for afew English
phrases—" Checks Cashed” and “Money Loaned.” From scratchy loudspeakers, mariachi music blared
out.

Kenner said, “All set?’

Sarah checked the small sports bag on her shoulder. It had nylon mesh at either end. The mesh
concedled thevideo lens. “Yes” shesaid. “I’'m ready.”

Together, they walked toward the large store on the corner, “Brader’ s Army/Navy Surplus.”
Sarah said, “What' re we doing here?’

“ELF purchased alarge quantity of rockets,” Kenner said.



She frowned. “ Rockets?’

“Smadll ones. Lightweight. About two feet long. They’re outdated versions of an’ 80s Warsaw Pact
device cdled Hotfire. Handheld, wire-guided, solid propd lant, range of about athousand yards.”

Sarah wasn't sure what dl that meant. “ So, these are weapons?’
“| doubt that’ swhy they bought them.”

“How many did they buy?’

“Five hundred. With launchers”

“Wow.”

“Let’sjust say they’ re probably not hobbyists.”

Above the doors, abanner in flaking yellow and green paint read, Camping Gear Paintball Paratrooper
Jackets Compass Seeping Bags Much, Much More!

Thefront door chimed asthey went in.

The store was large and disorderly, filled with military stuff on racksand piled in untidy hegps on the
floor. Thear smelled musty, like old canvas. There were few people inside at this hour. Kenner walked
directly to the kid at the cash register, flashed hiswallet, and asked for Mr. Brader.

“In the back.”

Thekid smiled at Sarah. Kenner went to the back of the store. Sarah stayed at the front.

“So,” shesaid. “I need alittle help.”

“Do my best.” He grinned. He was a crew-cut kid, maybe nineteen or twenty. He had ablack T-shirt
that said “The Crow.” Hisarmslooked like he worked out.

“I'mtrying tofind aguy,” Sarah said, and did a sheet of paper toward him.

“Y ou think any guy would betrying to find you,” the kid said. He picked up the paper. It showed a
photograph of the man they knew as Brewster, who had set up camp in Antarctica

“Ohyeah,” thekid said immediately. “ Sure, | know him. He comesin sometimes.”
“Wha'shis name?’
“I don’'t know, but he' sin the store now.”

“Now?" She glanced around for Kenner, but he was in the back, huddled with the owner. She didn’t
want to cal to him or do anything to cause attention.

Thekid was standing on tiptoes, looking around. “Y eah, he’ s here. | mean, he wasin here afew minutes



ago. Camein to buy sometimers.”
“Where are your timers?’

“I'll show you.” He came around the counter, and led her through the stacks of green clothing and the
boxes piled seven feet high. She couldn’t see over them. She could no longer see Kenner.

Thekid glanced over his shoulder at her. “What are you, like a detective?’
1] &rt Of.”
“You want to go out?’

They were moving deeper into the store when they heard the chime of the front door. She turned to
look. Over stacks of flak jackets, she had a glimpse of abrown head, awhite shirt with ared collar, and
the door closing.

“He'sleaving...”

She didn’t think. She just turned and sprinted for the door. The bag banged againgt her hip. She jumped
over stacked canteens, running hard.

“Hey,” thekid yedlled behind her. “Y ou coming back?’

She banged through the door.

Shewas out on the street. Glaring hot sun and shoving crowds. She looked left and right. Shedidn’t see
the white shirt and red collar anywhere. There hadn’t been time for him to cross the sireet. Shelooked
around the corner, and saw him strolling casudly away from her, toward Fifth Street. She followed him.

Hewas aman of about thirty-five, dressed in cheap golf-type clothes. His pants were rumpled. He wore
dirty hiking boots. He had tinted glasses and asmall, trim moustache. He looked like aguy who spent a
lot of time outdoors, but not a construction guy—more of a supervisor. Maybe a building contractor.
Building ingpector. Something likethat.

Shetried to notice the details, to remember them. She gained on him, then decided that was abad idea,
and dropped back. “Brewster” stopped in front of one window and looked at it intently for afew
moments, then went on.

She came to the window. It was a crockery store, displaying cheap plates. She wondered, then, if he
aready knew he was being followed.

Totrall aterrorist on adowntown street felt like something out of amovie, but it was more frightening
than she anticipated. The surplus store seemed very far behind her. She didn’t know where Kenner was.
She wished he were here. Also, she was hardly inconspicuous; the crowd on the Ssdewak was largely
Hispanic, and Sarah’ s blond head stuck up above most people’s.



She stepped off the curb, and walked along the street gutter, hanging at the edge of the crowd. That way
shelost six inches of height. But till, she was uncomfortably aware that her hair was distinctively blonde.
But there was nothing she could do abouit that.

She let Brewster get twenty yards ahead of her. She didn’t want to alow more distance than that
because she was afraid she'd lose him.

Brewster crossed Fifth Street, and continued on. He went another half ablock, and then turned left,
down an dley. Sarah got to the aley entrance, and paused. There were garbage bags stacked at
intervals. She could smell the rotten odor from where shewas. A big ddivery truck blocked the far end
of thedley.

And no Brewster.

He had vanished.

It wasn't possible, unless he had walked through one of the back doors that opened onto the alley.
There were doors every twenty feet or so, many of them recessed into the brick wall.

She bit her lip. She didn’t like the idea that she couldn’t see him. But there were ddlivery men down at
thetruck....

She started down the alley.

Shelooked at each door as she passed it. Some were boarded shut, some were locked. A few had
grimy sgnsgiving the name of thefirm, and sayingUSE FRONT ENTRANCE OR PRESSBELL FOR
SERVICE .

No Brewster.

She had gotten halfway down the aley when something made her look back. Shewasjust intimeto see
Brewster step out of adoorway and head back to the street, moving quickly away from her.

Sheran.

As she passed the doorway, she saw an ederly woman standing in the door. The sign on the door said,
Munro Silk and Fabrics.

“Who ishe?’ she shouted.

The old woman shrugged, shaking her head. “Wrong door. They al do—" She said something more,
but by then Sarah couldn’t hear.

She was back on the sdewalk, gill running. Heading toward Fourth. She could see Brewster half a
block ahead. He was walking quickly, aimost ajog.

He crossed Fourth. A pickup truck pulled over to the side, afew yards ahead. It was battered blue,
with Arizonalicense plates. Brewster jumped in the passenger side, and the truck roared off.

Sarah was scribbling down the license plate when Kenner’ s car screeched to astop dongside her. “ Get
in”



Shedid, and he accderated forward.

“Where wereyou?’ she said.

“Getting the car. | saw you leave. Did you film him?’

She had forgotten al about the bag on her shoulder. “Yes, | think s0.”
“Good. | got anamefor this guy, from the store owner.”

vy e

“But it'sprobably an dias. David Poulson. And a shipping address.”
“For the rockets?’

“No, for thelaunch stands.”

“Where?’

Kenner said, “Flagstaff, Arizona”

Ahead, they saw the blue pickup.

They followed the pickup down Second, past theL os Angeles Times building, past the crimina courts,

and then onto the freeway. Kenner was skilled; he managed to stay well back, but always kept the truck
ingght.

“You' vedonethisbefore,” Sarah said.

“Not redly.”

“What isthat little card you show everybody?’

Kenner pulled out hiswallet, and handed it to her. Therewas aSlver badge, looking roughly likea
police badge, except it said “NSIA” onit. And there was an officid license for “Nationa Security
Intelligence Agency,” with his photograph.

“I’ve never heard of the National Security Intelligence Agency.”

Kenner nodded, took the wallet back.

“What doesit do?’

“Staysbdow theradar,” Kenner said. “Have you heard from Evans?’



“Y ou don’'t want to tell me?’

“Nothing totdll,” Kenner said. “ Domestic terrorism makes domestic agencies uncomfortable. They're
either too harsh or too lenient. Everyonein NSIA is specidly trained. Now, call Sanjong and read him
the license plate on that pickup, seeif he cantraceit.”

“So you do domestic terrorism?”’

“ Sometimes.”

Ahead, the pickup truck moved onto the Interstate 5 freeway, heading east, past the clustered yellowing
buildings of County General Hospitdl.

“Where arethey going?’ shesaid.
“1 don’t know,” hesaid. “But thisisthe road to Arizona.”

She picked up the phone and cdled Sanjong.

Sanjong wrote down the license, and called back in less than five minutes. “It' sregistered to the
Lazy-Bar Ranch, outside Sedona,” hetold Kenner. “It’ s apparently a guest ranch and spa. The truck
hasn’t been reported stolen.”

“Okay. Who owns the ranch?’

“It' saholding company: Great Western Environmental Associates. They own astring of guest ranchesin
Arizonaand New Mexico.”

“Who owns the holding company?’

“I"m checking on that, but it’ Il take sometime.”

Sanjong hung up.

Ahead, the pickup truck moved into the right lane, and turned on its blinker.

“It' s pulling off theroad,” Kenner said.

They followed the truck through an area of seedy industria parks. Sometimes the signs said sheet works
or machinetooling, but most of the buildings were blocky and unreveding. The air was hazy, dmost a
light fog.

After two miles, the truck turned right again, just past asign thet said Its corp. And beneath that, asmall
picture of an arport, with an arrow.

“It must beaprivate arfidd,” Kenner said.



“What'sLTSI?" shesaid.
He shook hishead. “1 don’t know.”

Farther down theroad, they could seethelittle airfield, with severd smal prop planes, Cessnasand
Pipers, parked to one side. The truck drove up and parked a ongside a twin-engine plane.

“Twin Otter,” Kenner said.

“Isthat agnificant?”’

“ Short takeoff, large payload. It'saworkhorse aircraft. Used for fire-fighting, al sorts of things.”
Brewster got out of the truck, and walked to the cockpit of the plane. He spoke briefly to the pilot. Then
he got back in the truck, and drove a hundred yards down the road, pulling up in front of ahuge
rectangular shed of corrugated stedl. There were two other trucks parked aongsideit. The sign on the
shed sad Itg, in big blueletters.

Brewster got out of the truck, and came around the back as the driver of the truck got out.

“Son of ahitch,” Sarah said.

The driver was the man they knew as Bolden. He was now wearing jeans, a baseball cap, and
sunglasses, but there was no doubt about hisidentity.

“Easy,” Kenner said.

They watched as Brewster and Bolden walked into the shed through a narrow door. The door closed
behind them with ametalic dang.

Kenner turned to Sarah. “Y ou stay here.”

He got out of the car, walked quickly to the shed, and went inside.

She sat in the passenger seet, shading her eyes againgt the sun, and waited. The minutes dragged. She
squinted at the sign on the side of the shed, because she could detect small white |ettering benesth the
largelts initias. But shewastoo far away to make out what it said.

She thought of calling Sanjong, but didn’t. She worried about what would happen if Brewster and
Bolden came out, but Kenner remained insde. She would have to follow them done. She couldn’t let
them get away ...

That thought led her to dide over into the driver’ s seet. She rested her hands on the whedl. She looked
at her watch. Surely nine or ten minutes had aready passed. She scanned the shed for any sign of
activity, but the building was clearly made to be as unobtrusive and as unreveding as possible.
Shelooked at her watch again.

She began to fed like acoward, just Sitting there. All her life, she had confronted the things that



frightened her. That waswhy she had learned to ski black diamond ice, to rock climb (even though she
wastoo tal), to scuba dive wrecks.

Now, shewasjust ditting in ahot car, waiting as the minutes ticked by.

The hell with it, she thought. And she got out of the car.

At the door to the shed, there were two smdl signs. One said Itd lightning test systemsinternational. The
second said warning: do not enter test bed during discharge intervals.

Whatever that meant.

Sarah opened the door cautiously. There was areception area, but it was deserted. On a plain wooden
desk was a handwritten sign and abuzzer. PRESS BUZZER FOR ASSISTANCE.

Sheignored the buzzer, and opened the inner door, which was ominoudy marked:

NO TRESPASSING
HIGH VOLTAGE DISCHARGE
AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL ONLY

She went through the door and came into an open, dimly lit industrid space—pipes on the celling, a
catwalk, rubber-tile floor underfoot. It was al quite dark except for atwo-story glass-walled chamber in
the center, which was brightly lit. It was afairly large space, roughly the size of her living room. Insdethe
chamber she saw what looked like an airplane jet engine, mounted on asmall section of wing. At theside
of theroomwas alarge metd plate, set against the wall. And outside the room was a control pand. A
man was Sitting in front of the panel. Brewster and Bolden were nowhere to be seen.

Inside the room, a recessed monitor screen flashed clear areanow. A computer voice said, “Please
clear thetest area. Testing beginsin.. .thirty seconds.” Sarah heard adowly building whine, and the
chugging of apump. But nothing was happening that she could see.

Curious, she moved forward.

1] %! ”

She looked around, but could not see where the sound was coming from.

“Ssatl”

Shelooked up. Kenner was above her, on the catwalk. He gestured for her to join him, pointing to a set
of dairsat the corner of the room.

The computer voice said, “ Testing beginsin...twenty seconds.”

She climbed the stairs and crouched beside Kenner. The whine had now built to ashriek, and the
chugging was rapid, almost a continuous sound. Kenner pointed to the jet engine, and whispered,



“They'retesting airplane parts.” He explained quickly that airplanes were frequently struck by lightning,
and dl their components had to be lightning proof. He said something el se, too, but she couldn’t redly
hear him over theincreasing noise.

Insde the center room, the lights went off, leaving just afaint blue glow over the jet engine and its
smoothly curved cowling. The computer voice was counting backward from ten.

“Testing begins...now.”

Therewas asngp! so loud it sounded like agunshot, and abolt of lightning snaked out from thewal and
struck the engine. It wasimmediately followed by more bolts from the other walls, striking the engine
from dl sdes. Thelightning crackled over the cowling in jagged white-hot fingers, then abruptly shot
down to the floor, where Sarah saw a dome-shaped piece of meta about afoot in diameter.

She noticed afew of the lightning bolts seemed to shoot directly to this dome, missing the engine entirely.

Asthetest continued, the lightning bolts grew thicker, brighter. They made alongcrack! asthey shot
through the air, and etched black streaks over the metd cowl. The fan blades were struck by one bolt,
causing thefanto spin slently.

As Sarah watched, it seemed as if more and more of the bolts did not strike the engine, but instead
gruck the smal dome on the floor until findly there was awhite spiderweb of lightning strikes, coming
from dl sides, going directly to the dome.

And then, abruptly, the test ended. The whining sound stopped, and the room lights came on. Faint, hazy
smoke rose from the engine cowling. Sarah looked over at the console, and saw Brewster and Bolden
standing behind the seated technician. All three men walked into the central room, where they crouched
beneath the engine and inspected the metal dome,

“What isit?" Sarah whispered.

Kenner put afinger to hislips, and shook his head. Helooked unhappy.

Inside the room, the men upended the dome, and Sarah had a glimpse of its complexity—green circuit
boards and shiny metal attachments. But the men were clustered around it, talking excitedly, and it was
hard for her to see. Then they put the dome back down on the floor again, and walked out of the room.

They were laughing and dapping each other on the back, apparently very pleased with the test. She
heard one of them say something about buying around of beer, and there was more laughter, and they
walked out through the front door. Thetest areawas silent.

They heard the outer door dam shut.

She and Kenner waited.

Shelooked at Kenner. He waited, motionlessfor afull minute, just listening. Then, when they sill heard
nothing, he said, “Let’shave alook at that thing.”

They climbed down from the catwalk.



Ontheground levd, they saw and heard nothing. The facility was apparently deserted. Kenner pointed
to theinner chamber. They opened the door, and went inside.

Theinterior of the chamber was bright. Therewasasharp smdll intheair.
“Ozone,” Kenner said. “From the strikes.”

Hewalked directly to the dome on the floor.

“What do you think it is?’ Sarah said.

“1 don't know, but it must be a portable charge generator.” He crouched, turned the dome over. “Y ou
see, if you can generate a strong enough negative charge—"

He broke off. The dome was empty. Its e ectronic innards had been removed.
With adang, the door behind them dammed shut.
Sarah whirled. Bolden was on the other side of the door, camly locking it with a padlock.

“Oh shit,” she said. Over at the console she saw Brewster, turning knobs, flipping switches. He flicked
an intercom.

“There sno trespassing in thisfacility, folks. It's clearly marked. Guessyou didn't read thesigns...”
Brewster stepped away from the console. The room lights went dark blue. Sarah heard the sart of the
whine, beginning to build. The screen flashed clear areanow. And she heard a computer voice say,
“Please clear thetest area. Testing beginsin....thirty seconds.”

Brewster and Bolden walked out, without looking back.

Sarah heard Bolden say, “| hate the smell of burning flesh.”

And they were gone, damming the door.

The computer voice said, “ Testing beginsin...fifteen seconds.”

Sarah turned to Kenner. “What do we do?’

Outsde thefecility, Bolden and Brewster got into their car. Bolden started the engine. Brewster put a
hand on the other man’ s shoulder.

“Let’'sjust wat aminute.”
They watched the door. A red light began to flash, dowly at first, then faster and faster.

“Test has sarted,” Brewster said.



“Damn shame,” Bolden said. “How long you figure they can survive?’
“One bolt, maybe two. But by the third one, they’ re definitely dead. And probably on fire.”

“Damn shame,” Bolden said again. He put the car in gear, and drove toward the waiting airplane.
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Insde the test chamber, the air took on asizzly, eectric qudlity, like the atmosphere before astorm.
Sarah saw the hairs on her arm standing up. Her clothing was gticking to her bodly, flattened by the
electric charge.

“Got abdt?’ Kenner said.

“No...”

“Hairdip?’

“No.”

“Anything metd ?”

“No! Damnit, no!”

Kenner flung himself againgt the glasswall, but just bounced off. He kicked it with his hedl; nothing
happened. He dammed his weight againgt the door, but the lock was strong.

“Ten secondsto test,” the computer voice said.
“What are we going to do?’ Sarah said, panicked.
“Takeyour clothes off.”

“What?’

“Now. Doit.” Hewas stripping off hisshirt, ripping it off, buttons flying. “Come on, Sarah. Especidly



the swesater.”

She had afluffy angora swester, and bizarrely, she recaled it had been a present from her boyfriend,
one of thefirg things he ever bought her. Shetoreit off, and the T-shirt beneath.

“Skirt,” Kenner said. He was down to his shorts, pulling off his shoes.
“What isthis—"
“It' sgot azipper!”

She fumbled, getting the skirt off. She was down to her sports braand panties. She shivered. The
computer voice was counting backward. “Ten...nine...eght...”

Kenner was draping the clothes over the engine. He took her skirt, draped it over, too. He arranged the
angora swester to lie on the top.

“What are you doing?’
“Liedown,” hesaid. “Lieflat on the floor—make yoursdlf asflat asyou can—anddon't move. ”

She pressed her body against the cold concrete. Her heart was pounding. The air was bristling. Shefelt
ashiver down the back of her neck.

“Three...two...one...”

Kenner threw himsdlf on the ground next to her and the first lightning bolt crashed through the room. She
was shocked by the violence of it, the blast of air rushing over her body. Her hair wasrising into the air,
she could fedl theweight of it lift off her neck. There were more bolts—the crashing sound was
terrifying—blasting blue light, so bright she saw it even though she squeezed her eyes shut. She pressed
hersdlf againg the ground, willing hersdf to be even flatter, exhding, thinkingNow isatime for prayer.

But suddenly there was another kind of light in the room, yellower, flickering, and a sharp acrid smell.

Fire
A piece of her flaming sweater fell on her bare shoulder. She felt searing pain.

“It safire—"

“Don’'t movel” Kenner snarled.

The boltswere still blasting, coming faster and faster, crackling over the room, but she could see out of
the corner of her eye that the clothes heaped on the engine were aflame, the room was filling with smoke.

She thought,My hair isburning. And she could fed it suddenly hot at the base of her neck, along her
scap...

And suddenly the room was filled with blasting water, and the lightning had stopped, and the sprinkler
nozzles hissed overhead. Shefdt cold; the fires went out; the concrete was wet.



“Can| get up now?’

“Yes” Kenner said. “'Y ou can get up now.”

He spent several more minutes trying to break the glass without success. Finally he stopped and stared,
his hair matted by the Szzling water. “1 don't get it,” hesaid. “Y ou can't have aroom like thiswithout a
safety mechanism to enable someoneto get out.”

“They locked the door, you saw it yoursdlf.”

“Right. Locking it from the outside with a padlock. That padlock must be there to make sure nobody

can enter the room from the outside while the facility is closed. But there till hasto be some way to get
outfromtheinsde.”

“If thereis, | don't seeit.” She was shivering. Her shoulder hurt where she was burned. Her underwear
was soaked through. She wasn't modest, but she was cold, and he was nattering on...

“Therejust hasto beaway,” he said, turning dowly, looking.
“You can't bresk theglass...”

“No,” hesaid. “You can't.” But that seemed to suggest something to him. He bent and carefully
examined the glass frame, looking at the seam where the glass met thewall. Running hisfinger dongit.

She shivered while she waiched him. The sprinklerswere ill on, till spraying. Shewas standing in three
inches of water. She could not understand how he could be so focused, so intent on—

“I'll bedamned,” he said. Hisfingers had closed on asmdl latch, flush with the mounting. He found
another on the opposite side of the window, flicked it open. And then he pushed the window, which was
hinged in the center, and rotated it open.

He stepped through into the outer room.

“Nothingtoit,” he said. He extended his hand. “ Can | offer you some dry clothes?’

“Thank you,” she said, and took his hand.

The LTS washroomsweren't anything to write home about, but Sarah and Kenner dried off with paper
towels and found some warm coverals, and Sarah began to fed better. Staring in the mirror, she saw
that she'd lost two inches of hair around her |eft side. The ends were ragged, black, twisted.

“Could have been worse,” she said, thinkingPonytailsfor awnhile.

Kenner tended to her shoulder, which he said wasjust afirst-degree burn with afew blisters. He put ice
onit, teling her that burns were not atherma injury but were actualy anerve response within the body,
and that icein the first ten minutes reduced the severity of the burn by numbing the nerve, and preventing
the response. So, if you were going to blister, ice prevented it from happening.



Shetuned out hisvoice. She couldn’t actualy seethe burned area, so she had to take hisword for it. It
was starting to hurt. Hefound afirst-aid kit, brought back aspirin.

“Agpirin?’ Sarah said.

“Better than nothing.” He dropped two tabletsin her hand. “ Actually, most people don’t know it, but
aspirin’ satrue wonder drug, it has more pain-killing power than morphine, and it is anti-inflammeatory,
anti-fever—"

“Not right now,” shesaid. “Please.” Shejust couldn’t take another of hislectures.

He said nothing. He just put on the bandage. He seemed to be good at that, too.

“Isthere anything you' re not good at?’ she said.

“Ohsure”

“Likewhat? Dancing?’

“No, | can dance. But I'm terrible at languages.”

“That'sardief.” She herself was good at languages. She’ d spent her junior year in Italy, and was
reasonably fluent in Itaian and French. And she’' d studied Chinese.

“And what about you?’ he said. “What are you bad a7’

“Reationships,” she said. Staring in the mirror and pulling at the blackened strands of her hair.
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As Evans climbed the steps to his gpartment, he could hear the television blaring. It seemed louder than
before. He heard cheers and laughter. Some sort of show with alive studio audience.

He opened the door, and went into the living room. The private investigator from the courtyard was
gtting on the couch, his back to Evans while he watched television. His jacket was off and flung over a
nearby chair. He had hisarm draped across the back of the sofa. His fingers drummed impatiently.

“| seeyou' ve made yourself at home,” Evans said. “ Pretty loud, don’t you think? Would you mind
turning it down?’

The man didn’t answer, hejust continued to sareat the TV.

“Did you hear me?’ Evanssad. “Turn it down, would you?’



The man did not move. Just hisfingers, moving restlessly on the back of the couch.
Evanswalked around to face the man. “I’m sorry, | don’t know your name but—"
He broke off. The investigator hadn’t turned to look at him but continued to stare fixedly at the TV. In

fact, no part of his body moved. He wasimmobile, rigid. Hiseyesdidn’'t move. They didn’t even blink.
The only part of hisbody that moved was hisfingers, on the top of the couch. They amost seemed to be

twitching. In spasm.

Evans stepped directly in front of the man. “Areyou dl right?’

The man’ sface was expressionless. His eyes stared forward, seeming to look straight through Evans.
“Sr?

Theinvedtigator was breathing shalowly, his chest hardly moving. His skin wastinged with gray.
“Canyou move a al? What happened to you?’

Nothing. The man wasrigid.

Just like the way they described Margo, Evansthought. The samerigidity, the same blankness. Evans
picked up the phone and diaed 911, cdled for an ambulance to his address.

“Okay, helpiscoming,” he said to the man. The private detective gave no visible response, but even o,
Evans had the impression that the man could hear, that he was fully aware indde hisfrozen body. But
there was no way to be sure.

Evans|ooked around the room, hoping to find clues as to what had happened to this man. But the

gpartment seemed undisturbed. One chair in the corner seemed to have been moved. The guy’ ssmdly
cigar was on the floor in the corner, asif it had rolled there. It had burned the edge of the rug dightly.

Evans picked up the cigar.

He brought it back to the kitchen, ran it under the faucet, and tossed it in the wastebasket. Then he had
an idea. He went back to the man. “'Y ou were going to bring me something...”

There was no movement. Just the fingers on the couch.

“Isit here?’

Thefingers stopped. Or dmost stopped. They <till moved dightly. But there was clearly an effort being
made.

“Can you control your fingers?’ Evanssaid.

They started, then stopped again.

“So you can. Okay. Now: isthe thing you wanted me to see here?’

Fingers moved.



Then stopped.
“| takethat asayes. Okay.” Evans stepped back. In the distance,

he heard an approaching sren. The ambulance would be herein afew minutes. He said, “1 am going to
movein onedirection, and if it isthe right direction, move your fingers.”

The fingers started, then stopped, asif to Sgnd “yes.”

“Okay,” Evans said. He turned and took severd stepsto hisright, heading toward the kitchen. He
looked back.

Thefingersdid not move.

“Soit’snot that way.” He now moved toward thetelevision, directly in front of the man.

Thefingersdid not move.

“All right, then.” Evansturned left, walking toward the picture windows. Still the fingers did not move.
Therewas only one direction remaining: he moved behind the investigator, heading toward the door.
Since the man could not see him, Evans said, “Now | am walking away from you, toward the front
door...”

Thefingersdid not move.

“Maybeyou didn't understand,” Evans said. 1 wanted you to move your fingersif | was heading in the
right direction...”

Fingers moved. Scratching the couch.

“Y egh, okay, but which direction?| went in dl four directions and—"

The doorbell rang. Evans opened it, and two paramedics rushed in, bringing astretcher. And now there
was pandemonium, they were asking him rapid-fire questions, and loading the guy onto the stretcher. The
police arrived afew momentslater, with still more questions. They were the Beverly Hills police, so they
were polite, but they wereingstent. This man was pardyzed in Evans s gpartment, and Evans did not
seem to know anything about it.

Findly, a detective came through the door. He wore a brown suit and introduced himsalf as Ron Perry.
He gave Evans his card. Evans gave him his own card. Perry looked at it, then looked at Evans and said,
“Haven't | seenthiscard before? It looks familiar. Oh yeah, | remember. It was at that apartment on
Wilshire where the lady was paralyzed.”

“Shewasmy dient.”

“And now it's happened again, the same pardlysis,” Perry said. “Isthat a coincidence or what?’

“1 don't know,” Evans said, “because | wasn't here. | don’t know what happened.”

“Somehow people just become parayzed wherever you go?’



“No,” Evanssaid. “I told you, | don’t know what happened.”
“Isthisguy aclient, too?’

“No.”

“Thenwhoishe?’

“I have noideawho heis”

“No?How’d he get in here?’

Evanswas about to say he had |eft the door open for him, but he redlized that was going to be along
explanation, and adifficult one.

“I don’'t know. I, uh...Sometimes | don’t lock my door.”

“Y ou should aways lock your door, Mr. Evans. That’ sjust common sense.”
“Of course, you'reright.”

“Doesn’'t your door lock automaticaly, when you leave?’

“I told you, | don’t know how he got in my apartment,” Evans said, looking directly into the detective' s
eyes.

The detective returned the stare. “How’ d you get those stitches in your head?’

“lfdl.”

“Lookslikequiteafdl.”

“It was”

The detective nodded dowly. “Y ou could save usalot of troubleif you'd just tell mewho thisguy is,
Mr. Evans. Y ou' ve got aman in your apartment, you don’t know who heis, you don’t know how he got
here. Forgive meif | fed you're maybe |leaving something out.”

“lam.”

“Okay.” Perry took out his notebook. “ Go ahead.”

“The guy’ saprivate detective.”

“I know that.”

“Youdo? Evanssad.

“The paramedics checked his pockets, found alicensein hiswallet. Go on.”



“Hetold me he had been hired by aclient of mine.”

“Uh-huh. Which clientisthat?” Perry waswriting.

“I can't tdll you that,” Evanssaid.

Helooked up from his pad. “Mr. Evans—"

“I'm sorry. That' sprivileged.”

The detective gave along sigh. “Okay, so thisguy isaprivate investigator hired by aclient of yours.”

“Right,” Evans said. “ Theinvestigator contacted me and said he wanted to see me, to giveme
something.”

“To giveyou something?’

“Right”

“Hedidn’'t want to giveit to the client?’

“Hecouldn't.”

“Because?’

“Thedientis, uh, unavalable”

“| see. So he cameto you instead?’

“Yes. And hewas abit paranoid, and wanted to meet me in my gpartment.”
“So you left the door to your apartment open for him.”

“yes”

“Some guy you' d never seen before?’

“Yes, well, | knew he wasworking for my client.”

“How did you know that?’

Evans shook his head. “Privileged.”

“Okay. So thisguy comesinto your gpartment. Where are you?’

“l wasat my office”

Evans quickly recounted his movements during the intervening two hours.

“People saw you at the office?’



“yes”
“Conversations?’

“yes”

“More than one person?’

“yes”

“Y ou see anybody el se besides peoplein thelaw firm?’

“| stopped to get gas.”

“ Attendant will recognize you?’

“Yes. | had to gointo use my credit card.”

“Which getion?’

“Shell on Fico.”

“Okay. So you were gone two hours, you come back here, and theguy is...”
“Asyou saw him. Pardyzed.”

“And what was he going to give you?’

“I have noidea.”

“Y ou didn't find anything in the gpartment?’

“No.”

“Anything e se you want to tell me?’

“No.”

Another long sigh. “Look, Mr. Evans. If two people | knew were mysterioudy parayzed, I'd be alittle
worried. But you don't seem worried.”

“Bdieveme, I'mworried,” Evanssaid.

The detective frowned a him. “Okay,” hesaid findly. “Y ou have aclient privilege you' reinvoking. |
haveto tdll you that I’ ve gotten callsfrom UCLA and from the CDC on this paralysis thing. Now that
there' sa second case, there are going to be more cals.” Heflipped his notebook shut. “1’m going to
need you to come by the station and give us a signed statement. Can you do that |ater today?’

“I think s0.”

“Four o'clock?’



“Yes. Fine”

“The addressison the card. Just ask for me at the desk. Parking is under the building.”

“Okay,” Evanssaid.

“Seeyou then,” the detective said, and turned to leave.

Evans shut the door behind him and leaned againgt it. He was glad to findly be done. He waked around
the gpartment dowly, trying to focus histhoughts. The teevison was sill on, but the sound was turned
off. Helooked at the couch where the private investigator had been sitting. The indentation of his body

was dill vigble

He till had half an hour before he was supposed to meet with Drake. But he wanted to know what the
Pl had brought to him. Where wasit? Evans had moved in every direction of the compass, and each time
the man had indicated with hisfingertipsthat it was the wrong direction.

Which meant what? He hadn’t brought the thing? It was somewhere else? Or that whoever paralyzed
him had taken it, so it was no longer there?

Evanssighed. The critical question—isit here?—was one he hadn’t asked the detective. Evansjust
assumed it wasthere.

And suppose it was? Where would it be?

North, south, east, west. All wrong.

Which meant...

What?

He shook his head. He was having trouble concentrating. The truth was, the private investigator’s
paraysis had unnerved him more than he wanted to admit. He looked at the couch, and the indentation.

The guy couldn’'t move. It must have been terrifying. And the paramedics had lifted him up bodily, likea
sack of potatoes, and put him on the stretcher. The cushions on the couch were in disarray, areminder of

their efforts.
Idly, Evans straightened up the couch, putting the cushionsin place, fluffing them. ..

Hefet something. Ingde adit in one cushion. He stuck his hand deeper into the padding.

“Damn,” hesad.

Of courseit was obviousin retrospect. Moving away in every direction waswrong, because the
investigator wanted Evansto movetoward him. The guy was Sitting on the thing, which he had dipped

ing de the couch cushion.



It turned out to beashiny DVD.

Evans dropped it in the DVD player, and watched as amenu came up, alist of dates. They weredl in
the last few weeks.

Evansclicked on the first date.

He saw aview of the NERF conference room. It was a sSide angle, from the corner of the room, waist
high. It must have been from a camera hidden in the speaker’ s podium or something, Evans thought.
Undoubtedly theinvestigator had ingtalled the camerathe day Evans had seen him in the NERF
conference room.

At the bottom of the screen was a running time code, numbersflickering. But Evans stared at theimage
itself, which showed Nicholas Drake talking to John Henley, the PR guy. Drake was upset, throwing up
hishands.

“I hate globd warming,” Drake said, amost shouting. “1 fuckinghate it. It's agoddamn disaster.”
“It' sbeen established,” Henley said camly. “ Over many years. It swhat we have to work with.”

“Towork with? Butit doesn’t work, ” Drake said. “That’smy point. Y ou can't raiseadimewith it,
especidly inwinter. Every time it snows peopleforget dl about globa warming. Or e sethey decide
some warming might be agood thing after dl. They’ re trudging through the snow, hoping for alittle globd
warming. It'snot like pollution, John. Pollutionworked. 1t still works. Pollution scares the shit out of
people. Youtel 'emthey’ll get cancer, and the money rollsin. But nobody is scared of alittle warming.
Especidly if it won't happen for ahundred years”

“You havewaysto play it,” Henley said.

“Not anymore,” Drake said. “We vetried them al. Species extinction from globa warming—nobody
givesashit. They’ ve heard that most of the species that will become extinct areinsects. You can't raise
money on insect extinctions, John. Exotic diseases from globa warming—nobody cares. Hasn't
happened. We ran that huge campaign last year connecting globa warming to the Ebola and Hanta
viruses. Nobody went for it. Searleve rise from globa warming—we al know wherethat’' [l end up. The
Vanutu lawsuit isafucking disaster. Everybody’ |l assumethe sealeve isn't rising anywhere. And that
Scandinavian guy, that sealevel expert. HE' sbecoming apest. HE' s even attacking the IPCC for
incompetence.”

“Yes” Henley said patiently. “That’sdl true...”

“Soyoutell me” Drake said, “how the hell I'm supposed toplay globa warming. Because you know
what | have to raise to keep this organization going, John. | need forty-two million dollarsayear. The
foundationswill only give me aquarter of that thisyear. The celebrities show up at the fund-raisers, but
they don’t give us shit. They're 0 egotigtical they think showing up should be payment enough. Of
course we sue the EPA every year, and they may cough up three, four million. With EPA grants, maybe
fivetotd. That ill leaves abig gap, John. Globa warming isn’'t going to cut it. | need afuckingcause. A
cause thatworks! ”



“I undergtand,” Henley said, il very cam. “But you are forgetting the conference.”

“Oh, Chrigt, the conference,” Drake said. “ These assholes can't even get the posters right. Bendix is our
best speaker; he' sgot afamily problem. Wifeis having chemo. Gordon was scheduled, but he’ s got
some lawsuit about hisresearch... Seems his notebooks were faked. ..”

“Those are details, Nicholas,” Henley said. “I’m asking you to stay with the big picture—"

At that moment, the phone rang. Drake answered it, listened briefly. Then he put hishand over the
phone and turned to Henley.

“We have to continue thislater, John. I’ ve got an emergency here.”
Henley got up, and |eft the room.
Theclip ended.

The screen went black.

Evans stared at the blank screen. Hefdt asif he were going to beill. A wave of dizziness passed over
him. His stomach churned. He held the remote in his hand, but he did not press the buttons.

The moment passed. He took a breath. On reflection, he realized that what he had seen was't really
surprising. Perhaps Drake was more explicit in private—everyone was—and obvioudy he felt under
pressure to raise money. But the frustration he expressed was perfectly understandable. From the
beginning, the movement had had to fight apathy in the broader society. Human beings didn’t think in the
long term. They didn’t see the dow degradation of the environment. It had always been an uphill battle to
rouse the public to do what wasredly in its own best interest.

That fight wasfar from over. In fact, it wasjust beginning.

And it was probably truethat it wasn't easy to raise money for globa warming. So Nicholas Drake had
hiswork cut out for him.

And environmental organizationswere redly working with very smal funds. Forty-four million for
NERF, the samefor the NRDC, maybe fifty for the Sierra Club. The big one was the Nature
Conservancy, they had three quarters of abillion. But what was that compared with the zillions of dollars
that could be mobilized by corporations? It was David and Goliath. And Drake was David. As he had
sad himsdlf, on every occasion.

Evans glanced at hiswatch. In any case, it wastimeto go see Drake.
Hetook the DV D out of the player, dipped it into his pocket, and lft the gpartment. On hisway, he

reviewed what he was going to say. He went over it, again and again, trying to makeit perfect. He had to
do it carefully, because everything Kenner had told him to say wasalie.
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“Peter, Peter,” Nicholas Drake said, shaking his hand warmly. “I am very pleased to see you. You've
been away.”

“yes”
“But you haven't forgotten my request.”

“No, Nick.”

“Haveaseat.”

Evans sat down and Drake sat behind the desk. “Go ahead.”
“I traced the origin of that clause.”

-

“Yes. You wereright. George did get the ideafrom alawyer.”
“I knew it! Who?”

“An outsde attorney, not in our firm.” Evans spoke carefully, saying just what Kenner had instructed him
to say.

“Who?’

“Unfortunately, Nick, there s documentation. Red-lined drafts with George' s handwritten comments.”
“Ah, shit. From when?’

“Six months ago.”

“Sx monthd”

“Apparently George has been concerned for some time abouit. . .things. The groups he supports.”

“He never told me.”

“Nor me,” Evans said. “He chose an outside attorney.”

“1 want to see this correspondence,” Drake said.

Evans shook his head. “ The attorney will never permit it.”

“Georgeisdead.”



“Privilege continues after death. Swidler and Berlinv. United States. ”
“Thisisbullshit, Peter, and you know it.”

Evans shrugged. “Buit this attorney plays by the book. And I have arguably overstepped proper bounds
by saying asmuch as| have.”

Drake drummed his fingers on the desk top. “ Peter, the Vanutu lawsuit is desperately in need of that

“I keep hearing,” Evans said, “that that lawsuit may be dropped.”

“Nonsense”

“Because the data sets don’t show any risein Peacific sealevel.”

“I'd be careful about saying thingslikethat,” Drake said. “Where did you hear that? Because that hasto
be disnformation from industry, Peter. Thereisno question sealevelsarerising around theworld. It's
been scientifically demongtrated time and again. Why, just the other day | was looking at the satellite
measurements of sealeve, which are ardatively new way to make those measurements. The satdllites
show arise of severa millimeters, justinthelast year.”

“Wasthat published data?’ Evans said.

“I don’'t remember offhand,” Drake said, giving him an odd look. “It wasin one of the briefing
summaries| get.”

Evans hadn't planned to ask questionslike these. They had just somehow come out of his mouth,

unbidden. And he was uncomfortably aware that histone was skeptica. No wonder Drake was giving
him an odd look.

“I don’'t mean anything,” Evans said quickly. “It’sjust thet | heard theserumors...”

“And you wanted to get to the bottom of it,” Drake said, nodding. “Asisonly natural. I'm glad you
brought thisto my attention, Peter. I'll get on the horn with Henley and find out what' sbeing
disseminated. Of courseit’s an endless battle. Y ou know we have those Neanderthals at the Competitive
Enterprise Ingtitute, and the Hoover Foundation, and the Marshdl Ingtitute to dedl with. Groups financed
by right-wing radicas and brain-dead fundamentdigts. But, unfortunately, they have atremendous
amount of money at their disposal.”

“Yes, | understand,” Evans said. He turned to go. “Do you need me for anything €l se?’

“I'll befrank,” Drake said, “I’'m not happy. Are we back to fifty thousand aweek?’

“Under the circumstances, | think we have no option.”

“Then wewill haveto manage,” Drake said. “ The lawsuit’ sgoing fine, by the way. But | have to focus
my energies on the conference.”

“Oh, right. When does that start?’



“Wednesday,” Drake said. “Four days from now. Now, if you'll excuseme...”

“Of course,” Evanssaid. Hewalked out of the office, leaving his cell phone on the side table across from
the desk.

Evans had gone dl the way down the gairsto the ground floor before he realized Drake hadn’t asked
him about his stitches. Everyone el se he had seen that day had made some comment about them, but not
Drake.

Of course, Drake had alot on hismind, with the preparations for the conference. Directly ahead, Evans
saw the ground-floor conference room bustling with activity. The banner on the wall read, ABRUPT
CLIMATE CHANGE—THE CATASTROPHE AHEAD. Twenty young people clustered around a
large table, on which stood ascale modd of the interior of an auditorium, and the surrounding parking lot.
Evans paused to watch for amoment.

One of the young people was putting wooden blocks in the parking lot, to smulate cars.

“Hewon't likethat,” another one said. “He wants the dots nearest the building reserved for newsvans,
not buses.”

“I left three spaces over herefor news,” thefirst kid said. “Isn’t that enough?”

“Hewantsten.”

“Ten gpaces? How many news crews does he think are going to show up for thisthing?’

“1 don’'t know, but he wants ten spaces and he' stold us to arrange extra power and phone lines.”

“For an academic conference on abrupt climate change? | don’t get it. How much can you say about
hurricanes and droughts? He' |l be lucky to have three crews.”

“Hey, he'sthe boss. Mark off the ten dots and be done with it.”
“That means the buses have to go way in the back.”

“Tendots, Jake.”

“Okay, okay.”

“Next to the building, because the line feeds are very expensive. The auditorium’s charging usan am
and aleg for the extra utilities”

At the other end of thetable, agirl was saying, “How dark will it bein the exhibition spaces? Will it be
dark enough to project video?’

“No, they'relimited to flat pandls.”

“Some of the exhibitors have dl-in-one projectors.”



“Oh, that should be dl right.”

A young woman came up to Evans as he was standing looking into the room. “Can | help you, Sir?’ She
looked like areceptionist. She had that bland prettiness.

“Yes,” hesaid, nodding toward the conference room. “I was wondering how | arrange to attend this
conference.”

“It' sby invitation only, I'm afraid,” she said. “It’ san academic conference, not redly opento the
public.”

“I'vejust left Nick Drake s office,” Evanssaid, “and | forgot to ask him—"

“Oh. Wdll, actudly, | have some comp tickets at the reception desk. Do you know which day you'll be
atending?’

“All of them,” Evanssad.

“That’ s quite acommitment,” she said, smiling. “If you'll comethisway, sr...”

It was only ashort drive from NERF to the conference headquarters, in downtown Santa Monica
Workmen on acherry picker were placing letters on the large sign: sofar it said, ABRUPT CLIMATE
CHA , and beneath, THE CATASTR .

His car was hot in the midday sun. Evans cdled Sarah on the car phone. “It'sdone. | left my phonein
hisoffice”

“Okay. | was hoping you'd call earlier. | don't think that matters anymore.”
“No? Why?’

“I think Kenner aready found out what he needed.”

“Hedid?

“Here, tk tohim.”

Evansthought, she swith him?

“Kenner spesking.”

“It's Peter,” hesaid.

“Where areyou?’

“In SantaMonica.”

“Go back to your apartment and pack some hiking clothes. Then wait there.”



“For what?’

“Change dl the clothes you are wearing now. Take nothing with you that you are wearing right now.”
“Why?

“Later.”

Click.The phone was dead.

Back in his gpartment, he hastily packed a bag. Then he went back to the living room. While he waited,
he put the DV D back into the player and waited for the menu of dates.

He chose the second date on thelist.

On the screen, he once again saw Drake and Henley. It must have been the same day, because they
were dressed in the same clothes. But now it was later. Drake had his jacket off, hung over achair.

“I’velistened to you before,” Drake was saying. He sounded resentful. “ And your advice didn’t work.”
“Think structurdly,” Henley said, leaning back in hischair, staring up at the ceiling, fingertips tented.
“What the hell does that mean?’ Drake said.

“Think structurdly, Nicholas. In terms of how information functions. What it holds up, what holdsit up.”
“Thisisjust PR bullshit.”

“Nicholas” Henley said, sharply. “I amtrying to help you.”

“Sorry.” Drake looked chastened. He hung his head alittle.

Watching the video, Evansthought: Is Henley in charge here? For amoment, it certainly appeared that
way.

“Now then,” Henley said. “Let me explain how you are going to solve your problem. The solutionis
sample. Y ou have dready told me—"

Therewas aloud pounding on Evans s door. Evans stopped the DVD, and just to be safe, removed it
from the player and dipped it into his pocket. The pounding continued, impatient, as he went to the door.

It was Sanjong Thapa. He looked grim.

“Wehaveto leave” hesad. “Right now.”

V



SNAKE

DIABLO
SUNDAY, OCTOBER 10
2:43 P.M.

The helicopter thumped over the Arizona desert, twenty miles east of Flagstaff, not far from Canyon
Diablo. Inthe back seat, Sanjong handed Evans pictures and computer printouts. Speaking of the
Environmentd Liberation Front, he said, “We assume their networks are up, but so are ours. All our
networks are running,” he said, “and we picked up an unexpected clue from one of them. Of dl things,
the Southwestern Parks M anagement Association.”

“Whichis?’

“It'san organization of state park managers from dl the western states. And they discovered that
something very odd had happened.” A large percentage of the state parksin Utah, Arizona, and New
Mexico were booked in advance, and paid for, to reserve them for company picnics, school
celebrations, inditutional birthday parties, and so on, for this weekend. In each case they were family
affairs, involving parents and kids, sometimes grandparents, too.

True, thiswas along three-day weekend. But nearly dl the advance bookings were for Monday. Only a
handful had been for Saturday or Sunday. None of the park superintendents could remember such a
thing happening before.

“| don't get it,” Evanssaid.

“They didn't either,” Sanjong said. “ They thought it might be some cult thing, and because the parks
can't be used for religious purposes, they got on the phone and called some of the organizations. And
they found in every case that the organization had received a specid donation to fund the function on this
particular weekend.”

“Donation from whom?’

“Charitable organizations. In every case the Situation wasthe same. They' d receive aletter saying
‘Thank you for your recent request for funding. We are pleased to say we can support your get-together
at such-and-such park on Monday, October eleventh. The check has aready been sent in your name.
Enjoy your gathering.” ”

“But the groups never requested the booking?’

“No. Sothey’d cdl the charity, and someone would tell them it must have been amixup, but sincethe
checks were dready sent out, they might aswell go ahead and use the park that day. And alot of the



groups decided they would.”
“And these charitable organizations were?’

“None you ever heard of. The Amy Rossiter Fund. The Fund for aNew America. The Roger V. and
Eleanor T. Makin Foundation. The Joiner Memorial Foundation. All together, about adozen charities.”

“Red charities?’

Sanjong shrugged. “We assume not. But we' re checking that now.”

Evanssad, “1 ill don't getit.”

“Somebody wants those parks used this weekend.”

“Yes, but why?’

Sanjong handed him a photograph. It was an aerial shot in false colors, and it showed aforet, the trees
bright red againgt adark blue ground. Sanjong tapped the center of the picture. There, inaclearing in the
forest, Evans saw what |ooked like a spiderweb on the ground—a series of concentric lines connecting
fixed points. Like a spiderweb.

“Andthat is?’

“It'sarocket array. The launchers are the fixed points. The lines are the power cablesto control the
launch.” Hisfinger moved acrossthe picture. “ And you see, there' sanother array here. And athird one
here. Thethree arraysform atriangle, approximately five mileson each sde”

Evans could seeit. Three separate spiderwebs, set in clearingsin the forest.

“Threerocket arrays...”

“Yes. We know they have purchased five hundred solid-state rockets. The rockets themselves are quite
smdl. Close analysis of the picture dements indicates that the launchers are four to six inchesin diameter,
which means the rockets are capable of going up about athousand feet or so. Not more than that. Each
array has about fifty rockets, wired together. Probably not set to fire at the same time. And you notice
the launchers are placed quite far apart...”

“But for what purpose?’ Evans said. “ These things are out in the middle of nowhere. They shoot up a
thousand feet, and then fall back down? Isthat it? What' s the point of that?”

“Wedon't know,” Sanjong said. “ But we have another clue. The picture you' re holding in your hands
was taken yesterday. But here is a picture from aflyby thismorning.” He handed Evans a second picture,
showing the sameterrain.

The spiderwebs were gone.

“What happened?’ Evans said.

“They packed up and left. You seein thefirg picture, there are vans parked at the edge of the clearings.
Apparently, they just put everything in the vans and moved.”



“Because they were spotted?’

“It' sunlikely they know they were spotted.”

“Thenwhat?’

“Wethink they had to move to amore favorable setting.”
“Morefavorablefor what?’ Evanssad. “What' sgoing on?’

“It may be significant,” Sanjong said, “that at the time they purchased the rockets, they aso purchased a
hundred and fifty kilometers of microfilament wire.”

Hewas nodding to Evans, asif that was supposed to explain everything.
“A hundred and fifty kilometers...”

Sanjong flicked his eyestoward the helicopter pilot, and shook his head. “We can go into it in greater
detail later on, Peter.”

And then he looked out the window.

Evans stared out the opposite window. He saw mile after mile of eroded desert landscape, cliffs brown
with streaks of orange and red. The helicopter rumbled northward. He could see the helicopter’ s shadow
racing over the sand. Distorted, twisted, then recognizable again.

Rockets, he thought. Sanjong had given him thisinformation asif he were supposed to figureit out on his
own. Five hundred rockets. Groups of fifty launchers, set widely apart. One hundred and fifty kilometers
of microfilament wire.

Perhaps that was supposed to mean something, but Peter Evans didn’t have the faintest ideawhat it
could possibly be. Groups of small rockets, for what?

Microfilament, for what?

In hisheed, it was easy enough to caculate that if this microfilament was attached to the rockets, each
rocket would have about athird of akilometer of wire. And athird of akilometer was...roughly a
thousand fest.

Which was how high Sanjong said the rockets could go, anyway.

So these rockets were flying athousand feet into the air, dragging a microfilament wire behind them?
What was the point of that? Or was the wire intended to be used to retrieve them, later on? But no, he
thought, that couldn’t be. The rockets would fal back into the forest, and any microfilament would snap.

And why were the rockets spaced widdly apart? If they were only afew inchesin diameter, couldn’t
they be packed closer together?



He seemed to recall that the military had rocket launchers where the rockets were so close together the
finsamost touched. So why should these rockets be far apart?

A rocket fliesup...dragging athin wire...and it getsto athousand feet...and. ..

And what?

Perhaps, he thought, there was some instrumentation in the nose of each rocket. The wirewas away to
transmit information back to the ground. But what instrumentation?

What wasthe point of dl this?

He glanced back at Sanjong, who was now hunched over another photograph.

“What' re you doing?’

“Trying to figure out where they’ ve gone.”

Evans frowned as he saw the picture in Sanjong’ s hand. It was a satdllite weather map.
Sanjong was holding aweather map.

Did dl thishave to do with weather?

FLAGSTAFF
SUNDAY, OCTOBER 10
8:31 P.M.

“Yes,” Kenner said, leaning forward in the booth of the restaurant. They were in the back of a
steakhouse in Flagstaff. The jukebox at the bar was playing old ElvisPredey: “Don’'t Be Crud.” Kenner
and Sarah had showed up just afew minutes before. Sarah, Evans thought, looked drawn and worried.

Not her usud cheerful sdif.
“Wethink thisisal about the weather,” Kenner was saying. “Infact, we' resureit is.” He paused while
awaitress brought salads, then continued. “ There are two reasons to think so. First, ELF has bought a

consderable amount of expensive technology that seemsto have no use in common, except perhaps
attempts to influence the weather. And second, the—"

“Hold on, hold on,” Evans said. * Y ou said attempts to influence the weether?”
3 Exﬂly_”
“Influence how?’

“Control it,” Sanjong said.



Evansleaned back in the booth. “Thisiscrazy,” hesaid. “I mean, you' re telling me these guysthink they
can control the westher?’

“They can,” Sarah said.

“But how?’ Evanssaid. “How could they do it?’
“Most of theresearch isclassified.”

“Then how do they get it?’

“Good question,” Kenner said. “And we d like to know that answer. But the point is, we assume that
these rocket arrays are designed to produce magjor storms, or to amplify the power of existing storms.”

“By doing what?’

“They cause achangein the eectric potentials of the infra-cumulus strata.”

“I'mglad | asked,” Evanssaid. “That' svery clear.”

“Wedon't redly know the details,” Kenner said, “athough I'm surewe Il find out soon enough.”

“The strongest evidence,” Sanjong said, “comes from the pattern of park rentas. These guys have
arranged for lots of picnics over alarge area—three states, in point of fact. Which meansthey are
probably going to decide at the last minute where to act, based on existing weather conditions.”

“Decidewhat?’ Evans said. “What are they going to do?’

Nobody spoke.

Evanslooked from one to another.

“Wel?

“We know onething,” Kenner said. “They want it documented. Because if there' s one thing you can
count on at aschool picnic or acompany outing with familiesand kids, it' slots of cameras. Lots of
video, lots of dills”

“And then of course the news crewswill come,” Sanjong said.

“They will?Why?’

“Blood draws cameras,” Kenner said.

“Y ou mean they’ re going to hurt people?’

“I think it' sclear,” Kenner said, “that they’regoing to try.”



An hour later they all sat on lumpy motel beds while Sanjong hooked a portable DVD player to the
televison set in theroom. They werein acrappy motel room in Shoshone, Arizona, twenty miles north of

Hagstaff.
On the screen, Evans once again saw Henley talking to Drake.
“I'veligtened to you before,” Drake said resentfully. “And it didn’t work.”

“Think structurdly,” Henley answered. He was leaning back in hischair, staring up at the ceiling,
fingertipstented.

“What the hell doesthat mean?’ Drake said.

“Think structurdly, Nicholas. In terms of how information functions. What it holds up, what holdsit up.”

“Thisisjust PR bullshit.”

“Nicholas,” Henley sad, sharply. “1 am trying to hep you.”

“Sorry.” Drake looked chastened. He hung his head alittle.

Watching the screen, Evans said, “Doesit look like Henley isin charge here?”

“He' sdwaysbeenin charge,” Kenner said. “Didn’'t you know that?’

On the screen, Henley was saying, “Let me explain how you are going to solve your problem, Nicholas.
The solutionissmple. Y ou have dready told methat globa warming is unsatisfactory because whenever
thereisacold snap, people forget about it.”

“Yes, | told you—"

“So what you need,” Henley said, “isto structure the information so that whatever kind of weather
occurs, it dways confirms your message. That' sthe virtue of shifting the focus to aorupt climate change.
It enables you to use everything that happens. There will dways be floods, and freezing storms, and
cyclones, and hurricanes. These events will dways get headlines and airtime. And in every instance, you
can clamitisan example of abrupt climate change caused by globa warming. So the message gets
reinforced. The urgency isincreased.”

“I don’'t know,” Drake said doubtfully. “That’ s been tried, the last couple of years.”

“Y es, on ascattered, individual basis. 1solated politicians, making claims about isolated storms or floods.
Clinton didit, Goredid it, that blithering science minister in England did it. But we re not talking about
isolated paliticians, Nicholas. We are talking about an organized campaign throughout the world to make
people understand that globa warming is responsible for abrupt and extreme weether events.”

Drake was shaking hishead. “Y ou know,” he said, *“how many studies show no increasein extreme
wesether events.”

“Pease” Henley snorted. “ Disinformation from skeptics.”

“That' s hard to sdll. There aretoo many sudies...”



“What are you talking about, Nicholas? It' sasngp to sdll. The public dready believesthat industry is
behind any contrary view.” He sighed. “In any case, | promise you there will soon be more computer
models showing that extreme weatherisincreasing. The scientistswill get behind thisand deliver whet is
needed. Y ou know that.”

Drake paced. He looked unhappy. “But it just doesn’t make sense,” he said. “It’ snot logica to say that
freezing westher is caused by globa warming.”

“What’' slogic got to do with it?” Henley said. “All we need isfor the mediato report it. After al, most
Americans bdieve that crimein their country isincreasing, when it has actualy been decliningfor twelve
years. The US murder rateisaslow asit wasin the early 1970s, but Americans are more frightened than
ever, because so much more airtimeis devoted to crime, they naturaly assumethereismorein red life,
t00.” Henley sat up in hischair. “ Think about what | am saying to you, Nicholas. A twelve-year trend,
and they 4till don't believeit. Thereisno greater proof that dl redity ismediaredity.”

“The Europeans are more sophisticated—"

“Trust me—it'll be even easier to sdll abrupt climate change in Europe than inthe US. You just do it out
of Brussals. Because bureaucratsget it, Nicholas. They' |l see the advantages of this shift in emphags”

Drake did not reply. He walked back and forth, handsin his pockets, staring &t the floor.

“Just think how far we have come!” Henley said. “Back in the 1970s, dl the climate scientists believed
an ice age was coming. They thought the world was getting colder. But once the notion of globa warming
was raised, they immediately recognized the advantages. Globa warming creastesacriss, acdl to action.
A crisisneedsto be studied, it needsto be funded, it needs political and bureaucratic structures around
theworld. Andin notimeat al, ahuge number of meteorologists, geologists, oceanographers suddenly
became ' dlimate scientists engaged in the management of thiscrigs. Thiswill be the same, Nicholas”

“Abrupt climate change has been discussed before, and it hasn't caught on.”

“That’ swhy you are holding a conference,” Henley said patiently. “Y ou hold awel-publicized
conference and it happensto coincide with some dramatic evidence for the dangers of abrupt climate.
And by the end of the conference, you will have established abrupt climate change asagenuine
problem.”

“I don’'t know...”

“Stop whining. Don't you remember how long it took to establish the globa threat of nuclear winter,
Nicholas? It tookfive days. On one Saturday in 1983, nobody in the world had ever heard of nuclear
winter. Then abig media conference was held and by the following Wednesday the entire world was
worried about nuclear winter. It was established as abonafide threat to the planet. Without asingle
published scientific paper.”

Drakegavealong sigh.

“Fivedays, Nicholas,” Henley said. “They did it. You'll do it. Y our conferenceis going to change the
ground rulesfor climate.”

The screen went black.



“My God,” Sarah said.

Evans said nothing. He just stared at the screen.

Sanjong had stopped listening some minutes before. He was working with his lgptop.
Kenner turned to Evans. “When was that segment recorded?’

“I don’'t know.” Evansdowly came out of hisfog. Helooked around the room in adaze. “I have no idea
when it was recorded. Why?’

“Y ou’ ve got the remotein your hand,” Kenner said.

“Oh, sorry.” Evans pressed the buttons, brought the menu up, saw the date. “ It was two weeks ago.”
“So Morton’'s been bugging Drake' s offices for two weeks,” Kenner said.

“Lookslikeit.”

Evans watched as the recording ran again, thistime with the sound off. He stared at the two men, Drake
pacing and worried, Henley just Sitting there, sure of himsalf. Evans was struggling to assmilate what he
had heard. Thefirst recording had seemed reasonable enough to him. There, Drake was complaining
about the problems of publicizing a genuine environmentad threat, globa warming, when everybody
naturally ceased to care about the topic in the middle of asnowstorm. All that made senseto Evans.

But this conversation...He shook his head. This one worried him.
Sanjong clapped his hands together and said, “1 got it! | havethelocation!” He turned hislaptop so

everyone could see the screen. “Thisis NEXRAD radar from FHaggstaff-Pulliam. Y ou can seethe
preci pitation center forming northeast of Payson. There should be astorm there by midday tomorrow.”

“How far isthat from us?’ Sarah said.

“About ninety miles”

Kenner said, “| think we better get in the helicopter.”

“And dowhat?’ Evanssaid. “It'sten o' clock at night, for God' s sake.”

“Dresswarmly,” Kenner said.

The world was green and black, the trees dightly fuzzy through the lenses. The night-vison goggles
pressed heavily againgt hisforehead. There was something wrong with the sirgps: they cut into hisears
and were painful. But everybody was wearing them, looking out the windows of the helicopter at the

miles of forest below.



They were looking for clearings, and had aready passed a dozen or more. Some were inhabited, the
houses dark rectangles with glowing windows. In acouple of clearings, the buildings were completey
black—ghost towns, abandoned mining communities.

But they hadn’t yet found what they werelooking for.

“Ther€ sone,” Sanjong said, pointing.

Evanslooked off to hisleft, and saw alarge clearing. The familiar spiderweb pattern of launchersand

cableswas partidly obscured intall grass. To one sSide stood alargetrailer truck of the Size used to
deliver groceriesto supermarkets. And indeed, in black lettering, he saw “A& P’ printed on the sde

pands.
“Food terrorists,” Sarah said. But no one laughed.

And then the clearing had flashed pagt, the helicopter continuing onward. The pilot had explicit
ingtructions not to dow down or to circle any clearing.

“That was definitely one,” Evans said. “Where are we now?’
“Tonto Forest, west of Prescott,” the pilot said. “1’ ve marked the coordinates.”
Sanjong sad, “We should find two more, in afive-miletriangle.”

The helicopter thumped onward into the night. It was another hour before they located the remaining
spiderwebs, and the helicopter headed home.

MCKINLEY PARK
MONDAY, OCTOBER 11
10:00 A.M.

The morning was warm and sunny, although dark clouds threatened to the north. At McKinley State
Park, the Lincoln Middle School was having its annua outing. There were baloons attached to the picnic
tables, the barbecue grills were smoking, and about three hundred kids and their families were playing on
the grassy field beside the waterfdl, throwing Frisbees and basebdls. More were playing dong the banks
of the nearby Cavender River, which meandered peacefully through the park. Theriver waslow & the
moment, with sandy banks on either side, and smdll rocky pools where the younger children played.

Kenner and the others were parked to one side, watching.

“When that river overflows,” Kenner said, “it’ll take out the entire park and everyoneinit.”

“It sapretty big park,” Evanssaid. “Will it redly overflow that much?’

“Doesn’'t take much. The water will be muddy and fast moving. Six inches of fast water is enough to

knock aperson off hisfeet. Then they dide; it' s dippery, they won't be able to get back up again.
There re rocks and debrisin the water; mud blinds them, they hit things, |ose consciousness. Most



drownings occur because people try to move across very low water.”
“But 9x inches...”

“Muddy water has power,” Kenner said. “ Six inches of mud will take a car, no problem. Losetraction,
sweep it right off theroad. Happensdl thetime.”

Evansfound this hard to believe, but Kenner was now talking about some famous flood in Colorado, the
Big Thompson, where a hundred and forty people died in amatter of minutes. “ Cars crushed like beer
cans,” hesad. “People with clothesripped off their bodies by mud. Don’t kid yoursdlf.”

“But here,” Evans said, pointing to the park. “If the water startsto rise, there will be enough timeto get

“Not if it'saflash flood. Nobody here will know until it’stoo late. That's why we re going to make sure
they don’'t have aflash flood.”

He checked hiswatch, looked up at the darkening sky, and then walked back to the cars. They had
three SUVsin arow. Kenner would drive one; Sanjong would drive one; Peter and Sarah would drive
thethird.

Kenner opened the back door to his car. He said to Peter, “Do you have agun?’

“No.”

“Y ou want one?’

“Youthink | need one?’

“Y ou might. When wasthe last time you were on arange?’

“Uh, it sbeenawhile.” In truth, Evans had never fired agunin hislife. And until this moment, he was
proud of it. He shook his head. “I’m not much of agun guy.”

Kenner had arevolver in his hands. He had opened the round barrel-thing and was checking it. Sanjong
was over by hisown car, checking an evil-looking rifle, matte black stock with atelescopic sight. His
manner was quick, practiced. A soldier. Uneasly, Evansthought: What isthis, the O.K. Corral?

“Wel bedl right,” Sarah said to Kenner. “I haveagun.”

“Y ou know how to useit?’

“l do.”

“What isit?’

“A 9-millimeter Beretta”

Kenner shook his head. “Can you handle a.387

“Sure.”



He gave her agun and aholster. She clipped the holster to the wai st-band of her jeans. She seemed to
know what she was doing.

Evanssad, “Do you redly expect usto shoot somebody?’

“Not unlessyou haveto,” Kenner said. “But you may need to defend yourself.”

“Y ou think they’ll have guns?’

“They might. Yes”

“It' sokay,” Sarah said. “Personally, I'll be happy to shoot the bastards.” Her voice was hard, angry.
“All right, then,” Kenner said. “That about doesit. Let’s mount up.”

Evansthought,Mount up. Jesus. Thiswas the O.K. Corral.

Kenner drove to the other side of the park and spoke briefly to a state trooper, whose black-and-white
patrol car stood at the edge of aclearing. Kenner had arranged radio contact with the trooper. In fact,
they were dl going to bein radio contact, because the plan required a high degree of coordination. They
would haveto hit the three spiderweb Stes a the sametime.

AsKenner explained it, the rockets were intended to do something called “charge amplification” of the
gorm. It was an idea from the last ten years, when peoplefirst began to sudy lightning inthefidd, in
actua storms. The old ideawas that each lightning strike decreased the storm’ sintensity, becauseit
reduced the difference in eectrical charge between the clouds and the ground. But some researchers had
concluded that lightning strikes had the opposite effect—they increased the power of sormsdramatically.
The mechanism for this was not known, but was presumed to be related to the sudden hest of the
lightning bolt, or the shock-waveit created, adding turbulence to the dready turbulent ssorm center. In
any case, therewas now atheory that if you could make more lightning, the ssorm would get worse.

“And the spiderwebs?’ Evans said.

“They' relittle rockets with microfilaments attached. They go up athousand feet into the cloud layer,
where the wire provides alow-res stance conduction pathway and crestes alightning strike.”

“S0o the rockets cause more lightning? That’ swhat they' refor?’

“Yes That'stheidea”

Evansremained doubtful. “Who paysfor al thisresearch?’ he said. “ The insurance companies?’
Kenner shook hishead. “It'sall classfied,” he said.

“Youmeanit' smilitary?’



“Correct.”

“The military paysfor westher research?’

“Think about it,” Kenner said.

Evanswas not inclined to do so. He was deeply skeptica of dl things military. The notion that they were
paying for wegather research struck him as the same sort of ludicrous excess as the six-hundred-dollar
toilet seats and thousand-dollar wrenches that had become so notorious. “If you ask me, it'sal awaste

of money.”

“ELF doesn't think s0,” Kenner said.

It was then that Sanjong spoke, with considerable intensity. Evans had forgotten that he was asoldier.
Sanjong said that whoever could control the weather would control the battlefield. It was an age-old
military dream. Of course the military would spend money onit.

“You'resaying it actudly works.”

“Yes,” Sanjong sad. “Why do you think we are here?’

The SUV wound up into the wooded hills north of McKinley Park. Thiswas an area of intermittent
dense forest and open grassy fields. In the passenger seet, Sarah looked at Peter. He was good-looking,
and he had the strong physique of an athlete. But sometimes he behaved like such awimp.

“Y ou ever do any sports?’ she said.

“Sure”

HWI,H?!

“Squash. A little soccer.”

“Oh.”

“Hey,” hesaid. “Just because | don’t shoot guns...I’m alawyer, for Christ’ s sake.”

She was disgppointed with him and not even sure why. Probably, she thought, because she was nervous
and wanted somebody competent to be with her. She liked being around Kenner. He was so
knowledgeable, so skilled. He knew what was going on. He was quick to respond to any situation.
Whereas Peter was anice guy, bui. ..

She watched his hands on the whedl. He drove well. And that was important today.

It was no longer sunny. They were close to the storm clouds. The day was dark, gloomy, threatening.
The road ahead was deserted as it wound through the forests. They hadn’t seen acar since they |eft the



park.

“How much farther?’ Evanssaid.
Sarah conaulted the GPS. “Looks like another five miles.”

He nodded. Sarah shifted in her seat, moving so the holstered gun would not press againgt her hip. She
glanced at the passenger-side mirror.

“Ohghit”
“What?’

Behind them was a battered blue pickup truck. With Arizona plates.

AURORAVILLE
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“We ve got trouble,” Sarah said.

“Why?" Evanssaid. He glanced in the rearview mirror, saw thetruck. “What isit?’
Sarah had theradio in her hand. “Kenner. They spotted us.”

“Who did?’ Evanssaid. “Who arethey?’

Theradio clicked. “Where are you?’ Kenner said.

“On Highway 95. We re about four miles away.”

“Okay,” Kenner said. “ Stick with the plan. Do your best.”

“Whoisit?’ Evanssaid, looking inthe mirror.

The blue pickup was advancing fast. Very fast. In the next ingtant, it banged into the back of their car.
Evanswas startled, swerved, got control again. “What thefuck?” he said.

“Just drive, Peter.”

Sarah took the revolver from its holster. She held the gun on her 1ap, looked out the side mirror.
The blue truck had dropped back for amoment, but now raced forward again.

“Here he comes—"

Perhaps because Peter stepped on the gas, the impact was surprisingly gentle. It was hardly more than a



nudge. Peter careened around the curves, glancing at the rearview mirror.

Again, the blue truck dropped back. It followed them for the next half mile, but it was never closer than
fiveor Sx car lengths.

“| don't get it,” Evanssaid. “ Arethey going to ram usor not?’
“Guessnot,” she said. “ See what happensif you dow down.”
He dowed the SUV, dropping their speed to forty.

The blue truck dowed too, falling back farther.

“They'rejust following us” shesad.

Why?

Thefirst scattered drops of rain spattered the windshield. The road ahead was spotted. But they weren't
yetinfull ran.

The blue truck dropped even farther back now.

They came around acurve, and immediately ahead of them saw abig silver eighteen-wheder, with abig
trailer. It was rumbling dowly aong the road, not going more than thirty milesan hour. On its back doors
itsad, “A&P.”

“Oh shit,” Evans said. In the back mirror, they saw the blue truck, still following. “They’ ve got usfront
and back.”

He swerved out, trying to passthe big trailer, but as soon as he did, the driver moved toward the center
of theroad. Evansimmediately fell back.

“We'retrapped,” he said.
“I don’'t know,” shesaid. “I don't get it.”

Thetrailer blocked them at the front, but behind them the blue truck was farther back than ever, severd
hundred yards down the road.

Shewas il puzzling over this Situation when a bolt of lightning crashed down at the Sde of theroad as
they drove padt. It couldn’t have been more than ten yards away, awhite-hot, dazzling blast of light and
sound. They both jumped.

“ Jesus, that was close,” Evans said.
“Yes...”
“1"ve never seen onethat close”

Before she could answer, a second bolt crashed down, directly in front of them. The sound was
explosve; Evans swerved involuntarily, even though the bolt was gone.



“Holy shit.”

By then Sarah had asuspicion, just asthe third bolt hit the car itself, a deafening crash and a sudden
pressure that made knife painsin her ears and ablast of white that envel oped the car. Evans screamed in
fear and let go of thewhed; Sarah grabbed it and straightened the car in the road.

A fourth bolt smashed down by the driver’ sside, just inchesfrom the car. The driver’ s-side window
cracked and splintered.

“Holy shit,” Evanswas saying. “Holy shit! What isthis?’

To Sarah, it was only too obvious.

They wereattracting lightning.

The next bolt cracked down, and wasimmediately followed by another, which smashed into the hood
and spread burning white, jagged fingers over the car, and then was gone. There was a huge black
indentation in the hood.

“I can't dothis” Evanswas saying. “I can't, | can't do this”

“Drive, Peter,” Sarah said, grabbing his arm and squeezing hard.” Drive”

Two more bolts hit them, in rapid succession. Sarah smelled the odor of something burning—shewasn't
sure what. But now she understood why they had been so gently rammed.

The blue pickup had stuck something onto their car. Some kind of eectronic thing. And it was drawing
the lightning to them.

“What do we do? What do we do?’ Evans was whimpering. He howled as each new bolt struck.

But they were trapped, driving on anarrow road, hemmed in by dense pine forest on both sides of the
road...

Something she should know.
Forest...What about the forest?

A lightning bolt cracked the rear window with explosive force. Another bolt struck them so hard it
bounced the car on the macadam, asif it had been hit by a hammer.

“The hell with this”” Evans said, and spun the whed, turning off the highway and onto adirt track in the
forest. Sarah saw a sign flash by, the name of atown on a battered post. They were plunged into near
darkness under the huge, green pines. But the lightning immediately stopped.

Of course, she thought. The trees.

Evenif thair car was attracting lightning, it would sirike the taller treesfirg.



A moment later, it did. They heard asharp crack just behind them, and lightning flashed down the side of
atdl pine, splitting the trunk open with what looked like steam and bursting the tree into flames.

“We regoing to dart aforest fire.”

“| don't care,” Evans said. He was driving fast. The vehicle was bouncing over the dirt road, but it was
an SUV and it rode high so Sarah knew they would be dl right.

Looking back, she saw the tree burning, and the fire spreading laterdly in fingers dong the ground.
Kenner on theradio: “ Sarah, what’ s happening?’

“We had to leave the road. WEe re being struck by lightning.”

“Alot!” Evansydled. “All thetime!”

“Find the attractor,” Kenner said.

“1 think it's attached to the car,” Sarah said. As she spoke, a bolt smashed down on the road just ahead
of them. The glare was so bright she saw green streaks before her eyes.

“Then dump the car,” Kenner said. “Go out aslow asyou can.”

He clicked off. Evans continued to race forward, the SUV bouncing on theruts. “I don’t want to leave,”
hesaid. “I think we' re safer indde. They always say don’t leave your car because you' re safer indde.
The rubber tiresinsulate you.”

“But something' sonfire,” shesad, sniffing.

The car jolted and bounced. Sarah tried to keep her balance, just holding onto her seat, not touching the
metal of the doors.

“l don't care, | think we should stay,” Evans said.
“The gastank might explode...”

“I don't want to leave,” he said. “I’'m not leaving.” His knuckles were white, gripping thewhedl. Ahead,
Sarah saw aclearing in the forest. It was alarge clearing, with high, yellow grass.

A lightning bolt smashed down with afearsome crack, shattering the sde mirror, which blew apart likea
bomb. A moment later, they heard a softwhump. The car tilted to one side. “ Oh shit,” Evanssaid. “It
blew atire”

“So much for theinsulation,” she said.

The car was now grinding, the underside scraping over adirt rut, metal squeding.

“Peter,” shesaid.

“All right, dl right, just let me get to the clearing.”



“| don’'t think we can wait.”

But the rut ended, the road flattened, and Evans drove forward, creaking on the rim, into the clearing.
Raindrops spattered the windshield. Above the grass, Sarah saw the roofs of wooden buildings bleached
by the sun. It took her amoment to realize that thiswas aghost town. Or amining town.

Directly ahead was asign, auroraville, pop. 82. Another lightning bolt crashed down, and Evans hit the
sgn, knocking it over.

“Peter, | think we' re here.”
“Okay, yeah, let me get alittle closer—"

“Now, Peter!”

He stopped the car, and they flung open their doorsin unison. Sarah threw hersalf bodily onto the
ground, and another bolt crashed so close to her that the blast of hot air knocked her sdeways and sent

her rolling on the ground. Theroar of the lightning was deafening.

She got up on hands and knees, and scrambled around to the back of the vehicle. Evanswas on the
other side of the SUV, ydling something, but she couldn’t hear him. She examined the rear bumper.

There was no attachment, no device.

There was nothing there.

But she had no time to think, because another bolt struck the back of the SUV, rocking it, and the rear
window shattered, sprinkling her with shards of glass. She fought panic and scrambled forward, staying
low as she moved around the SUV and through the grass toward the nearest building.

Evans was somewhere ahead, yelling to her. But she couldn’t hear him over the rumbling thunder. She
just didn’'t want another bolt, not now, if she could just go afew more seconds...

Her hands touched wood. A board.

A step.

She crawled forward quickly, pushing aside the grass, and now she saw a porch, adilapidated building,
and swinging from the roof asign bleached so gray she couldn’t seewhat it said. Evanswasinside, and
she scrambled forward, ignoring the splintersin her hands, and he wasyelling, yelling.

And shefinaly heard what he was saying:

“Look out for the scorpiong!”

They weredl over the wooden porch—tiny, pale yelow, with their stingersin the air. There must have
been two dozen. They moved surprisingly fast, scampering sideways, like crabs.

“Stand up!”
She got to her feet, and ran, feding the arachnids crunch under her feet. Another lightning bolt smashed



into the building’ s roof, knocking down the sign, which fell in acloud of dust onto the porch.

But then shewasinsde the building. And Evanswas standing there, fistsraised, yelling, “Yes Yed We
didit!”

She was gasping for breath. “ At least they weren't snakes,” she said, chest heaving.
Evanssad, “What?'

“There redwaysrattlersin these old buildings.”

“Oh Jesus”

Outside, thunder rumbled.

And the lightning started again.

Through the shattered, grimy window Sarah was looking at the SUV, and thinking that now that they
had |eft the car, there were no more lightning strikes on the SUV ... .thinking. ..nothing on the
bumper...then why had the pickup nudged the SUV? What was the point? She turned to ask Evansif he
had noticed—

And alightning bolt blasted straight down through the roof, smashing it open to the dark sky, sending
boardsflying in dl directions, and blagting into the ground right where she had been standing. The
lightning left ablackened pattern of jagged streaks, like the shadow of athorn bush on thefloor. The
ozone smdll was strong. Wisps of smoke drifted up from the dry floorboards.

“Thiswhole building could go,” Evans said. He was aready flinging a side door open, heading outside.
“Stay low,” Sarah said, and followed him ouit.

The rain was coming down harder, big splattering dropsthat struck her back and shoulders as sheran to
the next building. It had abrick chimney, and looked generdly better built. But the windows were the
same, broken and thickly coated with dust and grime.

They tried the nearest door, but it was jammed shut, so they ran around to the front, and found that door
wide open. Sarah ran ingde. A lightning bolt smashed down behind her, sagging the roof over the porch,
gplintering one of the Side posts asit streaked down into the ground. The shockwave blasted the front
windowsin ashower of dirty glass. Sarah turned away, covering her face, and when she looked out
again, sheredized shewasin ablacksmith’ s shop. There was alargefirepit in the center of the room,
and aboveit al sorts of iron implements hanging from the cailing.

And on thewadlls, she saw horseshoes, tongs, meta of al sorts.
Thisroom wasfull of metd.

The thunder rumbled ominoudy. “We haveto get out of here,” Evans shouted. “ Thisisthe wrong place

to—



He never finished. The next bolt knocked him off hisfeet asit came crashing down through the celling,
spinning theiron implements, then smashing into the firepit, blagting the bricks outward in dl directions.
Sarah ducked, covering her head and ears, felt bricks striking her shoulders, back, legs—knocking her
over—and then there was aburst of pain in her forehead, and she saw brief stars before blackness
ettled over her and the rumble of thunder faded to endless silence.

FOREST
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Kenner was fifteen miles away, driving east on Route 47, listening to Sarah’ sradio. Her transmitter was
gtill on, clipped to her belt. It was hard to be sure what was happening because each lightning strike
produced aburst of static that lasted for the next fifteen seconds. Neverthel ess he understood the most
important point—Evans and Sarah had gotten away from the SUV, but the lightning hadn’t stopped. In
fact it seemed that the lightning was following them.

Kenner had been yelling into his handset, trying to get Sarah’ s attention, but apparently she had turned
her volume down, or was too busy dedling with what was happening in the ghost town. He kept saying,
“It'sfollowing you!” over and over.

But she never answered.

Now therewas along burst of gatic, followed by silence. Kenner switched channels.

“Sanjong?’

“Yes, Professor.”

“Have you been ligening?’

113 Yaﬂ
“Where areyou?’ Kenner said.

“I am on Route 190, going north. | estimate | am three miles from the web.”

“Any lightning yet?’

“No. But therain hasjust Sarted here. First drops on the windshield.”

“Okay. Hang on.”

He went back to Sarah’s channel. There was still satic, but it was fading.

“Sarah! Areyou there? Sarah! Sarah!”

Kenner heard a cough, adistant cough.



“Sarah!”

A click. A bang. Someone fumbling with theradio. A cough. “Thisis Peter. Evans”
“What' s happening there?’

“—dead.”

“What?’

“She' sdead. Sarah’ s dead. She got hit with abrick, and she fell and then there was alightning strike that
hit her full on the body and she' sdead. I'm right here beside her. She' sdead, oh shit, she'sdead...”

“Try mouth-to-mouth.”
“I'mtelling you, she' sdead.”
“Peter.Mouth-to-mouth. ”

“Oh God...She'shlue ...”
“That meansshe'sdive, Peter.”
“—like acorpse, a—corpse—"
“Peter, listen to me.”

But Evanswasn't hearing anything. Theidiot had hisfinger on the radio button. Kenner sworein
frustration. And then suddenly anew blast of static. Kenner knew what it meant.

There had been another lightning strike. A bad one.

“Sanjong?’

Now, Kenner heard nothing but static on Sanjong’ s channd, too. It lasted ten seconds, fifteen seconds.
So Sanjong had agtrike, too. Only then did Kenner realize what must be causing it.

Sanjong came back, coughing.

“Areyoudl right?”

“I had alightning strike. Very near the car. | cannot imagine, so close”
“Sanjong,” Kenner said. “1 think it’ sthe radios.”

“Youthink?’

“Where d we get them?’



“I had them FedExed from DC.”

“Package ddivered to you personaly?’

“No. Tothemotd. The owner gaveit to mewhen | checked in...But the box was sedled...”
“Throw your radio away,” Kenner said.

“There'sno cdlular net, wewon't bein communic—"

Nothing more. Just ablast of atic.

“Peter.”

There was no answer. Only silence on the radio. Not even static now.
“Peter. Answer me. Peter. Areyou there?’

Nothing. Dead.

Kenner waited afew moments. There was no answer from Evans.

Thefirst drops of rain splashed on Kenner’ swindshield. He rolled down hiswindow, and threw his
radio away. It bounced on the pavement, and went into the grass on the other side of the road.

Kenner had gone another hundred yards down the road when a bolt of lightning crashed down behind
him on the opposite side of the road.

It wastheradios, dl right.

Somebody had gotten to the radios. In DC? Or in Arizona? It was hard to know for sure, and at this
point it didn’'t matter. Their carefully coordinated plan was now impossible to carry out. The Situation was
suddenly very dangerous. They had planned to hit al three rocket arrays at the sametime. That would
not happen now. Of course Kenner could il hit hisarray. If Sanjong was till dive, he might get to the
second array, but their attack would not be coordinated. If one of them were |ater than the other, the

second rocket team would have been informed by radio, and would be waiting with guns ready. Kenner
had no doubt about that.

And Sarah and Evans were either dead or unable to function. Their car was broken down. Certainly
they would never makeit to the third array.

So. Just one rocket array taken out. Maybe two.
Would that be enough?
Maybe, he thought.

Kenner looked at the road ahead, a pae strip under dark skies. He did not think about whether his



friendswere dive or not. Perhagps dl three were dead. But if Kenner did not stop the storm, there would
be hundreds dead. Children, families. Paper platesin the mud, while the searchers dug out the bodies.

Somehow he had to stop it.

He drove forward, into the storm.

MCKINLEY
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“Mommy! Mommy! Brad hit me! Mommy! Make him stop!”
“All right, kids...”
“Bradley? How many timesdo | haveto tell you? Leave your Sster done!”

Standing to one side of McKinley Park, Trooper Miguel Rodriguez of the Arizona Highway Petrol stood
by his car and watched the picnic in progress. It was now e even-thirty in the morning, and the kids were
getting hungry. They were starting to fight. All around the park, barbecues were going, the smokerising
into an ever-darkening sky. Some of the parents looked upward with concern, but nobody was leaving
the park. And therain hadn’t started here, even though they had heard the crack of lightning and the
rumble of thunder afew milesto the north.

Rodriguez glanced at the bullhorn resting on the seat of his car. For thelast half hour, he had waited
impatiently for the radio call from Agent Kenner, telling him to clear the park.

But the call hadn’t yet come.

And Agent Kenner had given him explicit instructions. Do not clear McKinley Park before he was given
the word.

Trooper Rodriguez didn’t understand why it was necessary to wait, but Kenner had been insistent. He
sad it was ameatter of national security. Rodriguez didn’t understand thet either. How was adamn picnic
inapark amatter of nationa security?

But he knew an order when he heard one. So Rodriguez waited, impatient and uneasy, and watched the
sky. Even when he heard the wegther service announce aflash flood advisory for the eastern counties
from Kayentato Two Guns and Camp Payson—an area that included McKinley—Rodriguez il
waited.

He could not know that the radio call he was waiting for would never come.

AURORAVILLE
MONDAY, OCTOBER 11




11:40 A.M.

In retrospect, what saved Peter Evans wasthe dight tingling he had felt, holding the radio in his swesating
pam. In the minutes before, Evans had redized that something was causing the lightning to follow them
wherever they went. He didn’t know any science, but assumed it must be something metallic or
eectronic. Taking to Kenner, he had felt the faint eectric tingle from the handset—and on an impulse he
had flung it across the room. It landed against alarge iron visdlike contraption that ooked like a bear

trap.

Thelightning crashed down amoment later, glaring white and roaring, and Evansthrew himself flat,
across Sarah’ sdead body. Lying there, dizzy with fear, his earsringing from the blast, he thought for a
moment that he felt some movement from her body benesth him.

He got up quickly and began to cough. The room was full of smoke. The opposite wal was on fire, the
flames still smdll, but already licking up thewall. Helooked back at Sarah, blue and cold. Therewasno
question in hismind that she was dead. He must have imagined her movement, but—

He pinched her nose and began to give her mouth-to-mouth. Her lipswere cold. It frightened him. He
was sure she was dead. He saw hot embers and ash floating in the smoky air. He would have to leave
before the entire building came down around him. Hewas|osing his count, blowing into her lungs.

Therewas no point anyway. He heard the flames crackling around him. He looked up and saw that the
ceiling timbers were arting to burn.

Hefelt panic. He jumped to hisfeet, ran to the door, and threw it open and went outside.

He was stunned to fedl hard rain coming down—peting him, soaking him ingtantly. It shocked himto his
senses. He looked back and saw Sarah lying on the floor. He couldn’t leave her.

He ran back, grabbed both her arms, and dragged her out of the house. Her inert body was surprisngly
heavy. Her head sagged back, eyes closed, her mouth hanging open. Shewas dead, dl right.

Out in the rain once more, he dropped her in the yellow grass, got down on his knees, and gave her
more mouth-to-mouth. He was not sure how long he kept up his steady rhythm. One minute, two
minutes. Maybefive. It was clearly pointless, but he continued long past any reason, becausein astrange
way the rhythm relieved his own sense of panic, it gave him something to concentrate on. He was out
therein the middle of a pelting downpour with a ghost town in flames around him anyway, and—

Sarah retched. Her body rose up suddenly, and he released her in astonishment. She had a spasm of dry
heaves, and then fdl into afit of coughing.

She groaned. Sherolled over. He grabbed her in hisarms, and held her. She was breathing. But her
eyesfluttered wildly. Shedidn’t seem to be conscious.

“Sarah, comeon...”

She was coughing, her body shaking. He wondered if she was choking to death.



“Sareh...”

She shook her head, asif to clear it. She opened her eyes and stared at him. “Oh man,” shesaid. “Doll
have aheadache. ”

He thought he was going to cry.

Sanjong glanced at hiswatch. The rain was coming down harder now, the wipersflicking back and
forth. It was very dark, and he had turned on his headlights.

He had thrown hisradio away many minutes before, and the lightning had stopped around his car. But it
was continuing €l sewhere—he heard the rumble of distant thunder. Checking the GPS, heredlized he
was only afew hundred yards from the spiderweb he was meant to disrupt.

He scanned the road ahead, looking for the turnoff. That was when he saw the first cluster of rockets
firing skyward, like black birds streaking straight up into the dark and roiling clouds.

And inamoment, acluster of lightning bolts came blasting downward, carried on the wires.

Ten milesto the north, Kenner saw the rocket array fire upward from the third spiderweb. He guessed
there were only about fifty rocketsin that array, which meant there were another hundred still onthe
ground.

He cameto the sSide road, turned right, and came instantly into aclearing. Therewasalarge
eighteen-whedler parked to one side. There were two men in yellow rain dickers standing beside the
cab. One of them held abox in his hands—thefiring device.

Kenner didn’t hesitate. He spun the whedl of the SUV and drove right for the cab. The men were
stunned for amoment, and at the last moment jumped aside just as Kenner scraped dong the side of the
cab, screeching metd, and then turned into the rocket field itself.

In hisrearview mirror he saw the men scrambling up, but by now he was within the spiderweb array,
driving dong the line of wires, trying to crush the launch tubes under hiswheds. As he hit them he could
hear: Thunk! Thunk! Thunk! He hoped that would disrupt the firing pattern, but he was wrong.

Directly ahead, he saw another fifty rockets spout flames, and rush upward into the sky.

Sanjong was ins de the second clearing. He saw awooden cabin off to theright, and alarge truck
parked besideit. There werelightsin the cabin, and he saw shapes moving in the windows. There were
men in there. Wires came out from the front door of the cabin and disappeared in the grass.

Hedrove straight for the cabin, and he pushed the cruise control on the steering whesd!.

From the front door he saw one man come